


“In Breaking the Devil’s Pact, Jacobs and Cooperman persuasively show that 
the Teamsters could be freed from the tentacles of mob bosses only by an 
imaginative use of the civil remedies of RICO; as Congress rightly foresaw, 
criminal prosecutions alone were not enough.”

— �G. Robert Blakey, Notre Dame Law School, principal architect 
of RICO

“This book is a very important addition to the already most impressive series 
of studies Jacobs published in the last decades on the manifold ways orga-
nized crime can get embedded in core institutions, key industries and black 
markets and on the huge long-term efforts it takes to liberate societies to 
a certain extent from such a parasitical phenomenon. For European read-
ers the overwhelming lesson is that competent, experienced and dedicated 
prosecutors, police officers, and judges are an equally strategic precondition 
for any successful campaign against organized crime as an appropriate legal 
framework to contain its most damaging societal manifestations.”

— �C. J. C. F. Fijnaut, Tilburg University

“Breaking the Devil’s Pact tells the compelling story of the government’s Her-
culean effort to break La Cosa Nostra’s stranglehold over a notorious union. 
It will shock and surprise you, proving once again that the truth really is 
stranger than fiction.”

— �Randy Mastro, Litigation Partner, Gibson Dunn & Crutcher 
LLP, and former federal prosecutor

“Court-ordered reform of a private organization is more easily prescribed 
than implemented. Breaking the Devil’s Pact is an intriguing account of a 
continuing, decades-long struggle to rid a powerful union of corrupt influ-
ences. It will certainly appeal to specialists in organized crime and labor re-
lations. Moreover, it will be of interest well beyond a North American read-
ership. Regulatory scholars around the world will note the very real limits to 
what they call ‘enforced self-regulation.’ Democratic theorists will recognize 
the challenge of voter apathy. Sociologists of organizations will see an ex-
treme example of inertia. Political scientists will be heartened by the apoliti-
cal nature of reform efforts over four successive presidential administrations, 
but disappointed with the slow pace of change. Metaphorically speaking, 
Breaking the Devil’s Pact is a mansion with many fascinating rooms.”

— �Peter Grabosky, FASSA, Professor, Regulatory Institutions  
Network, Australian National University
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Preface

[United States. v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters] 
flies in the face of democratic principles [and] . . . smacks of 
totalitarianism.� ​ — ​U.S. Senator Orrin Hatch, July 1988

[United States. v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters] is the 
most significant organized-crime-[control] measure in the history 
of the United States.

 ​— ​Michael Cherkasky, IBT election officer, April 1998

I

I first heard of United States v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters in 
the summer of 1988. Marla Alhadeff, an assistant U.S. attorney in Man-
hattan, called to ask if I would serve as an expert witness in a civil RICO 
(Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act) case that U.S. At-
torney Rudolph Giuliani had just filed against a slew of Cosa Nostra fig-
ures and the leaders of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (IBT). 
She sent me the RICO complaint and a box of supporting documents. 
The complaint laid out a compelling story of systemic union corruption 
and organized-crime racketeering over several decades. The government’s 
narrative of Cosa Nostra’s infiltration and exploitation of the Teamsters 
Union was not a revelation because, over the years, congressional hear-
ings, criminal prosecutions, and media accounts had illuminated much of 
that history.

In its scope and ambition, U.S. v. IBT would clearly be a seminal case. 
The U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) was simultaneously taking on the 
nation’s largest and most powerful union and the nation’s most powerful 
crime syndicate. This was also the first civil RICO lawsuit against an inter-
national union. I imagined, with trepidation, sitting on the witness stand 
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across from rows of defendants: nineteen Teamsters officials and twenty-
six reputed mobsters.

I was both relieved and disappointed when, several months later, the 
parties settled, agreeing that there should be no organized-crime influence 
in the union and that the district court judge would appoint remedial of-
ficers to enforce a two-pronged consent decree. An investigations officer 
(IO) and independent administrator (IA) would investigate, “prosecute,” 
adjudicate, and sanction IBT members’ violations of the union’s disciplin-
ary rules. An election officer (EO) would supervise nationwide rank-and-
file elections of IBT international officers.

I turned my attention to other research projects. However, while work-
ing on Busting the Mob: United States v. Cosa Nostra (1994), a contempo-
rary history of the federal government’s effort to eradicate Cosa Nostra, 
I encountered U.S. v. IBT again. Part 2 of my book consisted of five chap-
ters, each devoted to a major organized-crime case of the 1980s. Two cases 
involved civil RICO lawsuits against the Teamsters Union. The first was 
DOJ’s 1982 suit against Union City, New Jersey IBT Local 560. Controlled 
by powerful figures in the Genovese crime family, Local 560 was one of 
the most “mobbed-up” union locals in the United States. A year-long trial 
ended in a resounding government victory. The federal judge appointed a 
trustee to run Local 560 until it was purged of Cosa Nostra’s presence and 
influence.

The second Teamsters case covered in Busting the Mob was U.S. v. IBT. 
Writing that chapter required a close examination of the litigation. By the 
time Busting the Mob was published, the U.S. v. IBT settlement had been in 
effect for several years. Ron Carey, an insurgent, had won an extraordinary 
victory for the general presidency in the first direct rank-and-file election of 
international officers. Moreover, the court-appointed disciplinary officers 
(the IA and IO) had expelled dozens of corrupt officials from the union for, 
among other things, being members of organized crime, associating with 
members of organized crime, stealing from the union, and obstructing the 
court-appointed officers’ investigations. The remedial phase of the lawsuit 
seemed to be succeeding spectacularly. I could not have imagined that, 
a few years later, the court officers would expel General President Carey 
from the union or that, in 2011, they would still be on the job.

My 1999 book, Gotham Unbound: How New York City Was Liberated 
from the Grip of Organized Crime, focused on what federal prosecutors and 
New York City Mayor Giuliani’s administration were doing to eliminate the 
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five Cosa Nostra crime families’ (Lucchese, Bonanno, Gambino, Colombo, 
and Genovese) entrenched position in New York City’s economy, especially 
their control of union locals in the construction industry, garment center, 
cargo operations at JFK Airport, Fulton Fish Market, and Javitz Conven-
tion Center. The Cosa Nostra crime families leveraged their influence and 
control of unions (especially Teamsters local unions) to take over compa-
nies and set up employer cartels. However, through criminal prosecutions, 
civil RICO lawsuits against union locals, and innovative administrative li-
censing strategies (e.g., requiring a license to operate a carting company in 
NYC), the government had significantly weakened Cosa Nostra’s grip.

In the early 2000s, I myself played a minor role in U.S. v. IBT. IBT Gen-
eral President Jim Hoffa (Jimmy Hoffa’s son), who had succeeded Ron 
Carey, hired Edwin Stier, the former court-appointed trustee in the IBT 
Local 560 case, to lead an internal IBT anticorruption unit (Project RISE) 
that would demonstrate to DOJ and the federal judge that the U.S. v. IBT 
consent decree was no longer necessary. Stier, in turn, appointed an advi-
sory board of organized-crime and labor-relations experts. Through ser-
vice on that board, I became aware of some of the hundreds of legal battles 
over the court-appointed officers’ authority and decisions.

The U.S. v. IBT remediation reached one of several critical moments in 
2004, when Edwin Stier and his top assistant, former FBI official James 
Kossler, resigned from Project RISE, charging that General President Hoffa 
had reneged on his commitment to give Stier’s team free rein to investi-
gate corruption and racketeering. After the advisory board dissolved, a stu-
dent coauthor and I wrote a journal article about the rise and fall of Project 
RISE. I then turned my attention to writing Mobsters, Unions, and Feds: 
The Mafia and the American Labor Movement (2006), a study of when, 
why, and how the Cosa Nostra organized-crime families became involved 
in labor unions, expanded their power and influence, profited from labor 
racketeering, and operated without significant opposition from labor offi-
cials, employers, or federal, state, and local law-enforcement agencies.

I thought I was finished writing about labor racketeering. But as the re-
medial phase of U.S. v. IBT went on and on, I realized that this case was the 
most important labor-union litigation since the 1950s. First, at the time the 
lawsuit was filed, the IBT had the largest membership of any U.S. private-
sector union. Second, the IBT was indisputably the nation’s most power-
ful union. Third, the IBT was the most written-about union. More than 
twenty books and scores of articles by journalists, historians, labor studies 
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scholars, and Teamsters offer a rich, if uneven, history of a single labor 
union, thereby providing a window on twentieth- and twenty-first-century 
American labor history and American history generally. Obviously, the 
case warranted a major study. Thus, in 2007 and 2009, a student coauthor 
and I wrote two articles about the U.S. v. IBT remediation, one focusing on 
the disciplinary machinery and the other on the electoral reforms.

Because U.S. v. IBT was, first and foremost, meant to sever ties between 
Cosa Nostra and its most important economic and political power base, 
the IBT, this study also contributes to twentieth- and twenty-first-century 
organized-crime studies, especially to the history of the government’s or-
ganized-crime-control strategies. U.S. v. IBT was groundbreaking for fed-
eral law enforcement because it stretched the legs of civil RICO farther 
than ever before. DOJ sought to purge Cosa Nostra’s presence and influ-
ence from an international union (the United States, Canada, and Puerto 
Rico) with nearly seven hundred local and regional affiliates. U.S. v. IBT 
tested DOJ’s ability to use civil RICO to achieve systemic organizational 
reform, a goal that scores of criminal prosecutions had failed to achieve. 
Moreover, the stakes were huge. Failure would likely dissuade DOJ attor-
neys from bringing future civil RICO suits against systemically corrupted 
organizations and might thereby encourage labor racketeering. Success 
would likely encourage similar lawsuits against organized crime’s influence 
in other unions.

A close study of U.S. v. IBT also contributes to the history of institutional-
reform litigation. Much of the extensive academic debate on the proper 
relationship between federal courts and state/local government agencies 
takes its data from constitutional litigation against public agencies, such 
as prisons, jails, mental hospitals, and schools. The use of litigation to re-
form systemically corrupted private-sector organizations has attracted lit-
tle attention, except for the nascent scholarly corpus on the use of deferred 
prosecution agreements (requiring organizational reform in lieu of pros-
ecution) in corporate-crime cases.

U.S. v. IBT also offers opportunity for an important case study of the 
potential and limits of union democracy. No other international union, 
let alone a union as large, geographically diffuse, and politically estab-
lished as the IBT, has undergone as far-reaching a compulsory (or even 
voluntary) democratization. Since 1991, a court-appointed election officer, 
working with a sizeable staff, has thoroughly supervised five IBT interna-
tional-officer elections. The consent decree’s election machinery requires 
not only direct rank-and-file, secret-ballot election of international officers 
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but also meticulous oversight of local-union delegate elections, campaign 
donations and expenditures, candidate nominations, and general-election 
balloting.

U.S. v. IBT also tests the efficacy of union democracy as an anticorrup-
tion prophylactic. In shaping its settlement demands, DOJ accepted union 
democracy proponents’ argument that, in free and fair elections, the IBT 
rank and file would “throw the crooks out” and that the requirement that 
candidates for union office stand for election would, going forward, pre-
vent mobsters and their associates from attaining positions of influence. 
That hypothesis led the government to insist on radical election reforms. 
The electoral-reform prong of the case therefore holds important lessons 
for the potential of both union democracy and political democracy to 
prevent corruption and racketeering.

II

This book presents a historical analysis of U.S. v. IBT, from its concep-
tion in the late 1980s through mid-2011. Chapter 1 introduces the most 
important participants in the litigation: the plaintiff Department of Justice 
and its investigative arm, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI); the 
defendant International Brotherhood of Teamsters and that union’s top 
officers; the defendant Cosa Nostra labor racketeers; the union reform-
ers who participated in U.S. v. IBT as amici curiae; and the district court 
judge who presided over the case from 1988 to 2000.

Chapter 2 explains how the DOJ lawyers adapted the civil RICO law for 
use against entrenched corruption and racketeering in the IBT. It also ex-
plicates the 1988 settlement, which is still in effect in 2011.

Chapter 3 documents the IBT leadership’s postsettlement change of 
heart and its resistance to the consent decree that formalized the settle-
ment. The court-appointed officers and the federal district court judge had 
to withstand a legal onslaught. They issued hundreds of orders and opin-
ions to compel the IBT’s compliance.

Chapter 4 deals with the crucial 1989 – ​1992 period, when the court-
appointed investigations officer prosecuted and the independent adminis-
trator adjudicated scores of disciplinary cases against IBT officials. In three 
years, these officers laid down a comprehensive administrative law of IBT 
disciplinary violations on which, beginning in late 1992, the independent 
review board (IRB) continued to elaborate.



xvi  Preface

Chapter 5 focuses on the watershed 1991 election of IBT international 
officers ​— ​the first election supervised by the court-appointed election of-
ficer. To implement a one-man-one-vote, secret mail-ballot election for 
a North America – ​wide union with nearly 1.7 million members required, 
in the district court judge’s words, “herculean” effort. Insurgent candidate 
Ron Carey’s victory seemed to vindicate the amici curiae’s faith in the rank 
and file.

Chapter 6 discusses enforcement of IBT administrative discipline dur-
ing Ron Carey’s administration (1992 – ​1997). Soon after Carey took office, 
disciplinary authority under the consent decree shifted from the investi-
gations officer and independent administrator to an independent review 
board. The IRB phase of the remediation gives the IBT a role in charging, 
adjudicating, and punishing disciplinary offenses, but the IRB continues to 
function as the front-line investigator and supervising adjudicator. Carey’s 
own anticorruption initiatives drew praise from supporters and criticism 
from opponents.

If the election of Carey and the successful transfer of disciplinary au-
thority from the IA/IO to the IRB marked high tide in DOJ’s and the federal 
court’s institutional-reform efforts, the 1996 election, covered in chapter 7, 
marked low tide. While Carey narrowly defeated Jim Hoffa, a post-election 
investigation revealed that the Carey campaign had diverted IBT funds to 
Carey’s reelection campaign. The court-appointed officers, who previously 
saw Carey’s victories as furthering IBT reform, declared the 1996 election 
null and void, disqualified Carey from the rerun election, and expelled him 
from the union.

Chapter 8 covers Jim Hoffa’s victory in the 1998 rerun election, which 
almost did not occur on account of the government’s and union’s unwill-
ingness to pay for the election supervision. During his campaign, Hoffa 
promised to persuade DOJ and the district court judge that the U.S. v. IBT 
consent decree was no longer necessary. After he became general presi-
dent, Hoffa hired Edwin Stier, the former prosecutor who had served for 
over twelve years as the court-appointed trustee in the IBT Local 560 case, 
to establish “an FBI-caliber” internal IBT anticorruption unit called Proj-
ect RISE. Stier hired, as his chief assistant, James Kossler, who had once 
headed the New York City FBI office’s organized-crime investigations.

Chapter 9 describes the 2001 IBT election and the demise of Project 
RISE. Hoffa won a convincing reelection victory over Tom Leedham, who 
was strongly supported by Teamsters for a Democratic Union (TDU), 
a rank-and-file Teamsters organization that has vigorously opposed the 



Preface  xvii

reigning IBT leadership since the mid-1970s. In 2004, Stier and Kossler re-
signed from Project RISE, claiming that, in response to pressure from cor-
rupt Teamsters officials and mobsters in Chicago and elsewhere, Hoffa had 
stymied their organized-crime investigations.

Chapter 10 covers the 2006 IBT election, the IRB’s ongoing disciplinary 
work, and the run-up to the 2011 IBT election. In December 2006, Hoffa 
was elected for a third time (again defeating Tom Leedham by a wide mar-
gin), demonstrating that, despite fair and strictly monitored election pro-
cedures, it is extremely difficult for insurgents to defeat incumbents. In the 
2011 election, International Vice President Fred Gegare and New York City 
IBT Local 805 President Sandy Pope, endorsed by TDU, are challenging 
Hoffa. Now in its fourth five-year term, the IRB has a smaller caseload but 
continues to identify serious wrongdoing, including membership in and 
association with Cosa Nostra.

Chapter 11 seeks to draw lessons from the (so far) twenty-two-year his-
tory of U.S. v. IBT and speculates about how the case will someday conclude.

James B. Jacobs
NYU School of Law
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xix

U.S. v. IBT Timeline

	 June 28, 1988	 U.S. Attorney Rudolph Giuliani and Assistant 
U.S. Attorney Randy Mastro file a 113-page civil 
RICO complaint in federal district court in 
Manhattan against the International Brother-
hood of Teamsters (IBT), its General Executive 
Board (GEB), nineteen individual IBT officers, 
Cosa Nostra’s “Commission,” and twenty-six 
Cosa Nostra members and associates.

	 March 13, 1989	 The IBT and its GEB members sign a settle-
ment with the U.S. Department of Justice 
(DOJ) providing for three court-appointed offi-
cers (independent administrator, investigations 
officer, election officer) to enforce a consent 
decree imposing strong disciplinary and elec-
tion remedies.

	 June 24 – ​27, 1991	 The IBT holds its quinquennial (every five 
years) international convention in Orlando, 
Florida. Elected delegates nominate the inter-
national-officer candidates. The rank and file 
will vote by secret mail ballot.

	December 10 – ​13, 1991	 Ron Carey, president of New York City IBT 
Local 804, defeats R.V. Durham and Walter 
Shea for IBT general president in the union’s 
first direct rank-and-file election of interna-
tional officers.

	 August 19, 1992	 Judge David Edelstein formally approves rules 
for the operation of the independent review 
board (IRB), a triumvirate of court-appointed 
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officers who, under the terms of the consent 
decree, replace the independent administrator 
and investigations officer.

	 July 15 – ​19, 1996	 At the IBT’s Philadelphia convention, dele
gates nominate candidates for international 
office, including incumbent General President 
Ron Carey and challenger James P. (“Jim”) 
Hoffa.

	 December 16, 1996	 Carey defeats Hoffa 52 percent to 48 percent in 
the 1996 election for IBT general president.

	 August 22, 1997	 Election Officer Barbara Zack Quindel an-
nounces her decision not to certify the results 
of the 1996 election because of the Carey cam-
paign’s use of IBT funds. She orders a rerun 
election for general president and for twenty-
two other international officer positions.

	 November 17, 1997	 Election Appeals Master Kenneth Conboy dis-
qualifies Carey from the rerun election. Carey 
takes a leave of absence and General Secretary-
Treasurer Tom Sever becomes acting general 
president.

	 July 27, 1998	 Concluding that Carey knew or should have 
known about his campaign’s illegal fundraising 
scheme, the IRB expels him from the IBT.

	 December 1998	 Jim Hoffa easily wins the 1998 rerun election 
for IBT general president and vows to obtain 
termination of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree.

	 July 28, 1999	 The IBT’s GEB approves Project RISE, an an-
ticorruption initiative meant to persuade DOJ 
and Judge Edelstein that the IBT can police 
itself. Hoffa appoints Edwin Stier to lead Proj-
ect RISE.

	 August 19, 2000	 Judge Edelstein dies at age ninety. U.S. v. IBT is 
reassigned to Chief Judge Loretta A. Preska.



U.S. v. IBT Timeline  xxi

	 January 2001	 Ron Carey is indicted on federal perjury 
charges. Nine months later, a jury acquits him 
on all charges. Carey’s lifetime expulsion from 
the IBT remains in effect.

	 November 2001	 Jim Hoffa defeats Tom Leedham by a large ma-
jority in the election for IBT general president.

	 April 28, 2004	 Project RISE ends abruptly when Edwin Stier 
and James Kossler resign, claiming that Hoffa 
is blocking their investigations and refusing to 
take action against corrupt IBT locals.

	 November 2006	 Hoffa once again easily defeats Tom Leedham.

	 May 25, 2010	 Jim Hoffa announces that he will seek reelec-
tion. International Vice President Fred Gegare 
announces that he will challenge Hoffa.

	 July 15, 2010	 IBT General Secretary-Treasurer Tom Keegel, 
who had initially agreed to run for reelection 
on Hoffa’s slate, unexpectedly announces his 
retirement. International Vice President Ken 
Hall replaces Keegel as Hoffa’s general secre-
tary-treasurer running mate.

	 October 11, 2010	 New York City IBT Local 805 President Sandy 
Pope, endorsed by Teamsters for a Democratic 
Union, announces her candidacy for IBT gen-
eral president.

	 June 27 – ​July 1, 2011	 The twenty-sixth international IBT convention 
is held in Las Vegas.
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Principal Names

U.S. Attorneys (Southern District of New York)

Rudolph Giuliani: June 3, 1983 – ​January 1, 1989
Benito Romano: January 1, 1989 – ​October 16, 1989
Otto Obermaier: October 16, 1989 – ​June 1993
Mary Jo White: June 1993 – ​January 7, 2002
James Comey: January 7, 2002 – ​December 15, 2003
David Kelley: December 15, 2003 – ​September 2005
Michael Garcia: September 2005 – ​December 1, 2008
Lev Dassin: December 1, 2008 – ​August 13, 2009
Preet Bharara: August 13, 2009 – ​

District Court Judges (Southern District of New York)

David N. Edelstein: presided over U.S. v. IBT, 1988 – ​2000
Loretta A. Preska: presided over U.S. v. IBT, 2000 – ​

IBT General Presidents

Cornelius Shea: 1903 – ​1907
Daniel Tobin: 1907 – ​1952
David Beck: 1952 – ​1957
James R. Hoffa: 1957 – ​1971
Frank Fitzsimmons: 1971 – ​May 7, 1981
George Mock: May 7 – ​15, 1981
Roy Williams: May 15, 1981 – ​April 1983
Jackie Presser: April 1983 – ​May 4, 1988
Weldon Mathis: May 5, 1988 – ​July 18, 1988



xxiv  Principal Names

William McCarthy: July 18, 1988 – ​January 1991
Ron Carey: February 1991 – ​July 27, 1998
Tom Sever: July 27, 1998 – ​December 5, 1998
James P. Hoffa: December 1998 – ​

Disciplinary Officers during IO/IA Phase (1989 – ​1992)

Charles Carberry (investigations officer)
Frederick Lacey (independent administrator)

Independent Review Board (1992 – ​Present )

Charles Carberry: IRB chief investigator, March 1992 – ​
Frederick Lacey: IRB member appointed by DOJ, March 1992 – ​June 2001
Harold Burke: IRB member appointed by IBT, April 1992 – ​June 1993
William Webster: IRB member appointed by Judge Edelstein, August 

1992 – ​
Grant Crandall: IRB member appointed by IBT, June 1993 – ​June 2001
Benjamin Civiletti: IRB member appointed by DOJ, June 2001 – ​
Joseph DiGenova: IRB member appointed by IBT, June 2001 – ​

Election Officers

Michael Holland: 1991 election
Barbara Quindel: 1996 election
Michael Cherkasky: 1998 election
William Wertheimer: 2001 election
Richard Mark: 2006 and 2011 elections
Kenneth Conboy: election appeals master, 1995 – ​

Others Key Players

Marla Alhadeff: assistant U.S. attorney working on U.S. v. IBT, 1988 – ​1997
Howard Anderson: principal author of Project RISE’s written history of 

the connection between organized crime and the Teamsters Union
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Herman Benson: founder of Association for Union Democracy (AUD)
John Cronin, Jr.: court-appointed chief auditor of IBT, 1989 – ​1992; IRB 

administrator, 1992 – ​
Fred Gegare: IBT international vice president running for general 

president in the 2011 election
Peter Hoekstra: Republican representative of Michigan’s 2nd 

congressional district
Susan Jennik: AUD executive director when U.S. v. IBT was filed
Tom Keegel: IBT general secretary-treasurer in Jim Hoffa’s 

administration, 1998 – ​2010
Karen Konigsberg: assistant U.S. attorney working on U.S. v. IBT, 

1994 – ​2001
James Kossler: Project RISE’s lead investigator
Tom Leedham: insurgent candidate for IBT general president in 1998, 

2001, and 2006
Martin Levy: independent financial auditor of the IBT, 1997 – ​2001
Randy Mastro: assistant U.S. attorney who led team that drafted U.S. v. 

IBT complaint
Ken Paff: national organizer (and de facto head) of Teamsters for a 

Democratic Union
Sandy Pope: president of NYC IBT Local 805; insurgent challenger to 

General President Jim Hoffa in the 2011 IBT election
Andrew Schilling: assistant U.S. attorney working on U.S. v. IBT, 

November 1997 – ​October 2007; chief of the civil division of the U.S. 
attorney’s office (SDNY), March 2010 – ​

Edwin Stier: court-appointed trustee of IBT Local 560; head of Project 
RISE
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Introducing the Litigants 
and the Judge

The leaders of the nation’s largest union, the International Brother-
hood of Teamsters (IBT), have been firmly under the influence of 
organized crime since the 1950’s. . . . [O]rganized crime influences 
at least 38 of the largest [IBT] locals and joint councils in Chicago, 
Cleveland, New Jersey, New York, Philadelphia, St. Louis, and other 
major cities.1

 ​— ​President’s Commission on Organized Crime, March 1986

[The impending civil RICO lawsuit against the IBT] is a groundless 
attack, . . . an obviously specious attempt to interfere with the free 
trade union movement . . . [and] a calculated political ploy designed 
to take the pressure of numerous problems off the [Reagan] admin-
istration. . . . Organized crime has never, does not today and never 
will control the international union.2

 ​— ​IBT official statement, June 11, 1987

The filing of United States v. International Brotherhood of Team-
sters (U.S. v. IBT ) in June 1988 pitted the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), 
armed with the powerful RICO law and supported by skillful amici curiae 
lawyers, against the leadership of the International Brotherhood of Team-
sters (IBT), the nation’s largest and strongest private-sector union, and Cosa 
Nostra (LCN),* the nation’s most powerful organized-crime syndicate.3 

* Until the 1960s, the media usually referred to the Italian American crime families as “Mafia” 
or “the mob.” But wiretaps in the 1960s recorded the mobsters referring to their organization as 
“Cosa Nostra” or “Our Thing.” By a linguistic error, the FBI began to call it “La Cosa Nostra” (liter-
ally, “The Our Thing”) and “LCN.” Because it has become standard, we use the LCN acronym but 
otherwise refer to Cosa Nostra without the “La.”
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This chapter sets the stage for this twenty-two-year (and ongoing) legal 
battle by introducing the plaintiff, the amici curiae, the defendants, and the 
judge who presided over the case for its first twelve years.

The Plaintiff: U.S. Department of Justice

U.S. Attorney Giuliani’s office in the Southern District of New York (SDNY), 
the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), and the Organized Crime and 
Racketeering Section (OCRS) of DOJ’s headquarters (Main Justice) in 
Washington, D.C., jointly prepared the U.S. v. IBT complaint.4

This lawsuit launched a major battle in DOJ’s decades-long war against 
the Cosa Nostra organized-crime families. By the end of the 1950s, due 
largely to the highly publicized revelations of the U.S. Senate’s McClellan 
Committee hearings,* labor racketeering had become a salient national is-
sue. When Robert F. Kennedy (RFK), who had served as counsel to the 
McClellan Committee, became U.S. attorney general in 1961, he made Ital-
ian American organized crime a top priority. (This despite lack of coop-
eration from FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover, who denied the existence of 
a national organized-crime syndicate and preferred to focus investigative 
resources on Communists and other “subversives.”) Based on his acrimoni-
ous personal confrontations with IBT General President Jimmy Hoffa at 
the McClellan Committee hearings, RFK relentlessly pursued Hoffa, who 
began serving a prison sentence in the mid-1960s.

After J. Edgar Hoover died in 1972, the FBI reinvented itself as a mod-
ern law-enforcement agency. By the late 1970s, LCN’s labor racketeering 
had become the FBI’s and DOJ’s top organized-crime-control priority.5 
The 1983 – ​1986 work of the President’s Commission on Organized Crime 
(PCOC) left no doubt about Cosa Nostra’s firm grip on organized labor. 
Former IBT president Roy Williams told PCOC that “every big [IBT] lo-
cal union . . . had some connection with organized crime.”6 Indeed, PCOC 

* From 1957 to 1959, Senator John L. McClellan (R-Ark.), chairman of the Permanent Subcom-
mittee on Investigations of the U.S. Senate Committee on Government Operations, held televised 
hearings on organized crime in North America, especially in the Teamsters Union. The hearings, 
which more than one million American households viewed, led to the criminal convictions of 
more than twenty people, including high-level Teamsters officers (e.g., IBT General President 
David Beck). The hearings cast a national spotlight on organized crime’s relationship with labor 
unions and led to enactment of the Labor-Management Reporting and Disclosure Act of 1959 
(LMRDA or Landrum-Griffin Act), which established close federal regulation of labor unions.
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found strong evidence of LCN influence in thirty-eight IBT local unions 
and joint councils. Its March 1986 report, The Edge: Organized Crime, Busi-
ness, and Labor Unions, urged DOJ to bring a civil RICO lawsuit against 
the IBT’s international officers and their Cosa Nostra confederates. Ac-
cording to PCOC, the government’s only hope for ridding the Teamsters 
Union of LCN’s influence was a “combination of criminal prosecutions, 
civil action, and administrative proceedings,” including a civil RICO suit 
and court-imposed trusteeship.7

U.S. Attorney Giuliani’s Attack on Labor Racketeering 
Prior to U.S. v. IBT

Rudolph Giuliani served as an assistant U.S. attorney and chief of the 
narcotics unit in the U.S. attorney’s office for SDNY in the first half of the 
1970s. He was then promoted to executive U.S. attorney for that office. 
In 1975, DOJ brought Giuliani to Washington, D.C., to serve as associate 
deputy attorney general and chief of staff to the deputy attorney general. 
From 1977 to 1981, Giuliani worked in private law practice in NYC. In 1981, 
President Ronald Reagan named him associate attorney general, DOJ’s 
third-highest position. Two years later, Reagan appointed Giuliani U.S. at-
torney for SDNY, headquartered in Manhattan but with jurisdiction over 
the Bronx and several suburban counties.

Giuliani made LCN a top priority,8 quickly establishing himself as the 
nation’s leading organized-crime prosecutor. One of his most important 
cases was the 1985 “Pizza Connection” case, United States v. Badalamenti,9 
which exposed a conspiracy involving U.S. and Italian organized-crime 
groups that used pizzerias as fronts for heroin trafficking. The trial, which 
lasted one and a half years and cost nearly $50 million, resulted in convic-
tions of most of the twenty-two defendants, including Sicilian Mafia boss 
Gaetano Badalamenti.10 In the 1986 “Commission” case, United States v. 
Salerno,11 Giuliani charged leaders of four of the five NYC Cosa Nostra 
crime families with participating, through a pattern of racketeering activ-
ity, in the affairs of a Cosa Nostra “commission” that resolved issues and 
disputes among the five families. The defendants were convicted and sen-
tenced to life in prison.

Prior to U.S. v. IBT, Giuliani also brought important labor-racketeering 
cases. In one major case, he charged union leaders and contractors who 
dominated NYC’s poured-concrete business. IBT Local 282, which rep-
resented the drivers of the trucks that mixed and delivered concrete to 
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construction sites, had been “mobbed up” for decades.12 In October 1984, 
a federal grand jury indicted Ralph Scopo, a soldier in the Colombo crime 
family, president of the District Council of Cement and Concrete Workers, 
and president of LIUNA Local 6A (whose members poured the concrete 
that IBT Local 282’s drivers delivered), for extorting money from construc-
tion companies. A jury convicted Scopo on all counts.13 Two years later, 
Giuliani used civil RICO to place LIUNA Local 6A under a court-ordered 
trusteeship.14 (Seven years later, another RICO suit resulted in a court-ap-
pointed trusteeship for IBT Local 282.)15

Giuliani’s office brought successful civil RICO suits against other union 
locals, including NYC IBT Local 804 (representing drivers who haul cargo 
into and out of New York’s JFK Airport) and Long Island City, New York 
IBT Local 808 (representing railway and other workers). (See fig. 1.1.) In 
April 1988, just a few months before filing U.S. v. IBT, Giuliani obtained 
a RICO indictment against IBT Local 804 Secretary-Treasurer John Long 
and IBT Local 808 Secretary-Treasurer John Mahoney. For at least a 
decade, according to the indictment, the defendants had conducted the af-
fairs of their IBT locals through a pattern of bribery, kickbacks, extortion, 
and other offenses.16

Planning U.S. v. IBT

In January 1986, Giuliani assigned Assistant U.S. Attorney (AUSA) 
Randy Mastro responsibility for evaluating the possibility of bringing a 
successful civil RICO suit against the Teamsters Union’s top leaders and 
their Cosa Nostra associates.17 Four months later, Mastro and a few other 
AUSAs finished drafting a civil RICO complaint.18 However, unbeknown 
to Giuliani, OCRS Chief David Margolis had already assembled a team in 
Washington, D.C., consisting of DOJ lawyers, an FBI task force (“Libera-
tus Squad”), and a Department of Labor (DOL) investigator (Michael Mo-
roney), to do exactly what Mastro was doing in Manhattan.19

Deputy Attorney General Arnold Burns decided to keep the case in 
Washington, D.C.20 (Attorney General Edwin Meese III recused himself 
due to his friendly relationship with IBT General President Jackie Presser.) 
However, seven months later, Burns transferred the case to Giuliani’s office, 
perhaps not surprising given Giuliani’s impressive track record in winning 
high-stakes organized-crime cases.21 With the green light from Washing-
ton, AUSA Mastro assembled a litigation team of seven lawyers, most of 
whom had experience litigating prior civil RICO cases against union locals. 
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Figure 1.1
Civil RICO Cases against Labor Unions Prior to U.S. v. IBT

	 Name of Case	 Brief Summary

United States v. Local 560, International	 Year-long trial resulted in resounding victory for 
Brotherhood of Teamsters, 550 F. Supp. 511	 the government. Ed Stier was appointed trustee 
(D.N.J. 1982)	 with authority to run the local. Thirteen years later, 
	 the union was deemed reformed and the 
	 trusteeship terminated.

United States v. Local 6A, Cement and	 After the consent decree was signed, sixteen of the 
Concrete Workers, 663 F. Supp. 192	 twenty-five officers of Local 6A and the District 
(S.D.N.Y. 1986)	 Council resigned. The consent decree called for a 
	 court-appointed trustee to run the union. The 
	 trusteeship lasted five years.

United States v. The Bonanno Organized	 The consent decree provided for a trustee, interim 
Crime Family of La Cosa Nostra, 	 executive board, and interim board of trustees to 
683 F. Supp. 1411 (E.D.N.Y. 1988) 	 oversee New York IBT Local 814’s activities and 
	 monitor its expenditures.

United States v. Local 359, United	 The consent decree permanently enjoined twenty-
Seafood Workers, 705 F. Supp. 894	 five defendants, including members of the 
(S.D.N.Y. 1989) 	 Genovese crime family and New York Local 359
	 officials, from engaging in racketeering activity and 
	 from impeding competition at NYC’s Fulton Fish 
	 Market. It also authorized a court-appointed 
	 administrator to monitor the market, propose 
	 regulations, and investigate violations of the 
	 injunctions. The trusteeship lasted four years.

United States v. Local 30, United Slate, 	 The consent decree imposed a decreeship whereby 
Tile, and Composition Roofers,  	 a “court liaison officer” supervised the local’s 
686 F. Supp. 1139 (E.D. Pa. 1988) 	 expenditures and contract negotiations but lacked 
	 power to remove corrupt union members. The 
	 incumbent local executive board remained in 
	 place. The decreeship lasted eleven years but 
	 achieved limited success. Four years later, the 
	 international union imposed an eighteen-month 
	 trusteeship after identifying serious financial 
	 misconduct, violence, threats of violence, and 
	 extortion at job sites.

United States v. Long & Mahoney, 	 In conjunction with the criminal prosecution, the 
697 F. Supp. 651 (S.D.N.Y. 1988)	 government obtained equitable relief against NYC 
	 IBT Local 804 and NYC IBT Local 808 under 
	 RICO’s civil remedies provisions.
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(Margolis dispatched one member of his team to New York City to work on 
the case full-time.)

As rumors of an imminent civil RICO suit against the IBT began cir-
culating, the IBT sought to mobilize political opposition. It placed ads in 
the New York Times, the Washington Post, and other newspapers assert-
ing that a government takeover of the union would deal a serious blow to 
the U.S. labor movement.22 Flexing its political muscle, the IBT leadership 
persuaded 264 members of Congress to sign a petition urging the U.S. at-
torney general to block Giuliani from filing the lawsuit.23 Nevertheless, 
Giuliani and Mastro filed the U.S. v. IBT complaint in Judge David Edel-
stein’s Manhattan federal district court on June 28, 1988.

The Amici Curiae: Teamsters for a Democratic Union and 
Association for Union Democracy

Teamsters for a Democratic Union

Giuliani’s civil RICO litigation team found a highly knowledgeable ally 
in Teamsters for a Democratic Union (TDU), a left-wing faction of Team-
sters rank and filers and retirees that had been battling the reigning IBT 
establishment since 1976.24 TDU’s goals are to democratize IBT elections, 
hold the IBT’s leaders accountable, combat corruption and racketeering, 
and achieve good contracts. TDU also functions as a kind of opposition 
political party, taking positions on issues such as contracts, strikes, dues 
increases, and political endorsements. TDU recruits and endorses candi-
dates for local IBT elections; occasionally, its endorsed candidates defeat 
incumbents.25 TDU claims a membership of ten thousand, just over one 
half of one percent of the total IBT membership.

Throughout the late 1970s and 1980s, IBT leaders harassed, blacklisted, 
and red-baited TDU. Local IBT officers helped employers thwart TDU-
initiated strikes and IBT General Presidents Frank Fitzsimmons and Jackie 
Presser frequently called TDU’s members “professional agitators,” “student 
radicals,” “outsiders,” and “socialist conspira[tors].”26 IBT leaders even tried 
to expel from the union Pete Camarata and Al Ferdnance, two of TDU’s 
most visible leaders.27 The IBT’s red-baiting tactics were effective in part 
because some TDU leaders were avowed socialists.28 (Indeed, an editorial 
in TDU’s newsletter acknowledged “the presence of a handful of socialist” 
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members.)29 Nevertheless, by the 1980s, TDU had become one of the most 
influential insurgent groups in the American labor movement.

The IBT’s attacks against TDU became more intense in the early 1980s. 
With the support of IBT General President Presser, a “goon squad,” called 
the Brotherhood of Loyal Americans and Strong Teamsters (BLAST), ha-
rassed TDUers and disrupted their events.30 Most dramatically, in Octo-
ber 1983, BLAST members raided TDU’s annual convention in Romulus, 
Michigan. They called in bomb threats, ran the TDUers out of the meeting 
hall, and trashed the premises.31 Presser expressed approval: “I’m going to 
tell you something. We should be doing more of that. I’m going to tell you, 
I’m not going to let up on these people.”32 (Due to these persistent attacks, 
TDU keeps its members’ identities confidential. Other than the three to 
four hundred Teamsters who attend TDU’s annual convention, few TDU-
ers publicly admit membership for fear that IBT officials and/or employers 
will retaliate against them.)

TDU was enthusiastic about the prospect of DOJ bringing a civil RICO 
suit against the IBT and its organized-crime allies. However, it opposed 
DOJ’s rumored decision to seek the appointment of a court-appointed 
trustee to run the international union. Instead, TDU’s “Proposal to the 
Justice Department,” published in its newsletter, Convoy Dispatch, urged 
DOJ to make free and fair elections the centerpiece of the remedy. The pro-
posal recommended a secret-ballot, one-member-one-vote election of all 
international officers; judicial supervision of international elections “in all 
respects”; and special Teamster Magazine issues with equal and free adver-
tising space for candidates for international office. Ken Paff, the national 
organizer and longtime de facto head of TDU, reiterated these proposals in 
a letter to Assistant U.S. Attorney General Stephen Trott:

With these kinds of remedies, blended from both the LMRDA and RICO, 
organized crime would be relatively powerless. There would be a chance 
for a serious wide open election. As we said, IBT members are no differ-
ent from other American voters. They do not re-elect felons or potential 
felons, if they have confidence in the secrecy of the ballot.33

In support of TDU’s thesis that free and fair elections would seriously 
weaken Cosa Nostra’s position in the IBT, Paff cited the 1972 United Mine 
Workers (UMW) case. After insurgent UMW presidential candidate Joseph 
Yablonski and his family were murdered by hit men, DOL supervised a 
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one-member-one-vote election of UMW’s international officers. The UMW 
members “threw the rascals out,” Paff noted, “and have peacefully and fairly 
voted in contested elections for top officers ever since. In the most recent 
election, the incumbent international president was voted out.”34

Association for Union Democracy

The Brooklyn-based Association for Union Democracy (AUD), with the 
pro bono assistance of a small number of civil liberties lawyers, lobbies for 
and represents union members seeking to vindicate their union-democ-
racy rights.35 Since founding AUD in 1960, Herman Benson has published 
Union Democracy in Action and later Union Democracy Review, covering 
union members’ struggles to speak freely, run for office, obtain fair union 
job referrals, and exercise other rights.

Unlike TDU, which functions as an IBT opposition party that takes po-
sitions on diverse IBT matters, AUD “supports the rights of all unionists, 
left, right, or center, [to be free] from abuse from any source, right, left, or 
center. [It] takes no position on questions of collective bargaining policy 
or national politics. .  .  . It will not lobby for legislation or support candi-
dates for any office.”36 However, like TDU, AUD strongly encouraged DOJ 
to bring a civil RICO lawsuit against the IBT.37 Once the lawsuit was filed, 
AUD sought to participate in the case as amicus curiae in order to press 
for making rank-and-file election of international officers the centerpiece 
of the remedy. However, AUD did not oppose a court-appointed trustee’s 
taking charge of the union’s operations.

TDU and AUD had an impact on U.S. v. IBT disproportionate to their 
size and power. Although these organizations’ resources were minuscule 
compared with those of the Teamsters Union, their highly talented and 
energetic lawyers skillfully communicated their views to DOJ and filed 
strongly argued amicus briefs with Judge Edelstein. TDU and AUD played 
notable roles in DOJ’s decision to make democratic elections, rather than 
trusteeship, a core feature of the complaint’s requested remedy and of the 
consent decree. (Law Professor Michael Goldberg has observed that “TDU 
played a critical behind-the-scenes role in helping to shape the specifics of 
the consent decree.”)38 They also played leading roles in Judge Edelstein’s 
decision to require the court-appointed election officer to supervise every 
facet of the IBT’s elections.
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The Defendants: The Teamsters Union and Cosa Nostra

The Teamsters Union

Unlike most large labor unions, which represent workers in a single 
craft (e.g., plumbers, electricians, bricklayers) or industry (e.g., mine work-
ers, automobile workers), the Teamsters Union represents workers in many 
trades, occupations, businesses, and industries (see fig. 1.2). All told, the 
IBT has twenty-one trade divisions and conferences comprising geograph-
ically diverse union locals. The divisions and conferences provide informa-
tion for IBT locals negotiating in the same industry or bargaining with the 
same employer, hold meetings to discuss shared concerns, lobby Congress, 

Figure 1.2
Teamsters Union Membership by Industry
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negotiate and monitor contracts, organize workers, coordinate grievance 
panels, and communicate with other unions.

The IBT is governed by a General Executive Board (GEB) composed of 
a general president, a general secretary-treasurer, seven at-large vice presi-
dents, three eastern regional vice presidents, five central regional vice pres-
idents, two southern regional vice presidents, three western regional vice 
presidents, three Canadian vice presidents, and three international trustees 
who monitor the union’s finances. All international officers are elected to 
GEB positions via direct rank-and-file, secret-ballot voting following nom-
inations by local-union delegates at quinquennial IBT conventions. Most 
international officers simultaneously hold leadership positions in and draw 
separate salaries from IBT locals and/or joint councils.39

Among other powers, the general president presides over the IBT con-
ventions, supervises the union’s day-to-day operations, appoints IBT staff-
ers, imposes trusteeships on corrupt or dysfunctional locals, approves or 
rejects local bylaws, and imposes disciplinary sanctions (see fig. 1.3). The 
general president also negotiates nationwide collective-bargaining agree-
ments (e.g., the master freight agreement) and serves as the union’s na-
tional spokesperson. The general secretary-treasurer, who works closely 
with the general president, is the custodian of the IBT’s properties, funds, 
and other assets.40 The three international trustees who make up the IBT’s 
Audit Committee are responsible for reviewing the union’s books and re-
cords, submitting quarterly reports to the GEB, reviewing the work of the 
union’s internal audit department, communicating with the union’s outside 
auditor, and investigating complaints involving the union’s finances. They 
may attend GEB meetings but have no voting rights.

Between IBT conventions, the GEB is the union’s governing body. The 
IBT constitution grants the GEB all authority not expressly assigned to the 
general president or general secretary-treasurer. The GEB can call special 
conventions; adopt or amend pension, health, or welfare plans for inter-
national-union employees; approve or reject mergers of local unions; and 
approve or reject mergers or affiliations with other labor unions.

The general president appoints international representatives as needed 
to assist local unions in organizing new members, settling strikes, and 
launching community-service initiatives.41 At any given time, there are 
between several dozen and one hundred international representatives. In 
addition, there are usually several dozen “personal representatives” who 
act on behalf of the general president, for example, by attending meetings, 
interviewing members, and reviewing IBT entities’ books and records.42
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Figure 1.3
Tenure and Criminality of IBT General Presidents

	 General President	 Tenure	 Criminal Charges

Cornelius Shea	 1903 – ​1907	 Charged with conspiracy to restrain trade, 
commit violence, and prevent citizens from 
obtaining work; the first trial led to a hung 
jury and the second jury acquitted him (1905); 
sentenced to six months in prison for abandoning 
his wife and two children (1908); served five 
years in prison and two years on probation 
for attempted murder of his mistress (1909); 
acquitted for soliciting bribes in exchange for 
labor peace (1918); arrested, but not prosecuted, 
for the murder of a Chicago police officer (1922).

Daniel Tobin	 1907 – ​1952	 NA
Dave Beck	 1952 – ​1957	 Convicted of embezzlement (1959); convicted of 

federal income-tax evasion (1959).
James R. Hoffa	 1957 – ​1971	 Convicted and sentenced to thirteen years in 

prison for jury tampering, attempted bribery, and 
fraud (1964).

Frank Fitzsimmons	 1971 – ​1981	 Indicted on charges of extorting money from 
construction companies in Michigan (charges 
were dropped) (1953); forced to resign as an IBT 
Central States Pension Fund trustee on account 
of failure to perform his fiduciary duties by 
authorizing loans to LCN-controlled businesses 
(1976).

George Mock (interim)	 May 7 – ​15, 1981	 NA
Roy Williams	 1981 – ​1983	 Convicted and sentenced to fifty-five years 

in prison for conspiring to bribe U.S. Senator 
Howard Cannon (1982).

Jackie Presser	 1983 – ​1988	 Forced to resign as a Central States Pension Fund 
trustee on account of violating his fiduciary duties 
by authorizing improper loans to LCN-controlled 
businesses (1977); charged with criminal RICO 
violations for embezzling union funds by paying 
union salaries to “ghost” employees who did 
no work; trial delayed for health reasons and 
dismissed when Presser died (1986).

Weldon Mathis (interim)	 May 5, 1988 – ​	 NA
	 July 18, 1988
William McCarthy	 1988 – ​1991	 Did not face criminal charges, but Judge Edelstein 

found McCarthy’s award of a $3.8 million printing 
contract to a firm owned by his son-in-law (1991) 
to be an act in furtherance of racketeering.

Ron Carey	 1991 – ​1998	 Indicted for perjury (2001), acquitted.
Thomas Sever (interim)	 July 27, 1998 – ​	 NA
	 Dec. 5, 1998
James P. Hoffa	 1998 – ​present	 NA
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Rank and filers participate in the union’s affairs primarily through their 
“locals.” Over the past twenty-five years, the number of U.S. and Canadian 
locals that make up the Teamsters Union has fluctuated, largely on account 
of mergers, from approximately 450 to approximately 700. In mid-2010, 
there were 440 U.S. IBT locals and thirty-five Canadian IBT locals.43 Be-
tween 2003 and 2005, the IBT absorbed 573 Brotherhood of Locomotive 
Engineers and Trainmen (BLET) locals, 635 Brotherhood of Maintenance 
of Way Employees (BMWE) locals, and 206 Graphics Communications 
International (GCI) locals. The largest Teamsters locals have as many as 
fifteen thousand members and the smallest fewer than one thousand. Lo-
cals negotiate most contracts with the employers for whom their members 
work; they also run “hiring halls,” which assign union members to em-
ployers who require labor, and defend union members in employer dis-
ciplinary proceedings. (The international union officers negotiate national 
contracts with certain employer associations, e.g., freight, and multistate 
IBT employers, e.g., UPS.) Each local’s members elect executive officers, 
including a president, a vice president, a recording secretary, a secretary-
treasurer, and three trustees. The officers pass bylaws, hire and fire support 
staff, negotiate contracts, and manage the union’s day-to-day affairs. Some 
locals’ bylaws designate the president as principal officer; others designate 
the secretary-treasurer as principal officer.

Joint councils are intermediate-level units composed of representatives 
of three or more IBT locals in the same geographical area. Their executive 
officers, who operate pursuant to joint-council bylaws and are selected 
by the constituent locals’ executive officers, serve as their local’s repre-
sentative on the joint council.44 Joint councils coordinate organizing and 
strike activities, resolve locals’ jurisdictional disputes, and prosecute dis-
ciplinary cases against officers and members that locals will not or cannot 
prosecute.

Until 1994, four regional conferences (eastern, western, southern, and 
central) constituted another level of IBT bureaucracy. Each conference had 
a small full-time staff and employed approximately twenty executive offi-
cers who received conference salaries in addition to local and joint-council 
salaries. In June 1994, the Carey administration’s GEB abolished the area 
conferences on the ground that they did not accomplish enough to justify 
their cost.

The Teamsters Union receives about $700 million annually from mem-
bers’ dues. Each member pays dues equal to two and a half hours (forty-
five dollars, on average) of his or her monthly wage. For the vast majority 
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of members, pursuant to collective bargaining agreements, dues are auto-
matically deducted (“checked off ”) from their paychecks. The employers 
remit the money to the members’ local unions, which, in turn, keep 70 per-
cent and pass along 22 percent to the international union, 5 percent to the 
joint council, and a smaller (varying) amount to other IBT units.

Cosa Nostra

Giuliani named the Cosa Nostra organized-crime bosses as defendants 
in order to define U.S. v. IBT as an organized-crime case. He sought an 
order enjoining them from participating in or attempting to influence the 
IBT’s affairs. The LCN defendants had no plausible argument for partici-
pating in the union and, anyway, exerted their influence informally and 
secretly. They would be able to continue doing so, personally or through 
surrogates, as long as officers susceptible to promised benefits or threat-
ened reprisals ran the union.

Cosa Nostra’s infiltration of the Teamsters Union can be traced back to 
the early twentieth century.45 Beginning in the late 1920s and early 1930s, 
LCN leaders in cities across the northeast and midwest gained influence 
over, and sometimes operational control of, IBT locals through violence, 
threatened violence, and mutually beneficial reciprocities with union lead-
ers. By the 1940s, LCN was deeply entrenched in IBT locals across the 
country. For example, Anthony Corallo, boss of the Lucchese crime fam-
ily, was an officer in and allegedly embezzled tens of thousands of dollars 
from IBT Local 239.46 John Nardi, an associate in the Cleveland crime fam-
ily and confederate of Bill Presser, head of Cleveland’s vending-machine 
rackets and father of future IBT general president Jackie Presser, served as 
secretary-treasurer of IBT Vending Machine Local 410. Matthew Ianniello, 
later acting boss of the Genovese crime family, controlled IBT Bus Drivers 
Local 1181. John Scalish, boss of the Cleveland crime family, exerted major 
influence on that city’s IBT locals from the 1940s to the 1970s, as did his 
successor, James Licavoli.47

By the 1950s, Cosa Nostra parlayed its extensive influence in IBT locals 
and joint councils into influence at the union’s international level. In 1955, 
for example, Lucchese crime family member Johnny Dioguardi, who had 
been a force in NYC IBT locals since the early 1930s, helped form several 
“paper” (shell) locals, whose votes in the NYC IBT joint council swung that 
council behind Jimmy Hoffa, assuring his selection as IBT general presi-
dent in 1957.48
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By the 1980s, Cosa Nostra figures controlled many key Teamsters offi-
cials at the local, joint council, and international levels. Raymond Patri-
arca, boss of the New England Cosa Nostra family, exerted significant in-
fluence over IBT locals in Providence and Boston.49 Chicago crime family 
(“Outfit”) associate Dominic Senese served as president of Chicago IBT 
Local 703, and Outfit associate James Coli became secretary-treasurer of 
Chicago IBT Local 727. Nick Civella, boss of the Kansas City crime fam-
ily, controlled Roy Williams, who, before becoming IBT general president 
in 1981, was president of Kansas City IBT Local 41, president of IBT Joint 
Council 56, trustee of the IBT’s Central States Pension Fund, director of the 
Central Conference of Teamsters, and an IBT international vice president. 
As Williams described the relationship, “To be frank, if I didn’t want to get 
killed, I was his boy.”50

LCN was especially entrenched in IBT affairs in NYC and Chicago. For 
example, Chicago crime family member John Glimco, Sr., was president 
of Chicago IBT Local 777. Outfit member James V. Cozzo was an officer 
in Chicago IBT Local 786. Chicago IBT Local 738 Principal Officer Peter 
Agliata eventually resigned from the IBT after being charged with know-
ingly associating with Outfit members. Salvio Galiato, a member of Chi-
cago IBT Local 714, was the nephew of Outfit underboss James Marcello. 
Peter DiFronzo, a member of Chicago IBT Local 731, was a member of the 
Outfit and Outfit boss John DiFronzo’s (his brother) chief lieutenant.

No IBT local was more thoroughly LCN-controlled than Union City, 
New Jersey Local 560, which represented over ten thousand truckers em-
ployed by approximately 425 companies.51 For more than a quarter cen-
tury, Local 560 was dominated by the Provenzano brothers (Anthony, 
Nunzio, and Salvatore), organized-crime figures closely allied with and, at 
least in Anthony’s case, a member of NYC’s Genovese crime family.52 An-
thony served as the Genovese crime family’s representative in Local 560 in 
the late 1940s and ascended quickly through its ranks, becoming its presi-
dent in 1958 and, later, in addition, an IBT international vice president.53 
He and his close associates ran the local by violence and intimidation, on 
occasion using thugs to assault and even murder dissidents. When An-
thony went to prison on a racketeering conviction, his brothers succeeded 
him sequentially as IBT Local 560’s president. Salvatore also served as an 
IBT vice president.

Several dissidents who challenged the Provenzanos were murdered, in-
cluding Walter Glockner, Local 560 Secretary-Treasurer Anthony Castel
lito, and Frederick Furino, who ran a trucking company that provided 
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nonunion labor to a firm whose employees were represented by Local 560. 
The Provenzano brothers treated the local’s treasury as their piggy bank, 
funneling to themselves and their associates millions of dollars through 
hefty salaries, embezzlement from the union and its pension and welfare 
funds, “loans” to businesses that they controlled, and kickbacks from union 
contractors.54

In 1982, the U.S. attorney’s office and the federal organized-crime strike 
force in New Jersey filed a civil RICO suit against Local 560, the first-ever 
civil RICO suit against a union local. According to the presiding judge, 
the “evil men” of the Provenzano Group had engaged in an unprecedented 
“orgy of criminal activity” that made Local 560 a “captive labor organiza-
tion.”55 In June 1986, after a long trial and appeals process, the judge re-
placed the local’s entire executive board with a trustee. A year later, the 
judge replaced that trustee with Edwin Stier, who spent the next twelve and 
a half years purging the local of Cosa Nostra’s influence and encouraging 
democratic reforms.56 (In February 1999, the government and the court 
determined that Local 560 was reformed and dissolved the trusteeship.)

Cosa Nostra and the IBT’s General Presidents

James R. Hoffa. Jimmy Hoffa joined the IBT in 1932, at age nineteen, as an 
organizer for Detroit Local 299 and became the de facto head of that local 
in 1935.57 He began associating with members of the Detroit underworld 
around 1940, seeking the mob’s assistance in subduing rival unions, strong-
arming employers, and intimidating Teamsters opponents.58 (Hoffa’s con-
nections to the Detroit underworld led to relationships with mobsters in 
Cleveland, New York, Chicago, and other cities.)59 He quickly forged a rela-
tionship with Paul Dorfman, a Chicago Outfit associate and former head of 
the Chicago local of the Waste Material Handlers Union.60 In 1940, Hoffa 
became negotiating chairman of the IBT’s Central States Drivers Council, 
a springboard for expanding his influence throughout the midwest.61 In 
1942, he formed and became the first president of the Michigan Confer-
ence of Teamsters, which quickly signed up all Michigan IBT locals.62 Nine 
years later, Hoffa placed the IBT’s Central States Pension and Welfare Fund 
(CSPF) with the Union Casualty Life Insurance Agency of Chicago, owned 
by Paul Dorfman’s son, Allen.63 Hoffa allowed the CSPF to be used as a 
kind of “mob bank” in exchange for Cosa Nostra’s support of his union 
political ambitions. In 1952, the IBT’s convention delegates elected Hoffa as 
an international vice president.
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From 1957 to 1959, the U.S. Senate’s McClellan Committee investigated 
union corruption, especially in the IBT. Due in large part to IBT General 
President Dave Beck’s embarrassing performance before the Committee, 
Beck did not seek reelection in 1957. (Two years later, a federal jury con-
victed him of embezzlement and tax evasion.) To replace Beck, the GEB 
chose Jimmy Hoffa. The AFL-CIO then expelled the IBT from member-
ship, largely on account of Hoffa’s reputed connections with organized 
crime. Robert F. Kennedy, first as counsel to the McClellan Committee and 
then (from 1961 to 1964) as U.S. attorney general, sparred famously and 
publicly with Hoffa.64 Indeed, soon after becoming attorney general, RFK 
created the “Get Hoffa Squad,” a team of DOJ investigators and lawyers.65

In 1962, a federal grand jury in Nashville, Tennessee, charged Hoffa 
with receiving thousands of dollars in payoffs from a trucking company 
in exchange for Hoffa’s settling a costly strike.66 After the trial ended in a 
hung jury, the judge ordered a grand jury to investigate possible jury tam-
pering. That investigation resulted in Hoffa’s indictment for obstructing 
justice. Meanwhile, a Chicago grand jury charged Hoffa with embezzling 
over $1 million from the CSPF through kickbacks and improper loans to 
LCN-controlled hotels, casinos, and shopping centers in Las Vegas, Flor-
ida, Connecticut, and elsewhere.67 Ultimately, a jury convicted Hoffa of 
both jury tampering and embezzlement. In March 1967, he began serving a 
thirteen-year prison term.

Frank Fitzsimmons. At Hoffa’s urging, the GEB chose his executive assis-
tant, Frank Fitzsimmons, as acting IBT general president. Prior to becom-
ing Hoffa’s right-hand man, Fitzsimmons had served as Detroit IBT Local 
299 vice president, Michigan Conference of Teamsters secretary-treasurer, 
IBT Joint Council 43 vice president, and international vice president. Hoffa 
intended for Fitzsimmons to be a figurehead while he continued to direct 
union affairs from his prison cell. However, Fitzsimmons eventually as-
pired to run the IBT in fact as well as in name. After defeating a GEB at-
tempt to oust him, he replaced several Hoffa GEB protégés with his own 
supporters. In 1971, delegates to the IBT’s international convention elected 
Fitzsimmons general president.

Because Hoffa remained popular with the rank and file, Fitzsimmons 
had to support Hoffa’s efforts to obtain parole release or a presidential 
pardon, but he was determined to keep Hoffa out of IBT politics. Ulti-
mately, Fitzsimmons worked out a deal with President Richard Nixon. 
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Nixon would commute Hoffa’s sentence in exchange for an IBT endorse-
ment of Nixon’s reelection in 1972. A condition of Hoffa’s release was that 
he could not participate in IBT affairs until 1980.

Once free, Hoffa began campaigning for his old position, disregarding 
the prohibition on involvement in IBT affairs. He condemned Fitzsim-
mons as weak and corrupt, vowing that, if reelected, he would rid the 
union of Cosa Nostra’s influence. The LCN bosses much preferred the mal-
leable Fitzsimmons and warned Hoffa to give up his presidential ambition. 
On July 30, 1975, Hoffa disappeared from the parking lot of the Machus 
Red Fox Restaurant in Oakland County, Michigan (a Detroit suburb). It is 
widely assumed that Cosa Nostra assassinated him.

Roy Williams. After Fitzsimmons died of lung cancer in May 1981, Roy 
Williams, an IBT international vice president and trustee of the CSPF, 
succeeded him as general president. Five years earlier, Fitzsimmons had 
appointed Williams as director of the Central Conference of Teamsters, 
which had jurisdiction over IBT locals in fourteen midwestern states.

Williams was tied to Cosa Nostra through his thirty-year relationship 
with Nick Civella, boss of the Kansas City LCN family, who advanced Wil-
liams’s IBT career in exchange for Williams’s placing LCN’s members and 
friends in key union posts and supporting Civella’s business interests. After 
Fitzsimmons died, Civella successfully lobbied mob bosses in NYC, Chi-
cago, and other cities to support Williams for the IBT general presidency. 
The GEB named Williams interim president. In May 1981, delegates to the 
IBT’s convention overwhelmingly elected Williams to a full five-year term.

In 1977, Williams and Fitzsimmons were forced to resign from the CSPF 
after the DOL sued them and three others for violating their fiduciary 
duty. In December 1982, Williams and Allen Dorfman were convicted of 
attempting to bribe Nevada Senator Howard Cannon (D-Nev.) to block 
interstate trucking deregulation. A month later, Dorfman was murdered 
gangland style, presumably by mobsters who wanted to keep him from 
cooperating with prosecutors.68 In April 1983, Williams resigned the IBT 
presidency after a jury sentenced him to fifty-five years in prison. Hoping to 
shorten his sentence, he began cooperating with government investigators, 
prosecutors, and the PCOC. In 1987, testifying by videotape from a prison 
hospital due to ailing health, Williams told a federal jury, “organized crime 
was filtered into the Teamsters Union a long time before I came there, and 
it’ll be there a long time after I’m gone.”69 He added, “I was controlled by 
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Nick [Civella]” ever since Civella’s mob associates threatened to murder 
his wife and children.70 Due to poor health and cooperation with federal 
authorities, Williams was released from prison in September 1988. He died 
in April 1989.

Jackie Presser. To succeed Williams as general president, the GEB, with 
the Cosa Nostra bosses’ approval, chose Jackie Presser, the son of William 
“Bill” Presser, a consummate labor racketeer who for years served as an in-
ternational IBT vice president and sat on the CSPF board. In 1966, Bill set 
up Cleveland IBT Local 507 for Jackie to run. During the following decade, 
Bill, Jackie, and two colleagues, Allen and Harold Friedman, increased Lo-
cal 507’s membership by raiding other IBT locals. According to PCOC, 
Jackie’s local was “infested with LCN associates and convicted felons,” in-
cluding John Trunzo (a former business agent convicted of coercing em-
ployers to pay for labor peace), John Felice, Jr. (an LCN associate convicted 
of embezzling IBT funds), and John Nardi (a “ghost” employee of Local 
507, LCN bodyguard, and convicted embezzler).71

By 1972, Jackie was chairman of the Ohio Conference of Teamsters. He 
soon acceded to his father’s positions as an IBT international vice president 
and a CSPF trustee. He also served as an FBI informant, providing infor-
mation useful in prosecuting Roy Williams and other union rivals. In 1976, 
however, the same DOL lawsuit that forced Williams and Fitzsimmons to 
resign as CSPF trustees also forced Presser to resign from the CSPF, al-
though not the GEB.72

In November 1980, U.S. president-elect Ronald Reagan appointed 
Presser as a labor adviser to his transition team. Soon after that, the me-
dia reported that DOL was investigating whether Presser had mishandled 
CSPF assets. The Reagan administration claimed not to have known of 
these allegations.73 (By that time, the transition team had already com-
pleted its work and disbanded.)

In 1982, after it became apparent that Roy Williams would be convicted 
of federal crimes, midwest and east coast LCN families began negotiating 
over Williams’s successor.74 LCN leaders Angelo Lonardo (Cleveland crime 
family), Milton Rockman (Cleveland crime family), Anthony Salerno 
(Genovese crime family), Jackie Cerone (Chicago Outfit), and Joseph Ai-
uppa (Chicago Outfit) eventually threw their support behind Presser.75 On 
April 21, 1983, IBT convention delegates, by acclamation, elected Presser 
general president.
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In January 1984, General President Presser was the only leader of a large 
U.S. labor union to endorse President Reagan’s reelection campaign. Af-
ter PCOC published its 1986 report on the IBT’s extensive organized-crime 
ties, the Reagan administration distanced itself from Presser and the IBT. 
(After U.S. v. IBT was filed in June 1988, U.S. Attorney General Meese stated 
that Reagan would not have accepted Presser’s 1984 endorsement had he 
known, at the time, of the IBT’s association with Cosa Nostra.)76

Presser launched an all-out campaign to prevent Giuliani from filing the 
rumored civil RICO suit.77 He accused DOJ of acting like a totalitarian re-
gime: “Takeovers of unions are nothing new ​— ​Communists and Fascists 
have been doing so for decades. However, it is a sad day in the history of 
the United States and the American labor movement when such tactics are 
employed.”78 On September 15, 1987, Presser convened a meeting of IBT 
local-union executive boards in Cincinnati to protest the filing of U.S. v. 
IBT. NYC IBT Local 237 President Barry Feinstein accused the government 
of wanting “some cop to run this union.”79 He urged the IBT “to mobilize 
our membership as never before, in a hurricane of protests that will shake 
the very foundations of the Justice Department.”80

To build support for his campaign to prevent DOJ from filing a civil 
RICO suit, Presser mended fences with the AFL-CIO, North America’s 
umbrella labor federation. Both the IBT and AFL-CIO saw advantage in 
realliance. Presser wanted the AFL-CIO’s political support to prevent the 
civil RICO suit from being filed; he hoped that the labor movement’s lob-
bying would persuade the Reagan administration to stop U.S. Attorney 
Giuliani.81 The AFL-CIO found attractive the prospect of gaining the IBT’s 
$6 million annual dues contribution and its political strength. Moreover, 
because AFL-CIO member unions must adhere to a “no-raiding policy,” 
whereby one member union cannot challenge the exclusive representa-
tional status of another member union, reunification would end IBT rep-
resentational challenges to AFL-CIO member unions. Further, some AFL-
CIO members worried that a DOJ civil RICO suit against the IBT would 
pave the way for similar suits against other international unions.82 There-
fore, in October 1987, the AFL-CIO executive council unanimously voted 
to invite the IBT to rejoin.83 The IBT accepted. As a result of the IBT’s and 
other unions’ aggressive lobbying, 264 members of Congress delivered a 
petition on December 10, 1987 to Attorney General Edwin Meese urging 
DOJ not to file a civil RICO lawsuit against the IBT.84 Nevertheless, U.S. 
Attorney Giuliani filed the civil RICO complaint on June 28, 1988.
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Judge David Edelstein

Giuliani’s litigation team deliberately routed the civil RICO complaint to 
federal district court judge David Edelstein by asserting, in its filing doc-
uments, that U.S. v. IBT was related to U.S. v. Long & Mahoney, a pend-
ing civil RICO case against an IBT local over which Judge Edelstein was 
presiding. (Although cases are ordinarily assigned to judges at random in 
SDNY, a local court rule authorizes a plaintiff to ask a judge to preside over 
a newly filed case that is related to a case over which the judge is already 
presiding.)85 Jed Rakoff, representing the IBT, objected to this maneuver, 
calling it “an attempt to steer the case to this court by a manipulation of the 
local rules.”86 But Judge Edelstein accepted the case.87

In 1988, Edelstein was seventy-eight years old, having served on the 
bench for thirty-seven years. He was widely considered progovernment. 
His most famous case up to this point was DOJ’s antitrust suit against 
IBM. The 1956 settlement of that case authorized Judge Edelstein to en-
force IBM’s compliance with a consent decree, the implementation of 
which generated a constant flow of contentious litigation for the next forty 
years. In 1994, IBM’s lawyers charged that Edelstein was biased in favor of 
the government. Ultimately, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals agreed, 
finding it “manifestly clear that a reasonable observer would question the 
judge’s impartiality on the pending issue.”88 Edelstein was removed from 
the case. In his subsequent handling of U.S. v. IBT, Judge Edelstein almost 
always agreed with DOJ.

Conclusion and Analysis

The FBI and DOJ did not embark on U.S. v. IBT to make union democracy 
a reality in the Teamsters Union. Nor were they motivated primarily by 
concern about the exploitation of rank-and-file Teamsters (although Giuli
ani’s team undoubtedly saw rhetorical advantage in stressing the violation 
8ganized-crime case. Certain unions, especially the Teamsters Union, pro-
vided Cosa Nostra’s crime families with money, jobs, and political influ-
ence. U.S. Attorney Giuliani adopted TDU’s and AUD’s election-reform 
recommendations because he and his colleagues came to believe that free 
and fair elections would bring about the ouster of corrupt union leaders 
and make the union more racketeer-resistant.
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It is a telling commentary on U.S. politics that 264 members of Con-
gress, without having seen the U.S. v. IBT complaint against the notoriously 
racketeer-ridden IBT, signed a petition urging that the lawsuit not be filed. 
Even more cynical was the petitioners’ reason for opposing the lawsuit: that 
it would threaten the nation’s free and democratic labor movement. The 
filing of the civil RICO suit speaks well of DOJ’s political independence. 
Although the IBT stood virtually alone among labor unions in endorsing 
Ronald Reagan for president, the Reagan Justice Department filed and vig-
orously litigated the lawsuit.

This chapter also highlights the crucial importance of key individuals. 
U.S. Attorney Giuliani had the ambition, experience, leadership skills, and 
influence in the Department of Justice to launch the lawsuit. Importantly, 
Giuliani’s team maneuvered U.S. v. IBT to Judge David Edelstein. Although 
legal journalist Steven Brill called that maneuver an “elaborate charade . . . 
that will produce anything but evenhanded, credible justice in this land-
mark case,”89 it was a critical decision point in the case. Nobody can know 
how the case would have turned out had a different judge presided over 
it. We do know that Edelstein enforced the parties’ settlement with abso-
lute determination. U.S. v. IBT will define his almost half century as a fed-
eral judge.

Finally, the weakened states of both Cosa Nostra’s and the IBT’s leader-
ships were fortuitous for the lawsuit’s success. By 1988, Cosa Nostra was 
reeling from the most aggressive law-enforcement attack in U.S. history. 
Scores of LCN leaders were in prison; many of the rest were under indict-
ment or anticipating indictment. The IBT’s leadership was in disarray. The 
union had not had a strong general president since Jimmy Hoffa. Fitzsim-
mons, Williams, and Presser all finished their presidencies in legal trouble 
or disgrace. William McCarthy succeeded to the general presidency after a 
divisive political struggle within the GEB. The civil RICO suit had already 
been filed when he was sworn in. McCarthy lacked the time and probably 
the ability (he was elderly) at that late date to carry out an effective resis-
tance strategy.
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T﻿﻿he Civil RICO Complaint 
and Settlement

At both the international and local levels, the IBT obviously con-
tinues to suffer from the relationship with organized crime. Indeed, 
so pervasive has this relationship become that no single remedy is 
likely to restore even a measure of true union democracy and inde-
pendent leadership to the IBT. Sustained commitment of govern-
mental resources to dislodge organized crime from the IBT through 
a combination of criminal prosecutions, civil action, and adminis-
trative proceedings is the only approach that offers even a modest 
hope of success in the long run. . . . [S]ystematic use of trusteeships 
by the courts may be necessary to prevent organized crime from 
continuing to do business as usual in the IBT.1

 ​— ​President’s Commission on Organized Crime, March 1986

[W]e are very troubled by reports that the Department of Justice 
has chosen a broad and unprecedented enforcement strategy that 
must, of necessity, undermine the [IBT’s] ability to perform its 
statutory functions as the collective bargaining representative of its 
members. . . . [DOJ’s] imposition of trustees to administer an inter-
national union . . . is, on its face, inherently destructive of the abil-
ity of workers to represent and speak for themselves through their 
unions. [This] . . . establishes a precedent which strikes at the very 
foundation of our democracy.

 ​— ​Petition to U.S. Attorney General Edwin Meese signed by 
264 members of Congress, December 10, 1987

On June 28, 1988, U.S. Attorney Rudolph Giuliani and Assistant 
U.S. Attorney (AUSA) Randy Mastro filed a 113-page civil RICO complaint, 
accompanied by a 105-page memorandum of law and a 72-page attorney’s 
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declaration supporting the allegations against the International Brother-
hood of Teamsters (IBT), its general executive board (GEB), one current 
and eighteen former GEB members, the Cosa Nostra (LCN) Commission, 
and twenty-six alleged LCN members and associates.2 The complaint al-
leged and described the defendants’ decades-long corruption of the IBT’s 
international, regional, and local offices, often at the behest of Cosa Nos-
tra members. The consent decree that settled the lawsuit aimed to free the 
union from Cosa Nostra’s grip. It embodied a two-pronged remedy: court-
appointed officers to enforce the settlement’s and IBT’s disciplinary rules 
and a court-appointed officer to supervise free and fair rank-and-file elec-
tions of international-union officers.

The Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO)

To understand the U.S. v. IBT lawsuit, it is necessary to understand the 
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act. In 1968, the Presi-
dent’s Commission on Law Enforcement and the Administration of Jus-
tice’s Task Force on Organized Crime painted a picture of Cosa Nostra as 
a nationwide crime syndicate with massive economic and political power.3 
It warned that LCN was increasingly infiltrating the legitimate economy.4 
Several U.S. senators, notably John McClellan (D-Ark.) and Roman Hruska 
(R-Neb.), pressed to enhance DOJ’s and the FBI’s investigative powers, es-
pecially electronic eavesdropping. This led to passage of Title III of the 
Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968, which established a 
comprehensive legal regime authorizing electronic eavesdropping accord-
ing to court order and strict procedures.5 Two years later, Congress passed 
the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), which 
aimed to prevent and punish organized crime’s infiltration of legitimate 
businesses, labor unions, and other enterprises.6

RICO includes criminal and civil provisions. There are four criminal of-
fenses: (1) using funds derived from a pattern of racketeering activity or 
collection of an unlawful debt to obtain an interest in an enterprise; (2) ob-
taining an interest in an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activ-
ity or collection of an unlawful debt; (3) conducting the affairs of an enter-
prise through a pattern of racketeering activity or collection of an unlawful 
debt; and (4) conspiring to violate 1, 2, or 3.7

The statute defines its key terms. An “enterprise” includes any corpo-
ration, association, or partnership. Since a union is a legal association, it 
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qualifies as a RICO enterprise. A “racketeering act” is conduct that violates 
any one of a long list of federal criminal offenses or their state equivalents 
that Congress deemed to be characteristic conduct for organized-crime 
members, for example, murder, arson, extortion, fraud, bribery, theft from 
interstate shipments, and drug trafficking. A “pattern of racketeering activ-
ity” requires commission of at least two racketeering acts within a ten-year 
period. Federal prosecutors can prove those predicate racketeering acts by 
introducing previous convictions into evidence.

RICO also includes two civil remedies. The first civil remedy empow-
ers victims of RICO offenses to sue their perpetrators for triple damages. 
This provision played no role in U.S. v. IBT. The second civil remedy au-
thorizes the U.S. attorney general to seek injunctive relief to restrain ongo-
ing RICO violations and empowers the federal district courts to use their 
equitable powers to prevent the defendant from committing future RICO 
violations.8 Since the 1982 lawsuit against Union City, New Jersey IBT Lo-
cal 560, this provision has been DOJ’s primary weapon for combating labor 
racketeering.9

A civil RICO lawsuit permits the government to use the liberal discov-
ery rules that apply in federal civil litigation. Each party can require its ad-
versary to answer interrogatories and can depose its adversary’s witnesses. 
Each party can also obtain from the other party books and records relevant 
to the dispute. The government needs to prove its case by a preponderance 
of evidence, rather than by criminal procedure’s proof beyond a reasonable 
doubt burden. Because a DOJ civil RICO suit seeks “equitable” (i.e., injunc-
tive) relief, rather than monetary damages, the defendant has no right to a 
jury trial.

If DOJ prevails in its civil RICO lawsuit, it can seek a remedial court 
order requiring the defendant to take diverse steps to purge itself of orga-
nized crime’s influence. To monitor or enforce the defendant’s compliance 
with the order, the court may appoint one or more remedial enforcement 
officers. (If the case was resolved by settlement, the negotiated consent de-
cree will usually provide for the district court judge to appoint a remedial 
officer.) Violation of the court’s remedial order constitutes contempt of 
court, punishable by fine or imprisonment. Depending on the terms of the 
remedial order, the court-appointed officers, paid for by the defendant, can 
remain on the job for many years, thereby providing a long-term systemic 
reform effort that criminal prosecution cannot achieve.
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The U.S. v. IBT Civil RICO Complaint

The U.S. v. IBT complaint named five sets of defendants: (1) Cosa Nostra 
members and associates; (2) the Cosa Nostra Commission; (3) individual 
Teamsters officials; (4) the IBT’s GEB; and (5) the IBT itself. The IBT, por-
trayed as both perpetrator and victim, was a “nominal” defendant, whose 
inclusion as a party defendant was necessary for purposes of fashioning 
an effective remedy. The complaint accused the LCN and IBT defendants 
of victimizing rank-and-file Teamsters through intimidation, violence, 
and fraud.

Cosa Nostra Defendants as RICO Violators

The complaint presented U.S. v. IBT as an organized-crime case.10

[T]he Teamsters International Union has been a captive labor organiza-
tion, which La Cosa Nostra figures have infiltrated, controlled and domi-
nated through fear and intimidation and have exploited through fraud, 
embezzlement, bribery and extortion. . . . [T]his infiltration, control, dom-
ination and victimization has taken the form of multiple violations of [the 
RICO statute] and these violations will continue (resulting in irreparable 
injury to those victimized by such violations) unless and until this Court 
divests the defendants associated with La Cosa Nostra, those working with 
them and those under their control (including present and past members 
of the General Executive Board) of their union interests.11

For rhetorical effect, DOJ identified the individual LCN defendants by 
both their legal names and their colorful gangland nicknames, for example, 
Anthony “Fat Tony” Salerno (Genovese crime family underboss), Anthony 
“Tony Ducks” Corallo (Lucchese crime family boss), Joseph “Joe Doves” 
Aiuppa (Chicago Outfit boss), and Frank “Mr. B.” Balistrieri (Milwaukee 
crime family boss). It then set out each LCN defendant’s previous criminal 
convictions (see fig. 2.1).

In addition to twenty-six individual LCN defendants, the government 
named as a defendant the Cosa Nostra Commission, a kind of board of 
directors that the five NYC Cosa Nostra crime families used to resolve dis-
putes and coordinate collective action.12 This, too, was for rhetorical ef-
fect. There was no way to serve the U.S. v. IBT complaint on the Commis-
sion, no expectation that a Commission representative would answer the 



Figure 2.1
Cosa Nostra Defendants in U.S. v. IBT

	 Defendant	 Connection to Cosa Nostra	 Prior Convictions

Joseph “Joey Doves” Aiuppa	 Chicago Outfit boss	 Convicted of unlawful possession and transportation of protected birds 
across state lines (1966); convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to twenty-
eight years in prison for “skimming” (concealing from tax authorities) 
profits from Las Vegas casinos (1986).

Frank “Mr. B.” Balistrieri	 Milwaukee crime family boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to two years in prison (1967); 
convicted and sentenced to thirteen years in prison for skimming $2 
million from Las Vegas casinos (1984); convicted of conspiracy and 
sentenced to ten years in prison (1985).

Eugene Boffa, Sr.	 Bufalino crime family associate 	 Convicted of RICO, sentenced to twenty years in prison and forfeiture of 
assets worth $250,000 (1981).

John “Jackie the Lackey” Cerone	 Chicago Outfit underboss	 Arrested over twenty times for armed robbery, bookmaking, illegal 
gambling, embezzlement, and other charges; convicted and served nine 
months in prison for skimming $2 million from a casino (1986).

Anthony Civella	 Kansas City crime family boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to five years in prison for 
skimming profits from Las Vegas casinos (1984); convicted and sentenced 
to five years in prison for selling stolen prescription drugs (1992).

Carl “Corky” Civella	 Kansas City crime family boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to ten years in prison for 
skimming profits from Las Vegas casinos (1994).

Anthony “Tony Ducks” Corallo	 Lucchese crime family boss	 Arrested for grand larceny (1929); sentenced to two years in prison for 
paying a $35,000 bribe to an assistant U.S. attorney (1962); sentenced to 
four and a half years in prison for bribing the NYC Water Commissioner 
(1968); convicted of RICO violations and sentenced to one hundred years 
in prison (1986).

Carl “Toughy” DeLuna	 Kansas City crime family underboss	 Served twelve years in prison for skimming profits from Las Vegas casinos 
(1986).

Anthony “Figgy” Ficarotta	 Genovese crime family member	 Served five years in prison for extorting $2,000 from a company (1985).



Figure 2.1
Cosa Nostra Defendants in U.S. v. IBT

	 Defendant	 Connection to Cosa Nostra	 Prior Convictions

Joseph “Joey Doves” Aiuppa	 Chicago Outfit boss	 Convicted of unlawful possession and transportation of protected birds 
across state lines (1966); convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to twenty-
eight years in prison for “skimming” (concealing from tax authorities) 
profits from Las Vegas casinos (1986).

Frank “Mr. B.” Balistrieri	 Milwaukee crime family boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to two years in prison (1967); 
convicted and sentenced to thirteen years in prison for skimming $2 
million from Las Vegas casinos (1984); convicted of conspiracy and 
sentenced to ten years in prison (1985).

Eugene Boffa, Sr.	 Bufalino crime family associate 	 Convicted of RICO, sentenced to twenty years in prison and forfeiture of 
assets worth $250,000 (1981).

John “Jackie the Lackey” Cerone	 Chicago Outfit underboss	 Arrested over twenty times for armed robbery, bookmaking, illegal 
gambling, embezzlement, and other charges; convicted and served nine 
months in prison for skimming $2 million from a casino (1986).

Anthony Civella	 Kansas City crime family boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to five years in prison for 
skimming profits from Las Vegas casinos (1984); convicted and sentenced 
to five years in prison for selling stolen prescription drugs (1992).

Carl “Corky” Civella	 Kansas City crime family boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to ten years in prison for 
skimming profits from Las Vegas casinos (1994).

Anthony “Tony Ducks” Corallo	 Lucchese crime family boss	 Arrested for grand larceny (1929); sentenced to two years in prison for 
paying a $35,000 bribe to an assistant U.S. attorney (1962); sentenced to 
four and a half years in prison for bribing the NYC Water Commissioner 
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(1986).

Anthony “Figgy” Ficarotta	 Genovese crime family member	 Served five years in prison for extorting $2,000 from a company (1985).

Christopher “Christy Tick” Furnari, Sr.	 Lucchese crime family consigliere	 Convicted of violating RICO for, among other predicate offenses, 
murdering Bonanno crime family boss Carmine Galante. Sentenced to 
one hundred years in prison without possibility of parole (1986).

Matthew “Matty the Horse” Ianniello	 Genovese crime family acting boss	 Convicted of tax evasion and racketeering and sentenced to six years in 
	 from 1998 to 2005 	 prison (1985); sentenced to two years in prison for racketeering (2006).

Joseph “Joey the Clown” Lombardo	 Chicago Outfit capo	 Convicted and sentenced to fifteen years for extorting $800,000 from a 
construction company and for attempting to bribe U.S. Senator Howard 
Cannon (1983); convicted and sentenced to fourteen years for maintaining 
hidden interests in and skimming over $2 million from Las Vegas casinos 
(1986).

Gennaro “Gerry Lang” Langella	 Colombo crime family underboss	 Convicted and sentenced to ten years in prison for perjury and 
obstructing justice (1985); convicted of RICO in the “Commission” case 
and sentenced to sixty-five years (1987).

Angelo “The Nutcracker” LaPietra	 Chicago Outfit capo	 Convicted of tax evasion and sentenced to sixteen years in prison for 
skimming $2 million from Las Vegas casinos (1986).

Frank Manzo	 Lucchese crime family capo	 Convicted for loitering (1970); convicted for possession of a gambling 
device (1970); convicted of attempting to extort payments from trucking 
firms at JFK International Airport and sentenced to twelve years (1986).

Nicholas Marangello	 Bonanno crime family underboss	 Sentenced to eight years in prison for running a racketeering operation 
that controlled NYC’s moving and storage industry (1987).

Joseph “Joey Messina” Massino	 Bonanno crime family boss	 Convicted for violating RICO, the Hobbs Act, and the Taft-Hartley Act 
and sentenced to ten years in prison (1986); sentenced to life in prison 
for committing seven murders, arson, extortion, loan sharking, illegal 
gambling, conspiracy, and money laundering (2004).

Carmine Persico	 Colombo crime family de facto boss 	 Imprisoned from 1973 to 1979 for hijacking and loan sharking; convicted 
of RICO and sentenced to life in prison in the “Commission” case (1986).

Anthony “Tony Pro” Provenzano	 Genovese crime family capo	 Convicted and sentenced to four and a half years in prison for extortion 
(1966); convicted of racketeering and sentenced to twenty years for 
extorting employers (1977); convicted and sentenced to life in prison for 
the murder of Anthony Castellito (1978). 

(continued )



Figure 2.1 (continued )
Cosa Nostra Defendants in U.S. v. IBT

	 Defendant	 Connection to Cosa Nostra	 Prior Convictions

Nunzio “Nunzi Pro” Provenzano	 Genovese crime family member	 Convicted and sentenced to ten years in prison for labor racketeering for 
attempting to extort $187,000 from four trucking companies (1981).

Philip “Rusty” Rastelli	 Bonanno crime family boss	 Sentenced to one year in prison for an antitrust violation and three 
concurrent ten-year prison sentences for extortion (1976); sentenced to 
twelve years in prison for extortion (1987).

Milton “Maishe” Rockman	 Cleveland crime family associate	 Convicted and sentenced to seven years in prison for skimming from Las 
Vegas casinos.

Salvatore “Tom Mix” Santoro	 Lucchese crime family underboss	 Convicted in the “Commission” case and sentenced to one hundred years 
in prison (1986).

Anthony “Fat Tony” Salerno	 Genovese crime family boss	 Convicted in the “Commission” case and sentenced to one hundred years 
in prison (1986).

Francis Sheeran	 Bufalino crime family associate	 Convicted and sentenced to nine years in prison for labor racketeering 
(1981).

John “Peanuts” Tronolone	 Cleveland crime family boss	 Convicted and sentenced to two years in prison for running a bookmaking 
operation (1975); sentenced to nine years in prison for racketeering 
(1989).
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complaint, and no enforceable remedy against the Commission as distinct 
from the individual LCN defendants. Nevertheless, naming the Commis-
sion as a defendant supported DOJ’s organized-crime narrative.13

The DOJ lawyers charged that the LCN defendants, aided and abetted by 
the union defendants, obtained an interest in “the Teamsters International 
Enterprise”* through a pattern of racketeering activity14 that included wire 
fraud, blackmail, embezzlement, extortion, and murder.15 The complaint 
cited the following racketeering acts, among others:

•	 over twenty murders, dozens of bombings, and other violent acts;
•	 LCN’s conspiracy to use interstate transport in furtherance of em-

bezzlement, extortion, illegal gambling, and drug trafficking;
•	 LCN’s bribery of Teamsters officials to obtain IBT benefit-fund 

loans to finance casino projects in Las Vegas; and
•	 LCN’s attempt to bribe a U.S. senator to prevent deregulation of 

the trucking industry, as deregulation would weaken the IBT and 
consequently LCN’s ability, through the IBT, to influence national 
politics.16

The complaint detailed acts of violence and threats of violence against 
union members who challenged or even questioned corrupt IBT officials’ 
authority or decisions, including the following examples:

•	 Tony Provenzano, then-president of Union City, New Jersey IBT 
Local 560 and a member of the Genovese crime family, hired a hit 
man to murder union dissident Anthony Castellito. (Years later, 
Provenzano was convicted for this murder.)

•	 Robert Rispo, a self-described “leg breaker,” beat up Teamsters 
who objected to a labor-leasing scheme organized by defendants 
Eugene Boffa (an LCN associate) and Frank Sheeran (president 

* Judge Edelstein commented that “the complaint alleges a far-flung enterprise, the Teamsters 
International Enterprise, comprised of the IBT, individual members of the GEB, the Commission of 
La Cosa Nostra and individual members of La Cosa Nostra. Before judgment can be entered against 
any of the defendants, the Government must prove that there was such an enterprise and that the 
racketeering acts committed in furtherance of such enterprise formed a pattern of racketeering.” 
United States v. Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters, 708 F. Supp. 1388, 1406 – ​07 (1989). Judge Edelstein may have 
misunderstood the government’s pleading. The government meant to name as defendants just the 
IBT, not the IBT’s affiliates and pension and welfare funds, though the government did mean to 
define the RICO enterprise as the IBT plus all of its affiliates and pension and welfare funds.
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of Wilmington, Delaware IBT Local 326).17 The scheme recruited 
nonunion workers to fill positions that, according to collective 
bargaining agreements, should have required membership in the 
IBT. Rispo admitted to many labor-racketeering crimes in his 
1985 testimony before the President’s Commission on Organized 
Crime (PCOC).

•	 Kansas City crime family underboss Carl DeLuna warned casino 
owner Allen Glick that if he resisted an IBT-financed purchase of 
his casino, he and his children would be killed “one by one.”

According to the complaint, the LCN defendants used violence and in-
timidation to consolidate the union defendants’ power, position, and pre-
rogatives.

DOJ also alleged that the LCN defendants, with the aid of the IBT defen-
dants, violated union members’ right to select their union leaders. Indeed, 
Cosa Nostra played a key role in selecting several IBT general presidents, 
including Jimmy Hoffa, Frank Fitzsimmons, Roy Williams, and Jackie 
Presser. Once in office, those general presidents cooperated with LCN.18 
For example, Presser, three IBT international vice presidents, and several 
trustees ceded substantial authority over Central States Pension Fund in-
vestment decisions to Allen Dorfman, knowing that Dorfman was an as-
sociate of the Chicago LCN crime family (“the Outfit”). Moreover, Presser 
received from LCN associates approximately $1 million “with the intent 
to be influenced with respect to the Central States Pension Fund.” He also 
provided Cosa Nostra members with “loans and other things of value in 
exchange for their assistance in supporting his election.”19

Cosa Nostra’s power base in the IBT paid big economic and political 
dividends. LCN extracted money from the union via loans (never repaid), 
salaries (unearned), theft, embezzlement, and service contracts with com-
panies that LCN figures owned or controlled. LCN also used its influence in 
the IBT to establish and police cartels in the trucking, carting, and airfreight 
industries and in other business sectors in NYC and other major cities.20 It 
parlayed its influence over IBT political contributions and endorsements 
into beneficial relationships with local, state, and national politicians.
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Union Defendants as RICO Violators

The U.S. v. IBT complaint named as union defendants the IBT’s GEB 
and nineteen current and former GEB members, including General Pres
ident Jackie Presser and General Secretary-Treasurer Weldon Mathis. 
When Presser died, eleven days after U.S. v. IBT was filed, Mathis automati-
cally succeeded to the presidency. A short time later, after a power strug-
gle among the union leadership, the GEB, in a nine-to-eight vote, elected 
International Vice President William McCarthy to replace Mathis as IBT 
general president.

The complaint offered two theories to establish the IBT international of-
ficers’ RICO liability. First, it asserted that the IBT defendants aided and 
abetted the LCN defendants’ perpetration of racketeering acts by, among 
other things, loaning union money from the IBT’s pension and welfare 
funds to LCN-controlled businesses; contracting with LCN-affiliated ven-
dors; appointing LCN members and associates to union office; hiring LCN 
members and associates as local business agents and organizers; and ar-
ranging for LCN members and associates to obtain lucrative, sometimes 
no-show, jobs with IBT employers. To support these allegations, the com-
plaint highlighted PCOC’s 1986 report on labor racketeering, The Edge: Or-
ganized Crime, Business, and Labor Unions, which concluded, among other 
things, that General Presidents Hoffa and Williams were “direct instru-
ments of organized crime” and that Presser had “associated with organized 
crime figures and . .  . benefited from their support in his elevation to the 
IBT Presidency in 1983.”21

Second, the complaint asserted that, by malfeasance and misfeasance, 
the IBT defendants had deprived rank-and-file members of their union de-
mocracy rights and of economic benefits that they would or could have 
obtained had racketeers not run their union. The lost benefits included 
jobs, wages, and pension and welfare benefits; the assets of IBT locals, joint 
councils, area conferences, and benefit funds, “including the rate of return 
which would otherwise be derived from the investments of such benefit 
funds”; economic benefits that the rank and file would have obtained but 
for LCN’s monopolization of industries that employ or would employ 
Teamsters; and economic benefits that the rank and file would obtain but 
for the loss of leverage in collective-bargaining negotiations.22 DOJ cited 
numerous examples of specific conduct that constituted “a comprehensive 
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perversion of the democratic principles of trade unionism as guaranteed 
by the Landrum-Griffin Act*”:23

•	 “In 1981, the Teamsters International Union officer defendants 
then in office elected Roy L. Williams as interim General President 
of the Teamsters International Union, even though at the time of 
the election, Williams had openly associated with various La Cosa 
Nostra figures.”

•	 “In the 1980s, Roy Williams . . . appointed Jack Ancona and John 
Sansone to positions with the Teamsters International at the direc-
tion of Nicholas Civella, who was then the Boss of the Kansas City 
Family.”24

DOJ charged that, by actively and passively cooperating with the LCN 
defendants, the union defendants fostered a climate of intimidation that 
allowed the LCN defendants to obtain an interest in the Teamsters Union 
and to use the union’s governing machinery to deprive rank-and-file 
union members of their tangible and intangible (e.g., union democracy 
rights) property. For example, the complaint alleged that the IBT defen-
dants “consistently failed to take action” to rid the international union, 
joint councils, and locals of corrupt officials, allowing those officials to 
remain in office after “repeatedly” failing to investigate allegations of their 
misconduct.25

The Teamsters’ General Executive Board has literally done nothing, de-
spite its affirmative obligation under federal law and the IBT’s Constitu-
tion to rid the union of corruption. . . . The inescapable conclusion from 
this shocking course of conduct is that the entire IBT General Executive 
Board has permitted La Cosa Nostra to influence and corrupt the IBT.26

* The 1959 Landrum-Griffin Act (formally the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure 
Act or LMRDA) was passed in the wake of the McClellan Committee hearings to strengthen fed-
eral regulation of labor unions. It includes a bill of rights guaranteeing union members freedom of 
speech and assembly, the right to secret-ballot vote on dues, the right to sue the union, the right to 
receive copies of collective-bargaining agreements, and due process in internal union disciplinary 
hearings. It also requires unions to file with DOL annual reports on income, expenditures, and 
salaries; forbids officers from having certain conflicts of interest; and prohibits union loans exceed-
ing $2,000 to officers and members. 29 U.S.C. §§ 401 – ​531 (2000).
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The complaint further alleged and cited specific examples of IBT defen-
dants defrauding the membership by “improperly using their union posi-
tions to reward themselves, their relatives, and their associates.”

•	 Joseph Trerotola, an IBT international vice president, “caused var-
ious Teamster Locals in the New York area to buy insurance from 
his son, Vincent Trerotola, and from insurance companies repre-
sented by Vincent Trerotola.”

•	 Daniel Ligurotis, another IBT international vice president, “used 
his control over Teamsters Local 705 in Chicago, Illinois, improp-
erly to draw approximately $330,000 in salaries from Local 705 
and its Benefit Plans.”27

Requested Remedy

U.S. Attorney Giuliani sought a preliminary injunction barring (1) LCN 
members and associates from participating in IBT affairs; (2) GEB mem-
bers from engaging in racketeering acts, associating with LCN, or interfer-
ing with a court-liaison officer (who would review IBT appointments and 
expenditures and exercise the general president’s and GEB’s disciplinary 
powers); and (3) IBT officers found to be RICO violators from union mem-
bership. Giuliani also asked Judge Edelstein to appoint a trustee to conduct 
international-officer elections and to discharge GEB duties that “the trustee 
deems necessary.” Finally, Giuliani asked the judge to order the LCN and 
IBT defendants to disgorge monies derived from their RICO violations.

On January 17, 1989, TDU’s lawyers, Chicago labor lawyer Tom Geoghe-
gan and Washington, D.C., public-interest lawyer Paul Levy, moved to in-
tervene in U.S. v. IBT to “protect the rights of the innocent rank and file 
Teamster members.”28 American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) lawyer 
Helen Hershkoff, supported by Robert Smith, a partner in a prominent 
NYC law firm, joined TDU in the motion. The ACLU supported TDU’s 
preferred remedy: a government-supervised, one-Teamster-one-vote, di-
rect election of international IBT officers.

The January – ​February 1989 issue of TDU’s newsletter, Convoy Dispatch, 
explained TDU’s position: “No Mob Control ​— ​No Government Control.”

The government’s attempt to combat corruption with a trusteeship is 
countered by IBT officials who claim there is no corruption at the top of 
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the union. Only TDU is standing up for our union of 1.6 million hard-
working men and women who have nothing to gain from corruption or 
trusteeship. We have everything to gain from the Right to Vote.

TDU’s members were split on the desirability of a trusteeship. Some re-
garded “the very thought of the government taking over the Teamsters as 
frightening and against all constitutional principles.”29 Others concluded 
that corruption was so pervasive and entrenched that only a government 
takeover could produce systemic change.30 In a letter published on Con-
voy Dispatch’s front page, TDU urged General President McCarthy to 
“[a]nnounce that the first-ever membership vote will be held for General 
President, General Secretary-Treasurer and 16 vice presidents by region, 
and invite the Justice Department, specifically Rudolph Giuliani, to moni-
tor the election.”31 This step, TDU claimed, would resolve the RICO suit, 
generate a spirit of solidarity and enthusiasm among the rank and file, 
and demonstrate that IBT leaders are more interested in strengthening the 
union than protecting their own prerogatives.

Reactions to U.S. v. IBT

Though rumored for months, the actual filing of the U.S. v. IBT com-
plaint was a huge news story. A number of high-profile politicians immedi-
ately denounced it; some charged that it was part of the Reagan administra-
tion’s plan to destroy the labor movement, others that it violated a principle 
of American democracy. The editors of several leading newspapers, as well 
as many federal and state prosecutors, praised the lawsuit.

A New York Times editorial observed,

If the government wins, one outcome would be a new leadership chosen by 
fair elections. What better cure could there be for the Teamsters’ chronic 
and manifest illness than a stiff dose of democracy? .  .  . The Teamsters 
leadership fears losing control like the Wicked Witch of the West feared 
water. . . . The ideal remedy, should the Government win the racketeering 
lawsuit, would be Government-supervised elections by the rank and file 
for a new executive board and new international officers.32

A Christian Science Monitor editorial took much the same view: “The suit 
is not a union buster as some labor leaders claim. . . . The key to solving the 
Teamsters’ troubles lies in one-man-one-vote elections by secret ballot for 
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national as well as local union elections.”33 Detroit Free Press labor journal-
ist James Kilpatrick stated that “to read the civil suit just brought by the 
Department of Justice against the Teamsters Union is to gain a horrifying 
glimpse into the real world of the mob. . . . This is ugly.”34

National labor leaders expressed concern that this first-ever civil RICO 
suit against an international union would create bad precedent. AFL-CIO 
President Lane Kirkland told the Los Angeles Times, “It doesn’t sound to me 
like the proper relationship between a government and a private institu-
tion in a free society.”35 John Henning, secretary-treasurer of the California 
Federation of Labor (formerly Under Secretary of Labor during the Ken-
nedy and Johnson administrations), said, “If the federal government has a 
case against individuals, it should go to court and prove it and seek appro-
priate action against those individuals. . . . What the government is propos-
ing would smear millions of union members who are in no way involved.”36

International and regional IBT leaders denounced the civil RICO law-
suit. General President Presser said, “You know why we’re first on the list 
[of international unions to be sued under civil RICO]? Because we’re the 
strongest. We’re the best. And we’re the most militant. But we’re not laying 
down for anybody. . . . Teamsters are not racketeers, hoodlums, gangsters 
and thugs. They are Mr. and Mrs. Americans.”37 IBT General Secretary-
Treasurer Weldon Mathis called the suit a “vicious anti-labor attack” and 
a “shameful attempt to destroy a democratic union.”38 Michigan IBT Joint 
Council 43 President Larry Brennan said that “DOJ’s plan is like a purge in 
Russia”: “You should indict and convict each individual and not the masses. 
The first thing you’ve got to remember is that this is a democracy. We 
haven’t had our day in court. . . . I think they may have awakened a sleep-
ing giant.”39 IBT International Vice President Robert Holmes warned that 
“if they can do this to us, they could take the rest for granted. There’d be no 
labor movement left.”40 Virtually alone among IBT leaders, Joint Council 
56 President John Couts, Jr., called the lawsuit “a good idea. It’s time that 
the Teamsters get out from under Mafia control and give the members and 
officers a chance to run their union.”41

Despite prior congressional hearings and the litany of investigations and 
prosecutions exposing organized-crime racketeering in the IBT, a number 
of national politicians (Republicans and Democrats) criticized the lawsuit. 
Senator Orrin Hatch (R-Utah) said, “It flies in the face of democratic prin-
ciples” and “smacks of totalitarianism.”42 Congressman Jack Kemp (R-N.Y.) 
observed, “The United States government is not meant to be in the business 
of taking things over. It shouldn’t take over newspapers. It shouldn’t take 



36  The Civil RICO Complaint and Settlement

over schools. It shouldn’t take over corporations. It shouldn’t take over your 
union.”43 Senator Paul Simon (D-Ill.) said that the suit “ought to frighten 
every American.”44 Reverend Jesse Jackson’s spokesperson said Jackson 
believes “that the union belongs to the employees and that, if a problem 
exists in the Teamsters Union ​— ​legal or otherwise ​— ​that matter should be 
resolved legally. But the union should remain with the workers.”45 Con-
gressman William Ford (D-Mich.) sarcastically suggested that “instead of 
the Teamsters, maybe the Reagan administration should be taken over.”46

State and local politicians echoed these criticisms. Ohio Governor Rich-
ard Celeste called the lawsuit “just plain wrong”: “The idea that the Justice 
Department .  .  . is going to come in and put its hands on the Teamsters 
Union makes me shudder. This union should be in the hands of the men 
and women who make up the Teamsters.”47 Detroit Mayor Coleman Young 
rhetorically asked, “If labor can be described as a criminal enterprise, 
what’s wrong with describing a city or a state next? I think there’s a danger 
to the freedom of the American people here.”48

DOJ lawyers and some others defended the civil RICO suit. John Kee-
ney, deputy assistant attorney general of DOJ’s criminal division, explained 
that by using civil RICO rather than criminal prosecution, “we can remove 
not only convicted officers but also officers we can demonstrate are pup-
pets of criminal groups.”49 James Harmon, Jr., former director of PCOC, 
predicted that U.S. v. IBT “will make it impossible for organized crime to 
regroup.”50 Ronald Goldstock, director of the New York State Organized 
Crime Task Force, pointed out that using civil RICO against labor unions 
controlled by Cosa Nostra

i[s] precisely what Congress intended. What RICO does is make changes 
which, for example, in unions, would restore democratic processes, or in 
mob-dominated industries, would change the susceptibility to mob in-
filtration. Oftentimes, unions become captive because people maintain 
power through either fear of physical violence or economic reprisal.51

Pretrial Motions and Discovery

The IBT’s Motion to Dismiss the Complaint

The IBT and several individual IBT defendants moved to dismiss the 
RICO complaint on grounds that (1) it violated union members’ First 
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Amendment right to free association, (2) federal labor law preempted 
RICO, (3) several defendants had a statute-of-limitations defense, and (4) 
the complaint failed to state a viable theory and/or factual basis for relief 
under RICO.52 Judge Edelstein rejected these arguments. Explaining that 
“it is only lawful association that is protected [by the First Amendment], 
not association for a criminal or unlawful purpose,”53 he held that federal 
labor law did not preempt the RICO statute because one of RICO’s pri-
mary goals was “to provide the Government with a tool to attack organized 
crime’s alleged infiltration of legitimate enterprises, including specifically 
labor unions.”54 He further held that RICO’s statute of limitations applies 
only to suits by private parties, not to DOJ actions seeking equitable rem-
edies such as injunctions and court-appointed monitors.55 For the same 
reason, Judge Edelstein denied the defendants’ request for a jury trial.56

Judge Edelstein held that the government had sufficiently alleged a le-
gal basis for the IBT defendants’ RICO liability; that is, if the government 
could prove its allegations, it would satisfy its burden of demonstrating 
that the IBT defendants had violated RICO.

[T]he Government is advancing a theory of collective liability based on a 
failure to act when there was a duty to do so. Each defendant officer is a 
fiduciary with respect to the Union members. They have a duty to disclose 
and remedy wrongdoing by the IBT. When officers engage in collective 
wrongdoing, courts have recognized the propriety of collective pleading.57

Edelstein found that the IBT’s other challenges to the legal sufficiency of 
DOJ’s complaint were “insubstantial and accordingly rejected.”58

The IBT’s Motions to Change Venue and Join  
IBT Locals as Defendants

The IBT defendants moved to transfer the case from Judge Edelstein’s 
courtroom to federal court in Washington, D.C., the location of IBT head-
quarters (“the Marble Palace”).59 Edelstein denied that motion on the 
ground that Washington, D.C.’s proximity to NYC would make little differ-
ence to the convenience of any party.60 He also rejected the IBT’s motion 
to join as “indispensable parties” more than six hundred IBT locals, joint 
councils, area conferences, and benefit funds because the relief that DOJ 
requested would not directly affect those entities and because granting the 
motion would delay trial for months, if not years.61



38  The Civil RICO Complaint and Settlement

DOJ’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction

Judge Edelstein decided not to grant DOJ’s motion to appoint a court of-
ficer to supervise IBT expenditures, appointments, and disciplinary proc-
esses until resolution of the civil RICO suit.62 He emphasized the need for a 
trial to resolve important factual and legal issues.63 Judge Edelstein denied 
DOJ’s motion for a preliminary injunction and ordered an expedited dis-
covery schedule.

DOJ’s Motion for Entry of Default Judgment against 
Certain LCN Defendants

The Cosa Nostra Commission and several individual Cosa Nostra de-
fendants did not submit answers to the government’s complaint. Conse-
quently, Judge Edelstein authorized DOJ to enter default judgments against 
them. (Some Cosa Nostra defendants, acting pro se, did submit answers 
to the complaint. Others, including Salvatore Provenzano, Nunzio Proven
zano, and Francis Sheeran, entered into consent judgments, agreeing to 
have no contact with the IBT.)64 Because these defendants were enjoined 
from involvement in IBT affairs, any future attempt to exert influence in 
the IBT could be punished as contempt of court.

DOJ’s Motion for Summary Judgment against  
Certain LCN Defendants

DOJ asked Judge Edelstein to grant summary judgment against six LCN 
defendants based on their prior convictions for RICO or RICO predicate 
offenses.65 Judge Edelstein demurred because “the RICO claims asserted in 
the complaint are more far reaching than the criminal convictions of the 
defendants.”66 He explained that before he would enter a judgment against 
any defendant, DOJ had to prove that there was an “enterprise” composed 
of the IBT, individual GEB members, the Cosa Nostra Commission, and 
individual Cosa Nostra members; the alleged racketeering acts committed 
in furtherance of the enterprise constituted a pattern of racketeering activ-
ity; and each defendant engaged in that pattern of racketeering activity.67
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Depositions

Because U.S. v. IBT was a civil action, the parties could depose each 
other’s witnesses. The GEB members’ depositions demonstrated that the 
named defendants and other top IBT officers had failed to adequately in-
vestigate (or to investigate at all) allegations of IBT officials’ corruption and 
racketeering, despite 191 criminal prosecutions of and 22 civil-enforcement 
actions against Teamsters officials. Particularly striking was the GEB’s fail-
ure to commence disciplinary investigations after the 1982 civil RICO deci-
sion against IBT Local 560, after the 1986 indictment of General President 
Presser on fraud charges, and after the 1986 PCOC report called the IBT 
the country’s “most [organized-crime] controlled union.”68

Vice President Robert Holmes, Sr., stated at his deposition that he had 
not asked Presser about his fraud indictment, despite the extensive nega-
tive publicity it generated for the union, because “it was none of my busi-
ness. That is his problem.”69 Vice President Theodore R. Cozza claimed 
that he lacked both responsibility and authority to investigate criminality 
in “autonomous” IBT locals.70 John H. Cleveland, another international 
vice president, testified that the IBT lacked the resources to investigate la-
bor racketeering.71 Harold Friedman, an officer of Joint Council 41 and the 
Ohio Conference of Teamsters, said that to have inquired into a fellow IBT 
officer’s criminal conduct would have been “bad manners. .  .  . [Only] an 
absolute asshole would have walk[ed] up to me, whether he’s a vice presi-
dent or employee or anybody else and say ‘hey, tell me about your case.’ 
What the hell is it their business or anybody’s?”72

The Settlement

Negotiations

Several individual Teamsters defendants sought to settle to avoid out-of-
pocket litigation costs.73 The GEB responded with a resolution prohibiting 
individual Teamsters defendants from settling separately. Judge Edelstein 
quickly ordered the GEB to rescind that resolution. The GEB complied. 
International Vice Presidents Robert Holmes, Sr., Maurice Schurr, and 
John Cleveland resigned from union office.74 General Secretary-Treasurer 
Weldon Mathis and Vice Presidents Edward M. Lawson and Don L. West 
agreed not to knowingly associate with members or associates of LCN or 
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other criminal groups.75 The GEB denounced these individual settlements 
as “self-serving actions” because they “interfered with and impeded” the 
IBT’s ability to defend against the civil RICO suit.76

In December 1988, IBT General Counsel James Grady requested settle-
ment talks on behalf of the union. Giuliani and Mastro proposed a settle-
ment in which both parties would agree that there should be no organized-
crime influence in the IBT; the settlement would authorize the court to 
appoint a trustee with power to investigate, prosecute, and adjudicate dis-
ciplinary violations, veto union expenditures and appointments, and su-
pervise the next five quinquennial international elections. After the GEB 
rejected that idea and DOJ rejected some counterproposals, negotiations 
stalled for several months.

Negotiations resumed less than a week before the scheduled start of 
trial. By then, Benito Romano had succeeded Giuliani as U.S. attorney. 
(Giuliani resigned in order to return to private practice and contemplate a 
run for NYC mayor.) Mastro, still lead negotiator, continued to insist that 
a settlement include three court-appointed officers, direct rank-and-file, 
secret-ballot elections of international officers in the next five international 
elections, and elimination of organized-crime influence in the union.

On March 13, the eve of trial, the remaining individual union defendants 
and the GEB agreed to a settlement closely tracking DOJ’s terms. General 
President William McCarthy, the last holdout, said he was persuaded by “a 
chorus of [IBT] lawyers saying, ‘Sign, it’s the best deal you can get,’ ” and 
after his lawyer told him that ongoing litigation would cost him over one 
hundred thousand dollars.77

The Consent Decree

The parties’ agreement was incorporated into a consent decree approved 
by Judge Edelstein. It provided that

the union defendants acknowledge that there have been allegations, sworn 
testimony and judicial findings of past problems with La Cosa Nostra cor-
ruption of the IBT; and . . . the union defendants agree that there should 
be no criminal element or La Cosa Nostra corruption of any part of the 
IBT; and . . . the union defendants agree that it is imperative that the IBT, 
as the largest trade union in the free world, be maintained democratically, 
with integrity and for the sole benefit of its members and without unlawful 
outside influence.78
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The consent decree enjoined all IBT members, officers, employees, and 
agents from committing racketeering acts, from interfering with the court-
appointed officers, and from knowingly associating with any LCN mem-
bers or associates, other criminal organizations, or any person enjoined 
from participating in IBT affairs.79 A violation of this injunction would 
constitute an IBT disciplinary violation punishable by sanctions, including 
expulsion from the union.

The consent decree required several amendments to the IBT constitu-
tion. First, it lengthened the statute of limitations for bringing disciplinary 
charges from one year from the date the disciplinary violation was alleg-
edly committed to five years from the date the disciplinary violation was 
discovered. Second, it permitted the IBT general president and the GEB 
to suspend a member facing criminal or civil charges. Third, it prescribed 
rules for electing convention delegates, nominating candidates for IBT of-
fice, and rank-and-file secret balloting for IBT officers. Fourth, it provided 
that a vacancy in the office of general president would be filled by special 
election rather than by GEB appointment.*

To enforce the terms of the settlement, the consent decree provided 
that Judge Edelstein would appoint, from the parties’ list of recommenda-
tions, three officers: an independent administrator (IA), an investigations 
officer (IO), and an election officer (EO). These court officers would have 
authority to hire accountants, consultants, experts, investigators, and other 
personnel. The IBT would pay their salaries and expenses. After the EO 
“certified” the 1991 election of international officers, an independent review 
board (IRB) consisting of three members ​— ​one selected by DOJ, one by the 
IBT, and one by those two board members ​— ​would take over the IO’s and 
IA’s disciplinary enforcement duties. During the IRB phase, the IBT would 
play an active role in disciplinary adjudications. The IRB would continue 
to investigate disciplinary violations. It would also review and, if necessary, 
correct IBT disciplinary decisions.

* Previously, the GEB appointed a replacement when an international office became vacant. 
The previous four general presidents, and practically every international vice president for twenty 
years, first attained his position via a GEB appointment that was then overwhelmingly endorsed 
at the next IBT convention. For example, Jackie Presser was appointed as international vice presi-
dent to fill the vacancy that arose when Presser’s father took a permanent leave of absence. The 
GEB then selected Presser to be general president to fill the vacancy that arose when Roy Wil-
liams stepped down after being convicted of conspiring to bribe a U.S. senator.
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Independent Administrator (IA). The consent decree empowered an inde-
pendent administrator to exercise the disciplinary authority that the IBT’s 
GEB and general president possess. This included the power to discipline 
corrupt IBT officers, agents, employees, and members and, when neces-
sary, to appoint trustees to run the affairs of any local union, joint council, 
or area conference.80 The IA would adjudicate disciplinary cases brought 
by the IO and would approve, reject, or modify the GEB’s disciplinary 
decisions.

In the event of a conflict between the IA and IBT over union expen-
ditures, contracts, or appointments, the consent decree provided that the 
IA’s decision would prevail. Indeed, the IA could veto any IBT expenditure, 
contract, or appointment that, in the IA’s view, constituted or furthered a 
violation of RICO or contributed to Cosa Nostra’s influence over the IBT. 
(At the request of the general president or the GEB, the IA would have to 
give reasons for having vetoed an expenditure or appointment and give 
the general president or the GEB fourteen days to request Judge Edelstein’s 
review.)

On May 31, 1989, Judge Edelstein appointed Frederick Lacey as IA. La
cey was well qualified for the job. From 1969 to 1971, as U.S. attorney for the 
District of New Jersey, he had secured convictions of numerous organized-
crime figures. He then served for fourteen years as a federal district court 
judge (District of New Jersey). At the time of his appointment, Lacey was 
a partner in an NYC law firm. He quickly determined that he could not in-
vestigate corruption allegations and later adjudicate charges based on those 
allegations. Therefore, he separated the IA’s and IO’s offices. The IO would 
investigate and prosecute disciplinary violations. IA Lacey would preside 
over disciplinary hearings, decide whether the charges had been proved, 
and, if so, impose sanctions.81

Investigations Officer (IO). The consent decree authorized the IO to in-
vestigate allegations of misconduct in the international union and in IBT 
affiliates (i.e., local unions, joint councils, and area conferences); to bring 
disciplinary charges against any IBT officer, member, or employee “for the 
purpose and in the manner specified in the IBT Constitution”; and to insti-
tute trusteeship proceedings “for the purpose and in the manner specified 
in the IBT Constitution.” To carry out these tasks, the IO could take lawful, 
reasonable, and necessary steps, including the following, to fully inform 
himself about the IBT’s activities:
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•	 Examining the books and records of the international union, local 
unions, and joint councils, upon three days’ advance notice. (This 
included the right to hire an independent auditor.)

•	 Attending GEB meetings concerning the rights or duties of the IO, 
IA, or EO, upon advance notice to the general president.

•	 Taking sworn statements or sworn in-person examinations of any 
IBT officer, member, employee, or agent, upon ten days’ advance 
notice.

The IO could also bring disciplinary charges against an IBT member for 
interfering with a disciplinary investigation.82 Since there was no statute 
of limitations, the IO could bring disciplinary charges alleging misconduct 
that occurred years before U.S. v. IBT was filed.83 For the IO position, Judge 
Edelstein selected Charles Carberry, who had previously served nine years 
as an AUSA in SDNY, including a stint as chief of that office’s securities 
fraud unit. At the time of his appointment, Carberry was a partner in an 
NYC law firm.

Election Officer (EO). The consent decree provided for direct rank-and-file, 
secret-ballot election of international-union officers (general president, 
general secretary-treasurer, international vice presidents and trustees). It 
empowered and required the court-appointed EO to distribute election 
materials to the IBT membership; supervise the campaigning, nominat-
ing, and balloting processes; and certify the election results.84 It left for fu-
ture determination whether the EO’s role would extend beyond the 1991 
international election. DOJ would have discretion to decide whether the 
EO would supervise the 1996 IBT election; if it decided affirmatively, the 
government would have to bear the expense. After 1996, the IBT’s elections 
would be supervised by DOL, unless both DOJ and the IBT agreed oth-
erwise. For the EO position, Judge Edelstein selected Michael Holland, a 
Chicago labor lawyer who previously was general counsel to the United 
Mine Workers (UMW), one of very few unions that hold rank-and-file 
elections for international officers.

Independent Review Board (IRB). After the EO certified the 1991 elec-
tion results, the IA’s and IO’s disciplinary authority would pass to an IRB, 
whose three members would serve five-year terms.85 In the IRB phase of 
the remediation, the court-appointed IRB and the IBT would cooperate in 
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processing disciplinary cases. The IRB would investigate disciplinary viola-
tions and, if warranted, recommend that the IBT bring disciplinary charges 
or impose a trusteeship. (The IRB would publish these recommendations 
in Teamster Magazine.) The IRB would then ensure that the IBT unit with 
jurisdiction over the disciplinary or trusteeship charges implemented the 
recommendation appropriately. If the IRB found the IBT’s actions “inad-
equate,” and the union failed to satisfactorily modify its decision, the IRB 
would convene a de novo hearing and render a binding judgment.

Soon after EO Holland certified the 1991 election, U.S. Attorney Gen-
eral William Barr nominated IA Lacey to serve on the IRB. IBT General 
President Ron Carey (winner of the 1991 election) nominated his campaign 
manager, Harold Burke, previously UMW’s organizing director. When 
Burke and Lacey were unable to agree on a third IRB member, Judge Edel-
stein appointed William Webster, former federal judge, FBI director, and 
CIA director.

At a press conference held on the day he filed U.S. v. IBT, Giuliani stated 
that the lawsuit sought court oversight lasting “only for so long as neces-
sary to eliminate organized crime’s influence over the Teamsters, to put 
permanent reforms into place, and to return control of the Teamsters to 
the many honest working men and women of the union.”86 The consent 
decree does not include a time frame or sunset provision. It states only that 
“upon satisfactory completion and implementation of the terms and con-
ditions of this order, this Court shall entertain a joint motion of the par-
ties hereto for entry of judgment dismissing this action with prejudice and 
without costs to either party.”87 No criteria are specified for determining 
“satisfactory completion and implementation.” In a 1993 decision, Judge 
Edelstein observed that “there is no timetable for the completion of the 
IRB’s task.”88

Paying for the Court-Appointed Officers. The consent decree required the 
IBT to pay the salaries and expenses of the independent administrator, in-
vestigations officer, election officer, and their staffs. The court-appointed 
officers would submit itemized bills every three months. If the IBT general 
president did not contest the bills within fourteen business days, the IBT 
would be obliged to pay them. After certification of the 1991 IBT election 
results, the IBT would be responsible for paying the IRB’s costs and ex-
penses, including communications with the IBT membership and the toll-
free corruption hotline. The court would resolve disputes over compensa-
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tion and expenses. (All told, the IRB’s expenses have run about $3 million 
per year. The election officer’s expenses have run about $10 million each 
five-year election cycle.)

Conclusion and Analysis

Referring to the Teamsters Union as a “captive labor union,” and to some 
locals as “captive locals,” the U.S. v. IBT complaint presented a narra-
tive whereby Cosa Nostra figures infiltrated and exploited the Teamsters 
Union, with both active and passive assistance from the IBT’s international 
officers. Rhetorically, the complaint placed the lawsuit squarely within the 
government’s war on organized crime and portrayed the Teamsters rank 
and file as victims. Calling to mind civil-rights complaints that asked fed-
eral judges to enjoin constitutional deprivations suffered by prison in-
mates, jail detainees, mental patients, and schoolchildren,89 the complaint 
charged that the LCN defendants used bribes, intimidation, and violence 
to violate rank and filers’ rights to run for office, vote for union candidates 
of their choice, criticize incumbent leaders, and rely on union officers’ hon-
est services. It charged the IBT defendants with violating their fiduciary 
duty to serve the union and its members and with aiding the LCN defen-
dants in looting the IBT and its pension and welfare funds.

Settlement

The settlement included electoral and disciplinary prongs. Both prongs 
were meant to vindicate the rights and interests of ordinary Teamsters. But 
rank-and-file Teamsters did not have a voice in the settlement talks. There-
fore, it is worth asking whether their interests were adequately represented. 
DOJ claimed to be acting on behalf of the Teamsters rank and file, but its 
primary goal was to destroy Cosa Nostra. From the DOJ lawyers’ perspec-
tive, what was good for the war on organized crime was also good for the 
IBT’s rank and file. Certainly, there is some truth in that assertion, but it 
is not the whole truth. DOJ had an organizational interest in having the 
Teamsters Union bear the financial cost of organized-crime control. Of 
course, the burden has actually been borne by the membership.

The GEB defendants were obviously ill-suited to represent the rank and 
file in settlement talks with DOJ. According to DOJ’s complaint, each of the 
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defendants was an active or passive participant in defrauding Teamsters 
members of economic benefits and honest stewardship of the union. More-
over, as named defendants in the case, the GEB defendants had a conflict of 
interest; they would undoubtedly negotiate terms most favorable to them-
selves, even if not optimal for the rank and file.

Could the rank and file’s interests have been more effectively repre-
sented? Jed Rakoff, the outside counsel who represented the Teamsters 
Union itself, was potentially well positioned to protect the interests of 
the rank and file. His reputation in the legal community was impeccable. 
However, because Rakoff was hired by Marble Palace officials, and because 
those officials were technically the representatives of the membership, he 
presumably had to act on their instructions.

TDU sought to intervene as a defendant in U.S. v. IBT in order to pro-
tect the rights of the rank and file, but Judge Edelstein concluded that TDU 
lacked standing. In any event, TDU would have been a controversial repre-
sentative of the union’s 1.7 million members’ interests. TDU is a Teamsters 
faction with a specific political and policy agenda. A sizeable percentage 
of the rank and file has a negative opinion of TDU, not surprising given 
more than two decades of red-baiting and other denunciations by the IBT 
establishment.*

We can think of two additional possibilities. First, Judge Edelstein could 
have appointed representatives from IBT joint councils and/or local unions 
to represent the rank and file. However, this solution would also have been 
problematic because many local and regional IBT officers were complicit 
in the union leadership’s exploitation of the union. Second, Judge Edelstein 
could have appointed an independent trustee ​— ​perhaps a highly respected 
union leader with no ties to the IBT ​— to function like a court-appointed 
trustee in a bankruptcy case. However, ordinary Teamsters might have 
viewed that kind of independent trustee as an illegitimate intruder.

The consent decree’s failure to specify the IRB’s tenure or DOJ’s crite-
ria for agreeing to end the case also merits comment. Historically, orga-
nizational-reform litigation has often taken on a life of its own. The court 

* Moreover, as sociologists Lipset, Trow, and Coleman observed in their landmark study of 
union democracy more than half a century ago, “Ordinarily, neither rank-and-file union members 
nor union activists see as necessary or desirable the indefinite prolongation of a state of affairs 
in which one or more groups of members make it their business to be continually critical of the 
administration’s conduct of union business.” Seymour Martin Lipset, Martin Trow & James Cole-
man, Union Democracy: What Makes Democracy Work in Labor Unions and Other Organizations? 
New York: Anchor Books, 1956, at 271.
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and its remedial agents come to see themselves as indispensable. Their re-
sponsibilities tend to expand as the complexities of organizational reform 
become manifest and as the parties become habituated to calling on the 
remedial officers to solve politically tricky problems. The court-appointed 
officers also have a vested financial interest in the continuation of the re-
mediation. Over time, the constituency for ending the case often shrinks, 
while the constituency for continuing it expands.
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3

IBT Resistance and 
Judge Edelstein’s Resolve
July 1989 – ​September 1992

As the Consent Decree went into effect this spring, the Government 
and the IBT expected to implement its reforms in a spirit of cooper-
ation and a unity of purpose. Unfortunately, the honeymoon ended 
by August [1989], and the IBT and the Court Officers began sinking 
into a confrontational posture. . . . The day-to-day implementation 
of the Consent Decree became mired in a morass of accusations, 
venomous correspondence, applications, hearings, and ultimately, 
decisions by this Court, and the inevitable appeals.1

 ​— ​Judge David Edelstein, January 17, 1990

Q:	Did the IBT comply with [the consent decree’s] terms and 
conditions?

A:	That is a question I could spend the rest of the week on. They 
fought me at every turn.2

 ​— ​IRB member Frederick Lacey’s response to a question, 
in testimony before the House Subcommittee on 

Oversight and Investigations, July 30, 1998

The settlement in U.S. v. IBT by no means guaranteed eradi-
cation of Cosa Nostra’s influence in the union. The union vigorously op-
posed the consent decree’s implementation. As Judge Edelstein observed, 
“soon after the signing of the consent decree, the IBT waged a zealous at-
tack on the reforms contained in the consent decree. . . . Relations between 
the Court Officers and the IBT began in a spirit of hoped-for cooperation 
and unity of purpose, but as the months passed these interactions became 
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increasingly bitter.”3 Making matters worse, many local IBT officials and 
rank and filers, whom, in the court officers’ and DOJ’s view, the consent de-
cree was meant to protect and empower, also opposed enforcement of the 
consent decree. Some Teamsters simply distrusted the “government.” Oth-
ers did not believe that there was organized-crime influence in their locals. 
Still others supported the status quo because they were the beneficiaries of 
corruption and racketeering.

The IBT’s Counterattack

The day after signing the consent decree, General President McCarthy 
insisted that “the Government’s case was groundless and politically mo-
tivated to embarrass the Teamsters.”4 His criticisms escalated as the IA 
and IO began hiring staff, launching investigations, and filing disciplinary 
charges. Soon, the IBT deliberatively or reflexively challenged practically 
all of the court-appointed officers’ actions and decisions.

Attacks on the Investigations Officer’s Authority and Activities

Office Space. IA Lacey asked Judge Edelstein to compel the IBT to pro-
vide IO Carberry with office space in NYC.*5 The IBT leadership objected, 
pointing to language in the consent decree: “the Independent Adminis-
trator, Investigations Officer and Election Officer shall be provided with 
suitable office space at the IBT headquarters in Washington, D.C.” and “all 
costs associated with the activities of these three officials (and any designee 
or persons hired by them) shall be paid by the IBT.”6 Despite the consent 
decree’s explicit reference to “office space in Washington,” Judge Edelstein 
ruled that an NYC office for IO Carberry was consistent with the consent 
decree’s purpose and language, as well as with the signatories’ intentions.7

Access to Records. The consent decree provided that the “Investigations Of-
ficer shall have the right . . . to examine books and records of the IBT and 
its affiliates.”8 The IBT argued that the union affiliates merely had to show 

* The consent decree authorized only the IA, not the IO or the EO, to make “applications” to 
the court. The applications were numbered sequentially. Each application resulted in a court order. 
The IA filed over one hundred applications with Judge Edelstein from August 3, 1989 to October 
10, 1992, when the IRB replaced the IA/IO.
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the IO requested documents, not provide the IO with originals or copies. 
Judge Edelstein disagreed. Characterizing the IBT’s position as “part of a 
fierce campaign to avoid the reforms that it agreed to,”9 he ruled that the 
ability to obtain copies is “reasonabl[y] and necessar[il]y incident” to the 
IO’s powers under the consent decree.10

Compensation and Expenses. The consent decree provided that the three 
court-appointed officers submit to the court itemized bills for salary and 
expenses every three months. The IBT general president would have four-
teen days to note objections. The IBT routinely disputed the reasonableness 
of these expenditures and appealed them to Judge Edelstein. In order to 
keep the work of the court officers on track, the U.S. attorney asked Judge 
Edelstein to create a $100,000 operating fund against which the IA and IO 
could draw. The IBT strenuously objected, arguing that the consent decree 
did not require it, that the fund would diminish the court-appointed of-
ficers’ incentive to cooperate with the union, and that the IBT had dealt 
fairly with the court-appointed officers’ bills. Judge Edelstein adopted the 
U.S. attorney’s proposal and admonished the union.*11

After six months of these skirmishes I would now like to firmly establish 
that the parties must not only adhere to the letter of the Consent Decree, 
but must abide by its spirit as well. The spirit and intention of this Consent 
Decree command that its specific language be given the most reasonable 
possible interpretation. For this Consent Decree to continue to be viable 
and meaningful, the Court Officers must not be hampered in the perfor-
mance of their obligatory duties.12

Prosecuting Disciplinary Violations. IO Carberry brought the first disci-
plinary charges against Harold Friedman and Anthony Hughes. Friedman 
was president of Cleveland IBT Local 507, president of Cleveland Bakery, 

* Because the IBT repeatedly sought to prevent the EO from hiring staff, Judge Edelstein also 
approved DOJ’s request to create a $150,000 fund that the EO could draw against to cover expenses 
and that the IBT would have to periodically replenish. After the 1991 international-officer election, 
Judge Edelstein combined the $150,000 EO fund with the IA/IO’s $100,000 general operating fund 
to create a $250,000 IRB fund. The IRB had to submit expense and fee applications quarterly; if the 
IBT did not object within fourteen business days, or if the court overruled the objection, the IBT 
had to promptly reimburse the expenses. United States v. Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters, 829 F. Supp. 602, 
604 (S.D.N.Y. 1993).
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Confectionery, and Tobacco Workers International Union Local 19, presi-
dent of the Ohio Conference of Teamsters, an IBT vice president, a defen-
dant in U.S. v. IBT, and a signatory of the consent decree. Hughes was an 
IBT international representative and an IBT Local 507 officer but not a U.S. 
v. IBT defendant. Both men had been close associates of IBT General Presi-
dent Jackie Presser.13 (Local 507 was Presser’s home local.) Indeed, in May 
1986, a federal grand jury had charged Friedman, Hughes, and Presser with 
embezzling Local 507 funds by paying union salaries to “ghost” (no-show) 
employees.14 Despite these charges, Local 507’s members reelected Fried-
man and Hughes president and recording secretary, respectively.

Friedman and Hughes were convicted in May 1989. The judge sentenced 
them to four years probation, conditioned on their not holding union office 
or engaging in IBT-related activities.15 In July 1989, IO Carberry charged 
Friedman and Hughes with “bringing reproach upon the union” by know-
ingly associating with LCN figures, committing racketeering acts, and, in 
Friedman’s case, filing a false union reporting form with DOL.16 Hughes 
and Friedman mounted a strenuous defense based on §  3(d) of the IBT 
constitution, which stated,

Charges against elected officers of the international union or any subor-
dinate body shall be limited only to those activities or actions occurring 
during their current term, and only to those activities and actions occurring 
prior to their current term which were not known generally by the member-
ship of the international union or the subordinate body in the case of an 
officer of a subordinate body.

Friedman and Hughes argued that because Local 507’s members knew they 
had been indicted when reelecting them in 1987, the IO could not bring 
disciplinary charges based on the conduct charged in those indictments.17

The GEB then weighed in with a resolution (the “November 1, 1989 res-
olution”) interpreting § 3(d) as making bring-reproach disciplinary charges 
inapplicable to allegations that IBT members knew about before a disci-
plinary respondent’s most recent election to union office;18 to limit bring-
reproach charges to violations explicitly proscribed by the IBT constitution 
and committed after the consent decree took effect; and to require that the 
IA adhere to the GEB’s interpretations of the IBT constitution.19 This reso-
lution would have substantially curtailed the IO’s and IA’s authority.

In January 1990, IA Lacey found both Friedman and Hughes culpable 
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for bringing reproach upon the union and suspended them from their IBT 
officer positions for a year. Lacey rejected the November 1, 1989 resolu-
tion, stating that it “does violence” to the plain language and spirit of the 
IBT constitution and disrupts adjudication of pending disciplinary cases.20 
He then addressed the respondents’ arguments concerning the GEB’s in-
terpretation of § 3(d). First, Lacey held that the consent decree authorized 
the IA to interpret the IBT constitution and to override conflicting GEB 
interpretations. Second, he rejected the November 1, 1989 resolution’s in-
terpretation of § 3(d) as requiring proof that local union members did not 
know about allegations of the respondent’s misconduct when they elected 
respondent. To the contrary, Lacey ruled that § 3(d) burdens the disciplin-
ary respondent with proving that, at the time of the reelection, the relevant 
union voters knowingly chose to ignore the respondent’s illegal conduct. 
Third, Lacey ruled that a Teamster could be held accountable for disciplin-
ary offenses proscribed by the consent decree but not by the IBT consti-
tution, for example, association with LCN figures and membership in an 
LCN organized-crime family. Finally, Lacey rejected Hughes’s argument 
that since he was neither a defendant in U.S. v. IBT nor a signatory of the 
consent decree, he was not subject to the consent decree’s disciplinary re-
gime. Lacey held that the civil RICO defendants who signed the consent 
decree represented and bound the entire IBT membership.

Judge Edelstein upheld all of Lacey’s decisions. Affirming Hughes’s and 
Friedman’s one-year suspensions from union office, he pointed out that 
since Friedman and Hughes had vehemently denied the criminal charges, 
even Local 507 members who read the indictment would not have had con-
clusive knowledge of Friedman’s and Hughes’s wrongdoing.21 Moreover, he 
commented sarcastically that “the Consent Decree appears to contravene 
the interests of only two classes of IBT members; the election oversight 
may imperil unfairly elected officers, and the prosecution scheme may ul-
timately suspend corrupt union members.”22 Judge Edelstein also affirmed 
the IA’s authority to interpret the IBT constitution.23

While the IBT argues that [the consent decree] preserves their right to in-
terpret their constitution as they see fit, unfettered power may allow them 
to frustrate the implementation of the Consent Decree through “inter-
pretations” ​— ​as done here. In order to prevent reforms from being car-
ried out or [to] protect members from charges, the IBT could interpret 
existing provisions or even amend their Constitution to accomplish such 
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malignant aims. Such actions must be scrutinized carefully to determine 
their reasonableness.24

Judge Edelstein accused the GEB of attempting to frustrate the consent de-
cree: “The IBT sees no moment in the important fact that the [November 
1, 1989] resolution exculpates current or former GEB members from facing 
charges. . . . [The resolution’s provisions] cannot withstand judicial scrutiny 
as ‘reasonable,’ and the Independent Administrator correctly found them 
[unreasonable].”25

In June 1990, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals upheld IA Lacey’s de-
cision to suspend Friedman and Hughes from IBT office for one year.26 In 
July 1990, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals upheld their criminal RICO 
convictions.27 Upon conviction, pursuant to the Landrum-Griffin Act, they 
would be barred from holding union office for thirteen years. (In 1993, IA 
Lacey expelled Friedman from the IBT on account of his continuing efforts 
to exercise control over Local 507’s executive officers and for holding him-
self out as a leader to Local 507’s members.)28

Attacks on the Independent Administrator’s  
Authority and Activities

Communicating with the Rank and File. In July 1989, pursuant to the con-
sent decree,29 IA Lacey began reporting his disciplinary decisions in the 
monthly Teamster Magazine. Because these decisions cast the union’s lead-
ership in bad light, the GEB announced that, henceforth, it would publish 
Teamster Magazine quarterly rather than monthly. Lacey argued that such 
a change would impair his obligation to communicate with the rank and 
file.30 Agreeing, Edelstein gave the IBT two options: continue to publish 
Teamster Magazine monthly or pay to mail monthly IA reports to the mem-
bers.31 The IBT chose the former. In a subsequent ruling, Judge Edelstein 
held that the IBT had to publish the IA’s monthly reports in full, including 
each disciplinary respondent’s name, local-union affiliation, and disciplin-
ary charge.32 He also ordered the IBT to publish in Teamster Magazine all 
court opinions and orders relating to U.S. v. IBT.33

Monitoring IBT Expenditures and Contracts. The consent decree autho-
rized the IA to monitor the IBT’s spending. To carry out this responsibility, 
Lacey hired as chief auditor John Cronin, previously an assistant director 
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at the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO). Cronin hired two full-time 
investigators and a full-time secretary to help him audit IBT purchases ex-
ceeding $1,000; selected out-of-work benefits; payroll expenditures exceed-
ing $50,000; travel allowances exceeding $1,800 per month; professional 
fees exceeding $5,000; purchases of fixed assets over $50,000; contribu-
tions, gifts, or grants to labor-related organizations and those exceeding 
$10,000 to other entities; and financial assistance in excess of $25,000 to 
IBT affiliates.

IBT General Counsel James Grady initially resisted Cronin’s monitor-
ing. He demanded that Cronin and his staff fill out time-consuming forms 
identifying and justifying requests to see contracts, procurements, and 
travel vouchers; barred Cronin and his staff from using the IBT cafeteria 
and snack bar; and barred them from accessing their Marble Palace offices 
on weekends and on weekdays before nine a.m. and after four p.m. The IBT 
relented only after Lacey complained to Judge Edelstein.

When Cronin identified a proposed improper expenditure, he first 
wrote a letter to IBT General Secretary-Treasurer Weldon Mathis request-
ing cancelation or modification. If Cronin was dissatisfied with the IBT’s 
response, he would recommend that IA Lacey veto the expenditure or pub-
licize it in Teamster Magazine. (Under the consent decree, Lacey could veto 
only expenditures related to an act of racketeering.)

IA Lacey vetoed only two proposed IBT expenditures. First, in March 
1990, the IBT proposed to extinguish a $5.3 million debt that the Western 
Conference of Teamsters owed to the international union. General Pres-
ident McCarthy explained that forgiving the debt honored a 1984 agree-
ment between former General President Jackie Presser, General Secretary-
Treasurer Weldon Mathis, and Western Conference Director Jesse Carr. 
However, there was neither documentation of such an agreement nor 
adequate justification for forgiving the loan. IA Lacey reported to Judge 
Edelstein,

In this case, I found that Messrs. Presser and Carr were guilty of extort-
ing the members’ rights by virtue of their scheme to present a “loan” to 
the GEB for approval, while surreptitiously planning that the transaction 
would be converted to a “grant” at an undetermined later date. Such a 
scheme can only diminish the membership’s confidence in the IBT leader-
ship, promote an overwhelming sense of futility among the rank-and-file, 
and inevitably deprive the IBT membership of its right to a democratically 
run union. .  .  . General President McCarthy’s willingness to endorse the 
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loan conversion by circulating a memorandum seeking the approval of the 
GEB, without investigating the matter and setting forth all the facts and 
circumstances, can only be interpreted as the same “conscious avoidance 
of the facts” condemned by Judge Edelstein.34

IA Lacey also vetoed a Teamster Magazine printing contract. On March 
1, 1989, less than two weeks before signing the consent decree, General 
President McCarthy terminated the IBT’s contract with Teamster Maga-
zine’s printer and awarded the contract to Windsor Graphics, a company 
owned by his daughter and son-in-law. IA Lacey found the contracting 
process “seriously flawed,” since the IBT had not issued bid specifications, 
permitted only three firms to bid, prohibited the current contractor from 
bidding, did not require sealed bids, and analyzed the bids imprecisely.35 
Windsor Graphics, which was run out of McCarthy’s son-in-law’s home, 
had no printing capacity, equipment, credit, contacts, or track record.36 
It billed the IBT $300,000 per month (payable in advance)37 and subcon-
tracted the actual printing work.

IA Lacey concluded that the Windsor Graphics contract harmed the 
IBT in two ways. First, the union paid unnecessarily high fees for Wind-
sor’s services; second, the union did not receive the interest it should have 
earned on the money advanced to Windsor.38 He found McCarthy and 
IBT Communications Director F.C. Duke Zeller culpable for “extorting the 
rights of the members of the IBT . . . by secretly conferring advantages and 
benefits upon Windsor that enabled it to present what, on its face, was the 
lowest of three bids, but was in actuality anything but that.”39 According to 
Lacey, McCarthy and Zeller breached their fiduciary duties to the mem-
bership and aided and abetted the extortion of the union members’ right 
“to democratic participation in the affairs of their union.”40 He therefore 
vetoed further payments to Windsor Graphics and directed the IBT to so-
licit new printing-contract bids. Judge Edelstein affirmed, calling the bid-
ding process “rigged” and an “obvious ripoff of IBT funds.”41 He called the 
IBT’s justification of its bidding process “absurd” and its argument that the 
Windsor Graphics contract saved the union money “sheer sophistry.”42 The 
Second Circuit Court of Appeals dismissed the IBT’s appeal.43

In mid-1992, just before expiration of the IO/IA phase of the U.S. v. 
IBT remediation, IA Lacey recommended that the IBT create an inspec-
tor general’s office to audit IBT expenditures, a policies and procedures 
manual to govern financial transactions, and a unionwide budget.44 He ar-
gued that the absence of such controls contributed to the union’s decades 
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of corruption. (The Carey administration, 1992 – ​1997, did not implement 
these recommendations. Only after Judge Edelstein approved the appoint-
ment of an independent financial auditor in late 1997 did the IBT begin to 
reform its financial infrastructure.)

Vetoing IBT Appointments. The consent decree authorized the IA to veto 
any appointment that “constitutes or furthers an act of racketeering . . . or 
furthers or contributes to the association directly, or indirectly, of the IBT 
or any of its members with LCN or elements thereof.”45 It empowered the 
IA to establish procedures for reviewing appointments; examining books 
and records; attending GEB meetings; deposing IBT officers, members, 
employees, and agents; and making use of an independent auditor.46

Lacey instituted the following appointment procedures: (1) the prospec-
tive appointee completes a questionnaire; (2) the IA forwards the question-
naire and the IBT’s recommendation to the U.S. attorney; (3) the U.S. attor-
ney forwards the information to the FBI; (4) the FBI conducts background 
checks for prior convictions or other disqualifying information; (5) the FBI 
forwards its findings to the U.S. attorney; and (6) the U.S. attorney for-
wards the FBI’s findings to IA Lacey, who publishes a notice of the pro-
posed appointment in Teamster Magazine, giving rank-and-file members 
an opportunity to voice objections. Based on this information, the IA could 
either issue a non-veto statement, allowing the appointment to become fi-
nal, or request more information.47

By February 1992, Lacey had vetoed only one appointment ​— ​the GEB’s 
selection of Central Conference of Teamsters Policy Committee member 
Jack B. Yager as an international vice president and director of the seven-
hundred-thousand-member Central Conference of Teamsters. (Yager had 
previously served as administrative assistant to General President Roy 
Williams, business agent for Kansas City IBT Local 41, organizer for the 
Central Conference of Teamsters, and director of the union’s Freight Divi-
sion.) Lacey found that Yager’s “silence and incomprehensible passivity” in 
light of General President Williams’s well-publicized organized-crime ties 
and his vote to reelect Williams as chairman of the Central Conference of 
Teamsters Policy Committee aided and abetted Williams’s extortion of IBT 
members’ rights.48 Lacey reasoned that Yager could not have worked so 
closely with Williams without LCN’s approval. He cited FBI agents’ testi-
mony that Yager associated with prominent Cosa Nostra figures, including 
Nick Civella, Allen Dorfman, James Cozzo, and others in Chicago, Detroit, 
and Kansas City.49 Lacey found that Yager’s appointments would further 
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the IBT’s association with Cosa Nostra.50 Judge Edelstein affirmed Lac-
ey’s decision and criticized the IBT for failing to investigate Yager’s back-
ground.51 Subsequently, McCarthy withdrew several proposed appoint-
ments when the IA expressed concerns.

Attacks on the Election Officer’s Authority and Decisions

Authority to Promulgate Election Rules. On July 19, 1989, EO Michael Hol-
land notified the IBT and DOJ that he intended to promulgate rules for 
conducting the 1991 international-officer election.52 The IBT strenuously 
objected. According to General Counsel Grady, the consent decree’s use 
of the word “supervise,” rather than “conduct,” showed that the parties 
intended a passive EO monitoring role, limited to distributing election-
relevant information to the membership, overseeing balloting, responding 
to local officers’ requests for advice, and certifying election results.53 EO 
Holland and IA Lacey contended that the consent decree gave the EO “an 
active and broad mandate to intervene in and coordinate the IBT’s elec-
toral process up to and including the next general convention [in 1991].”54 
They insisted that, used as a term of art in labor law, “supervise” authorized 
the EO to conduct the IBT’s 1991 election.

Once again, Judge Edelstein ruled in the court officers’ favor. “Super-
vise,” he concluded, should be interpreted according to its most expansive 
dictionary meaning: “to coordinate, direct, and inspect continuously and 
at first hand the accomplishment of; oversee with the powers of direction 
and decision the implementation of.”55 He added that the consent decree’s 
reference to the 1991 election encompassed the entire electoral process, be-
ginning with convention-delegate selection.56

Opposition to Direct Rank-and-File Elections. Because the consent decree 
formalized a settlement negotiated by the IBT international officers and 
DOJ, did it bind several thousand local and joint council officers who were 
neither U.S. v. IBT defendants nor consent decree signatories? A number 
of Teamsters officers argued that it was not binding and that the delegates 
at the upcoming July 1991 Teamsters convention in Buena Vista, Florida, 
could reject the consent decree’s election reforms. They pointed to the fol-
lowing consent decree provision in support of this position:

By no later than the conclusion of the IBT convention to be held in 1991, 
the IBT shall have formally amended the IBT constitution to incorporate 
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and conform with all of the terms set forth in this order by presenting said 
terms to the delegates for a vote. If the IBT has not formally so amended 
the IBT constitution by that date, the Government retains the right to seek 
any appropriate action, including enforcement of this order, contempt, or 
reopening this litigation.57

To head off a convention rebellion against the consent decree, U.S. At-
torney (SDNY) Otto Obermaier (appointed by President George H.W. 
Bush in 1989) asked Judge Edelstein to enjoin the IBT from any actions 
inconsistent with the consent decree’s provisions on the election of interna-
tional officers. Judge Edelstein agreed: “[The consent decree] is fully part of 
the IBT constitution and the law of that union no matter what the conven-
tion delegates vote.”58 He ruled that a delegate vote on the Consent Decree 
would have no legal effect. “No action taken by the IBT at the convention 
can undercut the provisions of this Consent Decree.”59 In his strongest lan-
guage yet, Judge Edelstein criticized the IBT for persistently attempting to 
obstruct implementation of the consent decree:

I remind the IBT that it voluntarily agreed to the Consent Decree and, 
with it, free rank and file elections. The past two years have demonstrated 
that the IBT had no intention of living up to its end of the agreement. The 
IBT has made every attempt to limit the scope and restrict the terms of 
the Consent Decree, and each time it has lost. But the time for challenges 
to the Consent Decree has now passed, and the IBT must live with the 
Consent Decree as written by the parties, approved by the Court, and re-
peatedly interpreted by this Court and the Court of Appeals. .  .  . I tend 
to be amused when I remember that the IBT by its representatives have 
made heroic statements from time to time to reaffirm their commitment 
to a union free of corruption and their dedication to free elections. How I 
wish that some of these statements could have been true. Time has proved, 
however, that these statements are empty of any meaning or purpose for 
the good of this important union.60

Pursuant to the consent decree, for the first time in IBT history, locals 
chose convention delegates in secret-ballot elections supervised by an in-
dependent election officer. Nevertheless, on the opening day of the conven-
tion (June 24, 1991), a large majority of the nearly two thousand delegates 
voted to reject the consent decree. Though legally meaningless, the vote 
constituted a stunning repudiation of TDU’s and DOJ’s insistence that, 
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given an opportunity, rank-and-file Teamsters would enthusiastically em-
brace union democracy.61

EO Staffing. EO Holland, pointing to his responsibility to supervise an un-
precedented North America – ​wide, rank-and-file, secret-ballot union elec-
tion, asked the IBT to pay for a staff, including an executive assistant, an 
administrative assistant, a secretary, and a labor-economics consultant.62 
The IBT called these requested expenditures unnecessary, unwarranted, 
and excessive.63 Judge Edelstein disagreed.64 In addition, he approved Hol-
land’s request to hire a PR firm to communicate the consent decree’s goals 
to the rank and file.65

IBT Locals Join the Resistance

General President McCarthy and other GEB members encouraged IBT 
local officers to resist enforcement of the consent decree.66 The remedial 
effort would be paralyzed if local officers across the country initiated litiga-
tion. In December 1989, New Jersey IBT Joint Council 73 went to federal 
court in New Jersey to challenge IO Carberry’s authority to examine its 
books and records.67 The joint council contended that it was not bound 
by the consent decree because it was neither a party to U.S. v. IBT nor a 
consent decree signatory. It also argued that the IBT’s general president 
and GEB lacked authority to delegate their disciplinary powers to court-
appointed officers. New Jersey federal district court judge Harold Acker-
man (who had presided over the Union City, New Jersey, Local 560 case for 
over a decade) transferred the case to Judge Edelstein’s court in Manhat-
tan.68 Judge Edelstein issued a temporary restraining order barring Joint 
Council 73 from litigating U.S. v. IBT issues in any forum other than his 
courtroom.69

In December 1990, Cleveland IBT Local 507 filed a lawsuit in federal 
court in Ohio alleging that the IO and IA breached Local 507’s “contract 
with the International IBT” by seeking to discipline its officers, Harold 
Friedman and Anthony Hughes.70 U.S. Attorney Obermaier sought a re-
straining order on the ground that proliferating litigation would frustrate 
the consent decree. Judge Edelstein ordered the local to withdraw its law-
suit. Local 507 complied.

Leaders of five Chicago-area IBT locals also went to federal court, al-
leging that EO Michael Holland’s plan to supervise the 1991 IBT election 
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violated the IBT constitution.71 They asked the judge to exempt their locals 
“from submitting to the strictures of the Consent Decree.”72 Judge Edel-
stein ordered the Chicago plaintiffs to cease and desist from taking further 
action in their lawsuit.73

Judge Edelstein’s All Writs Act Opinion

After Judge Edelstein preliminarily enjoined the IBT lawsuits in Illinois, 
Ohio, and New Jersey, U.S. Attorney Obermaier requested a permanent All 
Writs Act injunction prohibiting anyone from filing any lawsuit pertaining 
to the U.S. v. IBT consent decree in any forum other than Judge Edelstein’s 
courtroom.74 In the past, albeit infrequently, the All Writs Act had been 
invoked to enjoin repeated, baseless, or vexatious litigation, and to enjoin 
plaintiffs from bringing parallel proceedings in different courts.*75 In re-
questing an omnibus All Writs Act injunction, Obermaier argued that sub-
ordinate IBT entities were seeking to undermine the consent decree.

Judge Edelstein invited all IBT local unions (approximately seven hun-
dred at the time), joint councils, and regional conferences to explain why 
he should not grant the injunction that Obermaier requested.76 General 
President McCarthy urged IBT local officials to “fight this unprecedented 
and ill-advised attempt . . . to deprive you and your members of your legal 
and constitutional rights.”77 Ultimately, 282 local unions, twenty joint coun-
cils, and two state conferences submitted briefs opposing an injunction.78

In the most important judicial opinion in the entire U.S. v. IBT litiga-
tion, and probably the most sweeping All Writs Act injunction in U.S. his-
tory, Judge Edelstein prohibited anyone from bringing litigation related to 
the consent decree in any forum other than his court.79 He enjoined all 

* The All Writs Act, originally codified in the Judiciary Act of 1789, states, “The Supreme Court 
and all courts established by Act of Congress may issue all writs necessary or appropriate in aid 
of their respective jurisdictions and agreeable to the usages and principles of law.” In re Josephson, 
218 F.2d 174, 177 – ​78 (1st Cir. 1954); 28 U.S.C. § 1651(a) (2000). Justice O’Connor once described 
the All Writs Act as “the last of the triad of founding documents, along with the Declaration of 
Independence and the Constitution itself.” Sandra Day O’Connor, The Judiciary Act of 1789 and the 
American Judicial Tradition, 59 U. Cin. L. Rev. 1, 3 (1990); see also Dimitri Portnoi, Resorting to Ex-
traordinary Writs: How the All Writs Act Rises to Fill the Gaps in the Rights of Enemy Combatants, 
83 NYU L. Rev. 293 (2008). In determining whether to invoke the All Writs Act, courts consider 
the Anti-Injunction Act, which prohibits federal courts from issuing injunctions barring proceed-
ings in state courts except “when necessary in aid of jurisdiction.” 28 U.S.C. § 2283 (2000); In re 
Baldwin-United Corporation, 770 F.2d 328, 335 (2d Cir. 1985).
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federal and state courts from exercising jurisdiction in matters relating to 
the case.80 He defended this extraordinary ruling on the ground that “the 
recent actions by subordinate IBT entities [Joint Council 73, Local 507, and 
the Chicago locals] seeking independent adjudication of related matters 
have created an eruption of litigation unprecedented even by the warped 
standards practiced by the IBT in this case” and have also created a signifi-
cant risk that the consent decree would be interpreted inconsistently.81 He 
added that, since 1989, the “morass of accusations, venomous correspon-
dence, applications, hearings, and decisions by this Court” demonstrate the 
need for a permanent All Writs Act injunction.82 The Second Circuit Court 
of Appeals affirmed.83

Conclusion and Analysis

A period of massive resistance often accompanies the initial resolution 
of major institutional-reform litigation.84 In many lawsuits attacking un-
constitutional conditions and practices in public institutions, for example, 
government officials resisted and even tried to sabotage court-imposed 
remediation. This was demonstrated most dramatically in the numerous 
school-desegregation cases following Brown v. Board of Education.85 There 
was similar resistance in many prison-reform and mental-hospital-reform 
cases.86 Although, in some instances, such resistance succeeded in stymie-
ing reform, more frequently, the court prevailed, often only after a change 
in the institution’s leadership. This pattern of legal attack, institutional re-
sistance, and consolidation of reform is evident in cases resolved by a trial 
and in cases resolved by a negotiated consent decree.

From August 1989 to September 1992, the IBT placed Judge Edelstein 
and the court-appointed officers under legal siege. In the months follow-
ing issuance of the consent decree, the international union and a number 
of IBT locals repeatedly challenged or refused to comply with the court 
officers’ decisions, prompting the court officers to seek judicial orders.87 
According to the U.S. House of Representative’s Committee on Education 
and the Workforce’s Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, from 
1989 to 1992, the IBT’s international, regional, and local offices spent nearly 
$10.5 million litigating disagreements with the court-appointed officers.88 
The relationships between the IBT and Judge Edelstein and between the 
IBT and the court-appointed officers were bitterly contentious. Edelstein 
spoke of “The Autumn of Discontent.”89 Perhaps the nadir occurred when, 
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after Judge Edelstein issued his omnibus All Writs Act injunction, IBT 
Joint Council 73 filed a lawsuit challenging the IO’s power to take sworn 
statements from IBT officers and members. The complaint charged that a 
previous Edelstein ruling “betrays a monumental ignorance of federal la-
bor law.” Edelstein labeled the IBT’s complaint “a case study in vexatious, 
harassing litigation brought without any proper purpose”90 and criticized 
the attorneys who filed it for “violat[ing] the most basic responsibility of a 
lawyer to her client and the court ​— ​to be prepared in court.” He fined the 
lawyers $35,000 for filing a frivolous motion.91 (The Second Circuit Court 
of Appeals vacated the sanction on procedural grounds.)92

Successfully implementing the consent decree under these contentious 
conditions depended on the political independence, determination, and 
competence of a corps of enforcers. Without a decisive and determined fed-
eral judge, a supportive court of appeals, highly competent court-appointed 
officers, and a sophisticated U.S. attorney’s office, U.S. v. IBT would not 
have survived the IBT’s legal resistance. IA Lacey consistently upheld the 
decisions of the IO and EO. Judge Edelstein consistently upheld the court-
appointed officers’ decisions. And the Second Circuit consistently upheld 
Judge Edelstein’s decisions. Equally important was Judge Edelstein’s All 
Writs Act injunction.93 Without it, the consent decree’s implementation 
would have been tied up in dozens of courts around the country, paralyzing 
the remedial effort.94

The consent decree, which the IBT signed, gave the court and its officers 
significant power over the union’s international elections and over the op-
eration of the union’s administrative discipline. It may strike some observ-
ers as unfair that Judge Edelstein appointed the court officers, then sat in 
review of their decisions. We do not find this criticism persuasive. The par-
ties could have left it to Judge Edelstein to issue and enforce all decisions 
himself. For efficiency, they authorized him to appoint officers to carry out 
the day-to-day enforcement of the consent decree. In effect, the court of-
ficers acted on the judge’s behalf; technically, they issued many of their de-
cisions as “recommendations” to the district court. It is unsurprising that 
Edelstein adopted nearly all their recommendations. Had he found himself 
in disagreement with “his” court officers, it would have been his preroga-
tive to replace them with officers who would better carry out his will. Fur-
thermore, the IBT always had the option, which it frequently exercised, to 
appeal Judge Edelstein’s decisions to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. 
Rank-and-file Teamsters did not rally to support DOJ’s legal attack on the 
labor racketeers who, for decades, had intimidated them and exploited 
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their union. Indeed, the majority of Teamsters seemed indifferent, if not 
opposed, to DOJ’s reform effort. (We cannot resist drawing a parallel with 
the U.S. military’s disappointment that the Iraqi population did not, en 
masse, celebrate the U.S. effort to bring democracy to their country.) Even 
Congress did not support the reform effort, as demonstrated by the peti-
tion, signed by 264 members, expressing opposition to a lawsuit that they 
had not yet seen.

Without the commitment and tenacity of Judge Edelstein, the court-
appointed officers, and the U.S. attorney’s office, U.S. v. IBT would likely 
have failed. Indeed, it may well have tracked the same path as English v. 
Cunningham, a class-action suit filed by thirteen New York Teamsters on 
behalf of the IBT membership in 1957. The plaintiffs asked a federal dis-
trict judge to appoint a board of monitors to rout out corruption in the 
union’s election machinery and international leadership.95 They alleged 
that the IBT’s international officers had rigged the 1957 Teamsters conven-
tion to elect Jimmy Hoffa, disenfranchise rank-and-file members who op-
posed the incumbents, and use union funds for their own benefit.96 The 
settlement of the case, embodied in a consent decree, established a three-
member court-appointed board of monitors to purge the union of corrupt 
officials and improve election procedures. That board had some initial suc-
cess, but the IBT paralyzed the monitors by filing scores of legal challenges. 
The board dissolved in 1961, only three years after its formation. Perhaps 
this precedent remained part of the IBT’s institutional memory a genera-
tion later as opponents of U.S. v. IBT sought to render the 1989 consent 
decree unenforceable.
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4

Establishing New 
Disciplinary Machinery
July 1989 – ​September 1992

As General President of this great union, I have consistently op-
posed any settlement, maintaining from the outset that the Gov-
ernment’s entire case was groundless and politically motivated to 
embarrass the Teamsters. . . . While I reluctantly accept the terms of 
the Consent Order, I believe it is not the vindication and exonera-
tion Teamsters deserve. The fact is this suit should never have been 
filed in the first place.1

 ​— ​IBT General President William McCarthy, March 1989

I want you to mark and burn every word into your memory. I say 
and I repeat probably ad nauseam: I will use every power of this 
government, including my own power as judge, to see that this con-
sent decree is given full force and effect and I’m determined to see 
that it achieves its purpose.2

 ​— ​Judge David Edelstein, June 23, 1991

Prior to U.S. v. IBT, the union’s locals, joint councils, and GEB 
rarely brought disciplinary charges against IBT officers. The disciplinary 
process was used largely to punish “dissidents”; even then, disciplinary de-
cisions and sanctions were often unrecorded, unpredictable, and unknown 
to members beyond the respondent’s local.3 Disciplinary action against an 
international IBT officer was unheard of. The consent decree made admin-
istrative prosecution of violations of the IBT’s constitution, IBT locals’ by-
laws, federal criminal and labor laws, and the consent decree itself the chief 
weapon for purging the union of organized crime’s influence.4
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The consent decree provided that an independent administrator (IA) 
and investigations officer (IO) would run the union’s disciplinary process 
until the election officer (EO) certified that the 1991 IBT election had been 
conducted freely and fairly. Thereafter, a three-person independent re-
view board (IRB) would take over the disciplinary function. Thus, from 
July 1989 to October 1992, IO Carberry, IA Lacey, and Judge Edelstein pro-
cessed hundreds of disciplinary charges, laying down an extensive body of 
substantive and procedural IBT disciplinary law.5

Sources of IBT Disciplinary Law

IBT disciplinary law is rooted in the IBT constitution, local-union bylaws, 
and federal laws, as well as in the U.S. v. IBT consent decree. Because of 
its generality and adaptability, the disciplinary offense that the IO and 
IA found most useful was the constitutional requirement that an IBT 
member “conduct himself or herself at all times in such a manner as not 
to bring reproach upon the union.”6 The IBT constitution specifically pro-
hibits, among other conduct, embezzlement or conversion of the union’s 
funds or property;7 assault or provoking assault on fellow members;8 ex-
tortion of a union member’s rights;9 disrupting or inducing others to dis-
rupt the performance of the union’s labor or contractual duties; retaliating 
or threatening to retaliate against a member for filing disciplinary charges 
(unless those charges were filed maliciously); and wrongfully retaining or 
destroying IBT records. However, the IO and, subsequently, the IRB always 
charged specific violations under the umbrella offense, “bringing reproach 
upon the union.”

The consent decree added a few important disciplinary offenses: com-
mitting any act of racketeering activity; knowingly associating with mem-
bers or associates of Cosa Nostra or any other criminal group;10 knowingly 
associating with persons permanently or temporarily barred from IBT 
membership; and failing to cooperate with the court-appointed officers or 
IRB. The latter was especially useful because it enabled the IO to compel 
Teamsters to answer investigators’ questions.

Other grounds for disciplinary charges are violations of federal labor 
and criminal laws, including receiving items of value from an employer;11 
loaning union money to a union member;12 offering, receiving, or solic-
iting a fee, kickback, commission, gift, loan, money, or thing of value to 
influence the operation of an employee-benefit plan;13 submitting false 
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or misleading reports to DOL;14 and using force or violence, or the threat 
of force or violence, to restrain, coerce, or intimidate any union member 
for the purpose of interfering with that member’s rights under the Labor 
Management Reporting and Disclosure Act (LMRDA).15 When the IO 
charged any of these offenses, he also added a bring-reproach-upon-the-
union charge.

The Steps in a Disciplinary Case

Investigations

IO Carberry and his staff obtained investigative leads from IBT mem-
bers, government agencies (e.g., the FBI), the media, legislative reports, and 
completed or pending criminal and civil cases. Although the IO did not 
have police powers (to arrest, carry a firearm, conduct searches, intercept 
electronic communications), the consent decree authorized him to take “all 
reasonable steps necessary to be fully informed on the IBT’s activities.”16 It 
also empowered him to review the books and records of IBT entities and, 
with “reasonable cause,” to take sworn statements of IBT members, officers, 
employees, and agents. Teamsters who refused to answer the IO’s questions 
could be expelled from the union.

Adjudication

If the IO had sufficient evidence, he would serve written disciplinary 
charges on the respondent, who would then have thirty days to prepare a 
defense. Seventy-five percent of the IO’s disciplinary charges settled during 
or soon after this thirty-day period. While, to conserve resources, the IO 
preferred settlement to trial, he did not bargain away charges and rarely 
made concessions on sanctions.17 Some disciplinary respondents chose not 
to contest charges in order to avoid a formal finding of culpability or to 
save legal fees. If the IO and respondent reached an agreement, they sub-
mitted it to IA Lacey for approval and then to Judge Edelstein for entry as 
a judicial order.18

Judge Edelstein approved most, but not all, settlements. In 1990, for in-
stance, IO Carberry charged Carmen Parise, former secretary-treasurer of 
Cleveland IBT Local 473 and former president of Ohio Joint Council 41, 
with bringing reproach upon the union by assaulting a Local 473 member 
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and by refusing to answer questions about a previous assault on that same 
individual. Parise agreed to a tentative settlement suspending his IBT 
membership for three months. IA Lacey approved the sanction, but Judge 
Edelstein rejected it as too lenient. The Second Circuit Court of Appeals 
affirmed Edelstein’s decision because “[t]he district court must ensure that 
the [settlement of the disciplinary charges] does not put the court’s sanc-
tion on and power behind a decree that violates constitution, statute, or 
jurisprudence.”19

Under the LMRDA, a union cannot discipline a member unless that 
member has been served with written specific charges, given reasonable 
time to prepare his defense, and afforded a full and fair disciplinary hear-
ing.20 Thus, if the respondent and IO failed to reach a settlement, the IA 
convened and presided over a hearing conducted according to rules and 
procedures applicable to labor arbitration hearings. Each party could pres-
ent evidence, including reliable hearsay testimony, and cross-examine the 
other side’s witnesses.21 With the IA serving as trier of fact,22 the IO had to 
prove the respondent’s “culpability” by a preponderance of the evidence.

The IA did not rubber-stamp the IO’s charges. For example, IA Lacey 
concluded that the rioting conviction of Akron, Ohio IBT Local 348’s 
secretary-treasurer did not bring reproach upon the union. He also dis-
missed embezzlement charges against three NYC IBT Local 194 officers 
because the IO failed to prove that the respondents fraudulently intended 
to deprive the union of funds.23 In another case, in which two individuals 
were charged with an assault that occurred in a fracas between TDUers 
and members of the Brotherhood of Loyal Americans and Strong Team-
sters (BLAST), Lacey found the respondents not culpable because IO Car-
berry had not proved that they were actually involved.24

If Lacey found the disciplinary respondent culpable, he had discretion to 
determine the punishment, including reimbursement, fine, suspension 
(of varying duration) from union office, suspension (of varying duration) 
from union membership, prohibition on associating with IBT members, 
forfeiture of union office, and expulsion from the union.25 He typically an-
nounced his decision in a written opinion that was subsequently published 
in Teamster Magazine.26

Appeals

Judge Edelstein heard appeals from the IA’s disciplinary decisions. The 
consent decree provided that the court would use “the standard of review 
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applicable to review of final federal agency action under the Administra-
tive Procedure Act.”27 Under this standard, the reviewing court should af-
firm the hearing officer’s (IA’s) decision unless it was arbitrary, capricious, 
or an abuse of discretion.28 If Judge Edelstein affirmed, the respondent 
could appeal to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, which deferred to 
Edelstein’s decision if it was “supportable under any reasonable standard of 
review” or “fell within the realm of reason.”29

The Second Circuit Court of Appeals consistently upheld IA Lacey’s sanc-
tions. For example, IA Lacey expelled Robert C. Sansone, president of 
St. Louis IBT Local 682, president of Joint Council 13, president of the 
Missouri-Kansas Conference of Teamsters, and an international represen-
tative, for having brought reproach upon the union by willfully disregard-
ing his fiduciary duty to investigate allegations that Anthony Parrino, the 
former vice president of Local 682, was a Cosa Nostra member. Although 
the Second Circuit considered expulsion a “drastic” sanction, it affirmed 
Lacey’s decision because “the apparent discrepancy between the penalty 
imposed here and those imposed in other cases does not inexorably com-
pel the conclusion that the Independent Administrator acted arbitrarily or 
capriciously.”30 In another case, when Edelstein enhanced the sanction IA 
Lacey had imposed on an Ohio IBT Local 100 officer for assaulting an IBT 
member,31 the Second Circuit concluded that Judge Edelstein should not 
have modified Lacey’s decision without explicitly finding that his decision 
was arbitrary or capricious.

The Law of Teamster Disciplinary Offenses

Although the consent decree, the Teamsters constitution, federal laws, 
and local-union bylaws provided a kind of code of disciplinary violations, 
Lacey and Edelstein had to interpret these violations in individual cases. 
Respondents almost always appealed IA Lacey’s culpability findings to 
Judge Edelstein and sometimes to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, 
thus generating a great deal of written precedent.

The Consent Decree’s Disciplinary Offenses

Membership in Cosa Nostra. U.S. v. IBT ’s main purpose was to purge the IBT 
of LCN’s influence. Toward that end, the consent decree enjoined Team-
sters from membership in any organized-crime family.32 When prosecut-
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ing a violation of this disciplinary rule, the IO introduced an FBI agent’s 
affidavit and/or testimony to prove that the respondent was a member of 
an LCN crime family.33 Figure 4.1 shows that from July 1989 to September 
1992, IA Lacey disciplined thirteen Teamsters, including five local presi-
dents, three vice presidents, and two secretary-treasurers, for being LCN 
members. Every case resulted in expulsion or resignation from the IBT.

IO Carberry charged NYC IBT Local 295 President Anthony Calagna, 
Sr., with bringing reproach upon the union by being a soldier in the Gam-
bino crime family, refusing to answer IO Carberry’s questions, and em-
bezzling $50,000 from Local 295. At Calagna’s disciplinary hearing, an 
FBI agent testified that the FBI believed that Calagna was a Cosa Nostra 

Figure 4.1
IBT Officers Found to Be Members of Cosa Nostra during the IA/IO Phase (1989 – ​1992)

	 Name	 IBT Position	 LCN Affiliation	 Penalty	 Date

Vincent Buliaro	 Vice president:	 New Jersey	 Resigned	 1/25/91
	 Local 617		  from IBT

Anthony Calagna, Sr.	 President: 	 Lucchese	 Expelled	 5/7/91
	 Local 295	 (NYC)	 from IBT

James Cozzo	 Coordinator:  	 The Outfit	 Expelled	 7/12/90
	 Local 786	 (Chicago)	 from IBT

Liborio Crapanzano	 President: 	 Gambino	 Resigned	 11/25/91
	 Local 27	 (NYC)	 from IBT

William Cutolo	 President: 	 Colombo	 Expelled	 8/20/90
	 Local 861	 (NYC)	 from IBT

Joseph Glimco, Sr.	 President: 	 The Outfit	 Resigned	 11/30/89
	 Local 777	 (Chicago)	 from IBT

Nicholas Grancio	 President: 	 Colombo	 Resigned	 8/13/91
	 Local 707	 (NYC)	 from IBT

Anthony Parrino	 Vice president: 	 St. Louis	 Resigned	 6/11/91
	 Local 682		  from IBT

Joseph Pecora, Sr.	 Secretary-treasurer: 	 LaRocca crime family	 Resigned	 12/28/89
	 Local 863	 (Pittsburgh)	 from IBT

Louis Rumore	 Vice president: 	 Gambino	 Resigned	 12/11/90
	 Local 812	 (NYC)	 from IBT

Dominic Senese	  President: 	 The Outfit	 Expelled	 7/12/90
	 Local 703	 (Chicago)	 from IBT

Philip Tortorici	 Trustee: 	 Genovese	 Resigned	 9/6/91
	 Local 531	 (NYC)	 from IBT

Anthony Zappi	 Secretary-treasurer: 	 Gambino	 Expelled	 5/23/91
	 Local 854	 (NYC)	 from IBT
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member.34 Calagna admitted that he had met Lucchese crime family mem-
ber Richard DeLuca five hundred times, had known Lucchese crime fam-
ily member Salvatore Avellino for “twenty, twenty-five years,” and had so-
cialized with Gambino crime family member John Giordano.35 Moreover, 
when IO Carberry asked Calagna, “[Would it be] a matter of concern to 
you, as a union official, that someone you know might be tied up with or-
ganized crime?” Calagna replied, “Not really. I didn’t give a shit.”36

Knowing Association with Cosa Nostra. To prove that a Teamster knowingly 
associated with an LCN figure, the IO had to prove that (1) the individual 
with whom the respondent was alleged to have associated is an LCN mem-
ber or associate;37 (2) the respondent knew or should have known that this 
person is an LCN figure;38 and (3) the contact was purposeful, not inciden-
tal or fleeting.39 As long as the contact was purposeful, it did not matter 
whether it occurred in a business or social context.40 (Charges were sus-
tained, in some cases, even if the LCN member was a family member.) The 
prohibited contact could have occurred many times or just once.41 For in-
stance, IA Lacey expelled the former vice president of Rochester, New York 
IBT Local 398 on the basis of the respondent’s single recorded conversa-
tion with Angelo Amico, alleged boss of Rochester’s organized-crime fam-
ily. The respondent’s admission that he had read newspaper articles that 
labeled Amico an LCN family boss was enough to establish knowledge.42 
Early on, Lacey established expulsion as the appropriate punishment for an 
IBT officer or member who knowingly associates with an organized-crime 
figure: “There is only one just and reasonable penalty to be imposed when 
a Union Officer . . . sees fit to hobnob with mob bosses and underlings ​— ​
permanent debarment from the very union he has tainted.”43

Because it was usually easier to prove knowing association with LCN 
figures than membership in LCN, the IO often brought only a knowing-
association charge, even though the respondent was a known LCN mem-
ber. Dominic Senese (Chicago IBT Local 703 president), Joseph Talerico 
(Chicago IBT Local 727 business agent), and James Cozzo (Chicago IBT 
Local 777 executive coordinator) were the first IBT members to be expelled 
from the union for knowingly associating with LCN figures. An FBI agent 
testified that Senese not only met regularly with Cosa Nostra figures but 
was himself an LCN member. Angelo Lonardo, a cooperating government 
witness who admitted to having served as acting boss of the Cleveland 
LCN family, testified that Senese had knowingly associated with Chicago 
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Outfit boss Joey Aiuppa and former Outfit underboss Jackie Cerone. Roy 
Williams, cooperating with federal prosecutors, confirmed Senese’s asso-
ciation with Outfit underboss John DiFronzo. An unnamed cooperating 
witness linked Senese to high-ranking Outfit member Angelo LaPietra. 
FBI surveillance photos showed Senese meeting with Outfit boss Jackie 
Cerone’s son. IA Lacey expelled Senese from the union. Judge Edelstein 
and the Second Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.44

An FBI agent documented six meetings between Talerico and an LCN 
member in and around Las Vegas from 1981 to 1982. The agent testified 
that Talerico had transported to Chicago money illegally “skimmed” (i.e., 
hidden from tax authorities) from Las Vegas casinos. Consequently, Lacey 
expelled Talerico for bringing reproach upon the IBT and for knowingly 
associating with an LCN member. Senese and Talerico argued that because 
their alleged associations with LCN figures occurred before the consent 
decree issued, they lacked prior notice that such association constituted 
a disciplinary violation.45 Judge Edelstein rejected this defense as “fanci-
ful” because “an IBT officer plainly should know that associating with 
organized-crime figures would violate his oath to not bring reproach upon 
the union.”46

James Cozzo faced a bringing-reproach-on-the-union charge both for 
being a member of the Chicago Outfit and for knowingly associating with 
a member of the Outfit while serving as an IBT Local 786 official. Carberry 
charged that Cozzo met repeatedly with high-ranking Outfit leader Joseph 
Lombardo. Cozzo did not respond to the IO’s charges, did not appear at the 
IA disciplinary hearing, and did not challenge the IA’s finding of culpability 
or expulsion order.47

Theodore Cozza, a named defendant in U.S. v. IBT, a signatory of the 
consent decree, an international vice president, secretary-treasurer of the 
Eastern Conference of Teamsters’ Policy Committee, president of Pitts-
burgh IBT Local 211, and chairman and trustee of Local 211’s pension fund, 
employee welfare fund, and prepaid legal services fund,48 contested the 
charge that he brought reproach upon the union by knowingly associat-
ing with five members of Pittsburgh’s Cosa Nostra crime family from 1970 
to 1990.49 Cozza argued that disciplining him for associating with known 
LCN figures violated his First Amendment right of association. Judge Edel-
stein rejected his argument because, by signing the consent decree, the IBT 
defendants (including Cozza) agreed that the IA would have power to dis-
cipline Teamsters who knowingly associate with organized-crime figures.
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Other IBT officers charged with membership in or knowing association 
with LCN chose to resign from the union rather than go through a hear-
ing. For example, Cirino Salerno, former president of NYC IBT Local 272, 
resigned in September 1990 after the IA found that he had associated with 
LCN members, including his brother, Anthony Salerno, underboss of the 
Genovese crime family and a defendant in U.S. v. IBT.50 Likewise, NYC 
IBT Local 861 President William Cutolo resigned his union positions on 
the eve of a disciplinary hearing at which the IO was prepared to introduce 
FBI affidavits alleging that Cutolo was a leader in the Colombo crime fam-
ily.51 (Nine years later, Cutolo disappeared after a meeting with Colombo 
crime family boss Alphonse Persico. In 2008, federal agents found Cu
tolo’s remains wrapped in a blue tarp beneath a field in East Farmingdale, 
New York.)

Knowing Association with a Barred Person. If expelled Teamsters contin-
ued to spend time at union headquarters and to meet with IBT officers and 
members, rank-and-file Teamsters would infer that those expelled Team-
sters remained a presence in the IBT and that, eventually, the old status 
quo would be reestablished. Consequently, the consent decree enjoined 
IBT members from “knowingly associating with . . . any person otherwise 
enjoined from participating in union affairs.”52 (This prohibition does not 
apply to solely familial or incidental contacts with barred persons.)53 This 
disciplinary rule, according to Judge Edelstein, was meant to “insulate 
honest Teamsters from people involved in organized crime and others of 
dubious character.”54 It gave honest Teamsters a strong incentive and justi-
fication to avoid contact with barred persons.

During the IA/IO phase of the U.S. v. IBT remediation (July 1989 – ​Sep-
tember 1992), no Teamster was charged with this offense, probably because 
few Teamsters had been expelled for non-LCN reasons before 1991. How-
ever, during the IRB phase of the remediation, there have been numerous 
such cases.

Violation of or Failure to Enforce a Suspension Order. The consent decree 
prohibited suspended Teamsters from participating in union affairs. As 
Judge Edelstein explained,

The suspension that is enforced only in form undermines the Consent De-
cree and sends the message to the membership that dishonest IBT officials 
are immune from the law. Moreover, the spectacle of a suspension that has 
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become a caricature of itself deflates the morale and dampens the zeal of 
those who attempt to live within the law and work within the rules.55

A suspended member who continues to exercise de facto control over a 
local union can be held in contempt of court for violating the suspension 
order.56

Suspended Cleveland IBT Local 507 President Harold Friedman contin-
ued to participate in the local’s affairs by advising board members, attend-
ing board meetings, and appearing at the local’s social events.57 Finding 
Friedman culpable of violating the terms of his suspension, Lacey expelled 
him from the IBT. He warned Local 507’s other executive officers that “it 
is the duty of all IBT officials to take every reasonable step to prevent a 
suspended or barred individual from violating this standard. This duty is 
an affirmative one; acquiescence in the face of a violation of a suspension 
order or a statutory debarment is a violation of that duty.”58

Failure to Cooperate with a Disciplinary Investigation. According to the 
consent decree, a Teamster’s unreasonable failure to cooperate fully with 
a disciplinary investigation or proceeding brings reproach upon the IBT.59 
Thus, a Teamster is culpable of a disciplinary violation for failing to appear 
for an IO interview; failing to respond to IO inquiries in a lawful, timely, 
and responsible manner; failing to implement the IO’s or IA’s decisions ex-
peditiously; failing to inform the IA/IO of the GEB’s disciplinary or trust-
eeship decisions; or intentionally giving misleading testimony to a court-
appointed officer.60

IO Carberry brought ten failure-to-cooperate cases from July 1989 to 
September 1992. For example, he charged NYC IBT Local 295 President 
Anthony Calagna, Sr., with bringing reproach upon the union by refusing 
to answer 124 questions concerning his alleged membership in LCN and 
alleged embezzlement of $50,000 from that local.61 Calagna unsuccessfully 
argued that the U.S. Constitution’s Fifth Amendment privilege protected 
him from being disciplined for refusing to answer these incriminating 
questions.62 The Second Circuit Court of Appeals had previously held that 
the Fifth Amendment privilege did not protect IBT disciplinary respon-
dents because the U.S. Constitution does not provide protection against a 
private organization compelling incriminating testimony.63

Failure to Investigate Allegations of Corruption. In one of Lacey’s first deci-
sions as IA, he ruled that IBT officials who violate their fiduciary duty to 
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investigate allegations of misconduct bring reproach on the union:64 “It is 
imperative that not only are Union officers themselves free from the taint 
of corruption, but also that they do not close their eyes to the corruption 
around them.”65 Judge Edelstein concurred: “Each defendant officer is a fi-
duciary with respect to the Union members. [Each has] a duty to disclose 
and remedy wrongdoing.” Failure to fulfill that duty constitutes “aiding 
and abetting the extortion of IBT members’ rights to democracy and free 
speech.”66 The IA used failure-to-investigate charges to remove from office 
forty-three IBT officers who were at least passively complicit with labor 
racketeers. The usual sanction was expulsion from IBT office.67

To prove a failure-to-investigate charge, the IO first had to show that the 
respondent knew or should have known of the wrongdoer’s misconduct.68 
The IO proved this element by media reports, criminal charges, or other 
information that would have put a reasonable union officer on notice.69 For 
example, IA Lacey found St. Louis IBT Local 682 President Robert San-
sone culpable for failing to investigate media allegations that his local’s vice 
president was an LCN member.70

Second, the IO had to prove that the respondent did not reasonably in-
vestigate.71 The IO easily satisfied that element when the respondent had 
done little or no investigating.72 For example, Sansone’s defense was that 
he asked Local 682’s vice president about the LCN allegation and relied on 
the vice president’s denial. Lacey called that “investigation” inadequate.73 
To fulfill his or her fiduciary duty, an IBT officer had to have sought inves-
tigative assistance from a law-enforcement agency, the IO’s office, a private 
detective, or a polygraph examiner.74

Disciplinary Violations Established by Federal Law

The consent decree made it an IBT disciplinary violation to commit cer-
tain federal crimes, such as loaning union funds to members, filing false 
or misleading reports to DOL, and committing assault, extortion, or brib-
ery. The IO focused primarily on fraud-related, fiduciary-duty-related, and 
corruption-related federal offenses.

Extortion and Bribery. The consent decree authorized the court-appointed 
officers to investigate and punish union officials’ violations of the LMRDA’s 
extortion and bribery prohibitions.75 The most frequently charged extor-
tions during the IO/IA phase involved respondent IBT officers forcing 
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rank-and-file members to pay them for hiring-hall job referrals. (Union 
hiring halls refer members to employers pursuant to the terms of a collec-
tive-bargaining agreement.) In North Haledon, New Jersey, for example, 
IBT Local 11 President Robert Feeney required catering-truck drivers to 
pay him in order to obtain work.

The IO also brought charges against IBT officers for extorting employ-
ers by threatening labor problems. In December 1991, for example, IO Car-
berry charged NYC IBT Local 282 President Robert Sasso with assisting 
Gambino crime family members in extracting labor-peace payoffs from 
New York – ​area construction contractors.76 Confronted with the prospect 
of former Gambino crime family underboss (and cooperating government 
witness) Salvatore Gravano testifying against him, Sasso resigned from the 
union hours before his disciplinary hearing.77

Filing False or Misleading Forms with the U.S. Department of Labor. Dur-
ing the IO/IA phase of the remediation, IO Carberry charged eight local 
officers with filing false or misleading LM-2 forms (the annual financial 
statements that unions must submit to DOL).78 The most prominent of 
these cases involved Cleveland IBT Local 507 President Harold Friedman, 
whom IO Carberry charged with bringing reproach upon the union by, 
among other things, filing a false LM-2 on behalf of Bakery, Confectionery, 
and Tobacco Workers International Union Local 19, of which Friedman 
was also president. (Friedman’s false LM-2 filing was one basis for his 1989 
criminal RICO conviction.) In a similar case, IO Carberry charged Inter-
national Vice President George Vitale with filing an LM-2 that improperly 
failed to reveal that his IBT local, rather than Vitale, had paid Vitale’s FICA 
taxes. Lacey sustained both charges. Judge Edelstein affirmed Lacey’s con-
clusion that a union officer breaches his fiduciary duty to the members by 
failing to read or review an LM-2 form before signing it.79 After the Sec-
ond Circuit Court of Appeals ruled in 1991 that this charge required proof 
of the respondent’s fraudulent intent, Carberry used other charges to deal 
with financial misconduct.80

Prior Felony Conviction. Section 504 of the Landrum-Griffin Act prohibits 
an individual from holding union office for thirteen years following a fel-
ony conviction.81 Lacey held that violating this law brings reproach upon 
the union.

IO Carberry charged several IBT officers with having held union office 
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after a felony conviction. For example, he brought charges against Akron, 
Ohio IBT Local 348 Secretary-Treasurer Daniel Darrow for having held 
office after pleading no contest to second-degree riot.82 The conflict arose 
between an IBT member and members of an independent dissident group 
called the Fraternal Association of Steel Haulers (FASH). FASH members 
had gone on strike at a steel plant despite their local’s no-strike agreement 
with the employer. When other Teamsters, including Darrow, attempted 
to cross the picket line, a gun battle erupted; one Teamster was killed and 
others injured. Lacey held that the riot conviction, standing alone, without 
evidence that Darrow had carried a gun or engaged in violent activity, did 
not bring reproach upon the IBT. He distinguished Darrow’s case from that 
of Chicago Local 727 Business Agent Joseph Talerico, whom Lacey found 
to have brought reproach upon the union by holding union office after be-
ing convicted of contempt for refusing to give grand jury testimony about 
an organized-crime scheme to skim money from a Las Vegas casino. Lacey 
explained that a still-in-effect 1957 AFL-CIO Executive Council statement 
prohibited union officers from invoking the Fifth Amendment because 
it creates the appearance that the union “sanctions the use of the Fifth 
Amendment . . . as a shield against proper scrutiny into corrupt influences 
in the labor movement.”83 The riot conviction in Darrow’s case did not cast 
the same corruption shadow.

Assault. The Landrum-Griffin law provides that it is “unlawful for any per-
son through the use . . . or threat . . . of force or violence, to restrain, coerce, 
or intimidate, or attempt to restrain, coerce, or intimidate any member of 
a labor organization for the purpose of interfering with or preventing the 
exercise of any right to which he is entitled under the provisions of this 
chapter.”84 Tracking this statute, the IBT constitution prohibits “assault-
ing or provoking assault on fellow members or officers .  .  . or any simi-
lar conduct in, or about union premises or places used to conduct union 
business.”85

A disciplinary-assault charge requires proof of actual or threatened vio-
lence.86 IO Carberry charged Pittsburgh IBT Local 249 Secretary-Treasurer 
William Cherilla with seriously injuring a fellow officer who was running 
against him in the local election. IA Lacey suspended Cherilla from the 
union for five years. In another case, IA Lacey suspended Cleveland, Ohio 
IBT Local 473 Secretary-Treasurer Carmen Parise for two years for threat-
ening to assault a political opponent.87
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The IBT Constitution’s Disciplinary Offenses

According to the IBT constitution, it is a disciplinary offense to violate 
a local-union bylaw, misappropriate union funds, disclose confidential IBT 
information to non-Teamsters, and interfere with the IBT’s contractual or 
legal obligations. IO Carberry most frequently brought disciplinary charges 
for embezzlement,88 failure to maintain required financial controls, sham 
membership schemes, and other “financial misconduct.”

Embezzlement. During the IO/IA phase, Carberry filed embezzlement 
charges against 115 respondents, virtually all of whom were IBT officers. 
Carberry had to prove that the respondents intended to convert union 
funds to personal use.89 In one prominent embezzlement case, Carberry 
charged George Vitale ​— ​international vice president, secretary-treasurer of 
the Central States Conference of Teamsters’ Policy Committee, vice presi-
dent of IBT Joint Council 43, chairman of the Automobile, Petroleum, and 
Allied Trades Division, and president of Michigan IBT Local 283 ​— ​with 
embezzlement, because the union had improperly paid his FICA taxes.90 
IA Lacey ruled that fraudulent intent could be inferred from a respondent’s 
use of union property without any benefit to the union, failure to record 
an expenditure on the DOL’s LM-2 form, and preventing other IBT officers 
from finding out about the unlawful benefit.91

In a case against two Evandale, Ohio IBT Local 100 officers, Lacey held, 
and Judge Edelstein affirmed, that a good-faith but erroneous belief that 
an expenditure provided a legitimate union benefit was not a valid defense 
to an embezzlement charge.92 However, in a rare reversal, the Second Cir-
cuit Court of Appeals held that fraudulent intent is not proven if the re-
spondent had a good-faith belief both that the funds were expended for 
the union’s benefit and that the union had or would have authorized the 
expenditure.93

Financial Misconduct. “Financial misconduct,” a charge closely resembling 
embezzlement, requires proof of wrongful appropriation of union prop-
erty. Proof of fraudulent intent is unnecessary. The IO used this disciplin-
ary violation to charge respondents for aiding and abetting embezzle-
ment,94 making unapproved expenditures,95 giving away union property,96 
and providing union benefits to organized-crime members.97 Punishments 
ranged from short suspensions98 to lifetime bans.99
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Insufficient Financial Controls. The court-appointed officers argued that 
lack of financial controls in a local or joint council provides fertile ground 
for corruption and organized-crime infiltration.100 IO Carberry (and later 
the IRB) brought disciplinary charges against many IBT officers who failed 
to implement or enforce financial-monitoring procedures required by local 
bylaws, international-union mandates, or federal or state regulations. Spe-
cific charges included failure to keep minutes,101 approve local bylaws,102 
and comply with audits,103 as well as filing false or misleading financial 
information with IBT headquarters.104 Frequently, the IO simultaneously 
filed charges against several officers. For example, Carberry charged all 
seven members of NYC IBT Local 831’s executive board with failure to 
adopt bylaws105 and charged three Long Island City, New York IBT Lo-
cal 27 trustees with filing false financial statements.106 Occasionally, rather 
than bringing a disciplinary charge alleging insufficient financial controls, 
IO Carberry would issue a “noncharge” report to a local’s executive board, 
highlighting deficiencies in the local’s financial practices and requiring 
prompt remedial action.

Sham Membership Schemes. The IBT constitution sets membership eligibil-
ity requirements. To knowingly extend membership to ineligible persons 
(who, for example, may desire membership in order to be included in the 
union’s health-insurance plan) is a disciplinary violation.107 For example, 
several officers of New York IBT Locals 917 and 868 created an “associate 
membership program” that permitted non-IBT employees to obtain union 
health-insurance coverage for ten dollars per person (to be paid by their 
employers).108 IO Carberry charged that this “sham” membership scheme 
lined the respondents’ pockets, while providing no benefit to the union or 
its members.109 IA Lacey held that all seven members of both locals’ execu-
tive boards had violated their fiduciary duties.110 Sham-membership cases 
generally resulted in expulsion from the union.

Trusteeing Corrupted IBT Locals

The IA exercised the IBT general president’s power to impose a trusteeship 
on a corrupted or dysfunctional local or joint council.111 The kinds of cor-
ruption warranting trusteeship include sweetheart contracts with employ-
ers, nepotism or favoritism, dual unionism (officers maintaining mem-
bership in both the IBT and a non-IBT union), and financial misconduct. 
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A trusteeship is also warranted if a local union or joint council does not 
hold membership meetings, lacks competitive elections, has incumbent of-
ficers who are ineligible to hold union office, improperly approves salary 
increases, or experiences extensive embezzlement. The IBT constitution 
provides for imposition of a trusteeship if a local or joint council is run for 
the benefit of a select few rather than for the whole membership.112 Lacey 
ruled that a history of organized-crime influence is a strong indicator that 
a local union was being run for the benefit of a select few.113

The consent decree authorized the IO to “institute trusteeship pro-
ceedings for the purpose and in the manner specified in the IBT constitu-
tion”114 and authorized the IA to “discharge those duties which relate to . . . 
appointing temporary trustees to run the affairs” of IBT locals and joint 
councils.115 The IO had to notify the IBT general president of his intent to 
convene a trusteeship hearing in order to give the general president the op-
portunity to impose a trusteeship himself. If the general president chose to 
impose a trusteeship, the IO and IA could review and modify that trustee-
ship.116 If, within ten days, the general president took no action on an IO 
trusteeship recommendation, or decided against imposing a trusteeship, 
the IO and IA could initiate trusteeship proceeding. If a trusteeship is im-
posed, the general president replaces the local’s or joint council’s elected 
officers with a trustee who has authority to take charge of the local’s affairs, 
remove any officer, appoint temporary officers, and take other actions nec-
essary to set the IBT entity on a corruption-free course.

All told, from July 1989 to September 1992, the IA placed or approved 
trusteeships on nine IBT locals.117 In early 1990, for example, IO Carberry 
notified General President McCarthy of his intention to institute trustee-
ship proceedings against Bridgeport, Connecticut IBT Local 191118 based 
on evidence that its president, secretary-treasurer, and recording secretary 
had colluded to embezzle large sums from the local’s health-insurance 
fund.119 McCarthy appointed a panel of IBT officers to convene a trustee-
ship proceeding. That panel concluded that a trusteeship was unwarranted. 
McCarthy adopted its recommendation. Carberry rejected McCarthy’s de-
cision and instituted a trusteeship proceeding against Local 191. IA Lacey 
sustained Carberry’s charges and appointed a trustee to run the local.

The most important trusteeship case of the IA/IO period concerned 
NYC IBT Local 295.120 In late 1990, after finding rampant corruption within 
the local, Lacey expelled seven of Local 295’s eight executive board mem-
bers and appointed a trustee. “In my two years as Independent Adminis-
trator, I have seen few IBT Locals with the sullied reputation associated 
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with Local 295, a reputation richly deserved, as reflected by the record in 
this case.”121 A year later, DOJ brought a separate civil RICO suit against 
the leaders of Local 295. Judge Eugene Nickerson (Eastern District of New 
York) concluded that, “contrary to the argument of Local 295, vestiges of 
its old regime are not gone. The record establishes, without significant evi-
dentiary dispute, a consistent and extended pattern of racketeering and ex-
tortion and a sufficiently strong possibility that the corruption persists to 
warrant a special remedy from the court.”122 In addition, Nickerson found 
a court-appointed trusteeship was warranted because “[i]nstitutional 
practices and traditions tend to endure long after specific individuals are 
gone. The evidence establishes that the corruption in Local 295 was not 
simply in practice, but in spirit and belief.”123 He appointed a trustee to 
clean up the local.

Conclusion and Analysis

In just three years, 1989 – ​1992, the IO/IA removed from the IBT more than 
two hundred officers, including twelve international officers, fifty local-
union presidents, twenty-seven vice presidents, and forty-six secretary-
treasurers. Indeed, of all the disciplinary charges filed from 1989 until 2011, 
approximately 25 percent were filed between 1989 and 1992. Twelve LCN 
members were expelled or resigned, and many LCN associates were ex-
pelled for associating with expelled or suspended IBT members. By the 
end of the IO/IA phase (October 1992), there had been a complete change-
over of the GEB. All of the IBT defendants named in the civil RICO case 
had resigned or been expelled (see fig. 4.2).

The IO/IA disciplinary machinery achieved in just three years what dec-
ades of criminal prosecutions had failed to achieve, thereby proving the 
efficacy of RICO’s civil remedy to reform a systemically corrupted organi-
zation. In the 1970s and 1980s, federal prosecutors had sent dozens of IBT 
racketeers to prison, but the IBT remained “a captive labor organization.” 
LCN simply replaced the imprisoned labor racketeers with other mobbed-
up operatives. By contrast, IO Carberry and IA Lacey were able to system-
atically purge organized-crime members, associates, and allies from dozens 
of IBT locals and joint councils. Most dramatically, they made it impossible 
for anyone with known LCN connections to serve on the GEB and very 
difficult for such a person to serve as an officer of an IBT local.

The IO/IA administrative disciplinary law proved to be powerful medi-
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cine. In particular, suspending and expelling union officers for failing to 
act affirmatively to protect the union from corruption and racketeering set 
a very high standard for union officers’ conduct. In effect, it equated non-
feasance with malfeasance; IBT officers were expelled from office for not 
aggressively opposing corruption and racketeering. The IA also expelled 
many officers for not cooperating with the IO’s investigations.

Judge Edelstein ruled that IBT members could not assert Fifth Amend-
ment or Fourteenth Amendment rights at the investigative or adjudicative 
stage of the disciplinary process because the court-appointed officers, op-
erating under a consent decree manifesting the parties’ agreement, were 
not state actors. This decision troubles us. We believe that when a court-
appointed officer in a civil RICO case questions a potential disciplinary re-
spondent about a corruption issue, and a federal or state prosecutor could 
use that individual’s response against him in a subsequent criminal case, 
the Fifth Amendment should apply.124 Likewise, we think that disciplin-
ary charges should be considered state action that entitles the Teamster to 
Fourteenth Amendment due process protections. Of course, the IO and 
IA operated with a good deal of process, following the procedures gener-
ally applicable in labor arbitration proceedings; thus, Teamsters disciplin-
ary respondents were generally afforded appropriate due process. How-
ever, they did not (and, in the ongoing IRB phase, still do not) have Fifth 

Figure 4.2
Fate of the Eighteen IBT Defendants in U.S. v. IBT

	 Name	 Fate	 Date

Jackie Presser	 Died of cancer and heart disease	 1988
Weldon Mathis	 Retired	 1991
Joseph Trerotola	 Retired	 1991
Robert Holmes, Sr.	 Resigned	 1989
William McCarthy	 Retired	 1992
Joseph Morgan	 Retired	 1990
Edward Lawson	 Retired	 1992
Arnold Weinmeister	 Retired	 1992
John Cleveland	 Died	 1989
Maurice Schurr	 Retired	 1988
Donald Peters	 Retired	 1989
Walter Shea	 Defeated in first direct, rank-and-file IBT election	 1991
Harold Friedman	 Convicted and expelled by the IRB	 1988
Jack Cox	 Retired	 2000
Donald West	 Charged with embezzlement; found not culpable	 1992
Michael Riley	 Paid $40,760 to Local 986 to settle charges	 1991
Theodore Cozza	 Expelled from IBT	 1991
Daniel Ligurotis	 Expelled from IBT	 1992
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Amendment protection or testimonial immunity despite the threat of for-
feiture of union office.

We also think that forbidding an expelled Teamster from associating 
with any member of the Teamsters Union is an extreme remedy. Many of 
the expelled individual’s friends may be union members. We recognize that 
our concerns would logically also apply to the disciplinary rule prohibit-
ing Teamsters from knowingly associating with LCN figures. Admittedly, 
the court and court officers face such deeply entrenched corruption that a 
very strong remedy is necessary. Still, prohibiting ordinary Teamsters from 
associating with barred persons and prohibiting barred persons from as-
sociating with ordinary Teamsters comes close to (if it does not cross the 
line by) infringing on associational and due process rights. Certainly, this 
sanction should be used as a last resort.

IO Carberry’s and IA Lacey’s aggressive implementation of the union’s 
new disciplinary processes demonstrated to honest Teamsters, TDU, fu-
ture candidates for union office, and federal prosecutors that the IBT’s 
old power structure was possibly doomed. Although the IO/IA phase did 
not completely eradicate LCN’s influence in the union, it made substantial 
progress toward that goal and made clear that, henceforth, labor racketeer-
ing would be far more costly, risky, and inefficient than it had been for the 
previous five decades. In the battle between a federal court and the nation’s 
most powerful labor union and crime syndicate, the court and court-ap-
pointed officers were unquestionably winning.

The IO and IA did not handle only organized-crime cases. The consent 
decree ceded to these officers the GEB’s and general president’s full disci-
plinary powers. Thus, they investigated, adjudicated, and punished many 
corrupt acts and schemes, whether or not organized-crime related. Argu-
ably, this went beyond the rationale for the civil RICO suit. In retrospect, 
the consent decree could have limited the IO/IA’s authority to organized-
crime cases. However, because a respondent’s organized-crime connection 
is often hard to prove without other Teamsters’ cooperation, which the IA 
effectively compelled by threatening expulsion for noncooperation with 
an IO investigation, that limitation would have made the court officers’ 
jobs much harder. In any event, the IO/IA quickly took the position that 
the broadest possible disciplinary jurisdiction was necessary because any 
corruption invited organized-crime infiltration. The implications of that 
theory could be far-reaching. For example, the theory could justify a per-
manent independent review board to enforce the union’s disciplinary rules.
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An Insurgent’s Triumph
The IBT’s 1991 Election

Welcome to the new Teamsters Union. From the day I walk in the 
door, the rules are going to change. We are going to clean house and 
never again have to apologize for being Teamsters.

 ​— ​IBT General President Ron Carey, press conference, 
December 12, 1991

Not since the thirties, when the CIO was born, has there been an 
event of such profound significance for U.S. labor as your [Ron 
Carey’s] election to the presidency of the Teamsters through rank 
and file membership mobilization.1

 ​— ​Victor Reuther, cofounder of United Auto Workers, 
Convoy Dispatch, January 1992

In negotiating the consent decree, U.S. Attorney Giuliani and 
his staff accepted TDU’s and AUD’s prediction that, given free and fair 
elections, Teamsters would elect candidates who opposed corruption and 
racketeering. Therefore, the consent decree mandated election procedures 
that were more democratic than those of any other U.S. labor union. First, 
IBT locals’ rank-and-file members would elect delegates to a nominating 
convention.2 Second, the convention delegates would nominate candidates 
for general president, general secretary-treasurer, international vice presi-
dents, and international trustees.3 A candidate who received 5 percent or 
more of the delegates’ votes would earn a place on the general-election bal-
lot. Third, IBT members would vote via secret mail-in ballots.4 If the EO 
deemed the election free and fair, he or she would “certify” the result.5 (The 
consent decree did not provide a definition of or criteria for certification. 
Judge Edelstein clarified its meaning at the end of the 1991 election cycle.)
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EO Michael Holland and his staff had to face numerous, difficult policy 
and logistical challenges. Holland observed that “supervision of any com-
parable union election had never been undertaken anywhere in the world. 
There was no blueprint to guide us.”6 Only a handful of American unions 
elect their international officers via direct rank-and-file voting. (In most 
unions, convention delegates select the international officers.) The EO’s 
office had to formulate election rules covering the election of convention 
delegates, delegates’ nomination of international officers at the convention, 
and, for the general election, rules on voter eligibility, campaign contribu-
tions and expenditures, balloting, and the filing and resolution of election 
rules violation.

The 1991 Election Rules

In October 1989, in response to the IBT’s argument that the consent decree 
authorized only passive EO monitoring (not active EO implementation) 
of the IBT international elections, Judge Edelstein ruled that the consent 
decree’s use of the word “supervise” in describing the EO’s powers gave the 
EO “the right to promulgate electoral rules and procedures for the delegate 
elections, nominating convention and rank and file mail balloting.”7 Ac-
cordingly, in early 1990, EO Holland proposed “Rules for the IBT Interna-
tional Union Delegate and Officer Election” in order (1) to “assemble in one 
document all the regulations affecting the nomination and election of del-
egates to the 1991 IBT International Convention and the nomination and 
election of IBT International Officers”; and (2) to “provide for fair, honest 
and open elections so as to permit the Election Officer to certify the elec-
tion results.”8 Holland’s proposed rules provided a timetable for each stage 
of the 1991 election, criteria for voter eligibility, procedures for nominations 
and balloting, regulations for campaign fundraising and expenditures, and 
procedures for resolving campaign protests.9 Holland held hearings on 
the proposed election rules in San Francisco, Seattle, New York City, Bal-
timore, Chicago, Memphis, Cleveland, and Toronto. Nearly 125 Teamsters 
offered on-the-record comments.10

DOJ, supported by TDU’s and AUD’s amicus briefs, argued for greater 
EO supervision to prevent intimidation and fraud in the local-delegate 
elections.11 AUD opposed allowing IBT locals to print and count delegate-
election ballots, determine candidate eligibility, and conduct delegate elec-
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tions.12 “[I]n the all-pervasive lawlessness that has permeated the union, 
it would be foolhardy, even irresponsible, to depend upon the local union 
officers for safeguarding the integrity of the elections.”13 DOJ and the amici 
urged EO Holland and Judge Edelstein to consider, as a model for election 
supervision, DOL’s supervision of the 1972 United Mine Workers election.*

In rebuttal, the EO, IA, and IBT (a strange alignment) argued that the 
locals should have primary responsibility for running their convention-
delegate elections. They contended that the kind of proactive role envi-
sioned by AUD, TDU, and DOJ would, in contravention of the consent 
decree, amount to “conducting” rather than “supervising” the convention-
delegate elections.14

Judge Edelstein emphatically agreed with TDU, AUD, and DOJ. “The 
final election rules leave many critical election functions to the officers of 
local unions. This situation is unacceptable, since these same officers .  .  . 
will have great personal stakes in the election’s outcome.”15 Consequently, 
Edelstein ordered EO Holland to amend the election rules to “provide for 
the Election Officer to supervise each and every portion of the election 
process. .  .  . [This] is the only way to guarantee the integrity of the elec-
tions and encourage extensive rank-and-file participation.”16 Accordingly, 
EO Holland amended the election rules so that the EO would have author-
ity “to supervise all phases of the delegate and international office election 
process,” including the authority to conduct, overturn, or rerun any phase 
of the election, to hear and determine protests and appeals, and to inter-
pret, enforce, and amend the election rules.17

Eligibility to Vote and Run for Office

The 1991 election rules linked voter eligibility to “good standing” in the 
IBT. Voters had to be up-to-date on dues payments and either employed 

* DOL’s supervision of UMW’s international elections resulted from the 1969 assassination of 
Joseph Yablonski, an insurgent candidate for UMW president. Yablonski narrowly lost the 1969 
election to incumbent UMW president W.A. Boyle. Yablonski asked DOL to investigate election 
fraud and filed five federal suits against the UMW. Three weeks later, three hit men murdered 
Yablonski, his wife, and their daughter. In 1971, pursuant to the LMRDA, DOL asked a federal 
judge to overturn the 1969 election results. The judge granted this request and ordered DOL to 
“conduct” a rerun election. This time, Boyle was defeated. He was later convicted of the murders, 
having hired the hit men. United States v. Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters, 74 F. Supp. 94, 106 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) 
(citing Hodgson v. United Mine Workers, 344 F. Supp. 17 (D.D.C. 1972)).
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or actively seeking employment “at the craft within the jurisdiction of the 
local.”18 More than 90 percent of IBT members authorize their employers 
to deduct union dues from their paychecks and to remit those dues directly 
to the union.19 Nevertheless, problems inevitably arose. For example, only 
20 percent of the 6,179 members of NYC IBT Local 732 appeared to meet 
the voter-eligibility criteria due to employer bankruptcies, untimely or 
delinquent dues postings, and turnover of union staff. However, both the 
IBT constitution and the LMRDA20 state that a union member cannot be 
disenfranchised on account of an employer’s failure to remit or report au-
thorized dues payments.21 Therefore, Holland ruled that a Teamster whose 
name appeared on the employer’s most recent dues-payment list would 
be eligible to vote, regardless of the actual date of the employer’s last dues 
transmittal on the member’s behalf.

To be eligible to run for convention delegate or international office, a 
Teamster had to have been in good standing for at least twenty-four con-
secutive months before nomination, with no interruptions in active mem-
bership due to suspensions, expulsions, withdrawals, transfers, or fail-
ure to pay fines or assessments.22 To nominate or second a nomination, 
a Teamster also had to be in good standing. Convention-delegate and 
international-officer candidates were permitted to form slates committed 
to a general presidential candidate.

The election rules provided that, prior to the 1991 convention, “accred-
ited” slates of international-officer candidates, as well as accredited individ-
ual international-officer candidates, had the right to publish “battle pages,” 
that is, campaign literature, in the October 1990 and February 1991 issues 
of Teamster Magazine free of charge. To achieve accreditation, presiden-
tial, secretary-treasurer, and at-large vice presidential candidates had to 
obtain signatures of support from 2.5 percent of the unionwide member-
ship; regional vice presidential candidates had to obtain signatures from 2.5 
percent of Teamsters in their region. Slates and candidates who achieved 
the 5 percent threshold of support at the convention had the right to pub-
lish campaign battle pages in Teamster Magazine’s October and November 
1991 issues.

Electing Convention Delegates

The election rules required each local union to submit to the EO’s office 
a plan for electing delegates and alternate delegates to the 1991 IBT con-
vention.23 (Holland had to determine how many convention delegates and 
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alternate delegates each local was entitled to send to the convention.) These 
plans had to include specific dates for notifying the rank and file about the 
delegate-election process; proposed dates and times of delegate nomination 
meetings and elections; description of the composition and method of se-
lecting the local-union election committees; procedures for conducting the 
elections; and the methods, dates, times, and places for counting ballots.24

Holland hired and trained twenty-three regional coordinators and field 
staff (mostly former DOL or National Labor Relations Board employees, 
labor lawyers, or retired officials from other unions) to review and, if nec-
essary, modify the locals’ delegate-election plans.25 He followed a presump-
tion against imposing on locals unfamiliar and complicated election proce-
dures “unless departure from past practice afforded an enhanced and freer 
opportunity for participation.”26 Nevertheless, the EO required most locals 
to make at least a few changes.27

Each local had to schedule a convention-delegates-nomination meet-
ing and then notify its members of the meeting’s time and location, either 
by mail, publication in a union newsletter or by some other method “rea-
sonably calculated to inform.”28 An EO staff member personally attended 
every local’s nomination meeting, checked the eligibility of the nominators, 
seconders, and nominees, and resolved protests.

Candidates’ Fair and Equal Access to the Electorate

The election rules required IBT entities and IBT employers to give can-
didates equal opportunities to communicate with the electorate. If an em-
ployer previously had allowed union members to use on-premises bulletin 
boards, for example, the EO required the employer to allow candidates to 
post campaign materials to those bulletin boards.29 The election rules also 
provided that “no restrictions shall be placed upon candidates’ or mem-
bers’ preexisting rights” to distribute leaflets or literature, conduct rallies 
and fundraising events, and post fliers on employer or union premises.30

EO Holland’s assertion of authority over employers was controversial 
since they were neither U.S. v. IBT defendants nor signatories of the con-
sent decree. This issue was resolved via litigation arising from a Ron Carey 
campaign allegation that an IBT employer, Yellow Freight Systems, had 
blatantly supported Carey’s opponent, R.V. Durham, and prevented Carey’s 
supporters from campaigning at Yellow Freight’s work sites in Detroit 
and Chicago.31 Yellow Freight sought to enforce its “no solicitation” rule 
by barring nonemployee Teamsters, including Carey campaigners, from 
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its properties. EO Holland ruled that, with respect to Yellow Freight’s De-
troit site, the Carey campaign had reasonable ways to communicate with 
the company’s Teamsters employees off the company’s property; however, 
Holland ordered Yellow Freight to provide Carey campaigners access to its 
Chicago premises.32

Yellow Freight appealed to the IA on the grounds that the EO did not 
have jurisdiction over Teamsters employers and that the National Labor 
Relations Board (NLRB) had exclusive jurisdiction to regulate union elec-
tion candidates’ access to an employer’s property.33 After Lacey upheld 
Holland’s ruling, Yellow Freight appealed to Judge Edelstein,34 who af-
firmed Lacey’s and Holland’s decisions. He explained that the district court 
required jurisdiction over IBT employers in order to enforce the election-
reform prong of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree. Edelstein also held that the 
NLRB did not have exclusive jurisdiction over disputes involving union 
candidates’ access to employer property because his All Writs Act injunc-
tion prevented the NLRB from hearing disputes emanating from the con-
sent decree.35 Edelstein also upheld Holland’s rejection of Yellow Freight’s 
no-solicitation rule because the union incumbents’ advantage could be 
neutralized only by allowing all candidates equal access to employers’ work 
sites.36 The Second Circuit Court of Appeals approved Judge Edelstein’s 
assertion of jurisdiction over Yellow Freight pursuant to the All Writs 
Act, but returned the case to Edelstein to determine whether candidates 
had reasonable alternative means to communicate with Yellow Freight’s 
employees.37

The Second Circuit Court of Appeals reaffirmed Edelstein’s IBT-
employer ruling in a case involving a charge that Star Market fired a mem-
ber of Boston IBT Local 25 for publicly supporting Ron Carey in the 1991 
election.38 (The member’s local had elected him as a convention delegate 
committed to Carey’s slate.)39 Holland ordered Star Market to reinstate the 
employee with back pay.40 When Star Market refused to comply, the U.S. 
attorney asked Judge Edelstein to enforce the EO’s order.41 Edelstein held 
that Yellow Freight dictated a decision in the employee’s favor.42 The Yellow 
Freight and Star Market decisions established that the district court and EO 
have authority over IBT employers in matters concerning the U.S. v. IBT 
remediation. Employers cannot favor one IBT candidate over another and 
cannot retaliate against a Teamster for exercising political rights.43

To ensure that all Teamsters candidates would have equal access to 
their constituents, the 1991 election rules allowed candidates for conven-
tion delegate and international office to inspect union records in order 
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to obtain rank and filers’ names and contact information. Candidates for 
international office could inspect, for campaign purposes, certain collec-
tive-bargaining agreements, local unions’ lists of rank and filers’ work-site 
locations, lists of convention delegates’ names and addresses, and, most 
important, lists containing the last known addresses of Teamsters eligible 
to vote. Judge Edelstein affirmed these rules,44 explaining that candidates’ 
full and equal access to membership lists is necessary to “foster alternative 
candidates,” who could not reasonably compete if only incumbents had the 
necessary information to communicate with eligible voters.45 Moreover, 
insurgent candidates needed the names and addresses in order to counter-
act the IBT leadership’s use of Teamster Magazine “as a propaganda tool . . . 
to subvert a free and fair election by assailing the legitimacy and integrity 
of the Court Officers and damaging the possibility of reform.”46

Campaign Contributions and Disclosure

The EO’s campaign-finance rule tracked the consent decree and the 
LMRDA: “No candidate for election shall accept or use any contributions 
or other things of value [e.g., money, stationery, equipment, facilities, and 
personnel] received from any employers, representative of an employer, 
foundation, trust or similar entity.”47 This prohibition applies to every em-
ployer (not just IBT employers), foundation, and trust, including politi-
cal action organizations, nonprofit organizations (e.g., churches and civic 
groups), law firms, and other professional organizations that employ staff. 
Candidates were also forbidden from accepting campaign contributions 
from any labor organizations.

The rules also sought to prevent incumbents from using union resources 
to benefit their campaigns.48 A convention-delegate or international-
officer candidate could not use IBT equipment, facilities, property, or per-
sonnel for campaign purposes unless the candidate fully reimbursed the 
union and, even then, only if all candidates had equal access (and equal 
prior notice of access) to those goods and services. Candidates whose cam-
paigns received anything of value from IBT locals, joint councils, or the 
international union could be disqualified from the election. Because an en-
dorsement of a candidate is a material thing of value, and thus a campaign 
contribution, EO Holland prohibited the leaders of IBT locals and joint 
councils from endorsing or soliciting endorsements for candidates.49

Candidates could accept contributions from non-Teamsters who were 
not employers, employers who were also Teamsters, and any caucus of 
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union members or candidate’s campaign organization financed exclusively 
by Teamsters donations.50 Candidates could also receive money or services 
from employers or labor organizations (other than the IBT) to pay fees for 
legal or accounting services performed in assuring compliance with the 
election rules and to secure, defend, and clarify candidates’ legal rights. 
The election rules placed no monetary limit on the amount that eligible 
contributors could donate. Moreover, any individual could volunteer his or 
her personal services, on his or her own free time, to any candidate as long 
as the individual neither received compensation for those services from 
an employer or labor organization nor used the supplies or services of an 
employer or labor organization. Because Holland believed that campaign-
contribution transparency was critical to ensuring a free and fair election, 
he imposed reporting and disclosure requirements on international-officer 
candidates’ campaign committees and on independent campaign com-
mittees (i.e., groups, such as TDU, composed solely of IBT members not 
directly affiliated with a candidate or slate, but actively supporting one or 
more candidates). Each candidate periodically had to report campaign 
contributions and expenditures exceeding one hundred dollars. Holland 
would monitor these reports to ensure that contributions plus debts did 
not exceed expenditures (and vice versa). The reports on campaign con-
tributions and expenditures would be available for candidates to review. 
Holland explained that disclosure of candidates’ campaign contributions 
and expenditures was meant to “afford information upon which [a compet-
ing candidate could] file and support a pre-election protest” and to “give 
candidates the opportunity to comment upon the source of their rivals’ 
campaign contributions and expenditures as part of the political process.”51

Election Protests and Appeals

The election rules provided a mechanism for expeditiously resolv-
ing protests alleging election-rule violations. Any IBT member, local, or 
other IBT entity could file an election protest with the EO’s office within 
two days of the day the protestor became aware, or reasonably should have 
become aware, of the alleged violation. The EO had five days to investi-
gate and resolve it. In some cases, Holland assigned the protest to one of 
twenty-three regional coordinators with responsibility for the geographical 
area where the protested conduct took place. In the event of an appeal, the 
IA had three days to conduct a hearing and two additional days to render 
a decision.
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The Candidates for General President and Their Slates

IBT General President William McCarthy initially announced that he 
would seek reelection, but he abandoned his candidacy when he failed to 
secure the support of a large number of GEB members.52 (Subsequently, 
McCarthy lost his campaign for reelection as president of Local 25. He then 
retired as president of Joint Council 10, which he had run for twenty years. 
He retired from the union soon after.) That left three principal candidates 
for general president: Ron Carey, R.V. Durham, and Walter Shea.53

Since 1967, Ron Carey (winning reelection eight times by wide margins) 
had been president of IBT Local 804, which represented United Parcel 
Service (UPS) workers in the NYC metropolitan area. In a 1979 book, The 
Teamsters, prominent legal journalist Steven Brill had extolled Carey as the 
best person to displace the labor racketeers who had dominated the IBT for 
decades.54 Brill called Carey a “special kind of leader with immaculate in-
tegrity.”55 (Thirteen years later, labor journalist Kenneth Crowe wrote that 
Brill’s book catapulted Carey to national recognition among the IBT rank 
and file.)56

Carey’s campaign staff quickly collected enough rank-and-file members’ 
signatures to obtain accreditation, entitling the Carey slate to publish battle 
pages free of charge in the October 1990 and February 1991 issues of Team-
ster Magazine.57 TDU strongly backed Carey, advised his campaign staff, 
published favorable articles about him in Convoy Dispatch, and recruited 
TDUers to run for convention delegate in their locals’ elections. Although 
Carey was not a TDU member, his agenda was compatible with TDU’s 
positions on most issues. He accepted TDU’s endorsement, but insisted 
throughout his campaign that TDU was just one of several organizations 
whose endorsement he welcomed. One Carey campaign aide noted, “The 
downside [of the TDU endorsement] is that for years Teamster leaders 
have been pounding it into the members that TDU is a bunch of complain-
ers, dissidents, communists, and employer representatives.”58

General presidential candidate R.V. Durham was a former North Caro-
lina truck driver who rose through the IBT’s ranks. He served as president 
of IBT Joint Council 9 (the Carolinas), an international vice president, an 
international trustee, and the first director of the Teamsters’ Safety and 
Health Department. The majority of the GEB, including General President 
McCarthy, supported him and his “Unity Team” slate.59

The third candidate, Walter J. Shea, had a less conventional IBT career. 
He joined the IBT as an Eastern Conference of Teamsters research assistant 
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and subsequently served as an international organizer, executive assistant 
to General Presidents Fitzsimmons, Williams, Presser, and McCarthy and 
ultimately as an international vice president. A few IBT leaders in the east 
and midwest supported Shea, but he lacked a political base in a local, joint 
council, or regional conference. Two weeks after Shea announced his can-
didacy, McCarthy, calling him “disloyal,” fired him from his executive as-
sistant position.60

On February 20, 1991, Jim (James P.) Hoffa, a lawyer and son of former 
IBT General President Jimmy (James R.) Hoffa, announced his candidacy 
for general president.61 Immediately, a rank and filer in Detroit challenged 
Hoffa’s eligibility to run for office, citing an election rule that required can-
didates for international office to have been “employed at the craft within 
the jurisdiction of the [candidate’s] local” for twenty-four consecutive 
months prior to the month of nomination. The challenger argued that 
Hoffa had never worked in a Teamsters craft.62 Hoffa argued that he satis-
fied the eligibility rule by working as an attorney representing IBT locals 
for two decades and by working, since April 1990, as an assistant to Law-
rence Brennan, president of Michigan IBT Joint Council 43 and Detroit 
IBT Local 337.63 EO Holland ruled Hoffa ineligible because (1) his work as a 
private lawyer representing Teamsters locals did not qualify as employment 
in a Teamsters craft; and (2) he would have worked for Brennan less than 
the requisite two years by the time the IBT international convention con-
vened in June 1991.64 Hoffa then endorsed Durham for general president.

The Convention Delegate Elections and the July 1991 
Nominating Convention

EO Holland called the local-delegate election process “the most arduous 
component of the Election Officer’s responsibilities.”65 Members of 623 
local unions nominated approximately thirty-two hundred delegate can-
didates and fifteen hundred alternate-delegate candidates. Most delegate 
and alternate-delegate candidates ran on slates committed to a presidential 
candidate. However, contested elections occurred in fewer than half (49 
percent) of the locals, actually a decline in contested elections compared to 
the most recent IBT local-union officer elections.

Holland had to resolve several protests.66 He ordered rerun elections 
in four locals. In Rialto, California IBT Local 63, Holland ordered a rerun 
delegate election because the order of the slates on the printed ballots had 
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been juxtaposed. In Grand Rapids, Michigan IBT Local 406, he ordered a 
rerun because after mail balloting, two winning delegates were found to be 
ineligible; Holland ordered a second rerun at Local 406 after finding that a 
candidate had improperly affixed the local’s insignia to his campaign litera-
ture. In Oklahoma City IBT Local 886, Holland ordered a rerun because a 
delegate candidate’s name was misspelled. And in Nashville, Tennessee IBT 
Local 480, Holland ordered a rerun because the IA ruled that a candidate 
had been ineligible.67

Holland had to resolve scores of disputes to keep on schedule the IBT 
international convention, held over four days in Orlando, Florida, begin-
ning on July 21. Merely checking convention delegates’ eligibility was a ma-
jor challenge. Holland hired the Center for Economic Organizing to check 
whether delegates, alternate delegates, and nominees for international of-
fice were in good standing at the time of the convention. The Center’s and 
EO’s staffs vetted over 2,000 delegates and alternate delegates and more 
than 1,200 nominators. Ultimately, the EO certified the eligibility of 1,936 
convention delegates and 1,030 alternate delegates from 615 locals.68

The convention’s timetable required nominations and balloting to be 
conducted on the same day.69 Floor nominations and candidate speeches 
took place in the morning. Immediately thereafter, the EO’s staff ran-
domly ordered the nominees’ names on a draft ballot. Then the two-hour 
process of ballot printing commenced.70 In late afternoon, the delegates 
marked their ballots in secret. Candidates who received 5 percent of del-
egates’ votes advanced to the rank-and-file mail-ballot election to be held 
later in the year. Nearly seventy candidates for twenty-one international-
officer positions (general president, general secretary-treasurer, sixteen 
vice presidents, and three international representatives) achieved the 5 per-
cent threshold.71 R.V. Durham received more nominating votes (1,001, or 
53 percent) than Walter Shea (574, or 31 percent) and Ron Carey (289, or 15 
percent) combined.

The Election Campaigns

R.V. Durham presented himself as a Teamsters leader who had already 
produced results, especially improving truckers’ safety.* He boasted of 

* In the chapters of this book involving IBT election campaigns, we present the candidates’ 
claims and charges, but we do not seek to resolve their accuracy.
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having successfully persuaded Congress to preempt state laws that per-
mitted cramped truck compartments.72 He claimed that, as director of the 
IBT’s Safety and Health Department, he persuaded the U.S. Department of 
Transportation to rescind its policy of automatically canceling the licenses 
of truckers who had undergone heart surgery.73 Durham called himself a 
reformer who supported direct rank-and-file elections and who would es-
tablish an independent ethics committee.

Durham used his Teamster Magazine battle pages to attack Shea and 
Carey. According to a Durham campaign pamphlet, “Because the Shea 
Team has not waged a serious campaign, their only role is as spoilers to 
aid Ron Carey. .  .  . A vote for Walter Shea is a vote for Ron Carey and 
TDU.” Durham also attacked Shea for never having been a working Team-
ster or a local officer. Another Durham ad called Carey “Mr. Immunity” 
for allegedly cutting a deal with the government to testify against fellow 
Local 804 member John Long, accused of being an LCN associate. Durham 
sought to define Carey as TDU’s candidate, hoping to gain the support of 
the many Teamsters who regarded TDU negatively. He also made the base-
less accusation, “Scabbing on a Teamsters strike is as low as you can go. 
Ron Carey scabbed on a UPS strike.”74 Carey and his campaign manager, 
Eddie Burke, vehemently denied the scab, i.e., strike-breaking, allegation. 
Indeed, in October 1991, Carey filed a libel suit against Durham, his cam-
paign manager, and ten staffers. (After winning the 1991 election, Carey 
withdrew the suit.)75

Carey published his own attack ads in Teamster Magazine. One battle 
page showed pigs feeding at a trough filled with dollar bills. The caption 
said, “They’re feasting on your dues!” In the October issue, Carey insisted 
that he offered an alternative to the racketeers who had plundered the 
union for decades. One ad caricatured Durham arm in arm with a man-
acled convict and a machine-gun-toting gangster. (Durham himself had 
not been charged with wrongdoing, but the IO had brought charges against 
three vice presidential candidates on his slate, including International Vice 
President Michael Riley, who had allegedly concealed a $16,000 embezzle-
ment from a Los Angeles IBT local.)76

Carey promised to fight corruption.77 “The first thing we have to think 
about is how much money, how much bargaining strength, has been given 
away as a result of the corruption problem. The way to deal with it is the 
way I dealt with it in my own local. Take the necessary steps to get rid of 
the problem.”78 He vowed to reduce extravagance by, among other things, 
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selling the IBT’s fleet of jets, prohibiting multiple salaries, and reducing 
the size of the union’s bureaucracy. In November 1991, six weeks before the 
mail-in-ballot deadline, the Carey campaign mailed a campaign flyer to 
just under half the electorate. (The campaign did not have enough money 
to send a pamphlet to the entire electorate.) It showed a cigar-smoking 
gangster wearing a Durham-slate button. The caption asked, “Guess who 
runs the Teamsters?” The pamphlet’s flipside provided the answer: “Start-
ing Now, You Do.” The “Carey Promise” had four parts: “1. Throw out the 
Mafia, 2. Better Pensions, 3. Better Health Care, and 4. Stop Corruption.” 
The flyer charged three members of Durham’s slate with “corruption, kick-
backs and mafia ties” and criticized Durham and his wife and son for draw-
ing multiple IBT salaries.

Walter Shea emphasized his administrative competence over thirty years 
as an international organizer and executive assistant to four IBT general 
presidents.79 He too promised reform. “The old guard has been shattered 
and destroyed. . . . I’m trying to change the direction of this union. We’ve 
been too complacent, too aloof.” He promised to achieve a Teamsters mini-
mum wage. Despite these claims and promises, Shea’s campaign had little 
resonance with the rank and file, probably because he had never driven a 
truck, run a local, or negotiated a collective-bargaining agreement. As one 
labor reporter notes, he “skipped all of the usual rungs .  .  . and was pro-
moted right to the top because of his accomplishments as an administra-
tor and the friends he made along the way.”80 These friends, however, were 
not as supportive of his campaign as he had hoped. Shea failed to obtain 
enough signatures to become an accredited candidate.

Shea’s campaign suffered a setback when, in August 1991, Chicago 
IBT Local 705 Secretary-Treasurer Daniel Ligurotis, Shea’s running mate 
for general secretary-treasurer, killed his son in the basement of Local 
705’s headquarters.81 Then, just a month before the general election, Joe 
Trerotola, Shea’s most prominent vice presidential running mate and an 
international vice president, president of NYC IBT Joint Council 16, and 
chairman of the Eastern Conference of Teamsters, resigned from the 
union after being charged with failing to investigate LCN influence in his 
joint council.82

While Durham and Shea sought large campaign contributions from IBT 
local and joint council officers, Carey relied on small donations from rank 
and filers. From April 1990 through September 1991, the Carey campaign 
raised $173,000. The largest contribution was $1,000. In the same period, 
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the Durham campaign raised over $475,000. The largest contribution was 
$30,000. Of the thirty-eight donors to the Durham campaign who gave at 
least $1,000, twenty-three were members of his slate. Their average contri-
bution was just under $12,000. By this time, Shea had become a nonfactor 
in the presidential race.

The Preballoting Election Protests

The 1991 election generated fifteen hundred election protests involving, 
among other things, ineligibility of candidates, insufficient notification of 
nomination meetings, and unlawful campaign contributions. Two hun-
dred fifty protests dealt with individuals’ eligibility to participate in the 
delegate-nomination process. Only two protests challenged nominated 
candidates’ eligibility. (Because postelection protests needed to be resolved 
only if, cumulatively, they could have affected an election result, most were 
not investigated or resolved.)

The Protest over Disclosing TDU’s Campaign Contributors

The Durham slate brought a preelection protest demanding that TDU 
disclose to the EO and the candidates the names of its contributors because 
TDU spent its members’ contributions on Carey’s behalf.83 TDU con-
tended that “the filing and disclosure requirements of the Election Rules 
are directed only to nominated candidates, a category that does not include 
TDU,” and that disclosure of its contributors’ identities would subject them 
to retaliation, thereby threatening TDU’s survival.84 Holland ruled in Dur-
ham’s favor, issuing a campaign advisory (i.e., amendment to the election 
rules) requiring independent committees, including TDU, to report the 
names of contributors of one hundred dollars or more. Holland explained 
that, without that requirement, candidates might be able to bypass the elec-
tion rules’ campaign-contribution disclosure requirement.85

TDU appealed to Judge Edelstein, arguing that neither the election rules 
nor the consent decree required disclosing its contributors and contribu-
tions.86 Edelstein was not persuaded. However, to address TDU’s concerns, 
he required all IBT locals to appoint sergeants at arms and directed the 
government to empanel a grand jury to investigate allegations of intimida-
tion or retaliation.87 He then criticized TDU for demanding election trans-
parency, except for its own finances:88
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You have gotten far more than you ever dreamed or expected. And until 
this happened, where were you? This union is old. You accomplished noth-
ing. If it hadn’t been for the court officers and the government that started 
this by bringing on the opportunity to enter into the consent decree, where 
would you be? . . .

I would like TDU to stand up, show some guts and start being unin-
timidated, and to be confrontational, if it has to, in self-defense. I am very 
disappointed in you and your clients. We no longer seem to be sharing the 
same objective and the same goals. You are now an adversary instead of an 
amicus. Now go to the court of appeals.89

The Second Circuit Court of Appeals stayed Judge Edelstein’s disclosure 
order and, later, for the first time in the U.S. v. IBT litigation, reversed an 
Edelstein decision (and admonished Holland as well). It held that TDU 
was not bound by the consent decree:

[T]he interests of TDU traditionally have not coincided with those pur-
sued by the incumbent international union leadership that negotiated the 
Consent Decree. .  .  . It follows that TDU and TRF were not adequately 
represented by the IBT leadership with respect to the Consent Decree, 
and cannot be directly bound by its provisions. .  .  . The Election Officer 
seeks, in addition, to implement his personal notions of union democracy 
and fair play by imposing upon nonparties to the Consent Decree filing 
requirements, and especially obligations of disclosure to third parties, not 
warranted by any applicable provision of law.90

In another preelection protest, the Durham campaign sought to stop 
the Carey campaign from accepting TDU’s financial contributions and vol-
unteer work because TDU allegedly received financial contributions from 
entities prohibited from making campaign donations.91 Holland ruled that 
TDU could directly and indirectly support candidates as long as its elec-
tion expenditures came exclusively from funds derived from persons or 
entities who themselves could legally contribute to candidates; TDU had 
to “strict[ly]” ensure that the money it received from persons ineligible to 
contribute to candidates’ campaigns was not used to support a candidate 
for IBT office.92 Durham’s supporters saw this decision as further proof of 
Holland’s pro-Carey bias.93
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Protesting IBT Locals’ Favoritism

A number of preballoting election protests involved candidates’ com-
plaints about locals’ recalcitrance in disclosing their membership lists. For 
example, in response to a Carey campaign complaint that Chicago IBT Lo-
cal 705’s officers had failed to provide a list of its members’ work sites, Hol-
land ordered those officers to mail all three presidential candidates’ cam-
paign literature to its members. Likewise, he ordered Mokena, Illinois IBT 
Local 710 to distribute the candidates’ literature at the IBT members’ work 
sites because the local had not expeditiously provided candidates with 
work-site lists.

Balloting and Results

Holland chose mail balloting for the general election because, in the 
convention-delegate elections, mail balloting produced greater voter par-
ticipation (33 percent) than in-person voting (19 percent). However, there 
were huge logistical challenges to conducting a mail-ballot election for 
such a populous and geographically dispersed union. For example, the 
EO needed mailing addresses for approximately 1.5 million eligible voters. 
Toward that end, his staff had to consult the Teamster Magazine mailing 
list, local-union executive boards, the U.S. Postal Service’s national change-
of-address database, and, if necessary, individuals’ last known employers. 
In all, the EO’s staff contacted 350 employers concerning eighty thousand 
residential addresses, eventually obtaining accurate mailing addresses for 
almost all eligible voters.94

EO Holland hired a security specialist to ensure ballot security. To pre-
vent ballot forgery, the color of ballots for each region was not revealed 
until the day printing began.95 The voters received and returned ballots by 
mail in nested envelopes.96 As the first ballots arrived in Washington, D.C., 
they were stored in a ballot security room with twenty-four-hour security 
guards.97 The candidates could designate observers to stay with the ballots 
and to monitor each step of the counting process.98

Twenty-eight percent (396,172) of eligible Teamsters cast ballots. The 
outcome differed radically from the outcome at the Orlando convention, 
where Carey had received 15 percent and Durham 53 percent of delegates’ 
nominating votes. In the general election, Carey received 188,883 votes (48 
percent), Durham 129,538 (33 percent), and Shea 71,227 (19 percent). 11,372 
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ballots were voided on account of voter error, and 17,125 challenged ballots 
were never counted because, even if all were added to Durham’s total, the 
election’s outcome would have been the same. Carey defeated Durham by 
almost three to one in the east and by more than two to one in the west; 
Durham defeated Carey only in the Canadian locals. Shea showed strength 
in the east, where he won twice as many locals as Durham, but fewer than 
Carey (see fig. 5.1). Almost all the newly elected GEB members were Carey 
supporters. All sixteen members of Carey’s slate were victorious, includ-
ing Tom Sever as general secretary-treasurer and Diana Kilmury as an 
international vice president (the first woman ever to serve on the GEB). 
In Canada, where the Carey slate fielded no candidates, two members of 
Durham’s slate were elected international vice presidents. In the east, where 
Carey ran only two candidates for three vice presidential slots, Philadel-
phia IBT Joint Council 53 President John Morris, a member of Shea’s slate, 
was elected.

In a special postelection issue of Convoy Dispatch, TDU predicted that 
“four days in December 1991 will be recorded as a major turning point in 
the history of the Teamsters Union and the labor movement.”99 AUD Ex-
ecutive Director Susan Jennik predicted that the election would “perma-
nently change” the union by enhancing transparency at the international 
level and legitimizing political discourse at the local level. Some com-
mentators saw the election as a historic turning point for the entire U.S. 
labor movement. One labor journalist predicted that the IBT’s successful 
rank-and-file election would cause “more dominoes” to fall, that is, would 
inspire the members of other unions to demand similar democratic elec-
tions.100 Another labor journalist stated that “if Carey can spread his influ-
ence throughout the 615 locals in the 1.5 million-member union, he will 
lift the image and clout of a sagging labor movement that is desperate for a 

Figure 5.1
Number of IBT Locals Carried by Each Candidate, by Region, 

in 1991 Election for IBT General President
	 Region	 Carey	 Durham	 Shea

East	 102	 38	 79
Central	 80	 77	 19
South	 28	 23	 0
West	 81	 38	 4
Canada	 5	 33	 1
  total	 296	 209	 103
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white knight. Failure will allow cynicism to recapture the Teamsters.”101 A 
New York Times editorial rhetorically asked, “Can It Be Morning in Team-
sterland?” referring to the dawn of a postcorruption era.102 The Chicago 
Tribune declared Carey’s victory “an earthquake in the U.S. labor move-
ment.”103 The Boston Globe called it “one of the most dramatic events in 
Teamster history,” describing Carey as “a working-class Don Quixote, at-
tacking corruption and entrenched union bosses few thought could be top-
pled from power.”104 Chris Scott, president of the AFL-CIO’s North Caro-
lina branch, mused, “In five years it is conceivable that Carey is so popular 
that he makes Jimmy Hoffa look like a footnote in history.”105

Conclusion and Analysis

A successful North America – ​wide rank-and-file secret mail-ballot election 
involving 1.5 million eligible voters was an extraordinary achievement for 
the civil RICO suit, the judge, and the EO. Holland and his staff regulated 
and monitored every aspect of the election cycle, including campaign fi-
nance and expenditures, campaign conduct, nominating and voting proce-
dures, and ballot counting and security. Holland, Edelstein, and DOJ also 
expeditiously resolved hundreds of protests concerning the alleged mis-
conduct of candidates, contributors, union officials, employers, and non-
governmental organizations. Nothing like this had ever been done before. 
The challenge was even greater because the election reforms had been im-
posed on, rather than by, the membership.

The U.S. v. IBT consent decree embodied the view of TDU, AUD, and, 
ultimately, DOJ that a free and fair election of international IBT officers 
would contribute to purging LCN influence from the union and, thereafter, 
prevent LCN from regaining influence. Democratization of the interna-
tional union, the government hoped, would bring about the weakening of 
organized crime’s grip on the union. We should not accept this hypothesis 
as unproblematic given innumerable recent examples of corrupt incum-
bents and insurgents winning all sorts of elections all over the world, in-
cluding in the United States. Moreover, since Cosa Nostra’s influence was 
so entrenched at the local and regional levels of the IBT power structure, 
the electoral success of two dozen honest international officers would not 
necessarily drive LCN out of the union. Furthermore, there was no guar-
antee that the Teamsters rank and file, given the opportunity, would choose 
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honest leaders. Even if they did, there was no guarantee that these leaders 
would remain honest. We will return to this hypothesis in later chapters.

Campaign finance was among the most important matters that had to 
be resolved in the run-up to the 1991 election. The DOJ lawyers who nego-
tiated the terms of the consent decree, and perhaps even AUD and TDU, 
probably did not fully think through the cost of waging a North America – ​
wide insurgent campaign. R.V. Durham began with an enormous advan-
tage. He enjoyed the overwhelming support of some seven thousand IBT 
officials who not only were likely to vote but also wielded influence (via 
carrots and sticks) over the members of their locals. Unless the EO pre-
vented it, these local officers could put all kinds of union resources at the 
disposal of the Durham campaign.

At the outset of U.S. v. IBT, the DOJ lawyers probably did not fully con-
sider the logistics or cost of supervising a North America – ​wide rank-and-
file election involving 1.5 million potential voters. Excluding the cost of the 
convention, which would have taken place had there been no civil RICO 
lawsuit, the cost of supervising and conducting the 1991 rank-and-file elec-
tion amounted to more than $15 million.106

Holland and Edelstein were determined to create a level playing field 
for the general presidential candidates and their slates. In this, they may 
have exceeded the consent decree’s requirements. A fair election does not 
necessarily mean an election in which all candidates have an equal chance 
of winning. Leveling the playing field necessarily meant helping Carey and 
blunting Durham’s numerous advantages. For example, to assure union 
neutrality, the election rules forbade candidates from obtaining IBT lead-
ers’ endorsements, receiving campaign contributions from employers, and 
using IBT resources. Many of the EO’s election rules disfavored Durham, 
whose relationships with IBT employers and officers, access to union re-
sources, and fundraising ability were more extensive than Carey’s. (In the 
1996 election, the EO added additional rules to “level[] the playing field 
between incumbents and challengers.”107 The Second Circuit Court of Ap-
peals agreed that “establishment of a somewhat level playing field is in the 
membership’s interest.”)108 It may be an open question whether EO Hol-
land and Judge Edelstein crossed the line of political neutrality, but they 
certainly skirted close to the line. There is little doubt that they hoped for a 
Carey victory.

It is impossible to know whether R.V. Durham would have governed 
the IBT in the style of Jimmy Hoffa, Frank Fitzsimmons, Roy Williams, 
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and Jackie Presser. While Durham was a member of the Teamsters’ estab-
lishment, he was not an organized-crime toady. Like Carey, Durham cam-
paigned as a reformer. Perhaps under the new circumstances created by 
U.S. v. IBT and the court-appointed disciplinary officers, he would have set 
his face against corruption and racketeering. (There are such cases. For ex-
ample, while the IBT reform experiment was ongoing, Mikhail Gorbachev, 
a former establishment figure in Soviet politics, was stunning the world 
with his glasnost policies.) Moreover, while Ron Carey was indisputably 
not part of the IBT establishment, he had served for years as head of a very 
large IBT local in NYC, a city where union corruption and racketeering 
were prevalent if not pervasive. A hard-nosed observer might have won-
dered whether Carey actually deserved his Mr. Clean label.

Supporters hailed Carey’s stunning victory as the triumph of good over 
evil and of integrity over corruption. Union democracy proponents saw 
it as proof of the good sense and values of rank-and-file Teamsters. Still, 
both the disappointing number of contested delegate elections and the low 
general-election turnout were cause for concern. They did not indicate the 
democracy renaissance that the union democracy advocates had predicted. 
Indeed, had Shea not run or had he bowed out of the campaign, Durham 
would likely have won the 1991 election.
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General President Carey and 
the IRB
1992 – ​1997

The IRB will act as a constant foe of corruption and a vigilant 
agent of union democracy. . . . [R]egardless of a particular admin-
istration’s stance toward reform, the IRB will serve as a perpetual 
agent of those reforms independent of the parties, vigilant in the 
fight against corruption, and stalwart in the promotion of union 
democracy.1� ​ — ​Judge David Edelstein, August 19, 1992

I simply want to dispel the notion that the [Carey administration] 
is doing everything that is possible here to take care of things and 
clean out their own house.2

 ​— ​IRB member Frederick Lacey, June 28, 1993

Ron Carey’s inauguration as IBT general president in Febru-
ary 1992 and the IRB’s assumption of disciplinary authority later that year 
seemed to augur well of greater cooperation between the IBT and the 
court-appointed officers. The IRB’s chief investigator (CI) would investi-
gate union corruption and, when appropriate, recommend disciplinary 
charges. If the three IRB members decided to accept the CI’s recommenda-
tion, they would refer charges to the jurisdictionally appropriate IBT unit, 
monitor compliance, and, if necessary, take action to ensure compliance. 
For this phase of the consent decree to work effectively, the IBT would have 
to carry out its disciplinary duties in good faith.

Contrary to the expectations of the DOJ lawyers, Judge Edelstein, and 
the court officers, the Carey administration was frequently uncooperative. 
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Carey’s appointee to the IRB unreasonably delayed the selection of a third 
IRB member. Carey’s general counsel opposed DOJ’s proposed rules for 
the IRB’s operations. And Carey’s staff obstructed the IRB’s routine re-
quests for compensation and reimbursements. Claiming a desire to dem-
onstrate the IBT’s independent capacity and willingness to fight corruption 
and racketeering, Carey appointed an Ethical Practices Committee (EPC) 
to investigate, charge, adjudicate, and sanction disciplinary violations. He 
also imposed international-union trusteeships on nearly seventy IBT locals 
because of alleged corruption and/or fiscal mismanagement. Carey’s sup-
porters praised these initiatives, but critics accused him of using the EPC 
and trusteeships to punish political rivals.

The IRB and Carey’s Resistance

The EO certified the 1991 election on January 10, 1992, one month after final 
balloting.3 Except for pending cases, to be completed by the IO/IA, the IRB 
took over disciplinary duties on October 10, 1992.*4 AUSA Randy Mastro 
explained that the transition from the IO/IA to the IRB reflected the par-
ties’ intention that, whereas the IO and IA functioned as wholly indepen-
dent disciplinary enforcers, the IRB would share disciplinary enforcement 
responsibility with the IBT. The IRB would concentrate on investigations 
and oversight, while the IBT would charge, adjudicate, and, where appro-
priate, impose sanctions.

The consent decree provided that DOJ would appoint one IRB member, 
the IBT would appoint another, and those two appointees would choose 
the third member.5 In March 1992, DOJ appointed IA Frederick Lacey, and 
the IBT appointed Eddie Burke, Carey’s 1991 campaign manager and then 
special assistant. When Lacey and Burke could not agree on the selection of 
a third IRB member, Judge Edelstein granted Lacey’s request, over Burke’s 
objection, to appoint former FBI and CIA director William Webster. Soon 
thereafter, Judge Edelstein decided that Burke was too much a part of Car-
ey’s administration to properly carry out the role of a “neutral” IRB mem-
ber. Carey replaced Burke with Grant Crandall, formerly the United Mine 
Workers’ general counsel.

* For clarity of exposition, the authors treat the beginning of the IRB’s work as January 1, 1993.
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The IRB’s Disciplinary Powers: Procedures and Cases  
(1992 – ​1997)

The consent decree vests the IRB with the same investigatory author-
ity as the IBT’s general president and general secretary-treasurer; empow-
ers the IRB to hire investigative staff;6 and requires the IRB to investigate 
allegations of corruption, organized-crime control or influence over any 
IBT entity, and failure to fully cooperate with the IRB.7 In July 1992, before 
Webster’s appointment, DOJ proposed comprehensive rules to govern the 
IRB’s investigations, adjudications, enforcement of decisions, staffing, and 
communication with the rank and file (see fig. 6.1). Those rules authorized 
the IRB to investigate allegations of bribery, extortion, embezzlement, vio-
lence, aiding or abetting racketeering acts, knowing association with Cosa 
Nostra or persons barred from participation in IBT affairs, and failure to 
lawfully and timely handle disciplinary matters.8 Judge Edelstein approved 
the IRB rules over the Carey’s administration’s objection that DOJ lacked 
authority to propose them. With minor modifications, the Second Circuit 
Court of Appeals affirmed.9

The consent decree and IRB rules authorize the IRB to employ a full-
time chief investigator (CI) to play much the same role as the IO played 
under the IA/IO phase of the remediation. The IRB promptly hired IO 
Carberry, who, in turn, hired a staff of investigators and attorneys.10 The 
CI may require sworn statements or in-person examinations of any IBT 
officer, member, employee, representative, or agent without having prob-
able cause or reasonable suspicion. He also may audit and examine any IBT 
entity’s books, records, and annual LM-2 financial reports. CI Carberry ob-
tained additional investigative leads from legislative hearings and reports, 
criminal and civil litigation, media articles, more than one thousand tips 
per year over the hotline,11 and referrals from the FBI, the DOL’s Office 
of Labor Racketeering, and state and local police departments. Because 
the CI’s staffers do not undertake physical or electronic surveillance, do 
not engage in undercover work, and do not have access to grand jury testi-
mony, they rely on those agencies’ investigators.

If the CI obtains sufficient evidence to warrant a disciplinary charge, he 
submits an investigative report to the IRB. If the IRB approves the CI’s rec-
ommended disciplinary charge, it forwards a proposed charge, including 
the CI’s investigative report, to the jurisdictionally appropriate IBT entity 



Figure 6.1
IRB/IBT Disciplinary Roles
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to adjudicate.* However, the IRB handles organized-crime cases from the 
outset because the FBI does not permit IBT lawyers to cross-examine its 
agents or confidential informants. The IRB also adjudicates charges involv-
ing high-ranking IBT officers.

In nearly 75 percent of disciplinary cases, the respondent and the union’s 
“presenting attorney” negotiate a settlement that goes to the IRB and Judge 
Edelstein for approval.12 If there is no settlement, the appropriate IBT en-
tity convenes a hearing panel. An IBT member or outside attorney may 
represent the disciplinary respondent. The IBT’s presenting attorney must 
prove culpability by a preponderance of the evidence.13 If the hearing panel 
finds the respondent culpable, it imposes a sanction, for example, fine, res-
titution, prohibition against associating with Teamsters, suspension from 
union office or membership, or expulsion from the union.14 The IRB then 
determines whether the IBT’s disciplinary decision was lawful, timely, and 
“not inadequate.” If inadequate, the IRB may request additional explana-
tion and/or recommend a more or less severe disciplinary sanction. If the 
IBT’s response is still inadequate, the IRB convenes a de novo disciplinary 
hearing and renders a binding decision.15

The disciplinary respondent obtains an automatic appeal when the IRB 
submits its decision to the district court judge as an application for a court 
order. The judge defers to the IRB’s decision unless it is “arbitrary or ca-
pricious.”16 If the judge considers the sanction too lenient or too severe, 
it may remand for reconsideration.17 Neither Judge Edelstein nor Chief 
Judge Preska (who took over the case in 2001 when Edelstein died) have 
overturned an IRB culpability decision, and they have rarely remanded a 
sanction for reconsideration.18

From January 1993, when the IRB filed its first disciplinary charge, 
through November 1997, when General President Carey took a leave of 
absence after the IRB charged him with campaign-finance violations (see 

* Certain IRB disciplinary recommendations, e.g., those involving organized crime, are usually 
forwarded to the international union. Other IRB disciplinary recommendations, e.g., those involv-
ing financial misconduct or failure to cooperate with an IRB investigation, are usually forwarded 
to the relevant local union or joint council. If the recommended charges implicate the majority 
of a local union’s executive officers, the IRB sends its recommendation to the joint council; if the 
recommended charges implicate a majority of executive officers on the joint council, the IRB sends 
its recommendation to the international union. The GEB receives disciplinary recommendations 
that implicate the international union or its officers, but in practice these matters are referred back 
to the IRB for adjudication. Occasionally, when the CI uncovers minor irregularities in an IBT 
entity’s books or records, the IRB sends the relevant local or joint council a “noncharge report” 
recommending corrective action.



Figure 6.2
The IRB’s Major Financial-Misconduct Cases (1993 – ​1997)

	 Member(s)	 IBT Local	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Daniel Zenga (secretary-treasurer)	 Malden, MA 	 Embezzling the local’s funds by having the	 Expelled from the IBT (1993)
	 Local 841	 local pay for his personal expenses; 
		  receiving an unauthorized salary increase

Steve Desanto (recording secretary)	 Collingswood, NJ 	 Extorting payments from a member in	 Suspended from the IBT for seven years (1993)
	 Local 676	 exchange for job security 

Donald Heim (president); 	 Chicago Local 705	 Embezzling from the local’s treasury by	 Mall and Valerio expelled from the IBT; Heim
Louis Esposito, Sr. (vice president); 		  improperly giving local’s money to a local	 and Esposito permanently resigned from the
Gildo Valerio (secretary-treasurer); 		  officer	 IBT; Cash and Snow suspended from the IBT
Richard Mall (trustee); 			   for one year and from holding union office for
Frank Snow (trustee)			   five years (1993)

Rondal Owens (president)	 Detroit Local 299	 Expending local money without the	 Suspended from the IBT for six months (1993)
		  executive board’s approval

Thomas Moskal (president)	 Chicago Local 726	 Embezzling from the local by receiving an	 Suspended from holding union office for five
		  unauthorized monetary bonus	 years (1993)

Vincent Sombrotto (president)	 NYC Local 966	 Embezzling from the local by providing	 Expelled from the IBT (1994)
		  union benefits to non-IBT locals

Robert Simpson (president)	 Chicago Local 743	 Giving away a car owned by the local	 Reimbursed the local (1995)

Robert Weisenburger (president)	 Minneapolis	 Transferring local’s assets to himself for less	 Suspended from the IBT for three years (1995)
	 Local 320	 than actual value

Larry Parker (president)	 Orlando Local 385	 Accepting money from IBT members in	 Expelled from the IBT (1995)
		  exchange for job referrals

Dennis Raymond (president)	 Waterbury, CT 	 Giving away a union car	 Suspended from the IBT for ninety days;
	 Local 677		  reimbursed the local (1996)

Clarence Lark, Jr. (president)	 Miami Local 390	 Demanding gifts from members	 Expelled from the IBT (1996)

Thomas Ryan (president)	 Philadelphia	 Purchasing personal items with local’s funds	 Suspended from the IBT for five years (1996)
	 Local 107 

Jerry Jackson (business agent)	 NYC Local 813	 Accepting money and Christmas gifts	 Expelled from the IBT (1997)
		  from an employer
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chapter 7), the IRB recommended charges against 214 Teamsters. Forty 
percent of the charges alleged financial misconduct, breach of fiduciary 
duty, or failure to cooperate with an IRB investigation. Thirty-one Team-
sters were charged with embezzlement, eight with extortion, two with brib-
ery, and forty-five with other types of financial misconduct (see fig. 6.2).

Thirty-one charges had a direct organized-crime connection (see fig. 
6.3); twelve of those alleged that the respondent associated with an LCN 
member, ten alleged actual membership in LCN, four charged union of-
ficials with failing to investigate an IBT member’s connections to LCN, 
and five alleged other types of LCN-influenced racketeering. The IRB filed 
eight organized-crime-related charges in 1993, 1994, and 1995; two such 
charges in 1996; and five in 1997. The vast majority of IRB organized-crime-
related 1993 – ​1997 disciplinary recommendations involved members of IBT 
locals in NYC or Long Island. However, a few members of upstate New 
York, New Jersey, and Illinois IBT locals were also charged with organized-
crime-related violations (see fig. 6.4).
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IRB Disciplinary Charges during the Ron Carey Years (1993 – ​1997)



Figure 6.4
The IRB’s Organized-Crime Cases (1993 – ​1997)

	 Member(s)	 IBT Local	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Frank Marsigliano (secretary-treasurer); 	 Valley Stream, NY 	 Arranging for local to pay an LCN	 Resigned their union positions and agreed
Anthony Igneri (vice president)	 Local 854	 member’s health benefits	 never again to hold union office (1993)

Anthony Razza (secretary-treasurer)	 Valley Stream, NY 	 Knowing association with Patrick	 Resigned from the IBT (1994)
	 Local 851	 Dellorusso, who allegedly ran air-freight
		  rackets for the Lucchese crime family

Alan Adelstein (president); 	 NYC Local 813	 Failing to investigate allegations of	 Alan and Martin Adelstein suspended
Martin Adelstein (secretary-treasurer);		  organized-crime influence in the locala	 from IBT employment for five years; 
James Murray (vice president); 			   Murray and Giammona suspended from
Michael Giammona (recording secretary)			   IBT employment for two years (1993)

Peter Agliata (secretary-treasurer)	 Chicago Local 738	 Knowing association with LCN members	 Resigned from the IBT (1993)

Anthony Senter (shop steward)	 NYC Local 813	 Membership in the Lucchese crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (1994)

Dominic Vulpis (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Providing employment cover for a member	 Resigned from the IBT (1994)
		  of the Lucchese crime family

Edward Garafola (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Membership in the Gambino crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (1994)

Pasquale Sottile (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Providing employment cover for a member	 Expelled from the IBT (1994)
		  of the Gambino crime family

William Genoese, Sr. (secretary-treasurer)	 NYC Local 732	 Knowing association with LCN members	 Resigned from the IBT (1994)

Angelo Paccione (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Knowing association with Jame Failla, 	 Resigned from the IBT (1995)
		  a capo in the Gambino crime family

Michael Sciarra (member)	 Union City, NJ 	 Membership in the Genovese crime family	 Resigned from the IBT (1995)
	 Local 560

	

	
a -

-

New York City Was Liberated from the Grip of Organized Crime (2001), and in many newspaper articles. Initially, New York Joint Council 16 dismissed the charges against the 
Local 813 officers. However, Joint Council 16’s international trustee overturned the dismissal, ruling that the evidence showed that the officers knew about the allegations and did 
virtually nothing to investigate or address them.
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William Genoese, Sr. (secretary-treasurer)	 NYC Local 732	 Knowing association with LCN members	 Resigned from the IBT (1994)

Angelo Paccione (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Knowing association with Jame Failla, 	 Resigned from the IBT (1995)
		  a capo in the Gambino crime family

Michael Sciarra (member)	 Union City, NJ 	 Membership in the Genovese crime family	 Resigned from the IBT (1995)
	 Local 560

Joseph Cammarano, Jr. (steward)	 Lake Success, NY 	 Membership in the Bonanno crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (1995)
	 Local 282

Michael Bourgal (president); 	 Lake Success, NY 	 Conspiring to use the local for the benefit	 Resigned their officer positions (1996)
John Probeyahn (secretary-treasurer)	 Local 282	 of the Gambino crime family

Aniello Madonna (member)	 Lake Success, NY 	 Knowing association with LCN figures	 Resigned from the IBT (1996)
	 Local 282

a Martin and Alan Adelstein were the sons of Bernard Adelstein, the former secretary-treasurer of Local 813 who assisted the Gambino, Genovese, and Lucchese crime fami-
lies’ control over NYC’s carting industry. In its investigative report, the IRB noted that Local 813’s executive officers knew about, but failed to adequately respond to, allegations 
that LCN had controlled Bernard Adelstein and various local members as far back as the 1950s. References to LCN control of Local 813 appeared in the McClellan Commit-
tee Reports (1957), the Report of the President’s Commission on Organized Crime (1986), the Rand Report (1987), the Report of the New York State Assembly Environmental 
Conservation Committee on Organized Crime Involvement in the Waste Hauling Industry (1986), Steven Brill’s The Teamsters (1978), James Jacobs’s Gotham Unbound: How 
New York City Was Liberated from the Grip of Organized Crime (2001), and in many newspaper articles. Initially, New York Joint Council 16 dismissed the charges against the 
Local 813 officers. However, Joint Council 16’s international trustee overturned the dismissal, ruling that the evidence showed that the officers knew about the allegations and did 
virtually nothing to investigate or address them.
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The IRB’s Trusteeship Powers: Procedures and Cases (1992 – ​1997)

In addition to granting the IRB disciplinary powers, the consent decree 
and IRB rules authorize the IRB to recommend that the IBT general presi-
dent impose international-union trusteeships on corrupted or financially 
mismanaged local unions and joint councils. Although neither the consent 
decree nor the rules provide criteria for imposing such trusteeships, the 
IRB’s practice has been to recommend a trusteeship when a majority of 
the local’s or joint council’s executive board has been implicated in wrong
doing; the local’s or joint council’s officers have badly mishandled the en-
tity’s finances; the local or joint council has a long history of corruption; 
and/or union officers have not enforced collective bargaining contracts or 
have otherwise failed to act on behalf of their constituent members. The 
IBT almost always complies with IRB trusteeship recommendations; when 
it does not, the IRB itself imposes the trusteeship.

A trusteeship involves the general president replacing corrupt local or 
joint-council officers with a trustee. The trustee has the power to oversee, 
approve, reject, and make decisions regarding the local’s or joint council’s 
operations, expenditures, and disciplinary matters. Frequently, the IBT 
merges a trusteed local into a neighboring local. The IRB has veto power 
over the IBT general president’s choice for trustee. (For example, in 1994, 
the IRB rejected Carey’s selection of William F. Genoese, director of the 
IBT’s airport division, as trustee of Queens, New York IBT Local 295, be-
cause Genoese was a close associate of the Lucchese crime family.)19

From September 1992 to October 1997, the IRB recommended that the 
IBT impose trusteeships on twenty local unions and one joint council. The 
IBT implemented all these recommendations. Twenty-five percent of the 
IRB’s first-term trusteeship recommendations involved locals whose mem-
bers worked for companies that mount trade shows or produce movies, 
businesses with long histories of labor racketeering.

One of the CI’s largest investigations leading to trusteeship involved 
Chicago IBT Local 714. In August 1996, the IRB sent General President 
Carey a 120-page CI investigative report concluding that the local was be-
ing run for the benefit of Principal Officer William Hogan, Jr., President 
James M. Hogan, Recording Secretary Robert Hogan, and other Hogan 
family members and friends, rather than for the benefit of the members: 
“Nepotism and favoritism are prominent factors influencing entry into 
and work assignments in the Local’s trade show/movie division which re-
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fers members to the Local’s best jobs.”20 The IRB charged that the local’s 
officers had entered into several sham collective-bargaining agreements 
whereby non-Teamsters received employment and benefits, and that one 
company, owned by a relative of the local’s president, avoided making 
health-fund contributions on behalf of its Teamsters employees. Pursuant 
to the IRB’s recommendation, General President Carey imposed a trustee-
ship on that local.21

The IRB recommended other trusteeships on account of local officers’ 
financial mismanagement, associations with LCN figures, and collusion 
with affiliated non-IBT local unions to violate members’ contract and 
union-democracy rights. For example, the IRB recommended that the IBT 
impose a trusteeship on the following locals for the following reasons:

•	 NYC Local 807 because that local’s officers referred the most de-
sirable union jobs to LCN members, associates, and convicted 
criminals rather than on the basis of seniority.

•	 NYC Local 240 because that local’s officers allowed a former offi-
cer with LCN connections, whom a court had barred from IBT ac-
tivities, to participate in the local’s affairs. The local also had paid 
some of his personal bills.

•	 NYC Local 966 because that local’s president allowed officers of 
affiliated non-IBT locals, with whom he had personal connec-
tions, to allow ineligible persons to obtain IBT benefits. The local’s 
president also used the local’s money to travel to Chicago to meet 
with an LCN associate.

Carey’s Opposition to the IRB

Upon taking office on February 17, 1992, General President Carey prom-
ised that his victory meant “goodbye to the Mafia [and] goodbye to those 
who have lined their pockets at the members’ expense.”22 On a number 
of occasions, however, Carey and his staff opposed the IRB’s actions and 
even its existence. In an August 1992 decision, Judge Edelstein unhappily 
observed,

From the day the parties entered the Consent Decree, March 14, 1989, until 
today, the IBT has waged a zealous legal attack on the reforms contained 
in that agreement. .  .  . While the new [Ron Carey] administration has 
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publicly disassociated itself from its predecessors’ attempts to thwart re-
form, it has adopted its litigation strategy with respect to both the Court-
Appointed Officers and the IRB.23

Carey’s opposition to the IRB first surfaced a month after he took of-
fice. In March 1992, DOJ appointed Frederick Lacey and the IBT appointed 
Eddie Burke as two of the three IRB members. However, Lacey and Burke 
could not agree on a third IRB member. Whereas Lacey wanted someone 
with strong law enforcement, prosecutorial, and judicial experience, Burke 
wanted someone who had an understanding of labor relations and labor 
unions and who had overseen investigations of exactly the type that the 
IRB was going to be asked to investigate.24 Presumably at Carey’s direction, 
or at least with his approval, Burke rejected all of Lacey’s recommenda-
tions. At a July 30, 1992 hearing on the impasse, Lacey told Judge Edelstein 
that he would attempt to find a nominee of “unchallengeable, national rep-
utation, background and experience.”25 The next day, Lacey urged Burke 
to agree to William H. Webster, who had previously served as FBI director, 
CIA director, and federal judge. Burke objected because Webster did not 
have a labor background and had served on the board of directors of an 
IBT employer. An exasperated Judge Edelstein criticized the Carey admin-
istration for thwarting implementation of the consent decree’s disciplinary 
prong. He told Burke, “You won’t reach any agreement. Everything on this 
record is clear for me to conclude that you will not reach an agreement. . . . 
[The impasse] is hopelessly irreconcilable.”26 He then appointed Webster to 
the IRB.

The Carey administration strenuously objected to DOJ’s proposed rules 
for the IRB, arguing that the consent decree did not authorize DOJ to pro-
pose those rules, that DOJ waived its right to promulgate rules by not rais-
ing the matter when the consent decree was signed, that DOJ’s proposed 
rules would impose excessive costs on the IBT, and that the proposed rules 
violated federal labor law favoring the government’s nonintervention in 
union affairs.27 Moreover, according to the IBT’s lawyers, “the democratic 
election of a new IBT administration dedicated to eradicating corruption 
obviates the need for the government’s proposed rules.”28 General Presi-
dent Carey stated,

The Government should acknowledge the dramatic changes in our Union 
and the commitment of my administration to honest trade unionism; it 
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should not seek to restrict our ability to manage our own affairs. . . . In less 
than six months, the IBT has been transformed into a labor union run by 
and for its members. Times have changed; this union has changed.29

Judge Edelstein approved the proposed rules and criticized the Carey 
administration’s “toleration of organized crime’s influence in union affairs 
and complacency in the face of corruption.”30 Edelstein called Carey’s six-
month anticorruption record “pathetic.”31

Rather than dedication to maintaining the union democratically, with in-
tegrity, and for the sole benefit of the membership, the International Broth-
erhood of Teamsters’ objections to the independent review board suggest a 
dedication to maintaining the union autocratically, with ignominy, and for 
its own purposes. Despite this [Carey] administration’s promise of reform, 
it boasts an anemic record in attempting to eradicate corruption.32

Carey vowed to fight “the unwarranted imposition of increased Govern-
ment control over the union.”33 However, the Second Circuit affirmed 
Judge Edelstein’s approval of DOJ’s proposed IRB rules.

The Carey administration also opposed U.S. Attorney Otto Obermaier’s 
request to compensate the three IRB members and the IRB chief investiga-
tor according to their hourly rates as lawyers up to a maximum annual re-
muneration of $100,000. Edelstein, in response, set a $100,000 guaranteed 
minimum salary for the IRB members and the CI:

Given the IRB’s central role in eradicating corruption in the IBT and re-
storing union democracy, it is essential that the IRB attract extraordinarily 
talented members and staff. . . . To attract such talent, IRB members and 
staff must be compensated at market rates based upon their usual hourly 
rate. . . . [A] guaranteed salary is necessary initially to attract quality indi-
viduals to these positions. . . . [A] salary floor of $100,000 will entice quali-
fied individuals to undertake this intimidating assignment.34

Edelstein warned the Carey administration that the disciplinary officers’ 
remuneration could exceed $100,000 in a matter of months if the IBT con-
tinued to pursue “needless litigation” or to mislead the IRB to pursue “friv-
olous investigations.” (On appeal, the Second Circuit agreed with Judge 
Edelstein on the $100,000 guaranteed minimum annual salary, but not on 
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compensating the IRB members and the CI at their law-firm rates because, 
while working for the IRB, they would not have to cover a law firm’s over-
head expenses.)*35

Carey’s Ethical Practices Committee (EPC)

During the 1991 general presidential campaign, Ron Carey had promised 
to establish a union disciplinary apparatus that would demonstrate to DOJ 
and the district court that the IRB was unnecessary. Toward that end, in 
February 1992, at his first GEB meeting after becoming general president, 
Carey introduced a resolution stating that “the General President and the 
General Executive Board are firmly committed to ending Government su-
pervision of the affairs of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters and 
substituting an effective and vigorous Ethical Practices Committee to en-
sure that this Union operates democratically and free from corruption at 
all levels.”36

Carey appointed fifteen EPC members ​— ​five regional vice presidents, 
five local-union officers, and five rank-and-file members ​— ​and divided 
them into three-person regional hearing panels. Almost all the EPC mem-
bers were Carey’s political allies. He appointed Aaron Belk, an interna-
tional vice president and one of his closest advisers, as the EPC’s chief ad-
ministrator, even though Belk had no prior investigative experience.

The EPC’s purpose was to investigate allegations of corruption and se-
rious wrongdoing that pose “imminent danger” to the union’s welfare.37 
(Complaints to the EPC that did not involve imminent danger to the union 
would be referred to local unions or joint councils for investigation and ad-
judication.) The EPC invited rank-and-file Teamsters to submit complaints 
in writing or by phone. Belk and his small staff then had to decide whether 
each complaint merited investigation, that is, whether it involved potential 
imminent danger to the welfare of the union. (The EPC did not investigate 
organized-crime cases.) If Belk decided that a case should be investigated 
further, he assigned the case to an EPC staffer to conduct a more extensive 

* The IRB’s salaries and expenses, which the IBT pays, run approximately $3 million per year. 
Each IRB member is paid $100,000 per year plus $35,000 in fringe benefits. Staff investigators are 
paid $84,000 per year. CI Carberry bills more than $100,000 annually on account of the significant 
time he devotes to his investigatory work. Jones Day, the law firm at which Carberry is a partner, 
also bills the IBT periodically for expenses that the law firm incurs in assisting Carberry and his 
investigators (e.g., copying costs and court-reporter fees).
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investigation. Lacking significant law-enforcement contacts, the EPC staff-
ers mostly questioned union officers about the allegations. In some in-
stances, they hired auditors to review locals’ and joint councils’ books and 
records. They did not hire outside investigators.

Carey delegated to Belk the general president’s authority to bring disci-
plinary charges. If Belk decided to bring charges, he instructed the relevant 
regional EPC panel to convene a hearing. An IBT lawyer would present the 
case. Respondents were entitled to be represented by another Teamster, but 
not by an outside attorney. The presenting IBT lawyer and the respondent’s 
representative could call witnesses and cross-examine opposing witnesses. 
The EPC panel reported its culpability finding and sanction recommenda-
tion to Carey, who rendered a decision. In some cases, Carey also used the 
evidence contained in EPC reports on individual disciplinary respondents 
as grounds to impose a trusteeship on a local or joint council. The respon-
dent could appeal to the GEB.

One of the largest EPC investigations involved NYC IBT Local 810. Belk 
found that four Local 810 officials had, among other disciplinary violations, 
mismanaged the local’s pension, health, and welfare funds; collected cash 
contributions from local staff members without justification; increased sev-
erance payments to local officers without membership approval; paid full-
time salaries to part-time employees; and failed to hold membership meet-
ings. Carey followed the EPC’s recommendation to impose a trusteeship.38

Criticism of the EPC

IRB member Lacey and DOL investigator Michael Moroney criticized 
the EPC. Lacey observed, “This ethical practices panel is not what it seems 
to be: I simply want to dispel the notion that they are doing everything 
that is possible here to take care of things and clean out their own house.”39 
Moroney called Carey’s internal reform efforts “halfhearted” and occasion-
ally obstructionist.40 In a June 14, 1993 letter to IBT General Counsel Judy 
Scott, Moroney wrote, “The understanding of the corruption problem, and 
the will to do anything about it, is completely lacking at the International 
Brotherhood of Teamsters.”41

Four years later, Rep. Peter Hoekstra (R-Mich.), chairman of the House 
Committee on Education and the Workforce’s Subcommittee on Oversight 
and Investigations (1995 – ​2000), convened hearings on the U.S. v. IBT re-
mediation. CI Carberry testified that the EPC was a “political arm” of the 
IBT and that the CI’s office limited its contact with the EPC to providing 
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publicly available information.42 EPC member Phillip Feaster (president 
of Washington, D.C., IBT Local 639) testified that, in seven of the eight 
disciplinary hearings that his regional panel held, the respondent was a 
Carey opponent.43 Former EPC member Sam Theodus, an international 
vice president, told the subcommittee that he resigned his EPC position 
because of “totally discriminatory and retaliatory application of internal 
union discipline by the Carey regime.”44 In 1998, Hoekstra concluded that 
“IBT headquarters officials [had] used the EPC to target political adversar-
ies.”45 He added that the EPC was not an adequate alternative to the IRB 
because it had failed to incorporate a code of ethics into the IBT constitu-
tion, failed to establish an educational program to ensure that rank and 
filers understood the required standards of ethical conduct, and used the 
IBT to neutralize and punish political adversaries. Hoekstra stated, “Absent 
the constant vigilance of an IA, IRB, or some other independent overseer, 
rank-and-file members have no mechanism to protect their rights. . . . To 
the extent the EPC was envisioned as a vehicle to end the need for govern-
ment supervision, it has failed in significant respects.”46

Carey’s International-Union Trusteeships

During his tenure as general president, Carey imposed international-union 
trusteeships on nearly seventy IBT locals and joint councils. More than 
two-thirds of those trusteeships were imposed without IRB recommenda-
tions. For example, Carey trusteed the following locals:

•	 NYC IBT Local 272 (July 1992) because (1) several of the local’s 
officers were indicted for receiving kickbacks from parking-lot 
employers in exchange for not objecting when those employers 
fired Teamsters and hired nonunion replacement workers and (2) 
infighting among the local officers interfered with their ability to 
represent the local’s members.

•	 Rochelle Park, New Jersey IBT Local 11 (July 1993) because an in-
ternational-union audit found that the local’s president and busi-
ness agent had engaged in dual unionism by transferring 115 mem-
bers to an affiliated non-IBT local union without their knowledge. 
The audit also identified large sums of unaccounted-for money 
and unauthorized expenditures.
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•	 NYC IBT Local 810 (September 1993) based on EPC charges that 
two local officers had mismanaged the local’s pension, health, and 
welfare funds; required their staff members to donate to their re-
election campaigns; raised their salaries without membership ap-
proval; and spent union money for personal goods and services.

•	 Springfield, Illinois IBT Local 916 (July 1994) because an interna-
tional-union audit found that the local’s officers had used union 
credit cards to pay for personal expenses (e.g., greens fees at golf 
courses) and had “double dipped” by charging meals on union 
credit cards while also receiving reimbursements for the same ex-
penses. The IBT required the officers to reimburse $8,000 to the 
local.

•	 Fall River, Massachusetts IBT Local 526 (November 1994) because 
an international-union audit, resulting from a complaint to the 
EPC, found that the local had a negative net worth and that the 
local’s officers had planned to use funds from a restricted account 
to reduce the local’s outstanding debts.

•	 Chicago IBT Local 753 (November 1994) because an independent 
audit revealed that, in violation of federal pension laws, the local’s 
officers had sold a building owned by the local to a local-union 
pension plan and used the $1.1 million proceeds to purchase new 
cars and to fund a 50 percent salary increase.

Carey’s supporters claimed that these trusteeships demonstrated his 
commitment to remedying corruption and financial mismanagement. 
His critics charged that he used the non-IRB-recommended trusteeships 
to replace political enemies with his allies. Some ousted officers and rank-
and-file members of trusteed locals picketed the Marble Palace, protesting 
Carey’s removal of their elected representatives. Others went to court to 
challenge the existence, scope, and duration of trusteeships.47 A few even 
physically resisted trustees’ efforts to carry out their duties, refusing to let 
them in the local’s offices. (Carey claimed to have hired bodyguards in re-
sponse to death threats.) On occasion, even TDU questioned the propriety 
of Carey-imposed trusteeships.48



120  General President Carey and the IRB

Conclusion and Analysis

The IRB

Aside from Carey’s early opposition to the IRB, which Judge Edelstein 
swiftly quelled, the transition of disciplinary authority from the IO/IA to 
the IRB occurred without major difficulty. The appointments of Frederick 
Lacey as an IRB member and Charles Carberry as IRB chief investigator fa-
cilitated the transition. During their three years as IO and IA, respectively, 
they produced a comprehensive body of administrative IBT disciplinary 
law on which the IRB could build.

During the Carey years (February 1992 – ​November 1997), the IRB rec-
ommended that the IBT charge 214 Teamsters with disciplinary viola-
tions. Approximately 20 percent of the respondents were charged with 
being members of LCN, knowingly associating with LCN members/as-
sociates, or refusing to cooperate with an investigation into LCN influ-
ence. The other 80 percent were charged with garden-variety union cor-
ruption, financial misconduct, breach of fiduciary duties, or failure to 
cooperate with a non-LCN-related IRB investigation. However, we should 
not assume that a disciplinary case involved organized crime only if a re-
spondent was charged with an organized-crime-related offense. It is often 
easier to prove charges of failure to cooperate with the IRB or financial 
mismanagement than to prove an organized-crime link. The breach-of-
fiduciary-duty and failure-to-cooperate violations often involved passive 
cooperation with LCN.

The DOJ lawyers believed that the U.S. v. IBT remediation should target 
ordinary corruption (i.e., corruption unrelated to LCN) because any union 
corruption contributes to an environment that invites LCN infiltration. 
This hypothesis, while plausible, is certainly not beyond question. Indeed, 
if confirmed, it would justify a permanent IRB.

Ironically, IBT leaders reap some benefits from the IRB. If the IRB in-
vestigates and charges disciplinary violations that the IBT would otherwise 
have to handle itself, the IBT leaders can avoid the political costs of disci-
plining powerful and/or popular IBT officials. That is an advantage for an 
IBT administration serious about cleaning house.
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Ron Carey

It is difficult to determine to what extent Ron Carey’s anticorruption ef-
forts were bona fide. We do not know why Carey opposed the IRB, and 
we cannot confidently gauge the sincerity of his commitment to the EPC 
or to the evenhanded imposition of trusteeships. Compounding the dif-
ficulty of evaluation is the lack of agreement on how much a union presi-
dent can and should do to fight corruption and racketeering. DOJ lawyers 
likely judge Carey by his commitment to fighting organized crime and by 
his cooperation with the court-appointed officers. IBT officers likely judge 
Carey by his willingness to respect local-union autonomy. TDU and AUD 
likely judge Carey by his support for democratic reforms. Rank and filers 
likely care most about Carey’s ability to negotiate strong contracts and keep 
dues low.

Ron Carey’s resistance to the IRB was surprising given that he would not 
have become IBT general president without the consent decree’s mandate 
for rank-and-file elections of international officers. Carey was, at best, un-
cooperative and, at worst, subversive in negotiations with DOJ to appoint 
a third IRB member. His administration drew Judge Edelstein’s ire when it 
rejected DOJ’s proposal to appoint William Webster. Carey’s insistence that 
DOJ lacked authority to issue operational rules for the IRB and his claim 
that the IRB was unnecessary in light of his administration’s commitment 
to fighting corruption and racketeering seem to us disingenuous.

There is also reason to be skeptical about Carey’s internal anticorruption 
initiatives. The EPC was seriously flawed. Its administrator had no inves-
tigative experience or expertise and, like most of the EPC members, was 
Carey’s political ally. On at least one occasion, for political reasons, Carey 
apparently tried to influence an EPC regional hearing panel’s disciplinary 
decision. It is impossible to determine how many of Carey’s trusteeship de-
cisions were motivated, wholly or substantially, by a desire to replace po-
litical adversaries with political allies. The critics certainly raised serious 
questions.
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The 1996 Election Scandal

Rank and file Teamsters will watch the 1996 election with the hope 
that the Union will continue to be free and democratic. They will 
constantly be asking themselves whether the Union truly belongs 
to them. It is not just their interests that are at stake. The American 
public as a whole will benefit when this union of more than 1.4 mil-
lion members is freed from the clutches of organized gangsterism.1

 ​— ​Judge David Edelstein, August 22, 1995

[My] investigation revealed a complex network of schemes to fun-
nel employer and IBT funds into the Carey campaign. . . . [Thus,] 
the election officer refuses to certify the [1996] election and orders a 
rerun election. . . . [T]he election officer recognizes the hardship on 
the candidates who just went through an expensive two-year cam-
paign and the disruption to the institution. . . . [But] the members 
cannot have confidence in their union or its leaders if they see their 
choice of officers has been manipulated by outsiders.2

 ​— ​EO Barbara Quindel, August 21, 1997

Ron Carey could not be confident about reelection in 1996. 
He had won the 1991 election largely because the IBT establishment had 
split its support between R.V. Durham and Walter Shea. During his first 
term, Carey was frequently reminded that he could not count on the po-
litical support of a large majority of local and regional IBT officials. More 
worrisome, in 1996, he would face a challenge from James P. (Jim) Hoffa, 
son of former IBT General President James R. (Jimmy) Hoffa, a Teamster 
folk hero despite his Mafia ties and corruption conviction.3
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The 1996 Candidates for General President

Ron Carey

Carey launched his reelection campaign in mid-1995. He boasted of hav-
ing removed scores of corrupt union officials and trusteeing nearly seventy 
corrupt or financially mismanaged locals.4 To symbolize his commitment 
to a less imperial central office, Carey cut his own salary from $225,000 to 
$150,000, sold the union’s jets, canceled the Marble Palace’s water-cooler 
contract, and fired its French chef. Stressing the importance of gender and 
racial diversity, his staff organized conferences on women’s issues and civil 
rights.5 Still, only a small minority of local and regional IBT leaders were 
Carey loyalists. For example, John P. Morris, president of Philadelphia IBT 
Local 115 and an international vice president, called the 1996 election “a 
case of Mr. Clean [Carey] vs. Mr. Not [Hoffa].”6 Carl Haynes, president 
of NYC IBT Local 237, one of the largest Teamsters locals in the United 
States, stated that “if Hoffa wins, . . . we’ll go back to the pre-1991 way that 
things were done. The cleansing of the union, which is so badly needed, 
will stop.”7 AFL-CIO President John Sweeney praised Carey as a “unique 
American” who set “standards for integrity.”8

Although DOJ, Judge Edelstein, and most of the court officers kept their 
preferences private, a May 1995 Time magazine story disclosed a confiden-
tial letter from Frederick Lacey to Thomas Puccio, the court-appointed 
trustee of New York IBT Local 295, in which Lacey urged Puccio not to go 
public with allegations linking Carey to Cosa Nostra. Lacey warned that 
such charges could severely harm Carey’s chances for reelection:

During our conversation, I told you that I thought you . . . ought to have 
in mind what would happen if you brought Carey down in that there were 
“old guard” Teamsters throughout the country that were hoping that Carey 
would be eliminated as a candidate in 1996 so that the clock could be 
turned back to what it was when I first came on the scene as Independent 
Administrator. You indicated that you had not given any thought to that 
but you would keep it in mind.9

Both Lacey and Puccio refused to discuss the letter.
However, in a subsequent disciplinary case, an international vice presi-

dent (Gene Giacumbo) facing embezzlement charges asked Lacey to re-
cuse himself.10 Giacumbo argued that Lacey’s letter to Puccio demonstrates 



124  The 1996 Election Scandal

“clear partiality toward Carey. . . . [B]y openly aligning himself with Carey’s 
candidacy, Lacey implicitly placed himself in opposition to individuals 
such as [Giacumbo] who were actively seeking Carey’s ouster.” Lacey re-
fused to recuse himself and Judge Edelstein affirmed Lacey’s decision.11 
The Second Circuit Court of Appeals sent the case back to Judge Edelstein 
because he had used the wrong standard of review to evaluate Lacey’s par-
tiality/impartiality.12 In a concurring opinion, Judge Dennis Jacobs stated 
that Time Magazine’s disclosure of Lacey’s letter was “unsettling because 
the letter is partisan in an election in which Lacey has no vote and should 
have no candidate. .  .  . In light of the deference that we have in the past 
extended to Lacey’s judgment and prestige . . . [this revelation] is a depres-
sant.”13 On remand, Judge Edelstein again supported Lacey’s refusal to re-
cuse himself.14

Three months after Lacey wrote the letter, the IRB released an eighty-
five-page report presenting the findings of its inquiry into Carey’s alleged 
LCN connections.15 The report first addressed Lucchese crime family 
member Alfonso D’Arco’s statements to the FBI that he and Carey had 
spoken numerous times from 1967 to 1971; that Carey was a “partner” of 
LCN associate and IBT official Joe Trerotola; and that when D’Arco “used 
to put up illegal pickets/strikes, [he] would call Carey, .  .  . [who] would 
honor the strike without even investigating [its] nature, purpose or legiti-
macy.”16 The IRB concluded that D’Arco was not an LCN member at the 
time he allegedly communicated with Carey and that D’Arco’s other alle-
gations were unsupported.17 The IRB also investigated an allegation that, 
while president of NYC IBT Local 804, Carey appointed to serve as a lo-
cal union trustee a person whom he knew to be a close associate of the 
Colombo crime family’s acting boss.18 The IRB concluded that Carey had 
neither appointed the trustee nor known of his LCN associations.19 Next, 
the IRB addressed an allegation that, in 1975, Carey testified as a character 
witness for alleged Lucchese crime family member John Conti in a federal 
extortion case.20 The IRB concluded that Conti was not an LCN member 
when Carey testified for him and that, after Conti’s trial (at which Conti 
was acquitted), Carey had no further contact with him.21 The IRB also con-
cluded that Carey should not be disciplined for appointing Lucchese crime 
family associate William Genoese as trustee of NYC IBT Local 295 because 
Genoese’s LCN ties were not well known at the time.22 Finally, the IRB con-
cluded that there was no evidence to support allegations that Carey had 
knowingly associated with alleged Colombo crime family associates related 
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to his brother’s wife.23 Prominent journalist Jeffrey Goldberg observed that 
Lacey’s earlier letter to Puccio in support of Carey should cause observers 
to “question the [subsequent IRB] report’s credibility.”24

Sam Theodus

Sam Theodus was an IBT international vice president and former presi-
dent of a five-thousand-member Cleveland IBT local.25 Ten years earlier, 
he had mounted a futile insurgency to defeat IBT General President Jackie 
Presser. In 1991, Theodus was elected as an international vice president 
on Carey’s slate. However, in 1995, he split with Carey, calling his admin-
istration “vindictive” and “morally corrupt.”26 He resigned from the EPC, 
charging that it discriminated against Teamsters who supported Hoffa.27 
Theodus’s principal campaign issues were the weakened state of IBT fi-
nances and declining IBT membership.28 He promised that, if elected, he 
would create a truly independent EPC. Ultimately, he dropped his presi-
dential candidacy in favor of a vice presidential spot on Hoffa’s slate. Two 
years later, in hearings before the House Subcommittee on Oversight and 
Investigations, Theodus explained that he was “totally disillusioned, disap-
pointed, disgusted, and dismayed” with Carey’s leadership and charged the 
Carey administration with conducting

a reign of terror by malicious prosecution of its detractors while they 
themselves [the Carey administration] engaged in various acts of cor-
ruption. . . . [The Carey administration] was singularly and compulsively 
obsessed with the perpetuation of its own power. Internal union politics 
played a part in virtually every decision made by the majority of the gen-
eral executive board. It became an administration that abused all the pow-
ers of the general president and the general executive board in the areas 
of union disciplinary procedures, the implementation of trusteeships, the 
merging of local unions, and the manipulation of joint council jurisdic-
tions, to punish its enemies and reward its supporters in virtually every 
opportunity that was presented.29

Jim Hoffa

On August 30, 1995, fifty-four-year-old Jim Hoffa formally announced 
his candidacy for IBT general president.30 His five-year tenure as full-time 
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administrative assistant to Michigan IBT Joint Council 43 President Larry 
Brennan made him eligible to run. His surname resonated with many rank 
and filers.31 Douglas Fraser, retired president of United Auto Workers, 
observed, “There’s an aura surrounding the Hoffa name that’s still sort of 
magical among tuck drivers.”32 Chuck Mack, former president of Califor-
nia IBT Joint Council 7 and a vice presidential candidate on Hoffa’s 1996 
slate, added that when Hoffa Sr. was president, “we were growing and we 
had tremendous power vis-à-vis employers and vis-à-vis the Government. 
When members look back, they recall the positives. That’s what Jim’s run-
ning on.”33 Hoffa himself was not reluctant to invoke his father’s name in 
aid of his candidacy: “Everywhere I go, people say, ‘Without your father, I 
wouldn’t be in the middle class. I couldn’t send my kids to college.’ It’s be-
cause of Jimmy Hoffa that a lot of these people have good incomes.”34 One 
newspaper reported,

In one of the first stops on the [1996] campaign trail for Jim Hoffa, the 
54-year-old son of legendary labor boss Jimmy Hoffa, [he] received wild 
applause and chants of “Hoffa, Hoffa!” from the crowd. .  .  . Some were 
there to back his theme of a unified union; others were there to see the son 
of the man whose life inspired books, congressional investigations into the 
influence of crime in the union, and motion pictures, and whose disap-
pearance has fascinated many for two decades. “I was proud just to meet 
him,” said a construction worker with IBT Local 142 in Gary, Indiana. 
“Half the votes will go to him just because of the Hoffa name.”35

Hoffa promised to reverse the deterioration of the IBT’s finances.36 (Be-
tween early 1992, when Carey took office, and late 1996, the end of Carey’s 
first term, the IBT’s treasury dropped from $152 million to $16 million.) He 
proposed increasing the weekly strike benefit to a $250 maximum, scaled 
to a member’s monthly dues payment.37 He also promised to cap officers’ 
salaries at $150,000 and to sell the IBT’s Washington, D.C., condominiums 
used by out-of-town IBT officials. Hoffa blasted the Carey-negotiated na-
tional master freight agreement38 and attacked Carey for hiring admin-
istrative staff from other unions, declaring, “When I become president, 
I’ll fire those [United] [M]ine [W]orkers and I’m putting Teamsters in 
those jobs.”39

Hoffa disputed Carey’s anticorruption achievements. “Whatever cleanup 
has happened . . . [Carey] hasn’t done it. . . . The government has done it.”40 
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Hoffa promised to make termination of the civil RICO suit a top priority: 
“It’s time for the government to leave, thank you. The membership wants 
their union back.”41

I intend to sit down with the president of the United States and tell him 
what we’ve accomplished under this consent agreement. . . . If the govern-
ment wants to continue to monitor our elections, fine. We can live with 
things like that, but we must have a timetable for when this will end. . . . 
The idea of the federal government running an organization like ours in a 
democratic society just isn’t right.42

TDU leaders and other Carey supporters feared that a Hoffa victory 
would mean the end of the reform dream. They recalled Hoffa Sr.’s close 
associations with organized crime and fretted over Hoffa Jr.’s support from 
allegedly corrupt elements in the union. For instance, Hoffa had been the 
longtime legal counsel to George Vitale, whom the IRB had expelled from 
the union for embezzling more than $10,000 and attempting to appropri-
ate a union car. Hoffa was also legal counsel to the Michigan Teamsters’ 
health and welfare fund when the federal government compelled the 
fund’s officers to repay $725,000 in improper expenditures. Hoffa’s crit-
ics also pointed to his onetime business partnership with LCN associate 
Allen Dorfman.

The 1996 Election Rules

The U.S. v. IBT consent decree provided that if DOJ opted for a supervised 
1996 election, it would have to pay for the supervision.43 DOJ did opt for 
a supervised election. In early 1995, the IBT and DOJ agreed that “it is the 
intention of the Government and the IBT that the Election Officer function 
in 1996 as similarly as possible to the 1991 Election Officer.”44 Judge Edel-
stein appointed labor lawyer Amy Gladstein as EO. However, he removed 
her a few months later when he learned that she had hired her husband 
and law partner as the EO’s legal counsel.45 Edelstein then appointed Bar-
bara Zack Quindel, a Milwaukee labor lawyer who, during the 1991 elec-
tion, served as one of EO Holland’s regional coordinators.46 Edelstein ap-
pointed former federal judge Kenneth Conboy to be the election appeals 
master (EAM), who would hear appeals from EO decisions, as IA Lacey 
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had done in the 1991 election cycle.47 Edelstein emphasized the importance 
of a democratic elections process:

It is of paramount importance that the same spirit of vigilance that vital-
ized the 1991 IBT election energize the 1995 – ​96 IBT election process if 
the arduous and painstaking work of implementing the Consent Decree 
is to be preserved and built upon. It cannot be said too often that the 
minions of organized crime continue to haunt the IBT. These invidious 
enemies of union democracy continue to thrive with a perverse and per-
sistent energy.48

Quindel opened an election-office headquarters in Washington, D.C., and 
proposed a $21.2 million election budget.49 (Ultimately, the 1996 election 
cost approximately $17.5 million.) On April 24, 2005, she distributed pro-
posed rules for the 1996 election to all IBT locals, GEB members, large IBT 
employers, and Teamsters who requested copies. Except for a few changes, 
these proposed rules were similar to the 1991 election rules.50 One new pro-
vision, formalizing a practice Holland adopted in 1991, granted campaign-
ers limited access to employers’ parking lots.51 Some employers objected, 
arguing that it violated the U.S. Supreme Court’s 1992 decision in Lechmere, 
Inc., v. National Labor Relations Board, which held that the National Labor 
Relations Act did not authorize a nonemployee to campaign on an employ-
er’s premises.52 Quindel countered that the consent decree provided legal 
authority for this rule.53 Judge Edelstein agreed.

Persuaded that mail balloting had been successful in the 1991 con-
vention-delegate and general elections, Quindel asked Judge Edelstein 
to approve rank-and-file voting by mail ballot, even though the consent 
decree provided that “all direct rank-and-file voting by secret ballot .  .  . 
shall be by in-person ballot box voting.”54 Judge Edelstein approved the 
proposed rule without addressing its apparent incompatibility with the 
consent decree.55 Another proposed rule provided that the rank and file, 
rather than the convention delegates, would elect the three international 
trustees (who compose the IBT’s Audit Committee). To protect IBT mem-
bers against retaliation for exercising their rights under the election rules, 
Quindel proposed that she adjudicate postelection protests alleging retali-
ation, whether or not that protest’s resolution would affect an election’s 
outcome.56 Finally, to reduce the risk of coercion or intimidation in the 
delegate-selection process, Quindel authorized written delegate nomina-
tions to be submitted directly to the EO’s office, rather than in person to 
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the local union’s election committee.57 Judge Edelstein approved all these 
proposed rules.

EO Quindel, twenty-two regional coordinators, and dozens of adjunct 
coordinators reviewed and sometimes modified each local’s delegate-
election plan. The staff monitored nominating meetings for compliance 
with appropriate procedures. As in the 1991 election cycle, contested elec-
tions occurred in about one-half of the locals. The EO sent a mail-in ballot 
to every member of every local with a contested delegate election. An EO 
regional representative counted the ballots in the presence of the candi-
dates or their representatives. Ultimately, the EO certified 1,761 delegates 
and 748 alternate delegates from 568 IBT locals.58 (The vast majority of del-
egates, once again, were IBT officeholders.)

The July 15 – ​19, 1996 Philadelphia Convention

While General President Carey chaired the 1996 Philadelphia convention 
and controlled its agenda, he struggled to maintain control because Hoffa’s 
delegates well outnumbered his. On the first day of the convention, Hoffa’s 
supporters halted the proceedings several times.59 They complained that 
Carey “was running roughshod over them, declaring the results of close 
voice votes as victories for his positions and turning off audience micro-
phones to stifle debate.”60 After Carey introduced Senator Arlen Specter 
(D-Pa.), the delegates’ shouting at Carey (who remained on the stage as 
Specter began his speech) “grew to a roar,” causing Specter to tell the del-
egates, “this is a black mark on the Teamsters and a black mark on the 
American labor movement” before leaving the podium.61 Carey infuri-
ated Hoffa’s delegates by rejecting their motion to prohibit voting by eighty 
“super-delegates” who were either appointed by joint councils or automati-
cally selected.*62 (Past presidents had also appointed convention super-
delegates.) Carey declared the motion defeated despite some journalists’ 
observations that the voice vote favored Hoffa’s delegates.63 The ensuing 
fracas triggered a call to the police, who cleared the hall.64

Hoffa introduced a number of proposals, including drawing $15 mil-
lion from the union’s treasury to increase strike benefits65 and reinforcing 

* Each joint council is entitled to appoint a super-delegate. GEB members, international repre-
sentatives, and international trustees also enjoy super-delegate status. Super-delegates can vote on 
constitutional and procedural measures at IBT conventions. However, the LMRDA prohibits them 
from nominating candidates for international office.
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the autonomy of local unions by restricting the general president’s author-
ity to impose trusteeships on locals.66 Carey’s parliamentary rulings pre-
vented these and other Hoffa proposals from reaching floor votes. He used 
his control of the convention agenda to his advantage. For example, Carey 
proposed that candidates for international office must have been IBT local 
officers or have worked at least two years for Teamsters employers. That 
requirement would have disqualified Hoffa, who had served as an adminis-
trative assistant to a union officer, but had not himself been a union officer. 
(Given Hoffa’s significant delegate advantage, his supporters must not have 
realized the significance of the vote because Carey’s proposal just barely 
lost, 784 to 745.)67

Carey allocated almost a full day of the convention to debate whether 
the union’s name, International Brotherhood of Teamsters, should be made 
gender neutral. That proposal failed by almost two to one.68 On another 
day, he refused to close debate on a noncontroversial oath of office for 
union officers.69 According to labor journalist Kenneth Crowe,

Carey . . . has used his position as convention chairman to frustrate Hoffa’s 
agenda. .  .  . Carey has frequently ruled opposition speakers out of order, 
strung out debates over procedural points and ordered time-consuming 
votes. Votes early in the week showed that Hoffa has a slight edge in the 
number of delegates, but not enough to push through his program.70

Labor journalist Peter Kilborn observed that Carey had “quell[ed] debate 
by declining to call upon Hoffa supporters who stood ready to speak.”71 
When it came to the nomination balloting, Carey received fewer votes than 
Hoffa (775 – ​954).72 Clearly, he faced an uphill reelection battle.

The Election Campaigns

The candidates continued trading corruption charges after the conven-
tion. Carey’s team referred to Hoffa as a “flunky of the old guard,” “the 
same old mobbed-up, on-the-take Teamster his daddy was,” and “an im-
poster who will bring back the weakness and corruption of the past.”73 
Hoffa’s campaign called Carey a “failed leader [who] resorts to power 
grabs out of spite and pique,” a “chicken,” and a “scaredy cat” for refusing 
to debate Hoffa.74 It denounced Carey’s campaign ads as “slimy pieces of 
half-truths.”75
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The acrimony resulted in Carey filing a $30 million libel suit (recalling 
Carey’s 1991 libel suit against the Durham campaign) charging Hoffa’s cam-
paign with “false, defamatory and malicious statements and innuendo.”76 
The complaint claimed that Hoffa’s campaign literature falsely accused 
Carey of secretly holding $2 million in UPS stock (Carey admitted having 
inherited from his father an interest in some shares that were sold in 1992, 
but denied controlling them) and of improperly persuading an eighty-
eight-year-old woman to bequeath him the majority of her $395,000 es-
tate (Carey claimed that the woman, an old family friend, bequeathed 
the money voluntarily). Public-relations consultant and Hoffa campaign 
spokesman Richard Leebove called the libel suit “a political trick by Ron 
Carey to cover an embarrassing revelation about his financial ties to the 
Teamsters’ largest employer.”77 Carey withdrew the libel suit soon after the 
1996 election.

In early fall 1996, pursuant to an IRB recommendation, Carey imposed 
a trusteeship on Chicago IBT Local 714, headed by William Hogan, Jr., a 
powerful Hoffa ally and a vice presidential candidate on Hoffa’s slate.78 
Days later, without an IRB recommendation, Carey imposed a trustee-
ship on Akron, Ohio IBT Local 348 on the ground that its executive board 
was too polarized to conduct union business.79 Carey imposed an emer-
gency trusteeship on Philadelphia Local 107 after an IRB investigative 
report found that LCN figures were influencing the local; the IRB report 
also objected to that local’s employees receiving bonuses even though the 
local’s finances were declining. Local 107’s officers had allegedly failed to 
implement financial controls, misused union funds, assumed a mortgage 
without proper approval, and failed to hold monthly membership meet-
ings.80 Hoffa charged, “[Carey is] trying to steal the election by systemati-
cally eliminating key people who have the nerve and capacity to effectively 
oppose him.”81 A Philadelphia federal district court judge gave some cred-
ibility to Hoffa’s charge, enjoining the trusteeship because Carey had not 
held a hearing to determine whether there was an emergency.82 However, 
pursuant to Judge Edelstein’s All Writs Act decision, the Philadelphia judge 
transferred the case to Edelstein, who vacated the injunction.83

Carey raised $1.8 million in campaign contributions to Hoffa $1.3 mil-
lion. Carey received most of his contributions from Teamsters in the east, 
the south, and Canada. (He also received several large contributions from 
wealthy non-Teamsters.) Hoffa did best in the midwest, especially in 
Chicago, Detroit, and Kansas City. Fundraising in the west was more or 
less equal.
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EO Quindel tried to schedule a presidential debate, but Carey declined, 
saying he was too busy.84 Hoffa proposed that the convention delegates 
amend the IBT constitution to compel a presidential debate.85 Quindel ob-
tained an injunction from Judge Edelstein blocking this proposal on the 
ground that it infringed on the EO’s authority.86

The Vote

On December 10, 1996, the EO staff began counting the mail ballots. 
Opening, sorting, and counting took five days. Seventy Carey and Hoffa 
campaign observers monitored the count.87 Ballots from voters who were 
not on Quindel’s eligibility list would be counted later if, cumulatively, they 
could affect the election’s outcome. Ultimately, because most candidates’ 
margin of victory was smaller than the number of challenged ballots, those 
ballots had to be counted.88

On December 15, Quindel proclaimed Carey the victor by fifteen thou-
sand votes (52 percent to 48 percent).89 His running mates were also elected, 
except in the central region, which elected five international vice presiden-
tial candidates on Hoffa’s slate.90 EO Quindel rejected as “completely with-
out foundation” the Hoffa campaign’s charge that more than fifteen thou-
sand ballots had disappeared. Jere Nash, Carey’s campaign manager, said, 
“Now is the time for the Hoffa campaign to put the force of action behind 
their talk of unity and to gracefully accept their defeat as the result of a fair 
and democratic election.” Carey said, “This victory sends a message to ev-
ery mob boss in America: our treasury, our pension funds will never, ever 
again be used by organized crime in the form of a piggy bank.”91 Ken Paff 
declared, “[T]he back’s been broken on Mafia influence. The Mafia is los-
ing. We’re winning.”92 Hoffa called his near win an “amazing achievement”: 
“It sends a message to Ron Carey that he should listen to the members. 
This union is split down the middle and will continue that way unless he 
reaches out to those disenchanted people who voted against him.”93

Nullification of the 1996 Election

The 1996 election was over but not put to rest. In early December 1996, 
in the course of reviewing the Carey and Hoffa slates’ postelection cam-
paign contribution and expenditure reports, EO Quindel found several 
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suspiciously large donations to Teamsters for a Corruption Free Union 
(TCFU), a Carey campaign fundraising committee created late in the 
election cycle.94 In January 1997, after discovering more suspicious dona-
tions,95 she initiated an investigation that revealed a sophisticated scheme 
to funnel IBT funds into Carey’s reelection campaign by means of contri-
bution swaps.

The “Swap” Schemes

Quindel’s investigation revealed that, in early October 1996, Carey cam-
paign manager Jere Nash asked IBT Government Affairs Director William 
Hamilton to arrange for the IBT to make financial contributions to various 
political organizations; in return, wealthy friends of those organizations 
would donate equal amounts to Carey’s reelection campaign. Hamilton 
agreed. Nash also hired Martin Davis, a principal in the Washington, D.C. – ​
based political consulting firm November Group, to help raise money for 
Carey’s campaign. (During Carey’s 1991 general presidential campaign, and 
throughout his first term, the November Group provided public relations 
and political consulting services to Nash and Hamilton.)96 In turn, Davis 
recruited Michael Ansara, a principal in the Massachusetts-based tele-
marketing firm Share Group, to help raise funds for Carey. Ansara’s wife, 
Barbara Arnold, contributed $95,000 to the TCFU fundraising committee. 
The IBT then paid the Share Group $97,000, supposedly for consulting and 
lobbying services.97

The Hoffa campaign filed a postelection protest alleging that Share 
Group had done little or no work to justify the IBT’s $97,000 payment, 
that the $97,000 payment was actually a quid pro quo for Barbara Arnold’s 
$95,000 donation to the Carey campaign, and that Share Group then reim-
bursed Barbara Arnold.98 The Carey campaign denied the allegation, ex-
plaining that Arnold was “independently wealthy and donated the money 
[to Carey’s campaign] soon after coming into an inheritance.”99 The U.S. at-
torney’s office (SDNY) convened a grand jury to investigate whether these 
transactions amounted to illegal money laundering.100

Federal investigators focused on four other contributions that the IBT 
made to political organizations between mid-October and early November 
1996. First, the IBT donated $475,000 to Citizen Action, a consumer-ad-
vocacy organization. Then, at the request of Michael Ansara, a Citizen Ac-
tion fundraiser101 persuaded Citizen Action supporters to donate $100,000 
to Carey’s campaign.102 Second, in early November 1996, the IBT gave 
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$150,000 to the AFL-CIO, which then contributed a similar amount to 
Citizen Action, whose supporters then donated approximately $100,000 to 
the Carey campaign. Third, the IBT made a $175,000 contribution to Proj-
ect Vote, allegedly in exchange for donations to the Carey campaign from 
wealthy friends of that organization. Fourth, the IBT donated $85,000 to 
the National Council of Senior Citizens, allegedly in exchange for similar 
contributions to the Carey campaign from that organization’s friends.103 
These swap schemes amounted to embezzlement of IBT funds for the ben-
efit of Carey’s campaign.104 EO Quindel also discovered that a Washington, 
D.C., attorney, who was also an employer, arranged for a $16,000 donation 
to TCFU in violation of the election rules.

Federal investigators later uncovered still another Carey-campaign 
money-laundering scheme exposed by the Wall Street Journal in August 
1997 and reported by Time Magazine in October 1997.105 These media re-
ported that, in mid-1996, Martin Davis had proposed to a Democratic 
National Committee (DNC) fundraiser that the IBT donate $1 million to 
DNC’s state affiliates in return for the DNC arranging for its wealthy sup-
porters to contribute $100,000 to Carey’s reelection campaign.106 Allegedly 
in furtherance of this plan, the IBT donated $300,000 to Democratic Party 
organizations in at least thirty-five states,107 while DNC Finance Director 
Richard Sullivan instructed a DNC fundraiser to deliver to the Carey cam-
paign $100,000 that a Filipino donor had contributed to Vote Now ’96, a 
Democratic-leaning voter-registration organization. However, because the 
foreign donor was an employer, and thus barred by the IBT election rules 
from donating to a union candidate’s campaign, the fundraiser refused to 
consummate the deal. Time magazine called this “the most solid evidence 
yet that [Democratic] party officials actively participated in the scheme be-
fore it went bust.”108 (However, no DNC officials were charged.)

In June 1997, FBI agents arrested Martin Davis on charges of embez-
zling money from the IBT for the benefit of the Carey campaign.109 The 
New York Daily News reported that Davis had said in an affidavit, “The IBT 
knew of the plan and wanted it done this way.”110 That same month, Ansara 
pled guilty to conspiracy to commit money laundering.111 A month later, 
Bill Hamilton resigned his position as IBT government affairs director.112

The Election Officer’s Decisions

On August 22, 1997, EO Quindel issued her decision not to certify 
the 1996 international-officer election because the “complex network of 
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schemes to funnel .  .  . IBT funds into the Carey campaign .  .  . may have 
affected the outcome of the International officer election.”113 She charac-
terized the Carey campaign’s misconduct as “egregious violations by high 
level campaign functionaries who believed winning at all costs was more 
important than abiding by the 1996 Election Rules and the law.” Quindel 
ordered a new election for general president and other GEB positions.114 
However, she did not disqualify Carey from the rerun election because of 
insufficient evidence that Carey himself participated in or knew of the un-
lawful schemes.115 Still, Quindel noted that “important questions remain 
unanswered” and that Carey’s denial of knowingly approving the unlawful 
IBT expenditures was a “surprising statement in light of their size com-
pared to other IBT contributions in the same period.”116

Hoffa’s supporters criticized Quindel for not disqualifying Carey from 
the rerun election.117 Carey’s supporters attacked her for ordering a re-
run election and for ignoring alleged Hoffa campaign-finance violations. 
EAM Kenneth Conboy directed Quindel to “thoroughly and convincingly” 
investigate the Carey campaign’s allegations of Hoffa campaign-finance 
violations.118

On September 3, 1997, Quindel notified Judge Edelstein that she would 
resign after he approved the 1998 rerun-election rules.119 In the meantime, 
she opened a supplemental investigation into whether Carey should be 
disqualified from the rerun election. Among others, Quindel interviewed 
Martin Davis, who by then had pled guilty to participating in the Carey 
campaign-finance scheme. Among other things, Davis told Quindel that, 
in early 1997, he proposed to the executive director of the New Party, a 
liberal political party in Wisconsin, a contribution-swap scheme whereby 
the IBT would donate money to the New Party in exchange for the New 
Party’s finding a donor to repay some of Carey’s campaign debt.120 Quindel 
promptly recused herself from the supplemental investigation because she 
and her husband were members of the New Party.121 Judge Edelstein ap-
pointed labor lawyer Benetta Mansfield as Quindel’s interim successor and 
asked EAM Conboy to decide whether to disqualify Carey from the rerun 
election.122

On November 17, 1997, Conboy disqualified Carey from the rerun elec-
tion, based largely on Quindel’s report and on evidence provided by An-
sara, Nash, Davis, and Monian Simpkins (Carey’s executive assistant).123 
Conboy concluded that at least $735,000 of IBT funds had been used to 
obtain donations to the Carey campaign and that Carey must have played a 
role in at least some of the contribution swaps. Nash told investigators that 
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Carey had approved several swaps. For example, he said that he and Carey 
had discussed the possibility that Rich Trumka, the AFL-CIO’s secretary-
treasurer, and Andrew Stern, president of the Service Employees Inter-
national Union (SEIU), would provide fundraising assistance to Carey’s 
campaign. Nash also claimed that Carey approved the IBT’s $475,000 do-
nation to Citizen Action because it would help Martin Davis raise Carey 
campaign funds. Simpkins said that after Carey told her that he approved 
several Nash swap proposals, she signed Carey’s initials to various docu-
ments to indicate his approval.

Conboy concluded that even if Carey had a plausible explanation for 
each illegal swap, it was highly unlikely that he was innocent in every in-
stance. He did not find credible Carey’s claim not to recall authorizing any 
one of the four largest IBT political contributions. Although Conboy found 
it troubling to “disqualify[] a previously victorious candidate, to the evident 
impoverishment of the democratic process,” he concluded that because 
Carey had “tolerated and engaged in extensive rules violations in broad 
furtherance of his reelection campaign,” the upcoming election could not 
be free and fair with Carey participating in it.124

On November 24, 1997, a week after Carey’s disqualification from the 
rerun election, IBT General Counsel Earl Brown, Jr., signed an agreement 
with AUSA Karen Konigsberg providing for appointment of an accoun-
tant to audit IBT expenditures. The parties selected, and Judge Edelstein 
approved, Martin Levy, a certified public accountant, former FBI analyst, 
and expert in white-collar fraud, as independent financial auditor. Levy 
was authorized to

review any expenditure or proposed expenditure of IBT funds or trans-
fer of IBT property and to review any proposed contract entered into on 
behalf of the IBT (other than a collective bargaining agreement) and to 
veto any such expenditure, transfer or contract whenever the Independent 
Financial Auditor reasonably believes that such expenditures, transfer or 
contract would constitute or further an unlawful act or violation of the 
IBT Constitution or would otherwise constitute or further fraud or abuse 
of IBT funds or property.125

A Hoffa-campaign spokesperson called the appointment “an important 
step to protect what is left of the Teamsters treasury, which has been looted 
by Ron Carey,” but added that it was a “sign of the failure” of government 
monitoring.126 An IBT spokesperson said that the appointment of an audi-
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tor “was a good idea in that it would also assure our members that every-
thing was proper.”127 University of Michigan labor studies professor Mi-
chael Belzer noted that the IBT’s “[g]iving up that kind of authority to the 
government is a pretty strong admission that you don’t have your house in 
order.”128

Although Levy had authority to monitor and veto disbursements from 
the IBT treasury, he could not review IBT locals’ expenditures or IBT pen-
sion funds’ investments or, indeed, determine whether IBT expenditures 
had a bona fide business purpose. In 1998, Rep. Peter Hoekstra (R-Mich.) 
criticized Levy’s performance:

[Levy] is a CPA, not an auditor; he does not function as an auditor with 
regard to the IBT’s finances; he does not perform any investigatory func-
tion; he does not attempt to determine the “prudent business use” of any 
particular expenditures, and although the agreement under which he op-
erates appears to give him veto power over IBT expenditures, he has not 
come close to exercising that authority in the approximately six months 
he’s been on the job.129

The IBT established an internal audit committee to work with Levy on 
procedures to report rules violations and to prevent union officials from 
approving their own expenditures. (After four years, DOJ terminated 
Levy’s position, finding that the IBT had taken adequate steps to ensure the 
union’s financial integrity.)130

Hearings before the House Subcommittee on 
Oversight and Investigations

On August 26, 1997, Rep. Hoekstra, chairman of the House Subcommit-
tee on Oversight and Investigations, announced his intention to convene 
hearings on the invalidated 1996 election and the upcoming 1998 rerun 
election. The hearings had four purposes: (1) to inform Congress of how 
the federal government spent almost $20 million on the 1996 IBT election, 
where that money went, and why, at the end of the day, we were left with an 
election that could not be certified;131 (2) to determine how much money a 
rerun election would cost and who is going to pay for it;132 (3) to discover 
what really happened in the failed Teamsters election in 1996;133 and (4) to 
determine whether the botched 1996 election could happen again.134
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Hoekstra’s subcommittee’s hearings (October 14, 1997 to October 6, 
1998) sought to illuminate the 1996 campaign-finance scandal; the inaccu-
racy of the IBT’s financial disclosures to DOL; improper justifications for 
Carey-administration trusteeships; the implementation of the court-ap-
pointed officers’ disciplinary recommendations; the IBT’s political support 
of the DNC; and the conduct of the election officer, the IRB, and the in-
dependent financial auditor.135 Some congressional Democrats questioned 
whether Hoekstra had a political motive, perhaps to link the Democratic 
Party to the Carey money-laundering scandal. Rep. Patsy Mink (D-Ha-
waii), the ranking Democrat on Hoekstra’s subcommittee, called the pro-
posed hearings a “partisan event,” pointing out that Hoekstra had called as 
witnesses six Hoffa supporters but only one Carey supporter.136 Hoekstra 
criticized the IRB, the election officer, the independent financial auditor, 
DOJ, DOL, and the IBT’s international officers for failing to protect taxpay-
ers. He charged the Carey administration with failing to cooperate with the 
subcommittee’s investigation.137 He complained that IBT officials refused 
requests for interviews and requests for documents, ordered third parties 
(i.e., the accounting firm, the law firm, and other service providers hired 
by the IBT) not to provide documents, and redacted relevant information 
from documents that were provided. Hoekstra referred to the Carey ad-
ministration as “the bad old Carey days” and called corruption in the IBT 
“nothing short of mind-boggling.”138

In response to Hoekstra’s complaints about Carey’s stonewalling, the 
House of Representatives authorized the subcommittee to depose wit-
nesses under oath pursuant to order or subpoena without the presence of 
committee members.139 Consequently, the subcommittee deposed nearly 
two dozen witnesses, including EO Barbara Quindel, Independent Finan-
cial Auditor Martin Levy, and AFL-CIO President John Sweeney (see fig. 
7.1). Several potentially valuable witnesses, including AFL-CIO Secretary-
Treasurer Richard Trumka and IBT General President Ron Carey, notified 
the subcommittee that they would invoke their Fifth Amendment privilege 
not to testify.

In June 1998, eight months into the subcommittee’s investigation, Hoek
stra declared, “I do not see any way in which this Congress can or should 
ask the American people, the taxpayers, to bail out this union leadership 
one more time.”140 He predicted that the 1996 scandal “absolutely could 
happen again” because “the IBT’s counterfeit leadership is still in power 
with its hands at the controls of the Marble Palace”; “the government’s safe-
guards have not improved” since the 1996 election cycle; the IRB “chooses 
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Figure 7.1
Key Witnesses before the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations

	 Witness	 Date	 Summary of Testimony

Two rank and filers	 10-14-1997	 IRB failed to bring disciplinary charges against 
		  Carey supporters who assaulted them for 
		  speaking out at a local meeting.

International representative	 10-14-1997	 International officers threatened to fire him 
		  unless he made a financial contribution to the 
		  Carey campaign.

EO Michael Holland/	 10-15-1997	 Described the supervision, results, and costs 
EO Barbara Quindel 		  of the 1991 and 1996 elections. Quindel 
		  explained that the Carey campaign’s illegal 
		  campaign contribution swaps did not come to 
		  light until just before the 1996 general-election 
		  balloting.

Two former international	 3-26-1998	 Carey barred them from GEB meetings and 
trustees 		  thwarted their auditing because they had 
		  sounded warnings about the IBT’s precarious 
		  financial condition.

Court-Appointed IBT	 4-29-1998	 His job included neither questioning the 
Financial Auditor Martin Levy 		  business purpose of IBT expenditures nor 
		  auditing IBT pension funds.

EO Michael Cherkasky	 4-29-1998	 What his investigation of the Carey campaign’s 
		  fundraising violations found.

AFL-CIO President	 4-30-1998	 Defended the AFL-CIO, especially Secretary-
John Sweeney 		  Treasurer Richard Trumka, against allegations 
		  of contribution swaps with the IBT.

Independent IBT Auditor	 6-15-1998	 Not aware of a subordinate’s memorandum 
Stephen Leser 		  discussing IBT expenditures for the Carey 
		  campaign.

International Vice President/	 6-24-1998	 Did not recall that former White House 
EPC Administrator Aaron Belk 		  Counsel Charles Ruff had performed any work 
		  for IBT’s Ethical Practices Committee,
		  contradicting Ruff ’s statement that the IBT
		  hired him to advise the EPC.

Five IRB members and	 7-20-1998	 Their roles in investigating IBT corruption and 
employees 		  organized-crime influence

EO Michael Cherkasky	 9-29-1998	 The timetable, funding, and oversight of the 
		  1998 rerun election.

Mickey Kantor, former U.S.	 10-6-1998	 The Clinton administration’s effort to pressure
trade representative		  an IBT employer, Diamond Walnut Growers, to 
		  settle a strike with the IBT.
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to take a very narrow approach to its responsibility to monitor and super-
vise this historically troubled Union”; DOL’s financial reporting require-
ments for the IBT are “inadequate and do not provide meaningful infor-
mation to the IBT membership”; and the DOJ-appointed independent 
financial auditor “has chosen to function essentially as a bookkeeper [and] 
is a long way from the financial junkyard dog we were led to expect by [the 
Department of] Justice.”141 The subcommittee further criticized the IBT for 
having failed to create an internal inspector general’s office, a policies and 
procedures manual, and a budget, all three of which Frederick Lacey had 
previously recommended.142

Hoekstra admitted that placing the cost of the 1998 rerun election on 
the IBT was burdensome but called it preferable to burdening taxpayers: “I 
do not feel taxpayers should foot the bill for Teamster bosses’ [i.e., Carey’s] 
illegal conduct. I am not unmindful that by asking the IBT to pay for the 
re-election, I am also asking the rank and file Teamsters to pay. This is a 
Hobson’s choice.” In an obvious criticism of Carey and the liberal organiza-
tions that funneled money into his 1996 campaign, Hoekstra added, “What 
I would like to see is a reimbursement to the IBT from the people and orga-
nizations who caused the 1996 election to be thrown out.”143

Ron Carey Expelled and Indicted

On November 25, 1997, a week after Carey’s disqualification from the re-
run election, he took an unpaid leave of absence.144 General Secretary-
Treasurer Tom Sever took over as acting general president; the interna-
tional vice presidents kept their positions. A week later, Carey assured the 
audience at TDU’s annual convention that he had been unaware of the con-
tribution swaps: “If I had known that anything was improper, I would have 
stopped it dead in its tracks.”145 Carey asked the delegates to stand by him 
during his appeal of Conboy’s decision to disqualify him from the rerun 
election.146 However, Judge Edelstein and the Second Circuit Court of Ap-
peals rejected Carey’s due-process-based appeal on the ground that indi-
viduals have due process rights only against the government, not against 
private organizations such as the IBT (even though Carey was actually dis-
ciplined by a court-appointed officer acting pursuant to a court-approved 
consent decree).147 These courts also held that Carey could be disciplined 
without a full and fair hearing because his disqualification was remedial, 
not disciplinary.148
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On July 27, 1998, after a four-day hearing, the IRB expelled Carey from 
the IBT,149 concluding that he “lied about not knowing that [improper] 
contributions were made” to his campaign; that he “knew of the proposed 
contributions and approved them”; and that his claim to have “no memory 
of whether he did or did not approve any of these expenditures totaling 
$1,458,000 was less than credible given their size and their relation to the 
election which Carey believed to be of vital importance.”150 Judge Edel-
stein affirmed the expulsion, finding it “utterly incredible that Carey had 
no knowledge of contributions and loans that totaled $1,485,000.”151 Edel-
stein added, “[T]his court remains convinced that Carey, at the very least, 
turned a blind eye to the improper fundraising.”152

In August 1999, the IRB also expelled IBT Government Affairs Director 
William Hamilton because he “knowingly participated in the scheme in 
which IBT donations were made with the understanding that, in return, 
donations would be made to the Carey Campaign.”153 In other words, 
Hamilton had “knowingly used his union position to cause union dona-
tions to be made in return for contributions to the Carey campaign.”154 
Judge Edelstein affirmed.155 Three months later, a federal jury convicted 
Hamilton of fraud, conspiracy, embezzlement, and perjury.156

In January 2001, a Manhattan federal grand jury indicted Carey on five 
counts of violating the federal false-statement statute157 and two counts of 
violating the federal perjury statute.158 The indictment alleged that Carey 
had falsely denied that he and his top advisers and staffers communicated, 
via telephone and in writing, about monetary contributions from the IBT 
to certain political organizations, especially Citizen Action.159 Carey’s de-
fense lawyer, Reid Weingarten, stated, “We will contest these charges until 
[Carey] is fully vindicated. His proper place in history is as a hero of the 
labor movement.”160

Carey’s trial began on August 27, 2001 and lasted four weeks. The pros-
ecution’s most important witnesses were Jere Nash (Carey’s campaign 
manager), William Hamilton (the IBT’s government affairs director), and 
Monian Simpkins (Carey’s personal secretary). Nash testified that, in mid-
October 2006, he urged Carey to approve a $225,000 IBT contribution to 
Citizen Action because it would help Martin Davis raise money for Carey’s 
reelection campaign. Carey’s lawyers called Nash a “completely dishonest, 
untrustworthy, greedy, manipulative, little thief ” who was trying to curry 
favor with prosecutors in order to secure leniency for himself.161 (Nash 
faced up to twenty years in prison and a $2 million fine on his fraud con-
viction.) Hamilton testified that, in mid-October 2006, he and Carey spoke 
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about the second proposed ($250,000) IBT contribution to Citizen Action. 
Simpkins then testified that she and Carey had conferred about at least one 
of the IBT contributions to Citizen Action.162

Carey’s lawyers called only two witnesses. The first was the IBT’s outside 
counsel during the end of Carey’s first term. He testified that Simpkins told 
him that she approved certain IBT contributions without Carey’s permis-
sion. The second witness, a staffer in the general president’s office, testified 
that Carey played no role in the contribution swaps with Citizen Action. 
The jury deliberated for three days. On October 12, 2001, it acquitted Carey 
of all charges. (The IRB-imposed lifetime ban from IBT membership re-
mained in place.)163

Reactions to the Carey Scandal

It was difficult for those who had pinned their hopes for the IBT’s reform on 
Ron Carey to accept the startling turn of events.164 TDU praised Carey for 
“toppling mob rule in the Teamsters, becoming the International Union’s 
first democratically elected General President and using his influence to 
change the leadership and direction of the AFL-CIO.”*165 Many critics, in-
cluding local IBT officers, blamed Carey for embezzling money from the 
IBT treasury, committing election fraud, lying to the membership, and mis-
handling the union’s finances. A Washington Post reporter wrote that Car-
ey’s negligent, or perhaps deliberate, failure to prevent his campaign staff 
from laundering money threatened the entire labor movement’s “resur-
gence in both political power and public respect.”166 A New York Times edi-
torial stated, “So notorious is the Teamsters’ history of looting union funds 
for dubious purposes that Mr. Carey had a special duty to be vigilant.”167

Conclusion and Analysis

Ron Carey’s disqualification from the 1998 rerun election and his subse-
quent expulsion from the union marked a rare instance in which both the 

* Ron Carey died of lung cancer at age seventy-two on December 11, 2008. His New York Times 
obituary noted his reputation for “being clean” and for “delivering at the bargaining table,” as well 
as his insistence that he was unaware of the unlawful conduct at the heart of the campaign-finance 
scandal that led to his expulsion from the union. Steven Greenhouse, Ron Carey, Who Led Team-
sters Reforms, Dies at 72, New York Times, Dec. 13, 2008.
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electoral and disciplinary prongs of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree con-
verged. (The IRB typically does not handle cases of alleged election-related 
misconduct; the EO has authority to adjudicate those cases.) The consent 
decree facilitated Carey’s rise and dictated his fall. Its election machinery 
empowered the rank and file to vote for Carey without fear of retribution 
and provided the rules, oversight, investigative resources, and independent 
monitoring that exposed Carey’s misconduct and required his punishment. 
In upholding Carey’s disqualification, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals 
observed,

We recognize the irony, indeed the poignancy, of this case in which a union 
leader, long pledged to internal reform, should be held accountable for cor-
rupt practices. But the law requires no less. Union democracy, after all, is 
premised on fair elections. To that end, union officials such as Carey have 
a duty to ensure the integrity of that process and to fulfill their obligations 
to union members by adhering to the highest standards of governance.168

On the one hand, the contribution-swap scandal that led to the nullifi-
cation of the 1996 election and to Carey’s expulsion from the IBT places a 
question mark over the election-reform prong of the consent decree. That 
the Carey campaign embezzled and laundered well over $500,000 of Team-
sters’ dues money to fund Carey’s reelection bid casts significant doubt on 
DOJ’s expectation, at the outset of the case, that direct rank-and-file elec-
tions would produce an IBT leadership committed to creating a culture of 
accountability and integrity. Although the architects and enforcers of the 
consent decree were undoubtedly disappointed that a free and fair election 
in 1991 did not produce an incorruptible union administration, they should 
not have been surprised. Countless politicians, claiming to be anticorrup-
tion reformers, have been elected to public office in the United States and 
throughout the world, only to be exposed later as having engaged in gross 
corruption once in power (e.g., Rod Blagojevich in Illinois and Hamid Kar-
zai in Afghanistan). No system of election supervision, no matter how well 
funded and well run, can guarantee that all candidates, once in office, will 
not become corrupt. As sociologists Seymour Lipset, Martin Trow, and 
James Coleman observed in their landmark 1956 study of union democ-
racy, “In those cases where an entrenched oligarchy was finally dislodged, 
the new leaders soon reverted to the same tactics as they had denounced 
in the old in order to guarantee their own permanent tenure in office and 
reduce or eliminate opposition.”169
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DOJ’s lawyers probably did not expect that U.S. v. IBT would eradicate 
all corruption. (Indeed, establishment of the IRB assumed that there would 
be continuing corruption that needed to be ferreted out.) Giuliani’s team 
was primarily focused on ridding the IBT of organized crime’s presence and 
influence. With respect to that goal, the consent decree’s election-reform 
prong was successful; in neither 1991 nor 1996 did an organized-crime fac-
tion or known organized-crime figures compete for international-union 
office. Furthermore, nullification of the 1996 election was arguably an im-
portant affirmation of the effectiveness of the consent decree’s election-
reform prong because the monitoring process worked. The election offi-
cers uncovered corruption of the election process and removed the corrupt 
candidates.

The Carey-campaign swap scandal illuminates the enormous impor-
tance of money in IBT politics. While the need to amass campaign funds 
is a much-discussed problem in American politics and governance, its role 
in union and other organizational politics has drawn little attention. This 
is not surprising, since almost all unions choose their national leaders at 
conventions attended by local-union officials. That kind of selection proce-
dure does not require campaign financing, but it also makes it practically 
impossible for an insurgent to win. It costs hundreds of thousands of dol-
lars to send a single mailing to every eligible Teamster voter and tens of 
thousands of dollars to travel the country, barnstorming from work site to 
work site. Even if, in a free and fair election, union members would vote for 
honest candidates and against crooks, it takes a great deal of money to per-
suade the electorate that you are honest and that your opponent is corrupt; 
this is especially true when, as is almost always the case, your opponent 
is making the reverse argument. An insurgent candidate, whose name is 
not well known and who has practically no fundraising base, has almost 
no chance of mounting a serious challenge to an incumbent whose name 
and photo dominate union publications and who has extensive patronage 
to dispense. Although the Internet is a low-cost method for communicat-
ing with the rank and file, there is no comprehensive list of IBT members’ 
email addresses, and many Teamsters do not use or do not regularly check 
email. Although candidates can post information to websites, members 
will not see that information unless they actively search for it.

The IBT’s 1996 election makes clear that a major union’s election takes 
place within a larger political context. The IBT and other unions are impor-
tant actors in U.S. politics. The IBT seeks to influence legislation and gov-
ernment policy on numerous issues; politicians desire the IBT’s endorse
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ment and monetary contributions. (Over the past decade, the Teamsters 
Union has contributed nearly $27 million to the Democrats.) For this rea-
son, various liberal organizations, and the DNC itself, saw advantage in en-
gaging in contribution swaps with the Carey campaign.

Carey’s fundraising scandal almost certainly would not have happened 
had the election rules prohibited all non-Teamsters from contributing to 
candidates’ campaigns. Although the extant election rules prohibited cer-
tain non-Teamsters, such as employers, from donating money to Teamsters 
campaigns, it allowed other outsiders to contribute. Outside donors were 
the conduits through which the Carey campaign laundered hundreds of 
thousands of dollars from the IBT treasury into Carey’s campaign coffers. 
In hindsight, the election rules’ failure to prohibit campaign contributions 
from all non-Teamsters created a serious corruption hazard.
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The 1998 Rerun Election and 
the Emerging Dominance of 
James P. Hoffa

The sinister forces of corruption have again found a way to ham-
per the IBT’s progress toward a democratic union. An honest, fair 
and informed [rerun] election is of paramount importance as this 
union continues on its path to rid itself of the remains of corruption 
and deceit.1� ​ — ​Judge David Edelstein, September 29, 1997

The Teamster members have spoken. This victory today is a vic-
tory for the 1.4 million members of the Teamsters Union. The Hoffa 
Unity Slate has won this [1998 rerun] election. . . . Despite wild and 
baseless charges by my political opponents, here I stand today duly 
elected the general president of the Teamsters Union.

 ​— ​James P. Hoffa, remarks at the National Press Club, 
December 12, 1998

The question that everybody, Members of the Committee, the U.S. 
Attorney, the FBI, the Department of Justice, would like to ask is 
are the Teamsters serious about the [Hoffa administration’s] anti
corruption program [Project RISE]? Are they serious about pro-
tecting the membership from exploitation by racketeers? I am here 
to tell you that for 6 months I have been working full time on this 
project. The answer is absolutely, unqualifiedly yes. Without hesita-
tion I can tell you that Jim Hoffa is committed to this effort without 
any reservation.

 ​— ​Edwin Stier, special counsel to Project RISE, testimony 
before the House Committee on Education and the Workforce, 

Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, March 28, 2000
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On August 21, 1997, the same day EO Quindel nullified the 1996 
election, she submitted a proposed rerun-election plan to Judge Edelstein. 
Candidates who had received 5 percent of the delegates’ votes at the 1996 
convention would automatically be placed on the 1998 general-election 
ballot. The 1996 convention delegates could also make supplemental mail-
in nominations, but the 5 percent criterion was still applicable. Candidates 
who were members of slates in the invalidated 1996 election could not 
switch slates in the rerun election.

Aiming to further level the election playing field, the rules for the 1998 
rerun election included campaign contribution caps. Candidates them-
selves could contribute no more than $5,000 to their own campaigns; other 
Teamsters could contribute no more than $1,000 in total to all candidates.2 
Not surprisingly, given the 1996 campaign contribution-swap schemes, 
the rerun election rules prohibited all non-Teamsters from contributing to 
candidates’ campaigns. The rules also beefed up campaign-contribution re-
porting requirements. Candidates and slates would have to report all con-
tributions, disclose the names of their vendors and contractors, and submit 
more frequent campaign contribution and expenditure reports to the EO’s 
office. To limit the advantage that extensive Teamster Magazine coverage 
provides incumbents, the magazine would have to suspend regular publi-
cation eight weeks before balloting. It would also have to publish a special 
issue carrying, for no charge, candidates’ battle pages.

After Quindel’s resignation became effective at the end of September 
1997, Judge Edelstein appointed Michael Cherkasky, a former NYC pros-
ecutor and CEO of an international private investigations firm, to serve as 
EO for the 1998 rerun election. Edelstein acceded to Cherkasky’s request 
that the election be put off until Cherkasky finished investigating possible 
Hoffa-slate 1996 campaign-finance violations.3

In April 1998, Cherkasky announced that the 1996 Hoffa campaign had 
committed several violations.4 First, two vendors improperly contributed 
over $167,000 to the Hoffa campaign by grossly underbilling for their work. 
Second, the Hoffa campaign failed to report $44,000 in cash contribu-
tions. Third, a Hoffa-slate vice presidential candidate, Thomas O’Donnell, 
concealed the employment of an ex-felon. (The IRB later recommended 
that the IBT charge O’Donnell with filing false campaign contribution and 
expenditure reports. Finding the IBT’s response to that recommendation 
inadequate, the IRB convened a de novo hearing at which it found O’Don
nell culpable and imposed a nine-month suspension from the IBT.)5 De-
spite these violations, Cherkasky did not disqualify Hoffa from the rerun 
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election because his violations lacked the “hallmarks” that had resulted in 
Ron Carey’s disqualification: personal knowledge, intentional misconduct, 
and abuse of official authority. Instead, he fined the Hoffa slate 10 percent 
of the improper contributions and barred the underbilling vendors from 
contracting with any IBT candidate’s campaign or independent election 
committee.6 Judge Edelstein called the Hoffa campaign’s violations a “de-
liberate attempt to mislead the IBT members”7 but affirmed Cherkasky’s 
decision because the EO’s “primary role is not to punish election miscon-
duct, but to protect the election process from the effect of misconduct.”8 He 
did, however, increase the Hoffa slate’s fine to $167,000, the full amount of 
the vendors’ illegal campaign contributions.9

The Controversy over Financing the 1998 Rerun Election

The question of who would pay the cost of supervising the 1998 election 
generated heated controversy. DOJ argued that the IBT should bear the ex-
pense.10 Objecting, the IBT insisted that the government should pay since 
the 1998 election would be a rerun of the 1996 election, the expense for 
which DOJ was responsible.11 Judge Edelstein held that “[t]he time has 
come when the IBT must bear its own costs for cleansing its Augean stable. 
In plainer words, they made the mess. It is their job to clean it up at any 
price.”12 A divided Second Circuit Court of Appeals panel reversed, hold-
ing that the IBT should not have to bear the expense because it was the 
victim, not the perpetrator, of the Carey campaign’s embezzlement and il-
legal campaign swaps: “If the government chooses to supervise the 1996 
election, of which the rerun is conceded to be a part, the government must 
bear the cost.”13

This ruling caused major uncertainty. There was no guarantee that Con-
gress would appropriate the necessary funds. Indeed, because of the mil-
lions of taxpayer dollars wasted on the invalidated 1996 election, Congress 
added to the 1998 Department of Justice Appropriations Act and the 1998 
Department of Labor Appropriations Act prohibitions on DOJ and DOL 
using funds to supervise an IBT rerun election.14 A subsequent appropria-
tions bill required the IBT to reimburse the government for any taxpayer 
money an EO might spend on supervising a 1998 election.15 Senator Judd 
Gregg (R-N.H.), chairman of the Senate appropriations panel that deter-
mined DOJ’s budget, rhetorically asked, “Why should the taxpayers of this 
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country be asked to pay for the cost of overseeing a union election? It is 
inconceivable. It is inappropriate. It makes no sense.”16

By the summer of 1998, with the dispute over funding the rerun election 
still unresolved, Cherkasky used the approximately $1 million in restitution 
from the three Carey-campaign defendants (Nash, Davis, and Ansara) and 
the November Group to cover the cost of soliciting supplemental nomi-
nations and counting the nominations’ mail ballots. However, Cherkasky 
lacked sufficient funds to print and mail 1.4 million general-election bal-
lots, rent office space for counting those ballots, or compensate five hun-
dred temporary election-office employees. By the end of June, with just 
$750,000 remaining,17 he asked Judge Edelstein to order either the govern-
ment or the IBT to provide the necessary funds.18

Representative Peter Hoekstra (R-Mich.), chairman of the House Sub-
committee on Oversight and Investigations, adamantly opposed using tax-
payer money to supervise another IBT election. At a June 16, 1998 subcom-
mittee hearing, he said, “I do not see any way in which this Congress can 
or should ask the American people, the taxpayers, to bail out this union 
leadership one more time.”19 Representative Patsy Mink (D-Hawaii), the 
ranking Democrat on Hoekstra’s committee, warned, “To allow this one to 
go forward without any supervision is really chancing it, and the Repub-
licans will have to bear responsibility if anything goes wrong.”20 In early 
August, Hoekstra and the IBT agreed to a compromise.21 The government 
would give the IBT $4 million to reimburse the union for IRB-related ex-
penses, rather than for election expenses. In turn, the IBT would contrib-
ute an equal amount to the EO’s rerun-election budget.22 This formalistic 
solution allowed Hoekstra to claim that Congress would not use taxpayer 
money to pay for supervision of the rerun election.

The IBT initially agreed to contribute between $2 million and $3 million 
to supervise the rerun. However, at the last minute, it reneged, pointing 
to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals’ decision that had labeled the IBT 
the victim of the 1996 election debacle. An infuriated eighty-eight-year-old 
Judge Edelstein said that, if he could, he would hold everyone involved in 
contempt of court. He ordered the GEB, by September 4, 2008, to vote up 
or down on whether the IBT would help fund the 1998 election supervision.

On August 30, five days before Edelstein’s deadline, the GEB voted to al-
locate $2 million to the rerun election.23 When added to the government’s 
$4 million contribution, Cherkasky would have $6 million to conduct an 
election that he estimated would cost $8.6 million. (The EOs spent between 
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$17 million and $20 million on each of the 1991 and 1996 elections. How-
ever, for the 1998 election, Cherkasky would not have to allocate money for 
delegate elections or a convention.) He started up the election machinery.

The Candidates and Their Campaigns

Both Tom Leedham, head of the IBT’s 250,000-member Warehouse Di-
vision and TDU’s endorsed candidate, and John Metz, head of the IBT’s 
Public Employees Division and president of St. Louis IBT Joint Council 
13, obtained the necessary number of delegates’ votes to earn places on 
the general-election ballot. Hoffa’s eligibility was guaranteed by dint of his 
nomination at the 1996 convention.*

Leedham claimed the reformer’s mantel. He promised to carry on 
Carey’s legacy, observing that Carey “rooted out the mob from the union,” 
and to continue implementing the goals of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree.24 
“We want to carry through with the reforms, but we think reform has to 
come a lot faster and go a lot further.”25

Hoffa also called himself a reformer and anticorruption candidate. 
However, the corruption he denounced was Ron Carey’s, not LCN’s. At 
every opportunity, he linked Leedham to the “corrupt Carey.” He prom-
ised to establish an “FBI-caliber independent ethics committee” to replace 
the Carey administration’s EPC.26 Hoffa was, by far, the most successful 
fundraiser, raising twenty times more money than Leedham, who was late 
in entering the time-compressed 1998 rerun election and had little time to 
fundraise.27 Metz raised even less money than Leedham.

Metz also stressed his anticorruption commitment. He sought to link 
Hoffa to the IBT’s racketeering history, accusing him of associating with 
mobsters and corrupt Teamsters. One Metz campaign ad in Teamster 
Magazine attacked Hoffa’s lack of experience as a working Teamster by 

* Ron Carey and TDU initially endorsed general presidential candidate Ken Hall, head of the 
IBT’s 220,000-member Small Package Division. Hall had worked closely with Ron Carey on the 
successful 1997 strike against UPS. However, six weeks after announcing his candidacy, citing a 
serious eye condition, Hall withdrew from the race. (In the 2001 and 2006 elections, Hall success-
fully ran as a vice presidential candidate on the Hoffa slate. In the 2011 election, Hall is running for 
general secretary-treasurer on Hoffa’s slate.) Steven Greenhouse, Teamsters Group Backs Reform 
Candidate for Union’s President, New York Times, Apr. 9, 1998, at A23; Kenneth C. Crowe, Carey 
Backing Hall to Head Teamsters, Newsday, Apr. 6, 1998, at A22. Sam Theodus, who in 1996 had 
defected from Carey’s slate to run as an international vice president on Hoffa’s slate, also sought 
a place on the 1998 rerun-election ballot, but failed to obtain enough delegate-nominating votes.
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depicting him as a person “Wanted for Impersonating a Union Official.”28 
Metz received endorsements from several powerful east coast Teamsters 
leaders, including John Morris, the Pennsylvania Conference of Teamsters 
president and a vice presidential candidate on Metz’s slate. The integrity of 
Metz’s slate was undermined by EO Cherkasky’s findings that Tom Sever, 
the general secretary-treasurer candidate on Metz’s slate (and the IBT’s act-
ing general president following Carey’s expulsion), had retaliated against 
several international officers who refused to endorse Metz.29

The 1998 Election Result

A total of 365,000 Teamsters mailed in their ballots in the rerun election. 
Hoffa received 55 percent of the vote, Leedham 39 percent, and Metz 6 per-
cent.30 In the southern region, the margin between the first- and second-
place candidates was 1,003 votes out of nearly 28,000; in the western re-
gion, the margin was 5,241 out of approximately 68,000; and in Canada, 
Hoffa’s margin of victory was 1,772 votes. It was a convincing, if not over-
whelming, victory for Hoffa and his slate.

Cherkasky resolved over four hundred election protests alleging misuse 
of union resources, campaign-finance violations, and ineligible voters. The 
highest-profile election protest involved an allegation that J.D. Potter, who 
successfully ran for international vice president on Hoffa’s slate, had con-
tributed $10,000 (double the permissible maximum) to Hoffa’s campaign. 
The EO and IRB confirmed this violation and also that Potter had testified 
falsely to conceal it. Consequently, Cherkasky refused to certify Potter’s 
election and ordered a rerun of the rerun election for the southern region’s 
international vice presidency. Another Hoffa supporter was elected.

Some of the media that reported the rerun election results linked Hoffa’s 
victory to his father’s notoriety. The Chicago Tribune stated that Jim Hoffa 
“owes his election as president of the International Brotherhood of Team-
sters largely to the fact that he is Jimmy Hoffa’s son. After all these years, 
the Hoffa name is still legendary in labor circles.”31 The Baltimore Sun com-
mented, “Hoffa will do his surname and his union a favor by ending what 
his late father began. .  .  . To escape the public’s distrust and federal over-
sight of his union, Mr. Hoffa must prove convincingly that the union has 
freed itself of all links to organized crime.”32 The New York Times predicted 
that Hoffa’s victory would “make him one of the United States’ most promi-
nent and powerful union leaders.”33
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Hoffa’s Anticorruption Agenda: Project RISE *

Jim Hoffa took office promising to combat corruption and racketeering: 
“The mob killed my father. They’re never going to come back to this 
union.”34 He also reiterated his campaign pledge to obtain termination 
of the consent decree.35 Toward that end, in July 1999, he announced the 
establishment of Project RISE (respect, integrity, strength, and ethics), 
an anticorruption initiative designed to persuade DOJ and Judge Edel-
stein that the IBT could and would police itself, thereby rendering the IRB 
unnecessary.36

To lead Project RISE, Hoffa appointed Edwin Stier, formerly chief of 
the criminal division of the U.S. attorney’s office in New Jersey and sub-
sequently director of the New Jersey Division of Criminal Justice. As the 
court-appointed trustee in U.S. v. IBT Local 560, Stier had succeeded, over 
the course of twelve years, in reforming one of the most organized-crime-
ridden union locals in the country.37 On July 28, 1999, the GEB formally 
approved Project RISE38 and praised Stier’s capacity to “assist the IBT in 
assuring that it is fully capable of protecting its membership and the public 
from exploitation of the union by organized crime and corrupt officials.”39 
IBT General Counsel Patrick J. Szymanski sent a letter to the chief of the 
FBI’s Organized Crime and Drug Operations Section stating that the IBT’s 
leaders were “personally and irrevocably dedicated” to ridding the union 
of “any remaining vestiges” of organized crime.40 Stier put his reputation 
behind RISE, insisting that Jim Hoffa and the other GEB members were 
“committed to running a clean union.”41 He called RISE “fundamentally 
different” from anything that any union had attempted in the past.42 “We’re 
trying to create a culture in which the union itself will purge all effects of 
organized crime.”43

Stier pursued three strategies. First, he and Hoffa appointed a task force 
of local IBT officers to draft an ethics code and enforcement mechanism 
that would provide the legal basis and organizational machinery for inves-
tigating and adjudicating IBT disciplinary violations. He and Hoffa hoped 
that a credible ethics code and effective enforcement mechanism would 
persuade the U.S. attorney that the IRB could be phased out. Stier chose 
Harris Hartz, formerly a New Mexico Supreme Court judge and, before 
that, head of the New Mexico Organized Crime Prevention Task Force, to 

* This section draws on James B. Jacobs & Ryan P. Alford, The Teamsters’ Rocky Road to Recov-
ery: The Demise of Project RISE, 9 Trends in Organized Crime 15 (2005).
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chair the drafting committee.44 Hoffa appointed twenty-two local IBT of-
ficials, balanced by geography, race, and gender, as committee members.45 
One was a prominent TDU member.

Project RISE’s second prong was a comprehensive investigation of or-
ganized crime’s influence in the IBT. To lead that investigation, Stier hired 
James Kossler, a retired FBI agent who was previously in charge of the FBI’s 
NYC office’s organized-crime-control unit. Kossler employed retired FBI 
agents to investigate possible organized-crime influences in every IBT lo-
cal that had ever been the subject of allegations of Cosa Nostra infiltration.

Third, Stier assigned his law-firm partner, former New Jersey Deputy 
Attorney General Howard Anderson, to research and write a history of the 
IBT’s relationship with Cosa Nostra. This history would, in part, aim to 
persuade the U.S. attorney that the forces that had previously facilitated 
and sustained LCN’s infiltration and exploitation of the IBT were no lon-
ger operating. Finally, Stier appointed an eleven-member advisory board 
of professors* and former prosecutors to monitor Project RISE’s initiatives 
and make suggestions.46

Some observers were skeptical of RISE. New York Times labor journal-
ist Steven Greenhouse reported that “some labor relations experts question 
whether Mr. Hoffa might be appointing Mr. Stier less to clean up the union 
than to impress the Government with his plan to put in place his own anti-
corruption program” in order to persuade DOJ to agree to dismantle the 
IRB.47 AUD founder Herman Benson declared that “for Hoffa, the RISE 
program was obviously not intended to implement an anti-corruption pro-
gram, but only to serve as a public relations ploy to get the government 
out.”48 Ron Teninty, the only TDU member on the ethics-code drafting 
committee, stated, “[T]he purpose of RISE is geared more toward getting 
the government out of our union than it is toward changing its culture and 
integrity.”49 Richard Hurd, a Cornell University professor of labor relations, 
asked (presciently, as it turned out) “whether Mr. Hoffa might someday fire 
Mr. Stier, the way President Richard M. Nixon once fired special prosecu-
tor Archibald Cox, if Mr. Stier’s anti-corruption mechanism targets Mr. 
Hoffa or his close allies.”50

On March 28, 2000, the House Subcommittee on Oversight and Inves-
tigations held a hearing on Project RISE. IBT General President Jim Hoffa, 
IBT General Counsel Pat Szymanski, and Edwin Stier all vouched for its 
bona fides. Calling RISE “tremendously ambitious,” Hoffa promised that 

* One of this book’s authors, James Jacobs, served on this advisory board.
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it would keep the union free of improper outside influences. He praised 
Stier as “a man who was very successful in making sure that our Teamster 
Local 560 came out of trusteeship, [and he] is going to help us do the very 
same thing with regard to the International Brotherhood of Teamsters.”51 
Stier told the subcommittee that he was “extraordinarily impressed by the 
honesty and commitment of Mr. Hoffa [and] the other officers of the Inter-
national Union . . . who have contributed so much to this effort” and that 
he was confident RISE would be successful. Moreover, he promised to quit 
if he came to doubt the Hoffa administration’s commitment to eradicating 
corruption.52 Subcommittee Chairman Hoekstra concluded that “the new 
leadership in the IBT seems to be doing its part to prevent a recurrence of 
[organized crime in the union].”53

The Ethics Code and Enforcement Machinery

The ethics-code drafting committee met nine times between June 2000 
and March 2001.54 Harris Hartz did the actual drafting; the committee 
members debated, amended, and voted on each provision. Various RISE 
advisory board members attended some or all of the meetings. Each draft 
was sent to the IRB and to the U.S. attorney for review and comment. On 
its face, the code-drafting process was an impressive exercise in partici-
patory union democracy. However, TDU’s leaders suspected that, behind 
the scenes, high-ranking IBT officials were influencing some committee 
members. Support for that suspicion surfaced at the last drafting session, 
held in Dallas, Texas, on May 5, 2001, when the IBT’s general counsel, who 
had not previously attended any drafting sessions or provided comments 
on any drafts, brought to the committee table an alternative draft of the 
entire ethics code. Without protest or dissent, the committee put aside 
months of work to examine this new proposal. When the advisory board 
members strenuously protested, the IBT general counsel withdrew the sub-
stitute draft.

The final draft was a twenty-thousand-word document consisting of an 
introductory section containing a preamble and affirmation of “Teamster 
core values”; a section on the basic principles underlying the code; and 
three substantive chapters devoted, respectively, to fiduciary duties, dem-
ocratic practices, and compliance and enforcement. The preamble stated 
that the code’s purpose was “to keep organized crime and other forms of 
corruption out of the union” and that violation of the code’s rules consti-
tuted a disciplinary offense punishable by a range of sanctions, including 
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expulsion from the union.55 The code’s substantive chapters set out govern-
ing procedures for IBT locals, defined IBT officers’ fiduciary duties, and 
proscribed ethical violations.56 Some of the code’s provisions tracked fed-
eral labor law. For example, like the Taft-Hartley Act, the code prohibited 
sham contracts,57 kickbacks,58 and loans and gifts of union property.59 Like 
ERISA, the code prohibited benefit-plan fraud.60 Like the LMRDA, the 
code required union officers to use union money and property solely for 
the benefit of union members.

The code’s most controversial provision granted the GEB ultimate au-
thority to decide whether to impose discipline and, if so, to determine the 
sanction.61 AUD’s Herman Benson called the absence of an independent 
enforcement body a “fatal flaw”:

Despite its hope chest of good intentions and its endorsement of a mother-
hood code of morality, the program depends for enforcement on the Hoffa 
machine itself. Hoffa and his general executive board exercise veto power 
over the selection of all enforcement personnel, who can only advise and 
propose while Hoffa disposes; for he and his board retain the authority 
to ignore the findings and recommendations of the very trial bodies they 
have dominated.62

TDU dismissed the code because it “pretends to give members rights 
they already have in law or through our court victories”63 and is “entirely si-
lent” about local-union elections, “perfunctory” with respect to free speech 
rights, and “narrow” with respect to officers’ fiduciary duties.64 TDU added 
that the code fails to specify penalties for intentional, reckless, or willful 
misconduct and does not treat racial and gender discrimination as pun-
ishable.65 TDU sharply criticized the absence of independent investigatory 
and adjudicatory machinery.66 “The enforcement machinery is thus highly 
vulnerable to the coercive pressures of members who are targets of investi-
gations . . . who hold positions of power within the Union, and may there-
fore retaliate against hearing panel members, investigatory staff, and ethics 
officers upon expiration of their terms.”67 Ron Teninty said,

The culture of our union will not change as a result of the code. Almost 
all of the code, thus far, existed in one form or another prior to govern-
ment intervention. .  .  . The majority of the [code-drafting] task-force 
members rejected proposals to include rules related to use of members’ 
money for excessive and multiple salaries, pensions and perks. The same 
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for nepotism, elected stewards, elected bargaining committees and secret-
ballot votes on mergers of local unions.68

General President Hoffa reneged on his promise to submit the final 
draft of the ethics code to the IBT membership for approval.69 Instead, he 
asked the GEB to approve a code-adoption process. The GEB resolved that 
the proposed code should not be adopted until the IRB was terminated. At 
the 2001 IBT convention, the delegates approved that resolution.70 (Stier 
continued to press for the code’s adoption until he resigned.)

Investigating Cosa Nostra’s Influence over IBT Locals and 
Joint Councils

James Kossler’s team investigated eighty IBT locals that LCN had al-
legedly infiltrated or influenced at any point in the past and presented the 
findings in two reports, one public and the other confidential. The public 
report sorted the eighty locals into three categories. Category A consisted 
of forty-nine locals “where there is no demonstrable [current] evidence of 
organized crime or influence, and where present conditions suggest that 
infiltration by organized crime will be highly unlikely.” Category B con-
sisted of sixteen locals judged to have had no remaining organized-crime 
presence or influence, but which nevertheless “warrant increased vigilance 
because these conditions could develop into an environment hospitable 
to continued efforts by organized crime to gain control or influence.” Cat-
egory C consisted of fifteen locals “where there is demonstrable evidence 
of suspected organized crime control, influence, or presence, evidence of 
criminal conduct, or an ongoing [organized-crime-related] IBT [i.e., Proj-
ect RISE] investigation.”71

Stier believed it to be essential for Project RISE (as the IBT’s disciplinary 
unit) to prove its capacity to conduct disciplinary investigations. Conse-
quently, Kossler initiated investigations of several locals not already under 
scrutiny by the IRB, the FBI, or DOL. In 2001, he uncovered LCN activity 
in several locals. For example, he identified a member of Queens, New York 
IBT Local 295 as a Lucchese crime family soldier. Stier passed this informa-
tion on to the IRB, which subsequently brought disciplinary charges that 
led to the individual’s resignation. Kossler also identified LCN-connected 
pension-fund embezzlement in Miami IBT Local 390 and LCN-connected 
bribery of local Philadelphia government officials by IBT Local 107 offi-
cers. Additionally, he and his staff uncovered contacts between a Genovese 
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crime family member and International Vice President Donato DeSanti 
(who also served as president of North Brunswick, New Jersey IBT Local 
701).72 Based on this evidence, the Hoffa administration charged DeSanti 
with bringing reproach upon the union.73 DeSanti agreed to expulsion 
from the union.74

Project RISE’s Report on the History of  
LCN Influence in the IBT

RISE’s history of LCN’s infiltration and exploitation of the IBT was pre-
sented in a 641-page report, The Teamsters: Perception and Reality: An In-
vestigative Study of Organized Crime Influence in the Union. Its thesis was 
that the factors that had facilitated labor racketeering in the early years of 
the IBT ​— ​employees’ need for “muscle” to defend against company thugs, 
powerful organized-crime families operating across the United States, the 
absence of significant law-enforcement opposition to organized crime, the 
decentralized organization of the union ​— ​had substantially changed. Stier 
and Anderson concluded that the current leaders of the union were firmly 
committed to opposing racketeering.

The report made no secret of its ambition to persuade DOJ and the 
court to terminate the consent decree:

There are several reasons why it is important to address the reality under-
lying the longstanding perception that the Teamsters have been and still 
are controlled by organized crime. First, since the early 1980s, alleged or-
ganized crime domination of the Teamsters has been used to justify plac-
ing certain Teamster locals under government-supervised trusteeships 
and, beginning in 1989, subjecting the entire IBT to a government moni-
toring program. This report, it is hoped, will help the appropriate law en-
forcement agencies, as well as interested members of the public and their 
elected representatives, determine whether and to what extent such moni-
toring is currently necessary.

Second, in 1999, shortly after James P. Hoffa became the president of 
the International Brotherhood of Teamsters, the Teamsters embarked 
upon Project RISE, an ambitious program of internal reform study and 
reform designed to root out and prevent recurrence of any racketeer infil-
tration of the union. Understanding the nature and history of the Team-
sters’ relationship with organized crime and the actual mechanisms used 
by racketeers to infiltrate the union is an integral part of the reform effort.
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The most important reason for conducting the organized crime study 
and submitting this report, however, is to render an accounting to the 1.4 
million Teamsters members who for more than a generation have been 
stereotyped by the union’s organized crime legacy and by a one-sided pub-
lic image that has been shaped almost entirely by outsiders. Beginning with 
the widely publicized McClellan Committee hearings of the late 1950s, 
congressional investigators, law enforcement agencies, and journalists 
covering Teamster-related scandals have been the chief contributors to the 
public record concerning Teamster involvement with organized crime.75

Perception and Reality emphasized the IBT’s commitment to antiracketeer-
ing reforms and observed that Project RISE compared favorably with most 
U.S. corporations’ internal compliance units.76 It concluded that “the days 
of domination and significant infiltration of the Teamsters Union by or-
ganized crime are over. .  .  . Today’s Teamsters are committed to keeping 
organized crime out of the union, . . . and vestiges of organized crime that 
remain have been identified and are under investigation.”77 Stier added 
that “the difference in the IBT between now and in the 1980’s is absolutely 
dramatic; there’s a 180 degree difference”78 and that “[t]he study confirmed 
the vast improvement that had occurred even among the most mob-domi-
nated locals highlighted in the government’s 1988 civil RICO complaint.”79

Perception and Reality offered four reasons for winding down the con-
sent decree: twelve years of court-supervised enforcement of the consent 
decree had eliminated virtually all of the organized-crime activity that 
once flourished; DOJ’s and the court’s sustained involvement in the reme-
diation is both costly and undemocratic; Project RISE has institutionalized 
the IBT’s commitment to cultural change; and U.S. v. IBT ’s final goal is to 
“return control of the Teamsters to the many honest men and women of 
the union.”80

General President Hoffa praised the report “as showing that the Team-
sters Union is winning the fight against organized crime influence”: “I’m 
proud to say that this report shows that the Teamsters Union is clean. The 
mob will never again gain a foothold here.”81 Congressmen Hoekstra (R-
Mich.) and Roemer (D-Ind.) called for termination of the consent decree: 
“It’s time for the government oversight to go away. .  .  . I personally think 
significant progress has been made in terms of rooting out corruption in 
the Teamsters.”82

Not everyone was persuaded. Ken Paff questioned the report’s objectiv-
ity and criticized its omissions. “If you give someone [i.e., Anderson and 
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Stier] millions of dollars to write flattering things about you, they fre-
quently do.”83 He noted that the report inadequately covered Hoffa Sr.’s 
corruption, failed to mention that the IRB had expelled Jim Hoffa’s close 
friend and aide Michael Bane for testifying falsely about his organized-
crime associations, and did not mention Hoffa’s imposition of trusteeships 
on locals where insurgents had influence.84 According to Paff, a culture of 
democracy and anticorruption was taking root in the IBT, but it was “de-
spite the Hoffa administration, not because of it.”85

The IRB: July 1996 – ​July 2001

While Project RISE was striving to persuade DOJ and the court that the 
IRB was unnecessary, the IRB continued to investigate, prosecute, and ad-
judicate individual disciplinary cases and systemic corruption. By the time 
Hoffa took office as general president in early 1999, the IRB was midway 
through its second five-year term (July 1996 – ​July 2001). During this pe-
riod, the IRB recommended disciplinary charges against 188 Teamsters 
from fifty-five locals in forty-one U.S. and Canadian cities (see fig. 8.1). 

Figure 8.1
IRB’s Recommended Disciplinary Charges (1996 – ​2001)



Figure 8.2
The IRB’s Major Organized Crime Cases (1996 – ​2001)

	 Member(s)	 IBT Local	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Nicholas A. Nardi	 Cleveland Local 416	 Knowing association with three Los Angeles	 Resigned from the IBT (1998)
(Joint Council 41 president)		  LCN crime family members, including 
		  underboss Carmen Milanoa

Peter DiFronzo (member)	 Chicago Local 731	 Membership in the Chicago Outfit	 Permanently resigned from the IBT (1998)
		  (headed by his brother)b

Vincent Fattizzi (father); 	 Valley Stream, NY 	 Knowing association with Anthony Razza, 	 Resigned from the IBT (1999)
Vincent Fattizzi (son); 	 Local 851	 expelled from IBT membership on account of
Dina Fattizzi		  Lucchese crime family associationsc

James Scognamiglio (steward);	 Chicago Local 703	 Knowing association with Chicago Outfit	 Expelled from the IBT (2001)
Richard Ciesla (member); 		  membersd

Dennis Donahue (member); 
Andrew Gallina (steward)	

Mark Houmis (member)	 Pittsburgh Local 211	 Refusing to answer IRB investigators’ questions	 Expelled by the local’s executive board (2000)
		  concerning his role in running Pittsburgh LCN 
		  family loan-sharking and gambling operationse

Patrick Green	 Valley Stream, NY	 Falsely testifying that he was not employed at a	 General President Hoffa suspended Green
	 Local 295	 store owned by an associate of Vinnie Asaro, 	 from IBT membership for six months. After
		  a Bonanno crime family capof	 the IRB found this sanction inadequate, Hoffa 
			   increased the suspension to two years; the IRB 
			   approved (2001)g

a In the Matter of Nicholas Nardi, Affidavit and Agreement, March 31, 1998.
b In the Matter of Peter M. DiFronzo, Affidavit and Agreement, April 30, 1998.
c In the Matter of Vincent Fatizzi, Affidavit and Agreement, Nov. 11, 1999.
d Letters to Richard Ciesla, James Scognamiglio, Dennis Donahue, and Andrew Gallina, from IRB Administrator John Cronin, July 13, 2001.
e Before the executive board of Teamsters Local 211, Nov. 22, 2000.
f Before a panel appointed by the international union, Aug. 14, 2001.
g Id.
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More than half of the disciplinary respondents belonged to NYC metro-
area locals. The IRB rejected 25 percent of the IBT’s disciplinary decisions, 
and, in half of those cases, the IBT failed to take adequate corrective action, 
thus precipitating de novo IRB disciplinary adjudications.

Organized-Crime Cases

In the IRB’s second term, twenty-six respondents, including several 
high-ranking officials, were charged with LCN-related disciplinary viola-
tions. The IRB found two respondents to be LCN members, twelve to have 
knowingly associated with LCN members, and twelve to have knowingly 
associated with persons barred from the IBT on LCN-related charges. 
Seventy-five percent of the IRB’s failure-to-cooperate cases also involved 
an organized-crime element (see fig. 8.2).

The IRB told Chief Judge Loretta Preska that it continued to observe 
“pervasive” influence of organized crime in certain locals.86 For example, 
it reported the following disciplinary actions against Teamsters in Rahway, 
New Jersey IBT Local 522:

•	 Eleven members were charged with having LCN connections.
•	 The local’s principal officer was expelled for knowingly associat-

ing with Lucchese crime family members, including capo Joseph 
DiNapoli and consigliere Steven Crea, and for hiring Lucchese 
family associates, including Crea’s son-in-law.87

•	 The IBT expelled Crea’s son-in-law, Local 522’s only salaried 
trustee, for failing to appear for a sworn IRB examination.88

•	 Nine members were suspended, expelled, or forced to resign for 
failing to cooperate with IRB investigations into LCN influence.

Similarly, it reported the following disciplinary actions involving members 
of Youngstown, Ohio, Local 377:

•	 Five members were charged with LCN-related disciplinary of-
fenses.

•	 Member Lawrence Garono was expelled for knowingly associat-
ing with Lenine Strollo, a member of the Pittsburgh LCN family. 
According to the FBI, Garono was “one of Strollo’s principal asso-
ciates in organized crime activities.”89

•	 The IBT expelled the local’s recording secretary for entering into a 



Figure 8.3
The IRB’s Disciplinary Charges against Top IBT Officials (1996 – ​2001)

	 Officer	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Joseph Padellaro (international trustee)	 Embezzling over $12,000 from twelve locals and two	 Resigned from the union (2000)
	 joint councilsa

Lawrence Brennan (international	 Improperly using the local’s money to promote his	 Hoffa dismissed charges against Brennan and
representative and Detroit IBT 	 reelection campaignb	 refused to modify his decision. After a de novo
Local 337 president)		  hearing, the IRB found insufficient credible evidence 
		  to hold Brennan culpable (2000)c

J. D. Potter (Grapevine, TX 	 Testifying falsely concerning the source of a contribution	 Three-year suspension from IBT membership
IBT Local 19 principal officer)	 to Hoffa’s reelection campaignd	 (2000)

Edward Mireles (Orange, CA IBT	 Establishing and implementing a practice designed to	 Suspended seven years from holding IBT office; 
Local 952 secretary-treasurer and 	 strip members who were local employees of their right to	 suspended four years from IBT membership (1998)
international vice president)	 run for local office in return for their continued 
	 employment

William Hogan, Jr. (president of	 Colluding with a labor broker to enter into a substandard	 Expelled from IBT membership (2002)
Joint Council 25 and international	 contract to the detriment of Local 631 Teamsters working
representative); Dane Passo	 the Las Vegas trade show and convention industries
(international representative and
special assistant to Hoffa)

a Joseph A. Padellaro, Affidavit and Agreement, April 4, 2000.
b In re Charge against Larry Brennan, Opinion and Decision of the Independent Review Board, May 31, 2001.
c Id.
d In the Matter of J. D. Potter, Affidavit and Agreement, Aug. 4, 2000.
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sham collective-bargaining agreement with a company owned by 
Garono’s wife. IRB investigators concluded that the agreement was 
“designed to allow Garono . . . to assist the company to gain access 
to union worksites.”90

•	 Chief Construction Steward Anthony Antoun was expelled for 
knowingly associating with Garono, whom Antoun called a life-
long friend.91

•	 Member Leo Connelly was expelled for knowingly associating 
with Strollo.92

Sanctioning the Top Leadership

The IRB brought disciplinary charges against high-level officials in both 
the Carey and Hoffa administrations. In addition to charging IBT General 
President Ron Carey and IBT Government Affairs Director William Ham-
ilton, the IRB brought disciplinary charges against eleven other interna-
tional officers and numerous local-union and joint-council officials (see 
fig. 8.3).

The IRB accused William Hogan, Jr. (head of the one-hundred-thou-
sand-member Chicago IBT Joint Council 25, an international representa-
tive, and an officer in two Chicago locals) and Dane Passo (an international 
representative and a special assistant to Hoffa) of signing sweetheart deals 
with a labor-leasing firm (whose vice president was Hogan’s brother) to pay 
Teamsters working at the 2001 IBT international convention wages below 
those that the IBT’s contract with the convention required.93 The com-
pany, allegedly in return, donated $5,100 to the James R. Hoffa Scholarship 
Fund.94 AUD reported that when Las Vegas IBT Local 632 Principal Of-
ficer Tim Murphy refused to go along with this scam, Hoffa imposed an 
international-union trusteeship on Local 632.95 The IRB expelled Hogan 
and Passo from the IBT.96 Chief Judge Preska affirmed these sanctions.97

Trusteeships

During its second five-year term, the IRB recommended that the IBT 
impose trusteeships on fifteen locals and two joint councils in seven states. 
At least ten of these trusteed locals had histories of LCN influence. A num-
ber of locals, including some with organized-crime histories, were trusteed 
for financial misconduct or administrative abuses:
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•	 Chicago IBT Local 714 was trusteed because the local’s officers 
based job referrals on favoritism, knowingly associated with 
barred members, failed to monitor the local’s finances, and had 
past associations with LCN figures.98

•	 East Meadow, New York IBT Local 239 was trusteed due to lo-
cal officers’ embezzlement from benefit funds by submitting false 
time sheets. The officers also issued unauthorized bonuses and 
failed to enforce collective-bargaining agreements.99 The local had 
a long history of LCN influence.100

•	 Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey IBT Local 815 was trusteed because 
local officers engaged in a systematic pattern of financial misman-
agement.101 There were also careless financial practices, includ-
ing signing blank checks, paying officers’ salaries from accounts 
not subject to IBT audits, and paying trustees from the fund over 
which they supposedly exercised oversight.102 In addition, Lo-
cal 815 had entered into at least three sham collective-bargaining 
agreements.

•	 Indianapolis IBT Joint Council 69 was trusteed because officers 
diverted nearly $900,000 into a retirement plan established ex-
clusively for their own benefit.103 “The joint council was a non-
functioning entity and had no need for money. It was merely a 
method to fund the [retirement] plan which itself was a second 
benefit for local officers and employees.”104

Conclusion and Analysis

The Rerun Election

The need for a 1998 rerun election opened the door to congressional 
involvement in the U.S. v. IBT remediation. Once public money was re-
quested, congressional oversight followed. This might have politicized 
and endangered the remediation. Had Congress and the IBT not reached 
a compromise on funding supervision of the rerun election, the election 
might not have occurred at all.

Congress’s involvement in funding the rerun election highlights the 
thorny issue of how to pay for court-ordered reform of a private-sector or-
ganization. On the one hand, from the government’s standpoint, it is both 
efficient and fair to require a corrupted organization to clean its own house. 



The 1998 Rerun Election and the Emerging Dominance of James P. Hoffa  165

Indeed, in signing the consent decree, the IBT agreed to bear the cost of 
remediation. On the other hand, the officers who signed the settlement, 
not the union’s members, were responsible for the problems requiring re-
mediation. These defendants would not be around to bear the costs of the 
remediation. Furthermore, they had a conflict of interest; concerned about 
their own financial liability, they had an incentive to make concessions on 
reforms the union would make and pay for. Thus, the IBT’s members were 
victimized twice, first by the labor racketeers and second by millions of 
dollars in remediation costs.

This chapter again illuminates the critical importance of funding a na-
tionwide campaign for IBT office. In response to the 1996 contribution-
swap scandal, EO Quindel prohibited candidates for international IBT 
office from receiving campaign donations from non-Teamsters. However, 
this probably disadvantages insurgent candidates, who might be able to at-
tract contributions from outside reformers and reform groups. The incum-
bent can count on donations from several thousand IBT officials. Although 
the imposition, in the 1998 election cycle, of a $1,000 cap on each rank and 
filer’s contribution to candidates’ campaigns dampens some of the incum-
bents’ fundraising advantage, this does not necessarily enhance democracy. 
Capping voters’ campaign donations in any type of election limits individ-
uals’ opportunities for political participation.

As for the 1998 election itself, while Hoffa won a clear victory, it is strik-
ing that Leedham obtained almost 40 percent of the votes, especially given 
Hoffa’s magical name and the Leedham slate’s late entrance into the race 
and lackluster fundraising. Unfortunately, there was no polling to reveal 
what influenced Teamsters voters and nonvoters. We know that only about 
one-quarter of eligible voters mailed back ballots. This underlines the dif-
ficulty of energizing union voters and reveals why well-organized and de-
termined incumbents can maintain control even if they must win elections 
to do so.

Project RISE

Project RISE, like Carey’s EPC, sought to prove to DOJ that government 
supervision of the union’s disciplinary system was no longer necessary. By 
appointing Edwin Stier, a man with impeccable law-enforcement and anti-
corruption credentials, to head Project RISE, Hoffa hoped to persuade both 
DOJ and Judge Edelstein that the IBT was willing and able to police itself.

Whether self-policing is desirable and achievable in an organization 
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as large, politically centralized, and geographically diffuse as the IBT is 
an important question. The inherent risks of a self-policing IBT are that 
the individuals responsible for policing the union will be influenced by 
union officers who have authority over them and/or will use their disci-
plinary authority to protect their union friends and harm their union op-
ponents. Creating a wholly internal monitoring and disciplinary apparatus 
that eliminates, or sufficiently mitigates, these risks seems like an impos-
sible challenge. However, we are reminded that most organizations, public 
and private, essentially police themselves. Moreover, an external policing 
system (i.e., the IRB) also carries risks. Outside monitors may not have suf-
ficient knowledge of and contacts within the monitored entity to effectively 
obtain investigative leads, evidence, and witness cooperation.

The establishment of Project RISE should count heavily in assessing Jim 
Hoffa’s willingness to tackle corruption and racketeering in the IBT. Project 
RISE was much more professional, better staffed, and better funded than 
Carey’s EPC. There is no doubt about Ed Stier’s outstanding work in clean-
ing up IBT Local 560. Likewise, James Kossler had a sterling career in the 
FBI. Nevertheless, as we shall see in chapter 9, the implosion of Project 
RISE casts significant doubt on the bona fides of Hoffa’s anticorruption and 
antiracketeering commitment.



167

9

The 2001 Election, the Demise of 
Project RISE, and the IRB’s 
Third Term

In some ways, the Teamsters convention in Las Vegas at the end of 
June [2001] was a throwback. The huge majority of delegates voted 
for everything the [Hoffa] leadership proposed and against every-
thing it opposed. As if it were a football game, they loudly cheered 
their team and booed their opponents.1

 ​— ​Randy Furst and Jim West, in Labor Notes, Aug. 1, 2001

General President Jim Hoffa . . . has backed away from the Team-
sters’ anti-corruption plan [Project RISE] in the face of pressure 
from a few self-interested individuals. Because the General Presi-
dent plays such a critical role in enforcing standards of conduct 
within the union, my position has now become untenable. I can no 
longer permit my presence in the union to act as an endorsement of 
his sincerity.

 ​— ​Edwin Stier, resignation letter to the GEB, April 28, 2004

The 2001 Election

The consent decree authorized DOL to supervise the 2001 IBT election. 
However, in February 2000, the IBT and DOJ asked Judge Edelstein to ap-
prove an agreement calling for an “election administrator” to supervise the 
convention-delegate elections, candidate nominations, and rank-and-file 
balloting.*2 DOL’s role would be limited to making recommendations. The 

* The election “administrator” was meant to play the same role as the election “officer” in the 
previous three election cycles. Thus, for clarity of exposition, we will continue to refer to this elec-
tion supervisor as the EO.
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IBT agreed to contribute more than $12 million to election supervision.3 
(The election ultimately cost approximately $9 million.) Judge Edelstein 
reacted favorably to the joint proposal. He appointed Michigan labor law-
yer William Wertheimer to serve as EO. Kenneth Conboy would continue 
as EAM.4

Edelstein approved election rules closely tracking the 1998 rules.5 
However, the campaign contribution limits were doubled so that candi-
dates could donate $10,000 to their own campaigns and members could 
donate up to $2,000, in total, to one or more candidates. (TDU opposed 
these increases, arguing that they would favor Hoffa, who could count on 
maximum contributions from a significant percentage of IBT officials.) 
Virtually all convention-delegate candidates supported one of the slates of 
international-officer candidates. Only 30 percent of the 526 IBT locals had 
contested delegate elections (down from 48 percent in 1996 and 49 percent 
in 1998), not a sign of a politically invigorated rank and file.6 After Judge 
Edelstein’s death in August 2000,* Chief Judge Loretta Preska took over 
U.S. v. IBT.

The Campaigns

In the spring of 2000, Tom Leedham declared his candidacy for IBT gen-
eral president. TDU enthusiastically supported him by, among other things, 
helping his campaign to obtain enough accreditation signatures to entitle 
him to free battle pages in Teamster Magazine. TDU published pro-Leed-
ham articles; recruited Leedham-friendly Teamsters to run for local-dele-
gate positions; produced pro-Leedham and anti-Hoffa campaign literature; 
monitored the Hoffa slate’s campaign to identify potential election-rules 
violations; and urged TDU supporters to campaign for Leedham’s slate at 
work sites, truck stops, and other Teamsters hubs. While Leedham did not 
identify himself as a TDU member (TDU keeps membership information 
confidential to protect its members against retaliation by IBT officials and 
employers), he openly welcomed its support.

* Judge David Edelstein died at age ninety. He had served as a federal district court judge for 
almost fifty years. His New York Times obituary, quoting U.S. Attorney Mary Jo White (SDNY), 
stated, “His work, in particular on the Teamsters litigation, will stand as an impressive legacy to 
his judicial courage and intellect.” Herszenhorn, David N. Edelstein, 90, Judge in Federal Court for 
48 Years, at B7.
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Leedham recruited twenty-one candidates to join his Rank and File 
(R&F) Power Slate. (A full slate was twenty-six candidates.) The R&F slate 
received a boost in December 2000 when TDU member Dave Reynolds 
unseated Jon Rabine, the long-tenured president of Seattle IBT Local 763, 
an international vice president, a close Hoffa ally, and one of the most pow-
erful Teamsters in the northwest. According to Ken Paff, this was the first 
time in IBT history that an insurgent candidate defeated an incumbent in-
ternational vice president in the vice president’s home local.

Leedham’s campaign ads promised better contracts, better strike ben-
efits, more rank-and-file participation in union governance, a $150,000 cap 
on officers’ salaries, and greater accountability for pension-fund trustees. 
He also called for an IBT bill of rights guaranteeing Teamsters an opportu-
nity to vote on local-union mergers and dissolutions and on the election of 
local business agents and stewards. Leedham condemned Hoffa for tolerat-
ing corruption and for centralizing the union at the expense of local-union 
autonomy and rank-and-file participation: “At every level of the union, 
[Hoffa’s administration is] taking the members out of the process and leav-
ing everything in the hands of officials and lawyers.”7 One Leedham cam-
paign ad enumerated the following Hoffa failures:

1.	 Record Waste: More than 182 Teamster officials make more than 
$100,000 a year.

2.	 Multiple Salaries: Hoffa pays multiple salaries to 64 officials in 
exchange for their support in union elections.

3.	 Fake Reformer: Hoffa promised to limit his salary to $150,000. 
But when he took office, he raised it to $225,000.

4.	 Blind Eye to Corruption: Key Hoffa allies have been charged with 
embezzling funds . . . and lying about their association with organized 
crime. Hoffa has taken no punitive action.8

Leedham criticized Hoffa for failing to support rank-and-file efforts to 
obtain better contracts,9 failing to support organizing drives,10 suppress-
ing dissidents by imposing trusteeships on locals where reformers showed 
strength,11 supporting antilabor politicians,12 and recruiting a slate of can-
didates without racial and gender diversity.

Leedham hammered away at Hoffa’s failure to effectively confront cor-
ruption and racketeering. He reminded the electorate that, in late 2001, the 
IRB charged two of Hoffa’s close associates, Joint Council 25 President Wil-
liam Hogan, Jr., and International Representative Dane Passo, with having 
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colluded on a sweetheart contract for a labor-leasing firm and on having 
allowed that firm to staff the Las Vegas convention center with nonunion 
workers rather than Teamsters.13 (The IBT, following the IRB’s recommen-
dations, later expelled Hogan and Passo from the union.) Leedham also 
highlighted the IRB’s financial-misconduct charges against Detroit IBT Lo-
cal 337 President Lawrence Brennan, Hoffa’s mentor and former employer.14 
(However, the IRB found Brennan “not culpable.”) Some Leedham support-
ers criticized Hoffa’s decision to hold the IBT convention in Las Vegas, the 
physical and symbolic epicenter of the union’s racketeer-ridden history.15 
In the 1970s and 1980s, organized-crime figures were a highly visible pres-
ence at the quinquennial international conventions held in Las Vegas.

Like Leedham, Hoffa called himself a prodemocracy, anticorruption 
reformer. He expressed support for the consent decree’s election prong, 
promising that “[t]he Teamsters will be the standard against which all labor 
democracy will be measured.”16 He boasted that a New York Times editorial 
had praised Project RISE as the IBT’s “most ambitious anti-corruption pro-
gram in decades.”17 Tarring Leedham as a crony of the corrupt Carey ad-
ministration, a Hoffa battle page in Teamster Magazine presented a Leed-
ham caricature with “phony” printed in red letters across its chest. The 
accompanying text said,

Tom Leedham was a leader and vice president in the Teamsters adminis-
tration that:

1.	 Embezzled over $1 million of members’ dues money for the purposes 
of getting re-elected.

2.	 Pushed the union to the edge of bankruptcy ​— ​spending nearly 
$1 billion in members’ dues money.

3.	 Eliminated strike benefits for striking Teamsters from $200/week 
to $0.

4.	 Created a civil war in the Teamsters Union that made it weaker than 
it had ever been in history.

5.	 Gave away the right to strike in contract negotiations.*
6.	 Tried to triple the dues of Teamsters members.18

Another Hoffa ad criticized Leedham for failing to support Phoenix, Ar-
izona IBT Local 104’s October 2000 strike against Fred Meyer Warehouse. 

* In 1994, Carey negotiated a national master freight agreement providing that IBT freight 
haulers could not strike in response to a deadlock over benefit-related grievances. Instead, such 
disputes would be referred to arbitration.
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When Local 104’s officers asked the leaders of Oregon Joint Council 37, 
including Leedham, to extend the strike into Oregon, where Fred Meyer 
Warehouse also operated, Leedham apparently decided not to sanction 
[the] picket line. According to Hoffa’s ad, the strike captains complained 
that Leedham had “turned his back on the very members he now want[ed] 
to lead.”19 Other Hoffa ads called Leedham a scab for refusing to support 
Local 104’s strike.

The Hoffa slate also accused Leedham of improperly accepting em-
ployer-paid travel. One Hoffa ad featured a cartoon depicting Leedham 
piloting a Northwest Airlines (NWA) plane with dollar bills flying out the 
back. The caption said, “This is Major Tom to Ground Control. .  .  . Can 
I at least keep all my frequent flyer points? (Travel illegally donated by 
Northwest Airlines).” The ad quotes from an EO opinion that found that 
Leedham and two members of his slate had traveled for free on NWA, “to 
support their election efforts in a manner forbidden by the rules.”20 (EO 
Wertheimer required Leedham to reimburse NWA for the cost of the free 
flights but imposed no additional sanctions because the violation was not 
“flagrant and knowing.”)21

The June 2001 Las Vegas Convention

The Hoffa and Leedham slates held campaign rallies on the eve of the Las 
Vegas convention. Hoffa arrived at his rally in an eighteen-wheeler with 
horns sounding. The next day, Wertheimer ruled that Hoffa’s use of the 
truck, owned by the Ohio Conference of Teamsters, constituted illegal use 
of union resources for campaign purposes. Hoffa and his delegates walked 
out of the convention hall when Wertheimer delivered a reprimand.22

Speaking to the delegates on the convention-hall floor, Hoffa called him-
self “the proud son of James R. Hoffa.” He promised not to let “some bu-
reaucrat in Washington or some random federal appointee” run the union. 
Some delegates booed when Leedham lambasted the Hoffa administration 
for “paying more multiple salaries than have ever been paid in the history 
of [the] union” and challenged Hoffa to a debate.23 Many chanted or wore 
“TDU sucks” buttons.24

Hoffa’s supporters ridiculed the delegates of IBT Local 2000, which rep-
resented NWA’s flight attendants. In the lead-up to the 2001 election cy-
cle, Local 2000’s officers criticized the contracts negotiated by the Hoffa 
team. At the convention, delegates jeered and interrupted the Local 2000 
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speakers with sexist and antigay comments.25 On one occasion, Hoffa him-
self tried to calm his supporters: “Remember that what we do here, how we 
act, reflects on the reputation of this great union.”26

By huge majorities, delegates voted for everything that Hoffa proposed, 
including removing from the IBT constitution the commitment to “rid our 
union of corruption.”27 Hoffa’s slate insisted that pledge was now irrelevant 
because “corruption has been cleaned out of [the] international”: “Our 
union today is one of the cleanest of any now on the labor scene. Organized 
crime has been eliminated. There are no people who have a connection 
with organized crime in the union today.”28 The delegates also endorsed 
Project RISE,29 resolving that “the membership has clearly expressed the 
desire to implement the Teamsters’ anti-corruption system [Project RISE] 
as a replacement for the Independent Review Board” and that the GEB 
“shall communicate to the U.S. Department of Justice the Union’s deter-
mination to end government oversight based on the principles of Project 
RISE.”30 Next, the convention delegates approved a “Self-Governance Res-
olution” calling for dissolution of the consent decree.

[T]he parties to the consent decree, the Union and the Government of the 
United States, have accomplished the objectives of the Consent Decree, 
.  .  . in view of the fact that the conditions that existed prior to the en-
try of the Consent Decree no longer exist, there is no longer a legitimate 
basis for the United States Government to exercise the degree of control 
and influence over the internal affairs of this union as provided by the 
Consent Decree and . . . the Consent Decree [should] be dissolved under 
such terms as will protect the reforms adopted by the delegates to this 
Convention.31

The Hoffa delegates emphatically rejected Leedham’s proposals to raise 
strike benefits and to cap officers’ salaries at $150,000.32 However, at Hoffa’s 
urging, they added to the IBT constitution the consent decree’s core elec-
tion reforms: direct rank-and-file election of convention delegates and in-
ternational officers.33

The convention delegates gave Hoffa 1,504 votes (93 percent). Leedham 
received just 134 votes (7 percent), enough to qualify him for the general 
election.34 All twenty-five of Hoffa’s running mates and fifteen of Leed-
ham’s running mates received enough votes to be placed on the general-
election ballot. Hoffa spokesperson Richard Leebove called the convention 
a “huge success for the members” and dismissed TDU as “an obscure sect 



The 2001 Election, the Demise of Project RISE, and the IRB’s Third Term  173

with very little support within the rank and file”: “This appears to be a van-
ity campaign of Ken Paff and Tom Leedham.”35

Entering the 2001 convention, Hoffa had already raised $700,000 
in contributions.36 Hoffa’s fundraising advantage continued to grow in 
the months that followed. By the campaign’s conclusion, he had raised 
$3,566,978, compared with Leedham’s $340,255.37 Much of Hoffa’s money 
came from donations greater than $500 from local, regional, and inter
national IBT officers. Most of Leedham’s money came from small dona-
tions from rank and filers.38

The Presidential Debate

The 2001 election rules authorized the EO to “schedule and conduct Inter-
national Officer candidate forums” and required the EO to “make every 
effort to schedule and conduct such forums at times and locations to in-
sure broad participation by the membership either personally or by video 
or voice transmission.”39 Disappointed with low voter participation in the 
elections of 1991 (30.25 percent), 1996 (32.04 percent), and 1998 (28.64 per-
cent), Wertheimer scheduled a one-hour presidential debate for September 
21. He predicted that it would “energize the electorate.”40

The importance debate serves in self-governance cannot be overstated. 
Through debate, each candidate displays not only his particular ability to 
think critically on substantive issues, but of equal value, the candidates to-
gether demonstrate for the membership that an uninhibited, robust, wide-
open exchange of views on issues important to them is not only encour-
aged but vital.41

Hoffa initially refused to debate, even though, during his 1996 campaign, 
he had proposed a constitutional amendment to compel presidential can-
didates to debate. Now that he was the incumbent and anticipated an easy 
victory over Leedham, he saw no advantage in debating. Wertheimer pro-
posed to hold the debate with or without Hoffa and to mail a debate video 
to every Teamster. The Hoffa campaign viewed this proposal as an attempt 
to assist Leedham’s candidacy.

Your actions are deliberately designed to coerce Mr. Hoffa .  .  . into par-
ticipating in the debate by threatening to spend $2 million in scarce 
Union funds to distribute a Leedham infomercial videotape if we refuse to 
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participate. . . . There is no difference, other than in amount, between this 
expenditure and the use of embezzled Union funds to assist the Carey slate 
in 1996.42

Ultimately, Hoffa agreed to engage in a debate at the National Press 
Club, where a panel of journalists would pose questions. Because the debate 
could energize the electorate only if widely viewed, Wertheimer committed 
$469,000 to produce and distribute five hundred thousand debate video-
tapes. He would give the Hoffa and Leedham campaigns two hundred thou-
sand copies each and distribute one hundred thousand copies among the 
526 IBT locals. (Wertheimer originally planned to mail debate videotapes 
to every Teamster, but the prohibitive cost led him to abandon that idea.)

A few days before the scheduled debate, Hoffa notified Wertheimer 
that he could not participate due to pressing union business and that In-
ternational Vice President Chuck Mack would stand in for him. At the 
ensuing Leedham-Mack debate, the first question posed to the debaters 
was whether government oversight over the IBT should cease. Mack said, 
“[T]here’s no question it’s time to end federal oversight of the Teamsters 
Union. That’s an opinion shared by almost everybody. The government 
came into the Teamsters to get the mob out. The mob’s gone.” Leedham 
hedged, not wanting to endorse the Hoffa administration’s anticorruption 
bona fides but also not wanting to embrace the IRB.

Everyone wants the government out of the Teamsters. I believe that the 
best way to do it is to clean our own house and show that we can keep it 
clean. However, it’s very difficult to say that the house is clean when, most 
recently, top aides [Hogan and Passo] of the Hoffa administration and Mr. 
Hoffa himself have been charged with some of the most egregious offenses. 
And as long as that kind of wrongdoing occurs, it’s very difficult to say that 
that job has been accomplished. We have a RISE program that seems to be 
nothing more than a PR scheme and an opportunity for photos. RISE has 
held no hearings and made no charges. And yet it’s held up as a reason for 
getting the IRB out of the union.

During the debate, Mack sought to link Leedham to “an IBT adminis-
tration [the Carey administration] in which the general president was ex-
pelled from the union and the government affairs director was convicted 
of a crime”: “[T]hat Tom Leedham has not denounced those individu-
als speaks volumes about the reform movement.” For his part, Leedham 
stressed corruption in Hoffa’s administration, “such as the charges against 
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Hoffa’s former running mate Bill Hogan in Las Vegas where they tried to 
agree to sweetheart contracts and there were kickbacks involved. This also 
involved another one of his top aides Dane Passo.”

In response to a question about why the Hoffa administration had, at 
the 2001 Teamsters convention, pushed to eliminate the IBT constitution’s 
anticorruption commitment, Mack said, “We think that we have moved 
past that and have adopted a series of different constitutional changes and 
programs within the union that we think take us beyond the corruption 
path.” Answering a question about whether the U.S. v. IBT consent decree 
had ever been necessary, Mack said,

I think the consent decree was necessary and, over the years, we have seen 
the value of the consent decree. I think, however, that there is no question 
in anybody’s mind that the mob is gone from the Teamsters Union. That’s 
why the consent decree was put in place, . . . because the mob had suppos-
edly and probably infiltrated this organization and was making decisions 
about . . . how the organization was run. That’s been taken care of. That’s 
been eliminated. It’s now time to move on. The Hoffa administration is 
strongly supportive of getting the government out.

Immediately after the debate, the Hoffa campaign informed Wertheimer 
that it did not want and would not distribute any videotapes.

Preballoting Election Protests

EO Wertheimer and EAM Conboy resolved 549 preballoting election 
protests and 106 appeals. There were protests over candidates’ eligibility, 
improper use of union resources, local officials’ improper support for one 
candidate over another, voter intimidation, and campaign-finance viola-
tions. One preelection protest alleged that Hoffa’s campaign used IBT fax 
machines to send out “Unity Slate Hoffagrams” in order to persuade lo-
cal officers to collect accreditation signatures.43 Wertheimer ruled that this 
violated the prohibition on using union resources in aid of any candidate 
for IBT office.44 Consequently, he ordered Hoffa to disseminate an EO 
cease-and-desist order to all IBT entities. EAM Conboy affirmed because 
the campaigns “must maintain their headquarters, copying and fax ma-
chines, telephones and campaign mechanisms and structures in places that 
in no way are connected to or benefit from the resources of local unions 
and their memberships.”45
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The Hoffa slate filed another election protest in late 2000 alleging, 
among other things, that TDU had failed to disclose the names of non-
Teamster contributors to its Teamster Rank and File Education and Legal 
Defense Foundation (TRF).46 (Because the election rules prohibit candi-
dates from receiving campaign contributions from non-Teamsters, TDU 
cannot use its TRF funds for election-related purposes.) EAM Conboy de-
nied the Hoffa slate’s request to compel TDU to release the names of its 
contributors to TRF, pointing to the election rule providing for

limited disclosure to candidates from independent committee [campaign 
contribution and expenditure reports], but only to the extent that the 
identity of the contributors or their Local Unions not be revealed. With 
respect to contribution information reported by independent committees, 
only the total amount of contributions and total amount of contributors 
should be released to candidates.47

Conboy explained that the identities of both Teamster and non-Teamster 
contributors to independent committees, including TDU, are “not provided 
to any parties other than the Election Administrator and his staff.”48 He 
refused to distinguish TDU’s election-related funds from its legal and ac-
counting funds for purposes of disclosing contributors’ identities: “Disclo-
sure other than to the Election Administrator is barred in each instance.”49 
Conboy added that his decision followed a 1992 Second Circuit Court of 
Appeals ruling that “TDU and TRF were not adequately represented by the 
IBT leadership with respect to the Consent Decree, and cannot be bound 
by its provisions. .  .  . [Thus, the EO lacked authority] as an officer of the 
district court . . . to compel TDU and TRF to disclose . . . the names of their 
supporters and associate[s].”50

Leedham filed a preelection protest charging that Hoffa supporters 
physically and psychologically intimidated delegates at the Las Vegas 
convention by blocking the hallway leading to the voting room.51 At the 
time of that incident, Wertheimer ordered the hallway cleared, prompt-
ing a Hoffa-slate protest charging that he was biased in Leedham’s favor.52 
Wertheimer recused himself from ruling on his own bias; a deputy EO 
sustained Leedham’s protest and rejected Hoffa’s. He ordered the Hoffa 
slate to cease and desist from voter intimidation and to mail to all Team-
sters who attended the IBT convention a notice stating that the Hoffa 
slate “established a gauntlet . . . through which voters had to pass in order 
to vote.”53
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In another preelection protest, a Leedham-slate vice presidential can-
didate charged that the September 2000 issue of Teamster Magazine ex-
hibited pro-Hoffa bias.54 She pointed out that the magazine carried seven 
photographs of Hoffa, two Hoffa articles, several Hoffa quotations, and the 
Hoffa slate’s slogan. By contrast, there was only one unidentified photo-
graph of Leedham. Wertheimer rejected this protest, finding the magazine’s 
reporting on Hoffa’s activities reasonable because of the general president’s 
involvement in union business.55 Conboy affirmed.56

A Minneapolis IBT Local 320 preelection protest provides an excellent 
example of the importance of local officers’ support for the incumbent. A 
Local 320 member complained that Hoffa’s slate mailed to each Local 320 
elected officer an invitation to a “gala celebration at the Minneapolis Con-
vention Center . . . to meet [Hoffa] and hear his message of unity, pride, and 
strength for the Teamsters.”57 Several Local 320 officers attended the rally. 
Wertheimer ruled that Hoffa’s mailing constituted improper solicitation of 
campaign contributions and that the local officers’ attendance constituted 
improper endorsement.58 Wertheimer required the Hoffa slate to disgorge 
the fruits of that fundraising event and to pay for a one-page Leedham-
slate mailing to every member of Minnesota’s thirteen IBT locals.59 He also 
required Local 320’s principal officer to include a letter stating that the gala 
invitation violated the election rules and that Local 320 does not endorse 
any candidate.60

The 2001 Election Results

Only 25 percent of eligible voters mailed in ballots. Hoffa’s campaign attrib-
uted the low voter participation to “voter fatigue” from three general presi-
dential elections in five years.61 Leedham saw a deeper problem. “[T]eam-
ster members have been locked out of participation in our union. It’s not 
enough for Teamster leaders to ask members to vote once every five years. 
We have to dismantle the barriers to participation and get back to involv-
ing and mobilizing Teamster members ​— ​the real source of union power.”62

Hoffa won 65 percent to 35 percent.63 Leedham received 4 percent fewer 
votes than he received in the 1998 election. Nevertheless, in stark con-
trast to the minimal support (7 percent) convention delegates gave him, 
one in three rank-and-file voters preferred him to the incumbent gen-
eral president. In the central region, Leedham received almost 40 percent 
of the votes.64 In a postelection press release, Leedham said, “[W]e have 
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succeeded in making democracy a reality in our union, not just a slogan. 
We gave Teamster members a choice.”65 The EO certified Hoffa’s reelection 
on December 14, 2001.

The Demise of Project RISE *

After the election, Hoffa vowed to persuade DOJ and the district court that 
the IRB should be dissolved because the IBT could police itself. By early 
2003, however, Ed Stier and James Kossler were increasingly frustrated 
by Hoffa’s unwillingness to implement the RISE ethics code. Even more 
disturbing, they came to believe that regional IBT officers allied with the 
Hoffa administration were blocking RISE’s investigations into LCN influ-
ence in several Chicago IBT locals and joint council.66

In April 2004, Stier released a report on organized crime’s infiltration of 
several Chicago-area IBT locals.67 Among other things, the report stated that

•	 John Coli, then president of Joint Council 25 and a trustee of Chi-
cago IBT Local 727’s pension and benefit funds, was the son of an 
Outfit member;

•	 the trustees of Local 727’s health, pension, and welfare plan, in-
cluding Coli, had received kickbacks, hired LCN associates, and 
contracted with LCN-controlled vendors for nearly a decade;

•	 Chicago IBT Local 726 officers had solicited bribes from rank and 
filers in exchange for job referrals;

•	 Chicago IBT Local 743 officers had improperly allowed Don-
ald Peters (the former principal officer of the local and a named 
defendant in the 1988 civil RICO case) and Robert Simpson, Jr. 
(Peters’s successor, whom the IRB had removed from office) to in-
fluence the local’s affairs;

•	 an Outfit member had gained control over Chicago IBT Local 
786’s principal officer, subordinate officers, and major employ-
ers, and the principal officer of Local 330 regularly associated with 
Outfit figures.

The report further charged that, since early 2003, IBT officials with ties 
to the Outfit had been stonewalling RISE’s investigations of LCN influence 

* This section draws on James B. Jacobs & Ryan P. Alford, The Teamsters’ Rocky Road to Recov-
ery: The Demise of Project RISE, 9 Trends in Organized Crime 15 (2005).
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in Chicago IBT locals. In July 2003, according to the report, Hoffa rejected 
Stier’s recommendation to bring disciplinary charges against three Chicago 
Local 786 members.68 Hoffa’s executive assistant, Carlow Scalf, had alleg-
edly vetoed corruption and racketeering charges against Chicago Locals 
786 and 726. In September 2003, six informants, whom Stier called reliable, 
reported that the Outfit felt “its interests in Teamster matters were threat-
ened by IBT investigative activities and ordered those activities shut down.” 
Furthermore, in early 2004, Scalf allegedly “made repeated efforts to keep 
invoices for Chicago-related investigations from being paid for arbitrary 
reasons.”69 Soon afterward, Hoffa ordered Stier and Kossler to suspend 
their Chicago-area investigations. On April 1, 2004, the IBT transferred 
Project RISE’s only full-time union staffer to another assignment.

Stier’s Chicago report charged that the IBT’s top leaders no longer sup-
ported Project RISE and would not “permit anti-racketeering investiga-
tions to threaten the most powerful remaining organized crime influences 
in the Union, which are centered in the Chicago area.”70 Moreover, “[i]f the 
current shutdown of IBT anti-racketeering efforts in Chicago is allowed to 
stand, the reason for it will be obvious to both Teamsters and outsiders: the 
continued influence of the Chicago Outfit and the culture of corruption 
that has flourished in that area for as long as the Union has.”71

Responding for the union, General Counsel Patrick Szymanski insisted 
that the IBT leadership had not abandoned its commitment to fighting cor-
ruption and racketeering.72 He called Stier’s charges unfounded and self-
serving73 and ordered Stier and Kossler to discontinue their investigations.

On April 28, 2004, Ed Stier, James Kossler, nineteen of twenty RISE 
staffers, and the ten-member RISE advisory board resigned. In a letter to 
the GEB, Stier charged that General President Hoffa had paralyzed investi-
gation into LCN influence in Chicago IBT locals, blocked investigation of 
kickbacks to officers of Houston, Texas IBT Local 988, and rejected RISE’s 
recommendation to impose a trusteeship over Local 988.74 He criticized 
Hoffa for failing to implement the RISE ethics code and for reneging on 
his public promise to identify and remove any hidden mob associates from 
the union. Stier asserted that there was “substantial reliable information 
that organized crime again threatens the union.”75 New York Times labor 
journalist Steven Greenhouse observed that Project RISE’s collapse “could 
jeopardize the union’s push to end federal oversight.”76

IBT General Counsel Szymanski charged that Project RISE was redun-
dant with the IRB and had become too expensive and intrusive on union 
autonomy. “It appears that Stier resigned because I wouldn’t give him a 
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blank check, even when the allegations he wanted to investigate were un-
founded and outside [his] jurisdiction. .  .  . We think Ed is resigning be-
cause we’re not letting him do whatever he wants to do.”77 Hoffa stated, 
“[T]he Teamsters Union regrets Stier’s decision to resign, but rejects the 
reckless and false allegations he makes about our union’s commitment to 
fighting the influence of organized crime.”78 He added that Stier resigned 
“because he did not want to answer legitimate questions about the credibil-
ity and significance of uncorroborated allegations he has made.”79

On April 30, 2004, Hoffa hired Edward McDonald, former head of the 
federal Organized Crime Strike Force for the Eastern District of New York, 
to investigate Stier’s allegations. A year later, McDonald presented to Hoffa 
a 183-page report (an abbreviated version of which was made public in July 
2005) concluding that Stier’s allegations were unreliable, confusing, and in-
consistent. McDonald reiterated Syzmanski’s explanation, i.e., that the IBT 
had become dissatisfied with Stier and Kossler’s results given the $15 mil-
lion spent on RISE. According to McDonald, “the Chicago investigations 
proposed by Stier Anderson were never ‘shut down’ in the first place”; “it is 
entirely unclear why [Stier and Kossler] ever accorded any weight to what 
the confidential sources had said and why they even repeated their allega-
tions”; and “the IBT leadership, given its four year experience with Stier 
Anderson, had good reason to be dissatisfied with the firm’s performance 
and in light of these reasons, they responded in a reasonable and respon-
sible way to Stier Anderson’s investigative proposals.” Finally, McDonald 
asked why Stier’s report, “with its inflammatory and poorly supported al-
legations, was ever released at all.”

We do not know what Stier Anderson’s motives were when they presented 
their allegations and conclusions. Perhaps Stier Anderson honestly, but 
mistakenly, believed that the evidence that they presented in the April Re-
port justified their explosive allegations. Perhaps they were trying to slow 
down discussions with the Southern District [U.S. attorney’s office] with 
their charges and pressure the leadership into changing their minds and 
authorizing the investigations after all. Perhaps they acted out of spite. Or 
perhaps there were other reasons. Certainly, as we have demonstrated, 
there was no factual basis for concluding that the leadership had aban-
doned its commitment to reform or that Teamsters had improperly sabo-
taged the Stier Anderson investigations either at the direction of the Outfit 
or for some other reason.80

Figure 9.1
Types of Charges Recommended by the IRB (2001 – ​2006)
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Stier and Kossler called McDonald’s report “a one-sided, subjective, 
and adversarial presentation that amounts to an exercise in spin control.”81 
They sought to impeach McDonald’s conclusions by pointing out that Mc-
Donald never interviewed them or any RISE lawyer or investigator (other 
than the sole investigator who did not resign when RISE collapsed) and 
made no transcripts of the interviews he did conduct. These are “the hall-
marks of a phony and contrived investigation,” Stier later explained, call-
ing the McDonald report an attempt “to cover up the corrupt activities of 
Teamsters officials that we were investigating. .  .  . It was a predetermined 
result ​— ​they intended to discredit me.”82

The IRB Continues Its Investigations: July 2001 – ​July 2006

RISE’s collapse did not, of course, affect the IRB’s investigations. In its 
third term (July 2001 to July 2006), the IRB recommended that the IBT 
bring charges against fifty-three Teamsters in twenty-four U.S. and Cana-
dian locals (see fig. 9.1). The IRB recommended charges against nineteen 

Figure 9.1
Types of Charges Recommended by the IRB (2001 – ​2006)
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Teamsters for knowing association with an LCN figure or refusal to testify 
about LCN contacts; nine for failure to cooperate with a non-LCN inves-
tigation; nine for embezzlement or other financial misconduct; six for col-
lusion with employers; six for knowing association with a barred person; 
three for failing to investigate corruption; and one for improperly attempt-
ing to influence a union election. Nearly 60 percent of disciplinary respon-
dents were members of NYC metro-area locals, and of these 22 percent 
were members of NYC Local 813.

Chicago Cases

In the years after RISE’s demise, Stier and Kossler’s allegations about 
organized crime’s influence in Chicago locals were borne out. The IRB 
charged eleven members of Chicago-area IBT locals with disciplinary vio-
lations. Some were high-ranking officers:

•	 General President Hoffa’s executive assistant, Carlow Scalf, whom 
Stier had identified as the Teamster most responsible for stifling 
RISE’s investigations of LCN influence in Chicago IBT locals, 
agreed to a sixty-day suspension from union membership and 
a $69,000 fine in exchange for the IRB not recommending that 
the IBT charge him with submitting to the IBT false housing-
allowance documents.83

•	 Chicago IBT Local 714 Principal Officer and Chicago Joint Coun-
cil 25 Vice President Robert Hogan resigned from the union after 
the IRB alleged that he had failed to take action to prevent Local 
714 Organizing Director Robert Riley from associating with ex-
pelled member William Hogan, Jr., Robert Hogan’s father. (The 
IRB then expelled Riley.)

•	 The IBT expelled Chicago Joint Council 25 Vice President Joseph 
Bernstein for knowingly associating with expelled member Wil-
liam Hogan, Jr., but did not prohibit Bernstein from socializing 
with IBT members. The IRB found this sanction inadequate, but 
the IBT refused to modify it. The IRB then held a de novo hearing, 
expelled Bernstein from IBT membership, and forbade him from 
associating with IBT members.84

•	 Chicago IBT Local 705 organizer John Clancy resigned and agreed 
not to contact IBT members for ten years after being charged with 
having knowingly associated with expelled member Dane Passo.
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•	 Finding that Chicago IBT Local 726’s pension fund had entered 
into two ERISA-prohibited transactions totaling $125,000, the 
IRB barred the local’s president and trustee from holding union 
office for three years; the local’s secretary-treasurer permanently 
resigned his position.

The IRB also brought disciplinary charges against rank-and-file members 
of Chicago IBT locals:

•	 Local 714 members Sergio Salcedo and Donny Robles and Local 
743 members Mark Jones and Cassandra Mosley were expelled for 
failing to appear for sworn examinations.

•	 Floyd Johnson, a member of Local 714, was charged with failing 
to cooperate with the IRB by failing to appear for a scheduled IRB 
deposition. He was ultimately found not culpable.

Organized-Crime Cases

More than one-third of the IRB’s third-term disciplinary matters had 
an organized-crime connection; all but one of those respondents were 
expelled or resigned (see fig. 9.2). The IRB charged nineteen Teamsters 
with knowing association with an LCN figure or refusing to testify about 
LCN contacts. Several other Teamsters agreed to resign rather than face 
formal charges.

Sanctioning the Top Leadership

In its third term, the IRB recommended disciplinary charges against 
seven international officers (see fig. 9.3). One of the most serious cases in-
volved Chuck Crawley, principal officer of Houston IBT Local 988 and an 
international representative. IRB investigators discovered that Crawley had 
asked a vendor to add $20,000 to a bid for installing telephone equipment 
at the local and then took a $20,000 kickback from the vendor.85 Craw-
ley had also instructed a local organizer to submit to the union an inflated 
invoice for purchases of T-shirts for members and then received a $2,500 
kickback.86 The IRB found him culpable and expelled him from the union. 
Chief Judge Preska and the Second Circuit affirmed. Subsequently, federal 
prosecutors convicted Crawley of mail fraud, embezzlement, and falsifying 
business records. He was sentenced to six and a half years in prison.87



Figure 9.2
Major IRB-Recommended Disciplinary Charges Involving Organized Crime (2001 – ​2006)

	 Member(s)	 IBT Local	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Michael Marchini (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Communicating with Matthew Iannello, acting boss of the	 Expelled from the IBT (2001)a

		  Genovese crime family and principal officer of Rahway, NJ
		  IBT Local 522

Thomas Plino (member) 	 Union, NJ Local 97	 Refusing to answer questions about ties to the Genovese	 Expelled from the IBT (2003)b

		  crime family

Robert D’Angelo (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Knowing association with Bonanno crime family capo Louis	 Expelled from the IBT (2005)c

		  Restivo and Genovese crime family capo Frederico Giovanelli

John Sperando (member)	 Lake Success, NY	 Knowing association with a member of organized crime	 Resigned from the IBT before being
	 Local 282		  formally charged (2002)

Anthony Sirabella (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Knowing association with an organized-crime member	 Resigned from the IBT before being 
			   formally charged (2002)

Anthony Piccolo (member)	 NYC Local 813	 Knowing association with a member of organized crime	 Resigned from the IBT before being 
			   formally charged (2003)

a Hearing before a panel appointed by the general president, May 13, 2002.
b Letter from IBT Joint Council 73 to IRB Administrator John J. Cronin, Jr., Jan. 7, 2003; letter from secretary-treasurer of IBT Local 97 to IRB Administrator John J. Cronin, Jr., 

Dec. 11, 2003.
c In re Charge against Robert D’Angelo, Opinion and Decision of the Independent Review Board, Oct. 19, 2006.



Figure 9.3
The IRB’s Disciplinary Charges against Top IBT Officials (2002 – ​2006)

	 Officer	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Edmund Burke (international representative)	 Failing to take disciplinary action after a business	 Agreed not to hold any IBT office for two
	 agent in Las Vegas IBT Local 631 told Burke, the	 years and to terminate his membership in
	 local’s principal officer, that he had repeatedly	 Local 631 (2006)a

	 communicated with barred member Dane Passo

Anthony Rumore (New York Joint Council 16 president)	 Failing to investigate whether Barry Feinstein, an	 Suspended from the union for
	 invited speaker at a Joint Council 16 event and	 sixty days (2003)b

	 former president of Joint Council 16, was a
	 barred person

Anthony Rumore (New York Joint Council 16 president)	 (1) Directing local employees to renovate his 	 Expelled from the IBT (2004)c

	 father’s home and chauffeur his daughters to social
	 events; (2) causing local employees to associate
	 with a barred member; and (3) retaliating against
	 members who refused to help pay for personal 
	 legal fees he incurred in his March 2003 
	 disciplinary case

John Kikes (president of Haywood, CA Local 78 and	 Knowing association with a barred person	 Expelled from the IBT (2005)
international representative)

a In the Matter of Edmund Burke before the Independent Review Board, Affidavit and Agreement, July 17, 2006.
b United States v. Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters, 88 Civ. 4486, Application 105 of the Independent Review Board, In the Matter of Anthony Rumore, May 5, 2003.
c Hearing before a panel appointed by the general president, July 26, 2004.
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Trusteeships

In the IRB’s third term, it recommended that the IBT impose trustee-
ships on six locals. The union complied with all but one of those recom-
mendations.

•	 The IRB recommended that the IBT trustee Cleveland, Ohio IBT 
Local 244 because “the entire local is not being run properly.”88 
The IRB had previously charged the local’s president with embez-
zling at least $3,000 from the union by increasing his salary 11.7 
percent in 1999 and 13.6 percent in 2000 without the local execu-
tive board’s approval.89 Hoffa placed the union under trusteeship.

•	 The IRB recommended that the IBT trustee Collingwood, New 
Jersey IBT Local 676 because an IRB investigation concluded that 
the local “was not being run for the benefit of the members.”90 In 
a two-page letter to the local’s members, Hoffa explained that sev-
eral local officers had committed “serious financial malpractices,” 
including using local-union credit cards for personal expenses 
and directing local employees to perform personal services for of-
ficers’ family members.91

•	 The IRB recommended that the IBT trustee Elmsford, New York 
IBT Local 456 because President Bernard Boyle was running the 
local primarily for the benefit of his family.92 Among other in-
stances of favoritism and financial mismanagement, Doyle had 
paid for personal meals with a union credit card, instructed mem-
bers to perform personal services at his home, and made job re-
ferrals arbitrarily.93 Hoffa imposed an international-union trustee-
ship on Local 456 until the local’s “ability to operate in accordance 
with applicable law and the IBT constitution is restored.”94

•	 The IRB recommended that the IBT trustee Jamaica, New York 
IBT Local 522 because the local “has a long history of ties to . . . the 
Lucchese crime family.95 Hoffa appointed a trustee in March 2003.

•	 The IRB recommended that the IBT trustee San Juan, Puerto Rico 
IBT Local 901. However, instead of appointing a trustee, the IBT 
trained the local’s staff on proper accounting and record-keeping 
procedures. The IRB did not object to this remedy.96
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Conclusion and Analysis

The 2001 Election

The federal prosecutors who negotiated the U.S. v. IBT settlement, per-
suaded by TDU’s and AUD’s arguments, hoped that free and fair rank-and-
file elections would produce a corps of honest IBT officers. By the 2001 
election cycle, there was no organized-crime-backed candidate or faction 
competing for international office. The EO did not have to exclude LCN-
tainted candidates from running for office or nullify voting on account of 
LCN interference with the election. The relationship between the election 
prong of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree and organized-crime control had 
become attenuated. Of course, the guarantee of free and fair rank-and-file 
elections may well be necessary to prevent Cosa Nostra from influenc-
ing the selection of international officers in the future. However, the EO 
seemed to focus on ensuring that IBT elections were free and fair less to 
prevent Cosa Nostra’s infiltration of the union and more to produce an ex-
emplary election as an end in itself.

“Free and fair election” is not a self-defining term. For some union-
democracy proponents (and sometimes, it seemed, for the EO), a free and 
fair election meant an election with a level playing field for insurgents and 
incumbents. Thus, the EO compelled the union to publish accredited can-
didates’ battle pages in Teamster Magazine, capped members’ campaign 
contributions, sought to mount a presidential debate, and sought to in-
crease rank-and-file voting.

However, leveling the electoral playing field proved nearly impossible. 
Incumbents tend to enjoy huge advantages, especially in large constitu-
encies, where candidates cannot make personal contact with more than a 
tiny percentage of voters. (On average, between 1964 and 2008, incumbent 
members of the House of Representatives won reelection 93 percent of the 
time, and incumbent U.S. senators won reelection 86 percent of the time.)97 
Name recognition, money, and patronage make a big difference. Indeed, 
Jim Hoffa enjoyed the support of the great majority of the nationwide corps 
of seven thousand local IBT officers, nearly every regional officer, and all 
GEB members. He raised ten times more money than Leedham, who faced 
an overwhelming challenge in getting his name and message to the far-
flung IBT electorate. The cost of a single mailing to the more than 1.5 mil-
lion union members exceeded Leedham’s total campaign war chest.

Thus, Hoffa’s victory surprised few. Chicago IBT Local 705 Stewards 
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Joe Allen and Donny Schraffenberger observed that “a Leedham victory 
was always a long shot” and that, because virtually every local-union of-
ficer supported Hoffa, “the full weight and resources of the union could 
be brought to the aid of Hoffa against Leedham.”98 Labor reporter Henry 
Phillips also noted that Hoffa had “all the benefits of incumbency, and the 
backing of a unified officialdom.”99

The goal of U.S. v. IBT was to purge LCN influence from the IBT, not 
to make IBT elections exemplary, to increase rank-and-file voting, or to 
create a stable two-party system in the IBT. It would have been inappropri-
ate for the EO to take a position on whether Tom Leedham’s vision of the 
IBT was more democratic than Jim Hoffa’s. Perhaps Leedham’s leadership 
would have produced better processes and outcomes for the IBT, perhaps 
not. Without an LCN figure or faction to combat in the 2001 election, the 
EO’s only objective should have been that the election proceed without in-
timidation or fraud.

The effort to level the electoral playing field frequently put the EO in 
the position of trying to reduce the advantages of the incumbent Hoffa ad-
ministration. As EO Wertheimer commented in his final report to Chief 
Judge Preska, “Not once [during the election] when the interests of Hoffa 
and Leedham or TDU conflicted did the IBT side with Leedham or TDU. 
On virtually every occasion where a plausible (and at times implausible) 
institutional interest could be articulated in favor of Hoffa, it was.”100 Wert-
heimer also charged that the IBT’s support for Hoffa was reflected in its 
attempted interference with the EO’s hiring decisions:

The parties gave themselves the right to approve election office hires. The 
government, while it did suggest one person, did not seek to assert this 
right. The IBT did and it did so after I made my hiring decisions. More 
troubling, in doing so, it was clear to me that it was not acting in its in-
stitutional interest, but rather in the political interest of its general presi-
dent. The IBT backed off only in the face of a resignation threat. It will be 
important in the future to establish provisions that preserve the indepen-
dence of whoever administers IBT elections.101

The Hoffa Administration’s Anticorruption Commitment

Hoffa’s Project RISE was far superior to Carey’s EPC. Stier and Kossler, 
nationally respected and highly experienced investigators and corruption 
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fighters, put their reputations behind the credibility of Hoffa’s anticorrup-
tion commitment. As time passed, however, Hoffa’s support for Project 
RISE proved to be conditional and strategic. He probably realized that im-
plementing the ethics code and enforcement machinery would not result 
in termination of the IRB. The U.S. attorney would not agree to dissolve the 
IRB unless it was replaced by investigative and disciplinary machinery in-
dependent of the IBT, that is, a unit like the IRB. Unsurprisingly, the Hoffa 
administration would not approve that kind of independent disciplinary 
authority. Alternatively, a powerful Chicago faction may have pressured 
Hoffa to pull the plug on Project RISE.

Perhaps RISE could have survived had Stier enjoyed widespread rank-
and-file support. He did not. Even TDU did not stand squarely behind 
him. While the Hoffa administration apparently concluded that Project 
RISE was too independent, TDU’s leaders thought Project RISE was not 
independent enough. TDU’s newsletter described Stier as “Hoffa’s Project 
RISE director,” “Hoffa’s consultant,” or the head of “a corporate law firm.”102 
Stier reacted negatively, sometimes angrily, to these criticisms.103

Stier and Kossler’s charges regarding the Hoffa administration’s mo-
tives for killing Project RISE foreclosed any possibility that the U.S. attor-
ney would agree to terminate the IRB. IBT General Counsel Szymanski 
stated, “You think the government’s going to be anxious to go out right 
now and ink a deal with us? They’re going to be reluctant.”104 Professor G. 
Robert Blakey, a member of the RISE advisory board, noted, “[W]e saw the 
promised land. Six months, we could have been out from under [federal 
oversight]. We just didn’t make it.”105 Blakey’s assessment seems dubious 
because over one-third of the IRB’s third-term disciplinary cases involved 
LCN. In any event, as Jim Hoffa’s second term and the IRB’s third term 
concluded, the end of U.S. v. IBT was not in sight.
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The 2006 Election, the 
IRB’s Fourth Term, and the 
Lead-Up to the 2011 Election

On June 25 [2006] some 1,700 delegates and several hundred alter-
nates will assemble at the Paris Hotel in Las Vegas for the 27th Con-
vention of the Teamsters Union. The majority of these delegates will 
be there to rubber stamp whatever Hoffa proposes. Many see the 
convention as a chance to party on members’ dues money. But hun-
dreds of delegates will fight for changes to rebuild our union’s power 
and strengthen members’ rights ​— ​and history is on their side.1

 ​— ​Teamsters for a Democratic Union, April 20, 2006

In a dramatic conclusion to the IBT’s [2006] Constitutional Con-
vention, Jim Hoffa and Tom Keegel buried their opponents for Gen-
eral President/Secretary-Treasurer in delegate balloting last night, 
winning over 94% of delegates’ votes to 6% for Tom Leedham and 
Sandy Pope. Leedham and Pope disgraced themselves by accepting 
nomination, knowing they were backed by fewer than 1 of 18 del-
egates. The two will apparently force a $10 million general election 
this fall.2� ​ — ​Hoffa campaign, June 30, 2006

The 2006 Election

As the IBT’s 2006 election wound into gear, a nominating convention, fol-
lowed by a nationwide rank-and-file election, no longer seemed like an ex-
periment. The court, EO, and EAM had succeeded in routinizing free and 
fair international-officer elections.

The consent decree provided for DOL to supervise the 2006 election. 
However, as in 2001, Chief Judge Preska approved the IBT’s and DOJ’s joint 
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request to appoint an “election supervisor,” previously called “election of-
ficer” and “election administrator,” to supervise the 2006 election.* DOL’s 
role would be limited to making recommendations. Edelstein appointed 
former federal prosecutor Richard Mark as EO. (As a young AUSA in 
Rudolph Giuliani’s office, Mark had assisted Randy Mastro in drafting the 
U.S. v. IBT complaint. In the 1998 rerun election, Mark served as EO Cher-
kasky’s counsel.) Kenneth Conboy would continue as EAM. As in 2001, the 
IBT agreed to pay for the EO’s election supervision, ultimately $11.5 million, 
perhaps because it believed that the alternative would have been even more 
expensive. (The consent decree did not specify who was responsible for the 
cost of election supervision beyond the 1996 election. However, it provided 
that “[n]othing herein shall preclude the United States of America or the 
United States Department of Labor from taking any appropriate action” in 
the future to enforce the U.S. v. IBT remediation. This provision presum-
ably meant that the government could ask the district court to compel the 
IBT to pay the full cost of the election supervision.)3

Chief Judge Preska approved election rules virtually identical to the 2001 
rules.4 Campaign-contribution caps remained at $2,000 for IBT members 
and $10,000 for candidates. Contribution and expenditure reporting re-
quirements remained unchanged. A few new election rules resulted from 
the merger into the IBT of three unions, representing nearly 150,000 work-
ers. In December 2003, the 59,000-member Brotherhood of Locomotive 
Engineers and Trainmen (BLET), North America’s oldest rail labor union, 
joined the IBT. This was followed by mergers of the 30,000-member Broth-
erhood of Maintenance of Way Employees (BMWE), a smaller rail labor 
union, in October 2004, and the 60,000-member Graphic Communica-
tions International Union (GCIU), representing printing and publishing 
workers, in January 2005. Together, BLET’s and BMWE’s members formed 
an IBT Rail Conference; GCIU’s members constituted an IBT Graphic 
Communications Conference.5 EO Mark issued rules authorizing the for-
mer BLET, BMWE, and GCIU members to elect 2006 IBT convention del-
egates and to vote in the general election.6

Six hundred and fourteen locals participated in the 2006 delegate-
election process, but only 152 locals (25 percent) held contested elections, a 
slight decline from 2001.7 A few delegate elections were highly competitive. 
For example, in NYC, Yanko Fuentes, a Hoffa-slate delegate candidate, sent 
NYC IBT Local 805’s members flyers attacking Local 805 President Sandy 

* For clarity of exposition, the authors will continue referring to this officer as the EO.
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Pope, a delegate candidate and the Leedham slate’s candidate for general 
secretary-treasurer. One Fuentes campaign ad criticized Pope for oppos-
ing IBT salaries over $100,000 while she herself drew a salary exceeding 
$100,000. Another ad blamed Pope for two election violations: first, in 
April 2006, EO Mark required Local 805 to remail delegate-election bal-
lots because the return-ballot envelopes did not contain postage; second, 
in May, Mark ordered the local to rerun its delegate election because the 
local’s election committee improperly collected returned ballots before the 
proper date. Fuentes accused Pope of seeking to “destroy the democratic 
system within our local for her own personal gain” by “sabotag[ing]” the 
delegate election. Mark found that Pope had properly disassociated herself 
from the mechanics of the delegate election and was not responsible for 
either violation.8

The 2006 Election Campaigns

With ample campaign funds, General President Hoffa was able to hire 
campaign staff, organize rallies, and mail campaign promos to the rank 
and file. He fielded a full slate of twenty-five candidates, most of them in-
cumbents. Tom Keegel sought reelection as general secretary-treasurer. 
Ken Hall, the TDU-endorsed candidate for IBT general president in the 
1998 rerun election, joined Hoffa’s slate as a vice presidential candidate. 
John Coli ran for reelection as vice president on Hoffa’s slate despite Stier’s 
accusations that he played a leading role in shutting down Project RISE’s 
Chicago investigations.

Hoffa again campaigned as an anticorruption reformer, deflecting Stier’s 
charges and pointing to trusteeships he imposed on several corrupt locals. 
He claimed credit for increasing the IBT membership by 150,000 since he 
took office (largely attributable to the BLET, BMWE, and GCIU merg-
ers), protecting IBT pension and welfare benefits, keeping the U.S. border 
closed to Mexican truckers, adding more than $60 million to the Team-
ster Strike Fund (from a 25 percent dues increase), and negotiating strong 
collective-bargaining agreements. In July 2005, he took the IBT out of the 
AFL-CIO, explaining that “while throwing money at politicians,” the AFL-
CIO had not rebated IBT dues so that the Teamsters could beef up organiz-
ing drives.9 Hoffa then joined with Service Employees International Union 
(SEIU) President Andrew Stern to form a new labor coalition, Change to 
Win, which included the IBT, the SEIU, the Laborers’ International Union 
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of North America (LIUNA), the United Farm Workers of America, and the 
United Food and Commercial Workers International Union.10

Leedham quickly obtained enough signatures for accreditation, enti-
tling him to free Teamster Magazine battle pages,11 but fundraising was a 
major challenge. “We’ll never match Hoffa dollar for dollar and we don’t 
need to. Grassroots campaigns win elections with sweat and hard work, not 
big cash and slick PR. But our campaign will need money, and it needs seed 
money to get started.”12 Lacking enough money for even a single mailing to 
the full IBT membership, he had to rely on pressing the flesh at work sites 
and on Teamster Magazine battle pages. Leedham insisted that Hoffa had 
concentrated too much power in the international union at the expense 
of local-union autonomy. “Locals don’t need .  .  . cookie cutter directives 
from Washington, D.C. and we don’t need IBT staff flying in and taking 
over.”13 (The latter referred to Hoffa’s use of personal representatives to re-
solve locals’ and joint councils’ problems.) Leedham also criticized Hoffa 
for increasing members’ dues by 25 percent, the largest dues hike in history.

The 2006 Las Vegas Convention

Approximately seventeen hundred delegates, eight hundred alternate 
delegates, and several thousand guests attended the June 26 – ​30 IBT con-
vention in Las Vegas. Hoffa told the audience that the convention delegates 
would “send a loud-and-clear message to Corporate America and the last 
few doubters in our own ranks. Our Teamsters Union is unified, strong 
and ready for battle.”14 Leedham predicted that the convention would be 
“first and foremost a pep rally for the Hoffa administration” and a “three-
ring circus.”15 He warned his delegates to anticipate taunts, heckling, and 
intimidation.

Hoffa’s supporters jeered Leedham. Tyson Johnson, an international 
vice president, excoriated the Leedham slate’s legal and accounting fund 
for accepting a $10,000 donation from the managing partner of “one of 
the worst union-busting law firms in America.” (In United Steelworkers of 
America v. Sadlowski, 457 U.S. 102 (1982), the U.S. Supreme Court had held 
that although unions could prohibit nonmember financial contributions 
to union candidates’ campaigns, unions could not prohibit nonmember 
financial contributions to candidates’ legal and accounting funds.) Hoffa 
delegates chanted, “Give it back! Give it back!” They called Leedham’s pro-
posed constitutional amendments to strengthen local-union autonomy 
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“sheer hypocrisy” in light of the Carey administration’s extensive use of 
trusteeships. They rejected his proposals to limit union officers’ compen-
sation and to directly elect pension-fund trustees. Midconvention, Hoffa 
announced that his administration had reached a “historic” card-check 
agreement that would bring twelve thousand UPS freight employees into 
the IBT;* his press release called the agreement “one of the major U.S. 
labor-organizing victories of the past several decades.”16

Hoffa received 1,614 convention-delegate votes (94 percent) and Leed-
ham a meager 107 votes (6 percent), barely qualifying Leedham for the 
general election. Twenty-five candidates on Hoffa’s slate, seventeen on 
Leedham’s slate, and two Leedham-supported candidates running on a 
separate slate for eastern-region vice presidential positions achieved the 5 
percent threshold. In the western region and in Canada, Leedham’s vice 
presidential running mates did not get enough delegate votes to qualify for 
the general-election ballot. Hoffa demanded that the Leedham slate with-
draw to save the union the millions of dollars required to run a nationwide 
election. On the convention’s last day, the Hoffa campaign distributed a 
press release accusing Leedham of “exploiting” the consent decree’s 5 per-
cent rule by forcing a $10 million general election that he could not pos-
sibly win.

Postconvention Campaigning

Hoffa’s battle pages in Teamster Magazine labeled Leedham “a front 
man for anti-Teamster groups” and promised not to let “Leedham and 
TDU weaken and divide America’s strongest Union.” One promo con-
tained a Leedham caricature operating a crane with a TDU logo, an “I Love 
Walmart” bumper sticker, and a “TDU Wrecking Ball” swinging through 
a crowd of Teamsters. The caption said “ ‘3-Time’ Loser Tom Leedham 
spends every day tearing down our union on his TDU website.” Another 
ad portrayed Leedham wearing a fedora and a glove with attached razor 
blades; the caption said “Tom ‘Freddy Krueger’ Leedham Keeps Coming 
Back to Slash and Divide the Teamsters.”† Hoffa persistently sought to 

* Card-check recognition is an agreement whereby a majority of employees in a bargaining 
unit sign cards stating their desire to be represented by a certain union, and the employer agrees to 
recognize their union status. Card-check is an alternative to achieving exclusive representational 
status via NLRB-supervised secret-ballot election.

† For readers not up-to-date on horror films, Freddy Krueger is the fictional serial killer in A 
Nightmare on Elm Street. He wears a fedora and a glove with razors.
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link Leedham to Ron Carey. One piece of Hoffa campaign literature called 
Leedham “a key player in the Ron Carey Administration that stole over 
$1 million in dues money” and referred to the 1996 Carey campaign scan-
dal as “Carey/Leedham mismanagement and embezzlement.”

Leedham complained that, under Hoffa, truckers’ pension and health-
care benefits had declined. “In the Western Fund, some members have 
seen cuts of up to 25%, and it’s worse in other places.”17 He identified the 
Overnite strike as “[t]he defining failure of the Hoffa administration.”*18 In 
making the case for himself, Leedham claimed that, as the head of Oregon 
IBT Local 206, he negotiated “industry-leading contracts” with generous 
medical and retirement benefits. He stressed his commitment to and repu-
tation for integrity and supporting union democracy. He promised to insti-
tute independent audits of all IBT pension and welfare funds.

Another Leedham v. Hoffa-Stand-In Debate

EO Mark, like his predecessors, sought to encourage rank and filers 
to vote. Toward that end, he set up a debate that would feature a panel of 
labor journalists posing questions to the two general presidential candi-
dates. Hoffa again sent a stand-in, this time General Secretary-Treasurer 
Tom Keegel. At the event, Leedham called Hoffa “missing in action”: “If he 
doesn’t have the courage to come here and defend his own record, how will 
he defend [Teamsters] and their contracts?”

Keegel emphasized Leedham’s TDU ties, referring to Leedham’s “TDU 
friends,” and sought to smear Leedham by association with TDU. “[He’s 
trying] to tear down our union. . . . Him and TDU always attack, attack, at-
tack.” Keegel charged, “Tom Leedham and Ron Carey led the most corrupt 
administration we’ve had in many, many years. . . . They virtually destroyed 
our international union.” Leedham openly welcomed TDU’s support but 
did not confirm that he was a TDU member. As in the 2001 election, TDU 
worked hard to help Leedham’s 2006 slate obtain accreditation and to 
persuade Leedham-friendly Teamsters to run for local delegate positions. 
TDU also produced pro-Leedham and anti-Hoffa campaign literature and 
scrutinized the Hoffa campaign for election-rules violations.

* In October 2002, after three years of dwindling participation in the Hoffa-initiated strike 
against Overnite Transportation, one of the largest nonunion trucking companies in the United 
States, Hoffa called off the strike without a new contract and few gains for the company’s workers. 
This failure was exacerbated in May 2005 when UPS purchased Overnite, raising speculation that 
UPS would shift work from IBT members to Overnite’s nonunionized employees.
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Mark offered both campaigns twenty thousand debate DVDs. Leedham 
accepted; Hoffa declined. Mark then posted the debate video to the World 
Wide Web. However, the website was accessed only six thousand times in 
the thirty-five days before the 2006 election, perhaps because the quality of 
the Web stream was poor or perhaps because most voters were either apa-
thetic about the race or had already made up their minds.

Preballoting Election Protests

EO Mark adjudicated 399 preballoting protests, 25 percent fewer than 
EO Wertheimer had adjudicated in the 2001 election cycle. This might in-
dicate that the Hoffa and Leedham campaigns were complying more fully 
with the election or that the Hoffa campaign, more confident in its domi-
nance, used less-aggressive campaign tactics.

Protests alleged, among other things, wrongful use of IBT resources, 
improper fundraising, voter intimidation, political retaliation, and ineli-
gible candidates. EAM Conboy resolved eighty appeals. One preballoting 
protest, brought by TDU and an IBT Local 957 member, claimed that the 
Hoffa slate had used $2,000 of IBT funds to pay for a poll, designed by 
Hoffa’s campaign consultant and campaign manager, asking Teamsters car-
haulers how they viewed Hoffa’s leadership.19 Mark required the Hoffa slate 
to reimburse the union and to share the poll’s results with all accredited 
candidates.20

Another preballoting protest concerned whether California IBT Local 
78’s officers and employees had made unlawful contributions to the Hoffa 
campaign.21 During an audit of that local’s campaign-finance reports, 
Mark’s office found that, eight years before the audit, Steve Mack, Local 78’s 
secretary-treasurer and the brother of Hoffa-slate vice presidential candi-
date Chuck Mack, had opened a bank account in which to deposit cam-
paign contributions for incumbent Local 78 officers.22 However, instead of 
using the money for Local 78 election campaigns, Steve Mack withdrew 
$14,000 to help the Jim Hoffa – ​Chuck Mack campaign.23 Finding that 
these contributions had not been properly solicited, made, accepted, or re-
ported,24 Mark ordered the Hoffa-Mack campaign to reimburse Local 78 
and imposed an $8,700 fine. He prohibited Local 78’s officers from making 
any further campaign contributions in the 2006 election cycle.25

T.C. Bundrant, principal officer of Tennessee IBT Local 549 and a Leed-
ham supporter, filed a protest charging that two high-level Hoffa-admin-
istration officers conspired to transfer members from his local to Local 71, 
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which Hoffa’s supporters controlled.26 Mark vacated the transfers. Conboy 
affirmed, noting that the evidence “establishes both current political moti-
vation and current political animus.”27

A Kentucky Local 89 member and delegate candidate who supported 
Leedham complained that a pro-Hoffa business agent confiscated Leed-
ham campaign literature distributed at UPS parking lots.28 Mark ruled that 
this conduct violated the leafleters’ right to campaign and the rank and 
file’s right to receive campaign literature.29 Because the business agent’s 
conduct amounted to an illegal endorsement,30 Mark ordered the business 
agent to distribute at the UPS facility a notice stating that he had violated 
the election rules and that Local 89 does not endorse any candidate. The 
EAM affirmed.31

The Election Results

Only 19 percent of eligible voters mailed back ballots, continuing the 
downward trend from 1996 (see fig. 10.1). Hoffa received 174,963 votes (65 
percent) compared to 92,444 votes (35 percent) for Leedham, roughly the 
same margin of victory as in 2001. Hoffa’s entire slate was elected. No dis-
puted ballots had to be counted because, in total, those ballots could not 
change the election’s outcome. Mark certified the election results on Janu-
ary 8, 2007.

Leedham sought to put the best spin on his defeat, pointing out that 
more than one-third of those who voted preferred him to Hoffa and that 
his slate defeated Hoffa’s in seven states and eighty locals.32 “While we did 
not prevail in the election, we mobilized thousands of Teamsters around a 
positive vision for rebuilding our union’s power. Our campaign strength-
ened our union.”33

Figure 10.1
Percentage of Eligible IBT Members Casting Mail-In 

Ballots in IBT Elections (1991 – ​2006)
	 Year	 Voter Turnout

	 1991	 28%
	 1996	 34%
	 1998	 28%
	 2001	 25%
	 2006	 19%
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The IRB: July 2006 – ​July 2011

In the IRB’s fourth five-year term (July 2006 up to November 1, 2010), it has 
so far recommended that the IBT file disciplinary charges against forty-nine 
Teamsters from twenty-two locals in twelve states and Puerto Rico.34 Five 
additional respondents signed precharge settlement agreements. The IRB 
most frequently charged breach of fiduciary duty, embezzlement, failure to 
cooperate with an IRB investigation, and organized-crime membership or 
association (see fig. 10.2). Twenty-five percent of disciplinary respondents 
were members of Boston IBT Local 82, charged with offenses including fa-
voritism and nepotism in the operation of the job-referral system, violating 
members’ right to a fair contract-ratification process, violating local bylaws 
concerning financial controls, colluding with nonunion employers, and, in 
one case, membership in an LCN organized-crime family.

Organized-Crime Cases

More than 30 percent of the IRB’s fourth-term disciplinary charges, 
through November 1, 2010, involved an organized-crime connection. Eight 

Figure 10.2
Types of Charges Recommended by the IRB (2006 – ​2010)
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Teamsters were expelled or resigned based on charges of membership in 
or knowing association with an LCN members (see fig. 10.3). The IRB 
charged an additional seven respondents with failing to cooperate with 
an IRB organized-crime investigation. Four of these respondents were ex-
pelled or resigned; three respondents’ cases were pending as of November 
1, 2010.35

Sanctioning the Top Leadership

The IRB charged one international vice president and several interna-
tional staffers with disciplinary violations. In 2007, pursuant to an IRB 
recommendation, the IBT suspended International Vice President Frank 
Gillen from union membership for three years and from union office for 
five years for testifying falsely about his association with expelled member 
Thomas Ryan. A few months later, International Organizer John Clancy, 
admitting that he met and talked with expelled member Dane Passo, re-
signed from the union and agreed not to seek IBT employment for ten 
years. International Representative William Moore agreed to a year-long 
suspension from IBT office and IBT employment for lying to the IRB about 
his association with Passo.

Several locals’ principal officers or other high-ranking officers also faced 
disciplinary charges (see fig. 10.4). For example, the IRB continued its 
campaign against the Hogan family, which had dominated Chicago IBT 
Local 714 for decades. The IRB recommended that the IBT charge Local 
714 Secretary-Treasurer Robert Hogan with failing to investigate repeated 
contacts between Local 714 Organizing Director Robert Riley and barred 
member William Hogan, Jr.36 Following an IBT hearing, Hoffa suspended 
Hogan from IBT office and employment for six months. The IRB found 
this sanction inadequate, but General President Hoffa refused to enhance 
it. Consequently, in April 2008, the IRB convened a de novo disciplinary 
hearing. Before it rendered its decision, Hogan agreed to permanently re-
sign his membership in Local 714, never to participate in Local 714’s affairs, 
not to serve as an officer or employee of Local 727 for five years, and not to 
hold any IBT officer position for two years.37 Chief Judge Preska approved 
the agreement.38

In September 2009, the IRB recommended that the IBT charge Chicago 
IBT Local 726 President John Falzone (and several other Local 726 offi-
cers) with breaching his fiduciary duties to the local’s members by causing 
the local’s pension fund to enter into two ERISA-prohibited transactions 



Figure 10.3
The IRB’s Charges Involving Membership in LCN and Knowing Association with LCN Members or Associates ( July 2006 – May 2011)

	 Member(s)	 IBT Local	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Joseph Pirro (member)	 Elmsford, NY Local 456	 Knowing association with the Gambino crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (2007)

Peter Innaurato (steward)	 Philadelphia Local 107	 Knowing association with the Philadelphia LCN family	 Resigned from the IBT (2009)

Anthony Manero (member) 	 Lake Success, NY Local 282	 Knowing association with the Gambino crime family	 Resigned from the IBT (2009)

Michael Carucci (member)	 Lake Success, NY Local 282	 Knowing association with the Bonanno crime family	 Resigned from the IBT (2009)

Vincent Federico (member)	 Boston Local 82	 Membership in the Patriarca crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (2010)

Vincent Disario (member)	 Long Island City, NY Local 1901	 Membership in the Bonanno crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (2010)

John Castelle (member)	 Lake Success, NY Local 282	 Membership in the Lucchese crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (2011)

Michael Perelli (member)	 Long Island City, NY Local 1901	 Knowing association with the Lucchese crime family	 Expelled from the IBT (2011)



Figure 10.4
The IRB’s Charges against Top IBT Officials ( July 2006 – ​November 2011)

	 Officer	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Frank Gillen (international vice president)	 Testifying falsely about repeated contacts with	 Barred from IBT office for five years and from IBT 
	 expelled member Thomas Ryan 	 membership for three years (2007)

Don Hahs (president of the IBT’s Rail	 Embezzling $58,000	 Suspended for one year and barred from holding IBT 
Conference and Brotherhood of 		  office or employment until 2010 (2007)
Locomotive Engineers and Trainmen)

George DiPilato (Philadelphia IBT Local	 Embezzling $20,000 to cover personal expenses	 Suspended for five years from IBT membership and
502 principal officer)		  permanent resignation from local office (2007)

Ernest Sowell (Houston IBT Local 747	 Improperly using $251,000 of his local’s money	 Suspended from the IBT for five years; subject to 
principal officer) 		  expulsion if he did not repay the $251,000 within 
		  five years (2009)

German Vazquez (San Juan, Puerto Rico 	 Embezzling $55,000	 Suspended from IBT office and employment until he 
IBT Local 901 principal officer) 		  repaid the money (2009)

Thomas Clair (Chicago IBT Local 726	 Arranging to transfer $125,000 from the local’s	 Resigned from the union (2009)
principal officer)	 pension fund to the local without the fund’s 
	 approval and in violation of ERISA

Richard Radek (BLET vice president)	 Embezzling $6,700	 Paid a fine and retired (2009)

John Falzone (president of Chicago IBT	 Approving a $125,000 loan from the local’s pension	 Suspended for five years (2009)
Local 726); Michael Marcatante (trustee	 fund to the local’s treasury so that the local could
of Chicago IBT Local 726)	 make up for delinquent payments to the Central 
	 States Pension Fund

Patrick Geary (president of Boston IBT	 Violating the local’s bylaws concerning financial	 Disciplinary case pending (2010)
Local 82)	 controls; violating members’ rights to a fair 
	 contract-ratification process



Figure 10.5
IRB Disciplinary Charges against Teamsters Who Knowingly Associated with Barred Persons (July 2006 – ​November 2011)

	 Member(s)	 IBT Local	 IRB-Recommended Charge	 Disposition

Gary Proctor (business agent)	 Pontiac, MI, Local 614	 Knowing association with Michael Bane, 	 Expelled from the IBT (2006)
		  who had been expelled from the union 
		  in 2001 for trying to thwart an IRB 
		  investigation

Frank Incandella (business agent)	 Las Vegas Local 631	 Knowing association with Dane Passo, 	 Expelled from the IBT (2006)
		  who had been expelled in 2002 for 
		  negotiating a sweetheart contract

Raymond Isner (member)	 Las Vegas Local 631	 Knowing association with Dane Passo	 Expelled from the IBT (2006)

James Jackson (member)	 Detroit Local 229	 Knowing association with Michael Bane	 Expelled from the IBT (2007)

John Clancy (international organizer) 	 Chicago Local 705	 Knowing association with Dane Passo	 Resigned from the IBT (2007); barred for 
			   ten years from seeking employment in the 
			   IBT and from having any contact with 
			   IBT members

Michael Conway (steward)	 Philadelphia Local 107	 Knowing association with barred person	 Suspended for ten years from serving as
		  Thomas Ryan, who had been expelled from	 an IBT steward (2009)
		  the union in 1999 for violating the terms 
		  of his suspension
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totaling $125,000 and by failing to administer the pension fund properly. 
The IBT filed the charges; an IBT hearing panel barred Falzone from hold-
ing IBT office for three years and from serving as a fiduciary of any IBT 
benefit fund for five years. The IRB found these sanctions “not inadequate.”

Knowingly Associating with Barred Persons

The IRB recommended that the IBT charge several Teamsters with 
knowingly associating with barred persons (see fig. 10.5). The IBT wrestled 
with how such violations should be punished.

Cases involving a member’s knowing and purposeful contact with a barred 
person present a number of extremely difficult considerations. Not the 
least of these is the fact that it is counterintuitive for a labor organization 
to contemplate expelling a member when, in virtually every other context, 
the organization is committed to retaining existing members.39

Ultimately, the IBT concluded that “expulsion, unfortunately, is the price 
one must pay for choosing to maintain his longstanding personal relation-
ship with a barred person.”40

Trusteeships

The IRB recommended that the IBT impose trusteeships on four locals 
during its fourth term:41

•	 Chicago IBT Local 714 (the Hogans’ local), because the local ex-
ecutive board “jeopardized the local’s interests,” failed “to perform 
its duties as bargaining agent,” and used its job-referral system to 
benefit the friends and relatives of barred members.42 Initially, 
Hoffa appointed a personal representative to work with the local’s 
officers to address the IRB’s concerns. Six months later, however, 
Hoffa imposed a trusteeship, explaining that “additional and im-
mediate steps must be undertaken to protect the interests of mem-
bers and the integrity of Local 714.”43

•	 Chicago IBT Local 726, because several local officers had engaged 
in financial misconduct, including skipping twelve months of 
mandatory pension-fund contributions, waiving a year’s worth of 
membership dues for twenty-seven Teamsters without approval, 
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submitting incomplete monthly financial reports to the IBT, ig-
noring auditors’ instructions to record severance obligations, and 
improperly transferring a large sum of money from the local’s 
treasury into its pension fund.

•	 Philadelphia Local 502, because the local lacked adequate finan-
cial controls and operated under bylaws that the IBT had not ap-
proved.44 Principal Officer George DiPilato had also been charged 
with embezzlement.

•	 Philadelphia IBT Local 107, because its officers were improperly 
using the job-referral system to refer their friends and family 
members for lucrative jobs in the motion-picture and trade-show 
industries.45 This was Local 107’s second trusteeship in fifteen 
years.

Looking toward the 2011 Election

The 2011 election machinery started up in November 2009. Chief Judge 
Preska approved the parties’ agreement that EO Richard Mark and EAM 
Kenneth Conboy would again supervise the election.46 Mark hired eight 
regional directors.47 The IBT agreed to Mark’s $11,333,500 budget.48

In March 2010, Mark proposed 2011 election rules that basically fol-
lowed the 2006 rules. However, one new rule required that candidates 
either return or donate to charity unexpended campaign contributions. 
Another new rule required electronic, rather than hard-copy, submissions 
of both local-union election plans and campaign contribution and expen-
diture reports. Mark posted these rules to the EO’s website, inviting com-
ments from Teamsters, Teamsters employers, and outside organizations. 
AUD proposed an amendment that would make it easier for a candidate to 
qualify for the general-election ballot:

Once the aspiring candidate produces petitions signed by 2½% of the 
membership [rather than 5%] he/she by virtue of those petitions [should 
be] guaranteed a place on the ballot. . . . The danger in the Teamsters union 
is that international elections will become, as they were before the consent 
decree, a travesty of democracy. If 30,000 or 40,000 Teamsters who have 
openly declared their support for a candidate by signing a petition dis-
cover that their choice is denied even a place on the ballot, how can they 
take such an election seriously? How can they be expected to do it again 
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in a subsequent election? Faith in the very process of democracy is under-
mined. Cynicism leads to apathy. Apathy reopens the door to corruption.49

TDU proposed that the election rules require a general presidential de-
bate, that stand-ins not be permitted to participate, and that a DVD copy 
of the debate be mailed to every Teamster. Neither AUD’s nor TDU’s pro-
posals were accepted. In April 2010, Chief Judge Preska approved the EO’s 
proposed rules.50 On May 25, 2010, Jim Hoffa and Tom Keegel announced 
that they would seek reelection as general president and general secretary-
treasurer.51 That same day, Fred Gegare ​— ​an international vice president, 
former president of Green Bay, Wisconsin IBT Local 75, and director of 
the IBT’s Dairy Conference and Food Processing Division ​— ​announced 
that he would challenge Hoffa. He criticized Hoffa for surrounding him-
self with “the wrong people,” “forgetting the membership,” and thwarting 
local-union autonomy.52 Gegare subsequently recruited eight running 
mates, two of whom currently serve on the GEB.53 Gegare’s campaign web-
site states that “[t]he Teamsters Union has been headed by Tony Soprano 
wannabes for too long” and that Hoffa “hasn’t eliminated the need for the 
Independent Review Board.”54

On July 15, 2010, General Secretary-Treasurer Keegel announced that he 
had changed his mind and would retire in 2012. In a letter to the GEB, he 
implicitly criticized Hoffa by observing that “continuing down the same 
road as the IBT has traveled for the last few years will not lead us out of 
our present difficulties or help us avoid problems yet to come.”55 Inter-
national Vice President Ken Hall replaced Keegel on Hoffa’s full slate of 
twenty-eight candidates, most of whom obtained enough rank and filers’ 
signatures to achieve accreditation, entitling them to free battle pages in 
Teamster Magazine and on the IBT’s website.

On October 10, 2010, Sandy Pope ​— ​the president of twelve-hundred-
member NYC IBT Local 804 and a former truck driver, warehouse worker, 
steelhauler, and international representative ​— ​launched her candidacy for 
general president. In the 2006 election, as Leedham’s general secretary-
treasurer running mate, Pope received more votes than anyone else on 
that slate. TDU’s steering committee immediately endorsed Pope, who ex-
plained that, as general president, her main priorities would be to protect 
members’ jobs, to obtain better contracts, and to grow the union’s health 
and pension funds.56 In a Labor Notes interview the day after she an-
nounced her candidacy, Pope predicted that Hoffa and Gegare would split 
the support of the Teamsters establishment, as R.V. Durham and Walter 
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Shea had done in 1991.57 Pope has not formed a slate or recruited running 
mates, but she easily obtained enough members’ signatures to become an 
accredited candidate. (Gegare failed to achieve accreditation, an ominous 
sign for his campaign.)

As of mid-April 2011, EO Mark has decided 224 election protests, and 
EAM Conboy has decided thirty-five appeals. The protests have involved, 
among other things, improper use of union or employer resources for 
campaign purposes, failure to report campaign contributions and expen-
ditures properly, and ineligibility of convention-delegate candidates. The 
Gegare campaign filed the most important election protest, accusing Gen-
eral President Hoffa and three incumbent vice presidents of offering bribes 
(union jobs and benefits) to three Teamsters leaders if they would support 
the Hoffa slate.58 In effect, this accusation charged Hoffa and his colleagues 
with attempting to use union funds to further their campaigns (a variation 
of the embezzlement-of-Teamsters-funds charge that led to Carey’s down-
fall in 1998.) After a six-month investigation, EO Mark concluded that Hall 
had offered IBT Joint Council 94 President Fred Zuckerman (Gegare’s vice 
presidential running mate) a new job with higher pay and an additional 
pension if he dropped his bid for a GEB position. He also found that In-
ternational Trustees Frank Gallegos and Henry Perry (a Gegare running 
mate) were offered jobs as full-time international representatives if they 
agreed to resign from the GEB and support Hoffa. Zuckerman, Gallegos, 
and Perry rejected these enticements.

Mark observed that the bribe proposals reflected “a culture, or mind-set 
where elected union officials do not clearly distinguish between their fidu-
ciary responsibilities to the union and their separate political objectives of 
achieving election.”59 However, he ruled that the proposals did not violate 
the election rules because “there are no improperly solicited or dispensed 
funds to return, there is no adverse employment action to undo, and there 
was no use of a resource that could be balanced by an order for equal ac-
cess.”60 Mark explained that if the proposed bribes “had advanced to con-
crete action, serious consequences would quite likely follow,” but that the 
respondents “were saved from serious consequences . . . because their pro-
posals were rejected by those to whom they were offered.”61

EAM Conboy reversed, explaining that the job offers “represent exactly 
the type of misconduct that the Election Supervisor was charged with rem-
edying.”62 Conboy concluded that the offers themselves constituted an im-
proper use of union resources for election purposes and, more generally, 
threatened the integrity of the election process. On remand, Mark ordered 
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the Hoffa campaign (1) to cease and desist from attempting to use union 
resources for political activity and (2) to mail a notice to all IBT locals de-
scribing the attempted bribery and the cease-and-desist order, to publish 
that notice in Teamster Magazine, and to post the notice on the IBT’s web-
site for the duration of the election cycle. Conboy affirmed that sanction.

Conclusion and Analysis

The 2006 Election

The 2006 IBT election, again supervised by an independent monitor op-
erating in the shadow of the federal court, was free and fair by any reason-
able standard. Although the candidates sharply criticized each other, the 
campaigning was peaceful and lawful and the convention mostly orderly. 
The IBT provided adequate funding. In resolving election protests, Mark 
drew on precedents established in hundreds of prior election-protest rul-
ings. The IBT has accomplished what no other international union has ever 
done, running a nationwide rank-and-file election according to fair and 
enforceable rules covering convention-delegate elections, convention pro-
cedures and nominations, campaign contributions and expenditures, cam-
paign conduct, general-election balloting, and election protests.

Nevertheless, some critics (e.g., TDU and AUD) still find the IBT elec-
tions unfair because the incumbents continue to enjoy big advantages.63 In 
their view, fairness would require a completely level playing field on which 
incumbents enjoyed little, if any, advantage. But it seems to us that the test 
of whether an election is free and fair cannot be whether challengers and 
incumbents have equal chances of winning. As Lipset, Trow, and Coleman 
pointed out fifty years ago in their seminal study of union democracy, “The 
nature of large-scale organizations is such as to give the incumbent officials 
overwhelming power as compared with that of the opposition.”64

The IBT general president has practically universal name recognition; 
through IBT publications, such as Teamster Magazine, he can shape the 
opinions and perceptions of the rank and file. The general president has 
immense patronage at his disposal because he controls the hiring, firing, 
salaries, and fringe benefits of union employees, including executive as-
sistants, representatives, auditors, and organizers. He appoints local and 
international officers to paid positions on various union committees and 
can make or break union careers. Consequently, the incumbent general 
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president can count on the support of most of the more than seven thou-
sand IBT officeholders.

It is difficult for an insurgent candidate to raise sufficient funds to 
mount a competitive nationwide campaign. Because of the 5 percent rule, it 
is not even guaranteed that an insurgent candidate will make it to the gen-
eral election. In 2006, some of Leedham’s vice presidential running mates 
did not receive enough votes at the nominating convention to earn places 
on the general-election ballot. Had just fifteen fewer convention delegates 
voted for Tom Leedham, there would have been no general election for 
IBT president.*

The IRB

In the second half of the IRB’s fourth five-year term, there was a slight 
surge in the number of IRB disciplinary recommendations. The IRB rec-
ommended charges against more disciplinary respondents (nineteen) in 
2010 than in any year since 2000. Still, the IRB has recommended far fewer 
disciplinary charges per year in its fourth term than the disciplinary of-
ficers brought or recommended in the first decade of the U.S. v. IBT re-
mediation. In the IA/IO phase of the consent decree (July 1989 – ​October 
1992), the IO brought charges against seventy-five Teamsters per year. In 
the IRB’s first five-year term (October 1992 – ​July 1997), it recommended 
charges against forty-three Teamsters per year. In its second five-year term 
(July 1997 – ​July 2001), it recommended charges against thirty-seven per 
year. In its third five-year term, it recommended charges against eleven per 
year. And in its fourth five-year term, up to November 1, 2010, it recom-
mended charges against approximately ten per year. This trend may reflect 
a declining amount of corruption, better concealed corruption, or a shift in 
the IRB’s investigative priorities. We think the latter is most likely.

Despite the overall decline in the number of disciplinary recommen-
dations, the IRB continues to identify serious wrongdoing, including 
organized-crime influence. Although there is no evidence that Cosa Nos-

* AUD’s Herman Benson has called the 5 percent rule a “dangerous flaw” in the IBT election 
process, urging its replacement with a rule that entitles a candidate who obtains 2.5 percent of 
members’ supporting signatures to a place on the general-election ballot. Disagreeing, former 
AUD Executive Director Susan Jennik supports the 5 percent rule, noting that a candidate who 
cannot muster the support of this small fraction of delegates has no realistic chance of winning 
the general election. Herman Benson, Teamster Convention Reveals Fatal Flaw in Election Rules, 
Union Democracy Review, July – ​Aug. 2006, at 7; interview with Susan Jennik, Jan. 21, 2010.
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tra continues to influence the union’s selection of international officers or 
the operation of its pension and welfare funds, its influence clearly has not 
been eradicated. So far in the IRB’s fourth term, at least fifteen Teamsters 
(30 percent of all disciplinary respondents) have been charged with LCN-
related disciplinary offenses.

The IRB will never purge the IBT, a 1.3-million-member union spread 
across North America, of all run-of-the-mill corruption. The signatories of 
the consent decree (especially the union defendants) almost certainly did 
not have that goal in mind. DOJ brought the U.S. v. IBT civil RICO com-
plaint because of organized-crime infiltration and exploitation, not because 
of ordinary corruption. Thus, the IRB’s past accomplishments and future 
mission should not be measured by the number of “ordinary corruption” 
cases investigated, prosecuted, and punished. Instead, the performance of 
and the need for the IRB should be gauged by the amount of organized-
crime influence in the union and the IRB’s success in investigating and 
eliminating it. Admittedly, it will not be easy to determine when LCN’s 
influence has been eliminated. That the IRB, in 2010 alone, charged three 
Teamsters with being members of three different Cosa Nostra organized-
crime families (Patriarca, Bonanno, and Lucchese) clearly demonstrates 
that success has not yet been achieved.

The 2011 Election

The 2011 IBT election is shaping up to be the most competitive elec-
tion for general president since the 1996 battle between incumbent Ron 
Carey and challenger Jim Hoffa. As in the 1991 election, the IBT leadership, 
including the GEB members, regional officers, and local officers, are not 
squarely behind one candidate. Most Teamsters officers will probably sup-
port Jim Hoffa, either because they are in his administration or because 
they depend on his goodwill and largesse. Nevertheless, some officers have 
already thrown their support behind International Vice President Fred 
Gegare; several have joined his slate. If Hoffa and Gegare split the support 
of the union’s leadership and, in turn, of the rank and file, Sandy Pope has a 
better chance than any insurgent candidate since Ron Carey.*

* On June 30, 2011, the convention delegates gave sufficient votes to nominate all three general 
presidential candidates for the general-election ballot: Hoffa (1326); Gegare (141); and Pope (137).
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Lessons, Reflections, 
and Speculations

Racketeering is the cancer that almost destroyed the American 
trade-union movement.1

 ​— ​David Dubinsky, A Life with Labor, 1977

We got our money from gambling, but our real power, our real 
strength, came from the unions. With the unions behind us, we 
could shut down . . . the country.2

 ​— ​Vincent Cafaro, lieutenant, Genovese crime family, 
April 1988

Regardless of unionism’s strength, politics, or workplace locale . . . 
accusations of corruption, bossism, and union bureaucracy are 
deployed . . . to discredit the unions, both those that are tarnished 
by such malfeasance and those that are squeaky clean. . . . [Due to 
this] demonization . . . the unions are now highly regulated insti-
tutions, far more so than almost any other voluntary institution 
in American society. . . . But all that has not stopped those who 
still tag the unions as a fount of corruption, payoffs, and barely 
veiled coercion.3

 ​— ​Nelson Lichtenstein, in the Chronicle of Higher Education, 
January 17, 2010

Politics

U.S. v. IBT, a government lawsuit that charged the nation’s largest and 
most powerful private-sector union with being racketeer ridden, has to be 
placed in political context. This lawsuit would be impossible in most coun-
tries, especially where there is a “Labor” political party. That U.S. v. IBT 
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was politically possible in 1988 confirms what all well-informed American 
political and labor observers know: the private-sector labor movement 
has weakened dramatically since the mid-twentieth century. Indeed, the 
Teamsters Union experienced a 35 percent membership decline from 1976 
(2 million members) to 2010 (1.3 million members). Nevertheless, nearly 
one in five private-sector union members is a Teamster. The IBT also con-
tinues to wield considerable political clout; in 2010, it ranked twenty-first 
among all political contributors in the United States, ahead of Goldman 
Sachs, Microsoft, and Walmart.

DOJ attracted a barrage of criticism for filing U.S. v. IBT. Many labor 
leaders, politicians, and celebrities, among others, damned the lawsuit as 
an attack on a free and democratic labor movement. We find such criti-
cism highly cynical. The close relationship between organized crime and 
the Teamsters Union had been common knowledge at least since the Sen-
ate’s 1957 – ​59 McClellan Committee hearings. Indeed, in 1957, the AFL-CIO 
expelled the IBT from the labor federation on account of corruption and 
racketeering. Scores of criminal prosecutions over the next three decades 
confirmed and illuminated organized crime’s influence in the union. In 
the mid-1980s, the President’s Commission on Organized Crime (PCOC) 
reported that the IBT was the most racketeer-ridden union in the United 
States. The IBT’s leaders had done nothing to resist Cosa Nostra’s influence. 
To the contrary, they (some actively and some passively) collaborated with 
LCN to exploit the union and its rank and file. It is a depressing comment 
on the state of American politics that, despite this notorious record, 264 
members of Congress signed a petition, in 1988, denouncing DOJ’s antici-
pated civil RICO lawsuit against the IBT as an attack on a democratic labor 
movement.

Given the labor movement’s close relationship with the Democratic 
Party, the government probably would not have brought U.S. v. IBT when 
the Democrats controlled the White House. Indeed, the lawsuit’s oppo-
nents claimed that it demonstrated the Reagan administration’s intent to 
destroy the labor movement. (President Reagan had previously drawn la-
bor’s enmity for breaking the Professional Air Traffic Controllers Organi-
zation strike in the first year of his first presidential term.)

Ironically, the IBT, practically alone among labor unions, had endorsed 
Reagan’s presidential candidacy in 1980. President Reagan delivered a 
taped address to the 1981 IBT international convention, thanking the union 
for supporting his campaign and effusively praising the union, includ-
ing General President Roy Williams and former General President Frank 
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Fitzsimmons. “I hope to be in team with the Teamsters,” Reagan said.4 The 
IBT endorsed Reagan again in 1984 and George H.W. Bush’s presidential 
candidacy in 1988. That Reagan’s DOJ filed U.S. v. IBT in 1988 therefore 
shocked some labor-movement pundits and, of course, most Teamsters.

By the mid-1980s, the FBI’s and DOJ’s organized-crime-control pro-
gram had achieved unstoppable momentum. Cosa Nostra was the FBI’s 
number-one crime target; major prosecutions were taking place all over 
the country. Still, the 1986 President’s Commission on Organized Crime 
criticized the Reagan administration for not aggressively moving against 
organized crime’s power base in labor unions, especially the Teamsters. 
Given the momentum of the attack on LCN and the well-known long-term 
relationship between the IBT and LCN, White House political operatives 
probably could not have stopped U.S. v. IBT, even if they had wanted to 
do so, without risking a scandal. While we do not argue that federal law 
enforcement is completely apolitical (especially in light of the U.S. attor-
neys’ scandal during George W. Bush’s administration),* we view U.S. v. 
IBT as good evidence of a substantially apolitical federal law-enforcement 
establishment. That DOJ has sustained the remedial phase of U.S. v. IBT, 
without interruption or diminution of vigor, under Presidents George 
H.W. Bush, Bill Clinton, George W. Bush, and Barack Obama, supports 
this conclusion.

Other than 264 congresspersons’ petition to Attorney General Meese, 
the only significant political involvement in U.S. v. IBT was Rep. Peter 
Hoekstra’s hearings, from October 1997 to October 1998, on the invali-
dated 1996 IBT election and on the fairness, competency, and expense of 
the court-appointed officers.5 We cannot discern Hoekstra’s motives in 
convening the House Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations hear-
ings, which led to legislation that denied public funds for monitoring the 
1998 rerun election. The propriety of using taxpayer money to supervise a 
union election, especially a rerun election, is not a surprising concern for a 
fiscal conservative such as Hoekstra. However, the organization and tenor 
of the hearings suggest that protecting the taxpayers was probably not his 
only motive. Given the IBT’s influence in Hoekstra’s Detroit congressional 
district and his relationship with Jim Hoffa, it is likely that he also meant to 
demonstrate and generate support for Hoffa, including Hoffa’s ambition to 

* Fortunately, the powerful negative reaction to the political firings of nine U.S. attorneys in 
2007, and subsequent resignations of nine DOJ officials, including the U.S. attorney general, sug-
gests that the firings were the exception that proves the rule. See Bruce A. Green & Fred Zacharias, 
The U.S. Attorneys Scandal and the Allocation of Prosecutorial Power, 69 Ohio St. L.J. 187 (2008).
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bring about termination of the consent decree. Undoubtedly, Hoekstra also 
welcomed the opportunity to embarrass the Democratic Party, some of its 
liberal supporters, and the AFL-CIO by illuminating their roles in the 1996 
campaign-contribution-swap scandal.

Civil RICO

Congress enacted RICO in 1970 to combat Cosa Nostra’s infiltration of 
the legitimate economy, explicitly including labor unions.6 However, it 
took almost a decade for federal prosecutors to become comfortable using 
the complex new statute. Although federal prosecutors brought scores of 
successful RICO and other criminal prosecutions against LCN members 
and associates between 1970 and 1985, PCOC charged that LCN’s power 
in the legitimate economy remained strong. When LCN members or as-
sociates went to prison, the LCN crime families promoted others to take 
their places. Corrupted unions remained corrupted. PCOC strongly rec-
ommended that DOJ bring a civil RICO suit against the Teamsters Union. 
Indeed, it called such a suit the only hope for breaking LCN’s hold on 
the union.

Starting with the civil RICO lawsuit against Union City, New Jersey IBT 
Local 560, jointly brought by the New Jersey U.S. attorney and the fed-
eral organized-crime strike force in 1982, civil RICO proved to be an ideal 
weapon for attacking systemic labor racketeering. In many cases, the FBI 
and DOJ did not need to launch a new investigation. They could draft a 
strong civil RICO complaint based on organized-crime figures’ and union 
officials’ previous criminal convictions. DOJ lawyers named the union it-
self as a nominal defendant in U.S. v. IBT for purposes of shaping the rem-
edy. In other words, to prevent the defendant mobsters and union officials 
from continuing to commit RICO offenses, it was necessary to reform the 
union’s operations, especially its disciplinary enforcement machinery and 
election procedures. The biggest advantage of using civil RICO to combat 
organized crime’s exploitation of a labor union is the opportunity to ob-
tain a court-appointed and court-supervised remedial team for as long as is 
necessary to purge the union of organized crime’s influence.

Since 1982, DOJ has filed more than twenty civil RICO suits against 
racketeer-ridden labor unions.7 All of these suits have resulted in favorable 
outcomes for the government, including court-appointed trustees or moni-
tors. However, not all of the trusteeships and monitorships have succeeded. 
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Civil RICO is not a panacea. Achieving reform has been much more dif-
ficult than winning a judgment. Unfortunately, after more than twenty-five 
years, there is no government-sponsored research or best practices on civil 
RICO trusteeships. Still, it is clear that for a civil RICO lawsuit against a 
racketeer-ridden union to achieve its goals, there must be a strong consent 
decree and a team of government lawyers ready, willing, and able to go to 
court, time and again, to make the defendants abide by its terms. More-
over, the reform effort will fail unless the presiding judge is willing and able 
to enforce both the letter and the spirit of the decree. However, even that, 
though necessary, is not sufficient. There must be a highly determined and 
competent court-appointed monitor with ample authority and resources 
to enforce the decree. Some monitorships have failed because the consent 
decree did not give the monitor sufficient investigative or adjudicative au-
thority or adequate resources. Others have failed because the monitors, 
perhaps distracted by other work, did not devote the necessary time and 
energy to the task. In still other cases, the monitors were just not savvy 
enough or tough enough to stand up to the racketeers and their lawyers.

The U.S. v. IBT remediation has been fortunate, since the beginning, 
in having determined and competent enforcers. The U.S. attorney’s office 
for SDNY has always enjoyed an outstanding reputation for being apoliti-
cal and highly competent. At the time it brought U.S. v. IBT, U.S. Attorney 
Giuliani’s office had already successfully prosecuted some of the most am-
bitious organized-crime cases in U.S. history. It also had considerable expe-
rience litigating civil RICO cases against labor racketeers.

Giuliani’s team predicted correctly that Judge David Edelstein would be 
a good choice to handle the first civil RICO suit against the leadership of 
an international union. From the outset, Edelstein took ownership of the 
case. He issued decisions expeditiously and emphatically, demonstrating 
time and again his intent to use all available judicial authority to cleanse 
the IBT of organized-crime influence. His determination was best exhib-
ited in his breathtakingly ambitious nationwide All Writs Act injunction, 
which ordered that all litigation relating to the U.S. v. IBT consent decree 
be brought only in his courtroom. Without this ruling, the whole remedial 
effort would have been stymied.

Judge Edelstein required the IBT to provide ample funding for the 
court officers and their staffs. His appointments to these positions proved 
to be brilliant. It is hard to imagine three enforcement officers more com-
petent than Charles Carberry, Frederick Lacey, and Michael Holland. As 
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IO, IA, and EO, they relentlessly pressed the remediation forward, at times 
overcoming intense IBT opposition. They were also able to draw on the 
assistance of the FBI and DOJ. When one of Holland’s successors as EO 
faltered, Edelstein replaced her immediately. The rest of Edelstein’s EO ap-
pointments performed extremely well.

The Consent Decree

To be successful, civil RICO institutional-reform litigation requires a strong 
remedial order or, in the case of a settlement, a strong consent decree. A 
strong consent decree depends, of course, on a strong government case, the 
government’s ability to prevail at trial if necessary, and well-conceived and 
well-drafted remedial provisions.

DOJ had a strong case against the IBT based on decades of publicly 
available information documenting LCN’s extensive influence in the Mar-
ble Palace, many IBT locals and joint councils, and the Central States Pen-
sion Fund. The biggest challenge for DOJ was to decide what remedy would 
provide the best chance of achieving organizational reform. In some of the 
civil RICO lawsuits against union locals (e.g., the IBT Local 560 case), a 
court-appointed officer substituted for the union’s executive authority. In 
those cases, the court-appointed officer actually ran the union, including 
its collective-bargaining negotiations and grievance handling. This prob-
ably would not have been feasible in the case of an international union. 
Even if feasible, it would not have been desirable because the reform ef-
fort would have bogged down in the massive responsibilities of day-to-day 
administration. Giuliani’s team wisely decided to focus on taking control 
of and using the union’s disciplinary apparatus to attack corrupt union 
officials and their mobster allies. The principal reform strategy would be 
expelling those union officials who had cooperated with LCN, actively or 
passively. Toward that end, the federal lawyers won a crucial victory in 
making resignation the price of settlement for incumbent GEB officers. In 
addition, the consent decree created an investigative and prosecutorial unit 
and process that functioned like an administrative criminal justice system 
just for the Teamsters Union. Whether the decision to reform the IBT’s 
system for selecting international officers was as wise as the decision to 
use the disciplinary machinery to purge corrupt officers is a question we 
explore later.
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The Consent Decree’s Disciplinary Prong

From July 26, 1989, through November 1, 2010, the IO and IRB brought 
or recommended disciplinary charges against 668 Teamsters who belonged 
to 138 different IBT locals located in 78 cities in 21 U.S. states, Washing-
ton, D.C., Canada, and Puerto Rico. More than a third (230) of these cases 
were brought in the first three years of the twenty-two-year (and count-
ing) remediation (see fig. 11.1). The disciplinary respondents included 212 
rank and filers, 102 local presidents, 102 local secretary-treasurers, 48 lo-
cal vice presidents, 38 local recording secretaries, 18 business agents, and 
two dozen international officers, including one IBT general president (Ron 
Carey). These impressive numbers actually understate the extent of the 
remediation because several mobbed-up IBT locals ​— ​for example, Union 
City, New Jersey Local 560 and Long Island City, New York Local 808 ​— ​
were subject to separate civil RICO lawsuits that resulted in independent 
court-appointed trustees who carried out their own discipline. In addition, 
an unknown number of IBT officers and rank and filers resigned or retired 
from the IBT because they anticipated being charged.

More than half of all disciplinary respondents (336) were members of 
New York locals, especially NYC Local 813, Lake Success Local 282, and 
Valley Stream Local 295; these three locals account for over one hundred 
disciplinary respondents. Moreover, as figure 11.2 shows, nearly 40 percent 
of all disciplinary respondents belonged to just fifteen racketeer-ridden or 
mobbed-up locals. Over half of the disciplinary respondents (374), includ-
ing fifty-three local presidents, more than a dozen international officers, 
and one general president (Carey), have been expelled or agreed to resign.

Figure 11.3 shows the distribution of disciplinary charges. By far the 
most common disciplinary charges (40 percent) involved misappropria-
tion of union funds. One-quarter of all disciplinary respondents (about 
160) faced embezzlement charges. Eighty-nine others were charged with 
other financial-misconduct violations, including extortion, bribery, mak-
ing illegal loans to union officers, violating bylaws governing financial con-
trols, improperly influencing pension-fund investments, providing union 
benefits to non-Teamsters or LCN figures, sham collective-bargaining 
agreements, and spending union money without approval. About one-fifth 
of disciplinary cases (120) explicitly involved organized crime. Twenty-five 
Teamsters were expelled from the IBT for being members of a Cosa Nostra 
crime family; sixty-one were expelled for knowingly associating with Cosa 
Nostra figures; and approximately three dozen were expelled or suspended 
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Figure 11.1
Number of Disciplinary Respondents per Year (1989 – ​2010)

Figure 11.2
Numbers of Disciplinary Charges against Different Individuals per Local
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for failing to cooperate with IRB investigations into Cosa Nostra’s influ-
ence in the union. Nineteen IBT local presidents were expelled for LCN-
related disciplinary violations; of the IO’s first thirty-eight organized-crime 
cases, all the respondents were IBT officers. Another one-fifth of disciplin-
ary respondents were charged with failing to cooperate with an IO or IRB 
investigation.

Since July 1989, pursuant to direct IA or IRB action or IRB recommen-
dations, fifty-four local unions and three joint councils have been placed 
under international-union trusteeships, lasting from several months to 
several years. In some cases, those trusteeships successfully eliminated, or 
at least greatly reduced, corruption and racketeering. In other cases, cor-
rupt practices reappeared after the trusteeship’s termination, and the local 
had to be retrusteed (e.g., Philadelphia IBT Local 107).

Figure 11.3
Most Common IRB Disciplinary Charges (1993 – ​2010)
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The sum total of this administrative disciplinary enforcement is ex-
traordinary. There has never been private-sector organizational reform 
on this scale; the administrative infrastructure of the IBT has significantly 
changed. Much space has opened up for new leadership, and investiga-
tions, adjudications.

The Consent Decree’s Election Prong

The U.S. v. IBT consent decree is the only civil RICO consent decree 
involving an international union that included a remedial-election-reform 
prong.*8 The DOJ lawyers who negotiated the settlement accepted AUD’s 
and TDU’s thesis that free and fair rank-and-file elections would lead to 
the removal of LCN-influenced officers and would prevent corrupt indi-
viduals from attaining union office. This thesis conceals two assumptions: 
first, that rank and filers know, or will find out, which candidates for in-
ternational office are controlled or influenced by LCN; second, that accu-
rately informed rank and filers will vote against corrupt candidates. Both 
assumptions should be questioned.

How is the ordinary Teamster to know which candidates for interna-
tional-union office are influenced or controlled by organized-crime figures 
or are otherwise corrupt? Many candidates boast of their own integrity 
and call their opponents corrupt. Every IBT general presidential candidate 
since 1991 has claimed to be honest, reform-minded, and hostile to orga-
nized crime; invariably, they accuse their opponents of being the opposite. 
Charges and countercharges fly back and forth. There is no judge to decide 
who is telling the truth. The ordinary Teamster has likely never met the 
general presidential or vice presidential candidates; even if he or she had, it 
probably would not improve his or her capacity to make an informed opin-
ion about their commitment to rooting out corruption.

Moreover, most Teamsters, like most rank and filers in other unions, 
pay little attention to union politics, including the campaigns of candidates 
for international office. Political apathy is the rule. Since the U.S. v. IBT set-
tlement decreed elections for convention delegates, more than 50 percent 

* There have been only four civil RICO suits against international unions. In addition to U.S. 
v. IBT, DOJ obtained consent decrees in suits against the Hotel and Restaurant Workers Interna-
tional Union and the Laborers’ International Union of America (LIUNA). DOJ’s civil RICO com-
plaint against the International Longshoremen’s Association was dismissed and then amended and 
refiled; as of May 2011, it is still pending.
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of all convention-delegate elections have gone uncontested. Moreover, 75 
percent of Teamsters have not bothered to cast mail-in ballots for general 
president and other international officers.

The minority who did vote likely based their opinions of the candidates 
on their friends’ and local-union officers’ opinions and on information 
contained in Teamster Magazine and in candidates’ campaign literature. 
Unlike elections for local, state, and federal office, there are no independent 
“good government” organizations or media sources that provide informa-
tion or opinions about IBT international-union officers. Indeed, it would 
be very difficult for a “neutral” reporter to competently investigate a can-
didate’s integrity or anticorruption commitment. Even if such a reporter 
could do so, it is unlikely that he or she could persuade readers that his 
or her reporting is reliable and unbiased. TDU, of course, purports to be 
a reliable truth-telling organization, but it is hardly seen as neutral. TDU 
functions like an opposition party or faction, relentlessly criticizing IBT 
officialdom and endorsing insurgent candidates.

Even if the rank and file could determine which candidates are honest 
and which corrupt, the second assumption ​— ​that knowledgeable Team-
sters will vote for the honest candidates ​— ​is not necessarily true. During 
the drafting stage of the U.S. v. IBT complaint, TDU insisted that Team-
sters, like other Americans, would not vote for racketeers. Unfortunately, 
however, many Americans have and do vote for corrupt candidates. In 
federal, state, and local elections for legislative and executive offices, vot-
ers frequently reelect candidates who are tainted by corruption allega-
tions and scandals. They overwhelmingly reelect incumbents, despite al-
legations of misconduct, and they are little influenced by the opinions of 
“good government” organizations. (On average, incumbent members of 
the House of Representatives win election more than 90 percent of the 
time, and incumbent U.S. senators win reelection more than 85 percent of 
the time.) Even criminal charges may not prevent reelection.9 Moreover, 
even if a majority of voters rejects a corrupt incumbent, there is no assur-
ance that the incumbent’s successor is or will remain honest.* IBT rank 

* World and U.S. history are filled with examples of self-professed reformers who turn out to be 
corrupt officeholders. For example, Rod Blagojevich, who was removed as governor of Illinois and 
later convicted of a federal crime based on his alleged attempt to “sell” a vacant U.S. Senate seat, 
based his successful 2002 Illinois gubernatorial campaign largely on an anticorruption platform. 
Upon announcing his candidacy, he proclaimed that “a governor must be willing to take on the 
special interests, not carry their water. . . . It means shaking up a system that serves itself instead of 
the people.” Joanna Lin, He Campaigned as a Reformer, Los Angeles Times, Dec. 10, 2008.
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and filers, with or without accurate information, might prefer the devil 
they know to the devil they do not know. (“He may be a crook, but he’s 
our crook.”) They may themselves be dependent on corrupt officers for 
special benefits. They may fear retaliation if they vote against the incum-
bent (even though convention-delegate and international-officer balloting 
is anonymous).

Some mob-connected IBT officials have been charismatic and person-
ally popular. Jimmy Hoffa, Sr.’s name remains hugely popular among rank-
and-file Teamsters even though he was convicted of union-related corrup-
tion. After Ed Stier became trustee of IBT Local 560 and oversaw a free 
and fair election, the members chose the Provenzano brothers’ nephew as 
the local’s principal officer. Of course, Ron Carey was voted into the IBT 
general presidency as an anticorruption reformer and proved to be cor-
rupt himself. (Indeed, even after the IRB found that Carey had embezzled 
money from the union via his campaign’s contribution-swap scheme, many 
Teamsters, including some who professed to be greatly concerned about 
corruption, continued to praise him.)

Lessons for Union Democracy

Fifty years ago, in a classic study of the Typographical Workers Union, Lip-
set, Trow, and Coleman found that

[a]pathy of the members is the normal state of affairs. There are good rea-
sons for this. Most union members, like other people, must spend most of 
their time at work or with their families. Their remaining free time is usu-
ally taken up by their friends, commercial entertainment and other per-
sonally rewarding recreational activities.10

The authors applied Robert Michels’s “iron law of oligopoly” to union 
governance:

In few areas of political life is the discrepancy between the formal juridi-
cal guarantees of democratic procedure and the actual practice of oligar-
chic rule so marked as in private or voluntary organizations such as trade 
unions. . . . In fact, as many observers have noted, almost all such organiza-
tions are characterized internally by the rule of a one-party oligarchy. That 
is, one group, which controls the administration, usually retains power 
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indefinitely, rarely faces organized opposition, and when faced with such 
opposition often resorts to undemocratic procedures to eliminate it.11

When “reformers” win office, according to Lipset, Trow, and Coleman, 
they often resort to their predecessors’ corrupt tactics to hold on to the 
reins of power.12

The architects of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree would have been well ad-
vised to consider Lipset, Trow, and Coleman’s observations before commit-
ting themselves to rank-and-file elections as an antidote to corruption and 
racketeering. While the IBT’s elections have been, for the most part, free 
and fair, they continue to disappoint those who believe that a politically 
energized rank and file will elect insurgents. During the twenty-two-year 
remedial phase of U.S. v. IBT, the union has become steadily more central-
ized. Like practically all unions, it functions as a one-party organization. 
Indeed, the 2011 international-officer election is the first election in which 
the overwhelming majority (twenty out of twenty-eight) of candidates will 
automatically be installed as GEB members without a rank-and-file vote; 
Sandy Pope currently has no running mates and Fred Gegare has only 
eight running mates. While TDU is well entrenched as an opposition fac-
tion, it plays no role in union governance. TDU-endorsed candidates hold 
office in few locals, but the 35 percent of Teamsters who have voted for the 
TDU-backed slate have no role in union governance. We are reminded of 
the observations of Clyde Summers, the most prominent academic cham-
pion of union democracy:

If our goal is ideal democracy, and we will accept nothing less, then we, in-
deed, must be pessimistic. Elected union leaders will continue to dominate 
the political structure and seek to create a monolithic bureaucracy which 
eliminates or immobilizes organized opposition in the name of efficiency 
and loyalty. The law cannot and does not mandate a two-party system, and 
there is no reason to hope that such a system will emerge. Unions will con-
tinue to be one-party states.13

An important lesson of U.S. v. IBT is that it is a mistake to equate union 
democracy with democratic elections. Union democracy, like democracy 
itself, involves more than just free and fair elections. Democracy includes 
respect for free speech, equal treatment, due process, minority interests, lo-
cal autonomy, and opportunities for rank-and-file participation.
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Lessons for Court-Supervised Institutional Reform

This case study should inform the extensive academic and political debate 
about the role and competence of courts in bringing about organizational 
change. To date, almost all of the data for this debate have been drawn from 
constitutional challenges to conditions and practices in public institutions 
and agencies such as schools, jails, prisons, and mental hospitals. Critics of 
court-ordered institutional reform object to courts imposing administra-
tive burdens and monetary costs on state and local agencies.14 They com-
plain that courts frequently fail to anticipate the unintended negative con-
sequences of their reform interventions. Proponents argue that when the 
legislative and executive branches of government are unable or unwilling 
to address unconstitutional conditions in public institutions, politically in-
sulated (by life tenure) federal judges have no alternative but to step in. By 
and large, according to these proponents, federal-court interventions have 
been successful. U.S. v. IBT provides an opportunity for legal scholars and 
political scientists to examine the potential and limits of court-supervised 
institutional reform in the private sector, where the wrongdoers are not 
state or local officials but union officials and organized-crime figures.

Critics oppose “the government” “taking over” or “running” a labor 
union because it is “undemocratic” and destructive of workers’ right to or-
ganize and pursue their interests collectively. We disagree. There was cer-
tainly nothing democratic about IBT governance in the decades prior to 
U.S. v. IBT. Certainly, the IBT is far more democratic now than it was prior 
to the lawsuit. Union members today can speak their minds, run for office, 
vote, and criticize their leaders without fear of physical retribution and/or 
blacklisting.

Furthermore, we do not view the consent decree in U.S. v. IBT as a gov-
ernment or court takeover of the IBT. (In the 2001 IBT general presiden-
tial debate, both candidates referred to getting “the government” out of the 
union.) Unlike some of the civil RICO lawsuits against local unions, the 
court-appointed officers in U.S. v. IBT have no authority over collective 
bargaining, contract administration, strikes, organizing, lobbying, griev-
ance handling, and day-to-day union administration. The election remedy, 
though sweeping, affects only the election of IBT international officers, not 
the election of local or joint-council officers. It establishes no new offices 
and imposes no new executive responsibilities, except that GEB officers 
must not ignore corruption.
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That court-appointed officers operate the union’s disciplinary system is 
undoubtedly an intrusion into union self-governance. However, this is the 
raison d’être of the civil RICO suit, that is, that the heavily corrupted union 
leadership systematically victimized the rank and file and the union as an 
entity. If removing corrupt Teamsters officials administratively is undue in-
terference with a democratic labor movement, then so is sending corrupt 
union officials to prison.

Still, the undesirability of excessive government or court regulation of 
labor unions should be a basic principle guiding the design, imposition, 
and operation of civil RICO litigation against labor unions. DOJ did not 
file U.S. v. IBT to see the union run better or more fairly, or even to elimi-
nate run-of-the-mill corruption. The lawsuit aimed to deny Cosa Nostra an 
important economic and political power base. When Cosa Nostra’s influ-
ence in the union has been eradicated, the consent decree should end.

Who Pays?

The U.S. v. IBT remediation has been expensive.* From issuance of the con-
sent decree in March 1989 through December 2010, well over $100 million 
has been spent to supervise elections and investigate disciplinary viola-
tions. The IBT has covered almost all of this expense, including $3 million 
per year to operate the IRB and at least $10 million every five years to su-
pervise the elections. U.S. taxpayers have also picked up some of the tab, 
including $20 million for supervision of the 1996 and 1998 elections and 
the U.S. attorney’s (SDNY) office’s litigation expenses.

In assessing the remediation’s cost to the IBT, however, observers should 
note that, without the IRB, the union would have had to expend resources 
on an internal disciplinary enforcement unit. Of course, a cost-conscious 
union, on its own initiative, probably would not have spent as much as 
the IO/IA and IRB have spent. However, the union probably would not 
have spent enough to mount an effective anticorruption effort. The court-
appointed disciplinary officers, through investigations and deterrence, have 
likely saved the union a great deal of money by reducing theft, fraud, and 
other misappropriation of union funds. Further, had there been no election 

* Days before the 2011 IBT convention, general presidential candidate Fred Gegare and others 
filed a (legally meritless but perhaps politically salient) lawsuit against Hoffa and DOJ demanding 
the consent decree’s dissolution and stating that its implementation has already cost the IBT $147 
million. See http://www.fred2011.org/docs/Complaint%5B1%5D.pdf.

http://www.fred2011.org/docs/Complaint%5B1%5D.pdf
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officer, a properly functioning IBT would still have had to cover the cost of 
international conventions, each of which costs millions of dollars. More-
over, direct rank-and-file elections have probably saved the union money 
by improving international officers’ accountability. Ultimately, the IBT has 
received substantial benefits for its U.S. v. IBT expenditures, including the 
near elimination of LCN’s influence and four (not counting 1996) free and 
fair international elections.

Still, the question remains: who should pay for enforcement of the con-
sent decree? On the one hand, it makes sense to require the IBT to pay the 
cost of remediating the systemic corruption that its leaders had long toler-
ated and, in some cases, actively furthered. On the other hand, the IBT’s 
rank and filers, not its corrupt leaders, ultimately pay the cleanup bill via 
their monthly dues. The rank and filers are doubly victimized, first by the 
labor racketeers and second by having to bear the cost of remediating labor 
racketeering.

Is it fair to require rank-and-file Teamsters to pay the cost of eliminating 
the corrupt union officers who exploited and intimidated them? We cannot 
answer that question without considering the fairness and desirability of 
the alternative: requiring taxpayers to pick up the tab. If the government 
had to cover the remediation cost, the whole effort would have been politi-
cized and thereby jeopardized. A few resolute members of Congress would 
have been able to shut down the whole remedial effort by refusing to sup-
port it (or refusing to support it adequately). Faced with that prospect, we 
believe that requiring the corrupted organization to pay for the remedia-
tion is not only the better alternative but also the only alternative.

The U.S. v. IBT remediation has generated many financial disputes, for 
example, the remuneration of the court-appointed officers, the IO’s request 
for an NYC office, the size of the court officers’ staffs, the extent of election 
regulation and monitoring, the IA’s need to hire a public-relations firm, 
and the EO’s decision to produce and distribute debate videos. We are in 
no position to second-guess each expenditure; however, we recognize that 
some of these expenditures would be difficult to defend (e.g., paying court 
officers Wall Street lawyer – ​level fees).

The Challenge of Evaluation

There is no existing methodology for determining whether U.S. v. IBT has 
achieved its goals and, if so, at what cost. Assessing the accomplishments of 
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U.S. v. IBT on some kind of “success index” would require identifying the 
goals against which the accomplishments of the lawsuit should be meas-
ured. The DOJ lawyers who drafted the U.S. v. IBT complaint, as well as 
the AUD and TDU leaders who sought to influence the lawsuit, undoubt-
edly had different goals and timetables in their minds. Indeed, all or some 
might not have fully thought through their ultimate ambitions for the law-
suit. Perhaps some DOJ lawyers hoped to deliver a mortal wound to Cosa 
Nostra by denying the crime syndicate one of its most important power 
bases. However, had those lawyers been asked what would constitute suc-
cess, they might have been more modest. It is unlikely that all seven DOJ 
attorneys who worked on the complaint-drafting team had the same expec-
tation about how much impact U.S. v. IBT would have on Cosa Nostra and 
how long it would take to achieve that impact. Some may have believed that 
the lawsuit would quickly eradicate certain LCN families, others that the 
lawsuit could claim success if it merely contributed (substantially? mod-
estly? nontrivially?) to weakening one or two LCN families. The leaders of 
AUD, TDU, and probably some DOJ attorneys hoped that the civil RICO 
suit would jump-start a vibrant democracy in the IBT. But it is unlikely that 
they had a clear sense of how much democracy would have to occur in or-
der to constitute success. Some, but not all, probably saw the sine qua non 
of success as TDU’s capturing the IBT general presidency and the GEB.

In the two decades since the filing of U.S. v. IBT, LCN’s size, resources, 
power, and influence have significantly diminished. By 2011, some LCN 
crime families have virtually ceased to exist. Some criminologists ques-
tion whether Cosa Nostra will survive much longer.15 It is impossible to 
say how much the whole corpus of civil RICO labor-racketeering lawsuits, 
much less U.S. v. IBT by itself, has contributed to organized crime’s decline. 
Evaluation is complicated by the fact that, from 1980 to 2011, hundreds 
of criminal prosecutions removed LCN leaders, members, and associates 
from the streets.16 It is impossible to disentangle the impact of these crimi-
nal prosecutions from the impact of the twenty-plus civil RICO lawsuits 
against organized-crime-infiltrated unions.

Evaluation of the disciplinary prong of the U.S. v. IBT consent decree 
requires analysis of the extent to which LCN’s influence in the IBT has di-
minished. Until well into the 1980s, Cosa Nostra counted on the Teamsters 
Union (the international office and dozens of locals and joint councils) to 
provide LCN members and associates with money, jobs, and political influ-
ence. Here, there is good news. Practically all Teamsters officials known 
or suspected of belonging to Cosa Nostra, as members or associates, have 



Lessons, Reflections, and Speculations  227

been expelled from the IBT. Most IBT officials who publicly associated 
with Cosa Nostra members have also been expelled, as have scores of of-
ficers who turned a blind eye to organized crime’s influence.

Of course, the civil RICO suit could not be considered successful if LCN 
has continued to exert influence through intermediaries. It is impossible 
to prove that this has not happened, but we believe it has not (at least not 
to any meaningful degree). The IRB has been aggressive in bringing disci-
plinary charges against IBT officials who continue to associate with barred 
members, thereby making intercourse between LCN members and IBT 
members risky. Although the IRB continues to identify Teamsters who are 
members or associates of LCN, the Teamsters Union is no longer a politi-
cal or economic power base for LCN. Moreover, Cosa Nostra’s leaders no 
longer influence, much less dictate, the selection of IBT leaders at the lo-
cal, regional, or international level; businesses associated with Cosa Nostra 
no longer receive “loans” from the IBT’s pension and welfare funds; and 
far fewer Cosa Nostra associates and friends obtain no-show jobs with the 
union or with Teamsters employers.

An End in Sight?

The U.S. v. IBT consent decree provides for the termination of the decree 
upon the petition of both parties and the approval of the judge.17 Since the 
IBT has desired the consent decree’s end from the day it went into effect, 
how much longer the consent decree will continue depends on DOJ, first 
and foremost on the U.S. attorney for SDNY (in 2011, Preet Bharara). We 
can expect the U.S. attorney to be highly risk-averse in deciding whether it 
is time to end the consent decree. If, after termination of the lawsuit, LCN 
were to reassert its influence in the IBT, two decades of remedial accom-
plishments would be undermined, possibly nullified. Premature termina-
tion of the consent decree would be an embarrassment for the incumbent 
U.S. attorney and for the U.S. attorney general. By contrast, maintaining the 
consent decree is a low-risk and low-cost decision. At this point, the lawsuit 
does not make big demands on the resources of the U.S. attorney’s office; 
most of the remedial work, both disciplinary and election related, is handled 
by the court-appointed officers, whose salaries and expenses the union pays.

It is practically inconceivable that the U.S. attorney would agree to ter-
minate the lawsuit in the face of the IRB’s opposition or perhaps without 
the IRB’s affirmative recommendation. Without such a recommendation, 
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the U.S. attorney would be susceptible to severe criticism in the event that 
LCN racketeering reemerged. For its part, the IRB has little incentive to 
declare its work complete. First, the IRB members and staff have a finan-
cial interest in continuing their employment. Second, after so many years 
of engagement, the CI, IRB members, and staffers have every reason to 
believe in the importance of their work and that premature termination 
of the consent decree might undo more than two decades of remediation. 
This is even truer if the IRB defines its job as prosecuting and preventing 
all corruption on the theory that any corruption contributes to an organi-
zational environment conducive to LCN infiltration and exploitation.

Almost certainly, a cautious U.S. attorney would not agree to terminate 
the IRB without the IBT having established an effective disciplinary unit 
and process independent of the IBT’s general president and GEB. A fur-
ther complication is that, during the IRB phase of the U.S. v. IBT remedia-
tion, the IBT does not prosecute LCN-related disciplinary violations be-
cause the FBI does not permit its agents to testify before IBT disciplinary 
hearing panels. Thus, the IRB itself adjudicates all LCN-related disciplinary 
charges. How would such cases be handled if the IRB dissolved? It is in-
conceivable that the U.S. attorney would agree to terminate the U.S. v. IBT 
consent decree without assurance that a viable mechanism for handling 
organized-crime-related disciplinary matters would replace the IRB. Any 
acceptable IBT replacement for the IRB would require a secure budget and 
a boss whom the IBT leadership could not remove. Because these would be 
difficult pills to swallow, the IBT leaders might prefer to live with the IRB, 
which it can continue to blame for disciplinary decisions that would be po-
litically costly if made by IBT leaders on their own.

Since the IBT adopted the consent decree’s election prong into the 
union’s constitution in 2001, is it now a permanent feature of IBT gover-
nance? This is not an easy question to answer. On the one hand, union con-
stitutions change; delegates to the IBT’s quinquennial international con-
ventions can, and often do, amend the constitution. On the other hand, 
General President Hoffa has been a consistent supporter (at least publicly) 
of a nominating convention followed by a rank-and-file election. How-
ever, a future administration might take the position that, after more than 
twenty years under the civil RICO consent decree, the IBT should be free 
to change the way it selects international officers, especially because revert-
ing to a national convention alone would save millions of dollars. Perhaps 
in exchange for agreeing to terminate the consent decree, DOJ would seek 
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an IBT commitment to hold independently supervised rank-and-file elec-
tions for several more election cycles. But enforcement of such a promise 
would present a problem.

The Hoffa administration could retreat less drastically, but perhaps 
equally effectively, from the current regime of rank-and-file elections by 
raising the percentage of convention-delegate votes that a candidate needs 
to qualify for the general international-officer election. The incumbent ad-
ministration could argue that a candidate who receives only 5 percent of 
the convention delegates’ nominating votes is not a serious contender for 
international office and should not be able to trigger a multimillion-dollar 
election. If the threshold number of convention-delegate votes were raised 
to 10 percent, there is a strong possibility that no general presidential chal-
lenger, and probably no member of the challenger’s slate, would qualify for 
the general election. In that case, the convention delegates would, in effect, 
select the general president, secretary-treasurer, and GEB officials.

In constitutional litigation over jails, prisons, schools, and other institu-
tions, it has often proved difficult and controversial to terminate the con-
sent decree. There have been efforts in Congress, so far unsuccessful, to 
make it easier to terminate consent decrees. For example, in March 2005, 
Senator Lamar Alexander (R-Tenn.) introduced a bill (Federal Consent 
Decree Fairness Act) that sought to authorize state and local governments 
to ask the relevant federal court to terminate a consent decree upon the 
earlier of (1) the passage of four years from the date the consent decree 
took effect, or (2) the expiration of the term of office of the highest elected 
state or local government official authorizing the consent decree.18 This bill 
never reached a Senate or House vote.

The U.S. Supreme Court has also weighed in on the issue of terminat-
ing consent decrees in public-sector litigation. In a 2009 decision, Horne v. 
Flores, the U.S. Supreme Court explained that a consent decree providing 
for federal-court supervision of an agreement to provide adequate fund-
ing for in-school English-language instruction must end when violations 
of federal law cease, even if the consent decree’s stated goals remain un-
achieved.19 Expressing concerns that federalism principles may be in-
fringed, that government officials might use consent decrees to circumvent 
political constraints, that some consent decrees persist after circumstances 
have changed, and that there is a “risk of collusion between advocacy 
groups and executive officials who want to bind the hands of future policy-
makers,” the Supreme Court explained that
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courts must take a “flexible approach” to . . . motions addressing such de-
crees. .  .  . A flexible approach allows courts to ensure that “responsibility 
for discharging the State’s obligations is returned promptly to the State and 
its officials” when the circumstances warrant. . . . In applying this flexible 
approach, courts must remain attentive to the fact that “federal-court de-
crees exceed appropriate limits if they are aimed at eliminating a condition 
that does not violate federal law or does not flow from such a violation.”20

Both the proposed Consent Decree Fairness Act and the Horne deci-
sion are directed at federal-court remediation of state and local institutions 
charged with violating federal constitutional and/or statutory law. To our 
knowledge, there has not been any discussion of whether and, if so, how 
concern about excessive federal-court involvement in organizational re-
form applies to civil RICO litigation against private organizations, such as 
labor unions. While federalism is not at issue in U.S. v. IBT, as it was in 
Horne, there are similar issues of (1) a reform decree taking on a life of 
its own, and (2) binding an organization’s governance many years after the 
original defendants have left the scene. At a minimum, after twenty-two 
years, it would make sense for the court now to assert its own authority to 
end the consent decree, even over DOJ’s objection, if it finds that the threat 
of ongoing RICO violations is no longer present.

Of course, even if Chief Judge Preska had the authority without a DOJ 
motion to modify the consent decree’s provision on termination, it would 
be difficult for her to determine if the threat of future RICO violations re-
mains. Those who favor ending the consent decree cannot prove the nega-
tive ​— ​that there is no organized-crime influence in the IBT. There will al-
ways be a good reason to extend the consent decree a little longer.
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